
 

 
Cambridge City Council 

 

 

 
 

 
i 

Planning 
 
Committee Members: Councillors Dryden (Chair), Blencowe (Vice-Chair), Hipkin, 
Gawthrope, Hart, Pippas, C. Smart and Tunnacliffe 
 
Alternates: Councillors Holland, Avery and Bird 
 
Published & Despatched:  Tuesday, 26 August 2014 
 

Date: Wednesday, 3 September 2014 

Time: 9.30 am 

Venue: Committee Room 1 & 2 - Guildhall 

Contact:  Claire Tunnicliffe                                     01223 457012 
 

AGENDA 

1   Apologies 

2    Declarations of Interest 

 Members are asked to declare at this stage any interests, which they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. If any member is unsure 
whether or not they should declare an interest on a particular matter, they 
are requested to seek advice from the Head of Legal Services before the 
meeting.  

3    Minutes 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 6 August 2013 (attached 
separately)  

 
Planning Items 

4   Planning Applications 

4a   14/0492/OUT: Edinburgh Building, Shaftesbury Road   
(Pages 17 - 166) 

4b   14/0790/FUL: Cambridge City Football Ground, Milton Road   
(Pages 167 - 248) 

4c   14/0906/FUL: Ice Rink, Parkers Piece   
(Pages 249 - 268) 

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

4d   14/0907/ADV: Ice Rink, Parkers Piece   
(Pages 269 - 282) 

4e   14/0591/FUL: North Cambridge Academy, Arbury Road   
(Pages 283 - 330) 

5   General Items 

5a   Committee Tour 2014   
(Pages 331 - 332) 

5b   New Adjourned Decision Protocol  
(Pages 333 - 338) 

5c    Proposed Independent Review of the Marque scheme Cherry Hinton 
Road/Hills Road   

 (report attached separately). 
 



 
iii 

 

Meeting Information  
 

Location 
 
 
 

 

The meeting is in the Guildhall on the Market Square (CB2 
3QJ).  
 
Between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. the building is accessible via 
Peas Hill, Guildhall Street and the Market Square entrances. 
 
After 5 p.m. access is via the Peas Hill entrance. 
 
All the meeting rooms (Committee Room 1, Committee 2 and 
the Council Chamber) are on the first floor, and are 
accessible via lifts or stairs.  
 

 

 

 

Local 
Government 
(Access to 

Information) 
Act 1985 

Under Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
following are “background papers” for each of the above 
reports on planning applications: 
 
1. The planning application and plans; 
2. Any explanatory or accompanying letter or document 

from the applicant; 
3. Comments of Council departments on the application; 
4. Comments or representations by third parties on the 

application as referred to in the report plus any 
additional comments received before the meeting at 
which the application is considered; unless (in each 
case) the document discloses “exempt or confidential 
information” 

5. Any Structure Plan, Local Plan or Council Policy 
Document referred to in individual reports. 

 
These papers may be inspected by contacting Patsy Dell 
(01223 457103) in the Planning Department. 
 

 

Development 
Control 
Forum 

 

Meetings of the Development Control Forum are scheduled 
for a week after the meetings of Planning Committee if 
required 

 

Public 
Participation 

Some meetings may have parts, which will be closed to the 
public, but the reasons for excluding the press and public will 
be given.  
 
Members of the public who want to speak about an 
application on the agenda for this meeting may do so, if they 

 



 
iv 

have submitted a written representation within the 
consultation period relating to the application and notified the 
Committee Manager that they wish to speak by 12.00 noon 
on the day before the meeting. 
 
Public speakers will not be allowed to circulate any additional 
written information to their speaking notes or any other 
drawings or other visual material in support of their case that 
has not been verified by officers and that is not already on 
public file.   
 
For further information on speaking at committee please 
contact Democratic Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
Further information is available at  
 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/speaking-at-committee-
meetings  
 
The Chair will adopt the principles of the public speaking 
scheme regarding planning applications for general items, 
enforcement items and tree items. 
 
Cambridge City Council would value your assistance in 
improving the public speaking process of committee 
meetings. If you have any feedback please contact 
Democratic Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 
 

Representati
ons on  

Planning 
Applications 

Public representations on a planning application should be 
made in writing (by e-mail or letter, in both cases stating your 
full postal address), within the deadline set for comments on 
that application. You are therefore strongly urged to submit 
your representations within this deadline. 
 
The submission of late information after the officer's report 
has been published is to be avoided.   
 
A written representation submitted to the Environment 
Department by a member of the public after publication of 
the officer's report will only be considered if it is from 
someone who has already made written representations in 
time for inclusion within the officer's report.  Any public 
representation received by the Department after 12 noon two 

 



 
v 

business days before the relevant Committee meeting (e.g 
by 12.00 noon on Monday before a Wednesday meeting; by 
12.00 noon on Tuesday before a Thursday meeting) will not 
be considered. 
 
The same deadline will also apply to the receipt by the 
Department of additional information submitted by an 
applicant or an agent in connection with the relevant item on 
the Committee agenda (including letters, e-mails, reports, 
drawings and all other visual material), unless specifically 
requested by planning officers to help decision-making. 
 

Filming, 
recording 

and 
photography 

The Council is committed to being open and transparent in 
the way it conducts its decision making.  Recording is 
permitted at council meetings which are open to the public. 
The Council understands that some members of the public 
attending its meetings may not wish to be recorded. The 
Chair of the meeting will facilitate by ensuring that any such 
request not to be recorded is respected by those doing the 
recording.  
 
Full details of the City Council’s protocol on audio/visual 
recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via: 
 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAM
E=SD1057&ID=1057&RPID=42096147&sch=doc&cat=1320
3&path=13020%2c13203  
 

 

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding please follow the 
instructions of Cambridge City Council staff.  
 

 

Facilities for 
disabled 
people 

Level access to the Guildhall via the Peas Hill entrance. 
 
A loop system is available in Committee Room 1, Committee 
Room 2 and the Council Chamber.  
 
Accessible toilets are available on the ground and first floor. 
 
Meeting papers are available in large print and other formats 
on request. 
 
For further assistance please contact Democratic Services 
on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

 



 
vi 

Queries on 
reports 

If you have a question or query regarding a committee report 
please contact the officer listed at the end of relevant report 
or Democratic Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

 

General 
Information 

Information regarding committees, councilors and the 
democratic process is available at  
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/  
 

 

 
 



 1

APPENDIX 1 – DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY, PLANNING GUIDANCE AND 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
1.0 Central Government Advice 
 
1.1 National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) – sets out the 

Government’s economic, environmental and social planning policies for 
England.  These policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable 
development, which should be interpreted and applied locally to meet local 
aspirations. 

 
1.2 Circular 11/95 – The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions: Advises 

that conditions should be necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the 
development permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other 
respects.  

 
1.3 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 – places a statutory 

requirement on the local authority that where planning permission is 
dependent upon a planning obligation the obligation must pass the following 
tests: 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  

(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
2.0 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 

 
Planning Obligation Related Policies 

 
P6/1  Development-related Provision 
P9/8  Infrastructure Provision 
P9/9  Cambridge Sub-Region Transport Strategy 

 
3.0 Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
 

3/1 Sustainable development 
3/3 Setting of the City 
3/4 Responding to context 
3/6 Ensuring coordinated development 
3/7 Creating successful places  
3/9 Watercourses and other bodies of water 
3/10Subdivision of existing plots 
3/11 The design of external spaces 
3/12 The design of new buildings 
3/13 Tall buildings and the skyline 
3/14 Extending buildings 
3/15 Shopfronts and signage 
 

Agenda Annex

Page 7



 2

4/1 Green Belt 
4/2 Protection of open space 
4/3 Safeguarding features of amenity or nature conservation value 
4/4 Trees 
4/6 Protection of sites of local nature conservation importance 
4/8 Local Biodiversity Action Plans 
4/9 Scheduled Ancient Monuments/Archaeological Areas 
4/10 Listed Buildings 
4/11 Conservation Areas 
4/12 Buildings of Local Interest 
4/13 Pollution and amenity 
4/14 Air Quality Management Areas 
4/15 Lighting 
 
5/1 Housing provision 
5/2 Conversion of large properties 
5/3 Housing lost to other uses 
5/4 Loss of housing 
5/5 Meeting housing needs 
5/7 Supported housing/Housing in multiple occupation 
5/8 Travellers 
5/9 Housing for people with disabilities 
5/10 Dwelling mix 
5/11 Protection of community facilities 
5/12 New community facilities 
5/15 Addenbrookes 
 
6/1 Protection of leisure facilities 
6/2 New leisure facilities 
6/3 Tourist accommodation 
6/4 Visitor attractions 
6/6 Change of use in the City Centre 
6/7 Shopping development and change of use in the District and Local 

Centres 
6/8 Convenience  shopping 
6/9 Retail warehouses 
6/10 Food and drink outlets. 
 
7/1 Employment provision 
7/2 Selective management of the Economy 
7/3 Protection of Industrial and Storage Space 
7/4 Promotion of cluster development 
7/5 Faculty development in the Central Area, University of Cambridge 
7/6 West Cambridge, South of Madingley Road 
7/7 College and University of Cambridge Staff and Student Housing 
7/8 Anglia Ruskin University East Road Campus 
7/9 Student hostels for Anglia Ruskin University 
7/10 Speculative Student Hostel Accommodation 
7/11 Language Schools 
 

Page 8



 3

8/1 Spatial location of development 
8/2 Transport impact 
8/4 Walking and Cycling accessibility 
8/6 Cycle parking 
8/8 Land for Public Transport 
8/9 Commercial vehicles and servicing 
8/10 Off-street car parking 
8/11 New roads 
8/12 Cambridge Airport 
8/13 Cambridge Airport Safety Zone 
8/14 Telecommunications development 
8/15 Mullard Radio Astronomy Observatory, Lords Bridge 
8/16 Renewable energy in major new developments 
8/17 Renewable energy 
8/18 Water, sewerage and drainage infrastructure 
 
9/1 Further policy guidance for the Development of Areas of Major Change 

 9/2 Phasing of Areas of Major Change 
 9/3 Development in Urban Extensions 
 9/5 Southern Fringe 
 9/6 Northern Fringe 
 9/7 Land between Madingley Road and Huntingdon Road 
 9/8 Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
 9/9 Station Area 

 
10/1 Infrastructure improvements 
 
Planning Obligation Related Policies 

 
 3/7 Creating successful places 
 3/8 Open space and recreation provision through new development 
 3/12 The Design of New Buildings (waste and recycling) 
 4/2 Protection of open space 
 5/13 Community facilities in Areas of Major Change 
 5/14 Provision of community facilities through new development 

6/2 New leisure facilities 
 8/3 Mitigating measures (transport) 
 8/5 Pedestrian and cycle network 
 8/7 Public transport accessibility 
 9/2 Phasing of Areas of Major Change 
 9/3 Development in Urban Extensions 
 9/5 Southern Fringe 
 9/6 Northern Fringe 
 9/8 Land between Huntingdon Road and Histon Road 
 9/9 Station Area 

10/1 Infrastructure improvements (transport, public open space, recreational 
and community facilities, waste recycling, public realm, public art, 
environmental aspects) 

Page 9



 4

 
4.0 Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
4.1 Cambridge City Council (May 2007) – Sustainable Design and 

Construction: Sets out essential and recommended design considerations of 
relevance to sustainable design and construction.  Applicants for major 
developments are required to submit a sustainability checklist along with a 
corresponding sustainability statement that should set out information 
indicated in the checklist.  Essential design considerations relate directly to 
specific policies in the Cambridge Local Plan 2006.  Recommended 
considerations are ones that the council would like to see in major 
developments.  Essential design considerations are urban design, transport, 
movement and accessibility, sustainable drainage (urban extensions), energy, 
recycling and waste facilities, biodiversity and pollution.  Recommended 
design considerations are climate change adaptation, water, materials and 
construction waste and historic environment. 
 

4.2 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste Partnership (RECAP): Waste 
Management Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(February 2012): The Design Guide provides advice on the requirements for 
internal and external waste storage, collection and recycling in new residential 
and commercial developments.  It provides advice on assessing planning 
applications and developer contributions. 
 

4.3 Cambridge City Council (January 2008) - Affordable Housing: Gives 
advice on what is involved in providing affordable housing in Cambridge.  Its 
objectives are to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing to meet housing 
needs and to assist the creation and maintenance of sustainable, inclusive 
and mixed communities. 

 
4.4 Cambridge City Council (March 2010) – Planning Obligation Strategy: 

provides a framework for securing the provision of new and/or improvements 
to existing infrastructure generated by the demands of new development. It 
also seeks to mitigate the adverse impacts of development and addresses the 
needs identified to accommodate the projected growth of Cambridge.  The 
SPD addresses issues including transport, open space and recreation, 
education and life-long learning, community facilities, waste and other 
potential development-specific requirements. 
 

4.5 Cambridge City Council (January 2010) - Public Art: This SPD aims to 
guide the City Council in creating and providing public art in Cambridge by 
setting out clear objectives on public art, a clarification of policies, and the 
means of implementation.  It covers public art delivered through the planning 
process, principally Section 106 Agreements (S106), the commissioning of 
public art using the S106 Public Art Initiative, and outlines public art policy 
guidance. 

 
4.6 Old Press/Mill Lane Supplementary Planning Document (January 2010) 

Guidance on the redevelopment of the Old Press/Mill Lane site. 

Page 10



 5

 
Eastern Gate Supplementary Planning Document (October 2011) 
Guidance on the redevelopment of the Eastern Gate site. The purpose of this 
development framework (SPD) is threefold: 
 

• To articulate a clear vision about the future of the Eastern Gate area; 

• To establish a development framework to co-ordinate redevelopment 
within 

• the area and guide decisions (by the Council and others); and 

• To identify a series of key projects, to attract and guide investment (by 
the Council and others) within the area. 

 
5.0 Material Considerations  

 
Central Government Guidance 

 
5.1 Letter from Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

(27 May 2010) 
 
The coalition government is committed to rapidly abolish Regional Strategies 
and return decision making powers on housing and planning to local councils.  
Decisions on housing supply (including the provision of travellers sites) will 
rest with Local Planning Authorities without the framework of regional 
numbers and plans. 
 

5.2 Written Ministerial Statement: Planning for Growth (23 March 2011) 
 
 Includes the following statement: 
 

When deciding whether to grant planning permission, local planning 
authorities should support enterprise and facilitate housing, economic and 
other forms of sustainable development. Where relevant and consistent with 
their statutory obligations they should therefore: 
 
(i) consider fully the importance of national planning policies aimed at 
fostering economic growth and employment, given the need to ensure a 
return to robust growth after the recent recession;  
 
(ii) take into account the need to maintain a flexible and responsive supply of 
land for key sectors, including housing;  
 
(iii) consider the range of likely economic, environmental and social benefits of 
proposals; including long term or indirect benefits such as increased 
consumer choice, more viable communities and more robust local economies 
(which may, where relevant, include matters such as job creation and 
business productivity);  
 
(iv) be sensitive to the fact that local economies are subject to change and so 
take a positive approach to development where new economic data suggest 
that prior assessments of needs are no longer up-to-date;  

Page 11



 6

 
(v) ensure that they do not impose unnecessary burdens on development.  

  
In determining planning applications, local planning authorities are obliged to 
have regard to all relevant considerations. They should ensure that they give 
appropriate weight to the need to support economic recovery, that 
applications that secure sustainable growth are treated favourably (consistent 
with policy in PPS4), and that they can give clear reasons for their decisions.  

  
5.3 City Wide Guidance 

 
Arboricultural Strategy (2004) - City-wide arboricultural strategy. 
 
Biodiversity Checklist for Land Use Planners in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough (March 2001) - This document aims to aid strategic and 
development control planners when considering biodiversity in both policy 
development and dealing with planning proposals. 
 
Cambridge Landscape and Character Assessment (2003) – An analysis of 
the landscape and character of Cambridge. 
 
Cambridge City Nature Conservation Strategy (2006) – Guidance on 
habitats should be conserved and enhanced, how this should be carried out 
and how this relates to Biodiversity Action Plans. 

 
Criteria for the Designation of Wildlife Sites (2005) – Sets out the criteria 
for the designation of Wildlife Sites. 
 
Cambridge City Wildlife Sites Register (2005) – Details of the City and 
County Wildlife Sites. 
 
Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(November 2010) - a tool for planning authorities to identify and evaluate the 
extent and nature of flood risk in their area and its implications for land use 
planning. 

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2005) – Study assessing the risk of 
flooding in Cambridge. 
 
Cambridge and Milton Surface Water Management Plan (2011) – A 
SWMP outlines the preferred long term strategy for the management of 
surface water.  Alongside the SFRA they are the starting point for local flood 
risk management. 
 
Cambridge City Council (2011) - Open Space and Recreation Strategy: 
Gives guidance on the provision of open space and recreation facilities 
through development.  It sets out to ensure that open space in Cambridge 
meets the needs of all who live, work, study in or visit the city and provides a 
satisfactory environment for nature and enhances the local townscape, 
complementing the built environment. 

Page 12



 7

 
The strategy: 

•••• sets out the protection of existing open spaces; 
•••• promotes the improvement of and creation of new facilities on existing 

open spaces; 
•••• sets out the standards for open space and sports provision in and 

through new development; 
•••• supports the implementation of Section 106 monies and future 

Community Infrastructure Levy monies 

As this strategy suggests new standards, the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
standards will stand as the adopted standards for the time-being. However, 
the strategy’s new standards will form part of the evidence base for the review 
of the Local Plan 
 
Balanced and Mixed Communities – A Good Practice Guide (2006) – 
Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change. 
 
Green Infrastructure Strategy for the Cambridgeshire Sub-Region (2006) 
- Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change and as a material consideration in the determination 
of planning applications and appeals. 
 
A Major Sports Facilities Strategy for the Cambridge Sub-Region (2006) - 
Produced by Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the 
Areas of Major Change. 
 
Cambridge Sub-Region Culture and Arts Strategy (2006) - Produced by 
Cambridgeshire Horizons to assist the implementation of the Areas of Major 
Change. 
 
Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth (2008) – Sets out the core 
principles of the level of quality to be expected in new developments in the 
Cambridge Sub-Region 

 
Cambridge City Council - Guidance for the application of Policy 3/13 
(Tall Buildings and the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
(2012) - sets out in more detail how existing council policy can be applied to 
proposals for tall buildings or those of significant massing in the city. 

 
Cambridge Walking and Cycling Strategy (2002) – A walking and cycling 
strategy for Cambridge. 

 
Protection and Funding of Routes for the Future Expansion of the City 
Cycle Network (2004) – Guidance on how development can help achieve the 
implementation of the cycle network. 

 

Page 13



 8

Cambridgeshire Design Guide For Streets and Public Realm (2007): The 
purpose of the Design Guide is to set out the key principles and aspirations 
that should underpin the detailed discussions about the design of streets and 
public spaces that will be taking place on a site-by-site basis. 

 
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential Developments (2010) – Gives 
guidance on the nature and layout of cycle parking, and other security 
measures, to be provided as a consequence of new residential development. 

 
Air Quality in Cambridge – Developers Guide (2008) - Provides information 
on the way in which air quality and air pollution issues will be dealt with 
through the development control system in Cambridge City. It compliments 
the Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
The Cambridge Shopfront Design Guide (1997) – Guidance on new 
shopfronts. 

 
Roof Extensions Design Guide (2003) – Guidance on roof extensions. 

 
Modelling the Costs of Affordable Housing (2006) – Toolkit to enable 
negotiations on affordable housing provision through planning proposals. 

 
5.6 Area Guidelines 
 

Cambridge City Council (2003)–Northern Corridor Area Transport Plan:  
Cambridge City Council (2002)–Southern Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
Cambridge City Council (2002)–Eastern Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
Cambridge City Council (2003)–Western Corridor Area Transport Plan: 
The purpose of the Plan is to identify new transport infrastructure and service 
provision that is needed to facilitate large-scale development and to identify a 
fair and robust means of calculating how individual development sites in the 
area should contribute towards a fulfilment of that transport infrastructure. 

 
Buildings of Local Interest (2005) – A schedule of buildings of local interest 
and associated guidance. 
 
Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area Appraisal (2002) 
Cambridge Historic Core Conservation Area Appraisal (2006)  
Storeys Way Conservation Area Appraisal (2008) 
Chesterton and Ferry Lane Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
Conduit Head Road Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
De Freville Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
Kite Area Conservation Area Appraisal (1996) 
Newnham Croft Conservation Area Appraisal (1999) 
Southacre Conservation Area Appraisal (2000) 
Trumpington Conservation Area Appraisal (2010) 
Mill Road Area Conservation Area Appraisal (2011) 

Page 14



 9

West Cambridge Conservation Area Appraisal (2011) 
 
Guidance relating to development and the Conservation Area including a 
review of the boundaries. 

 
 Jesus Green Conservation Plan (1998) 
 Parkers Piece Conservation Plan (2001) 
 Sheeps Green/Coe Fen Conservation Plan (2001) 
 Christs Pieces/New Square Conservation Plan (2001) 
  

Historic open space guidance. 
 

Hills Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2012) 
Long Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2012) 
Barton Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Huntingdon Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Madingley Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (March 2009) 
Newmarket Road Suburbs and Approaches Study (October 2011) 
 
Provide assessments of local distinctiveness which can be used as a basis 
when considering planning proposals 

 
Station Area Development Framework (2004) – Sets out a vision and 
Planning Framework for the development of a high density mixed use area 
including new transport interchange and includes the Station Area 
Conservation Appraisal. 
 
Southern Fringe Area Development Framework (2006) – Guidance which 
will help to direct the future planning of development in the Southern Fringe. 
 
West Cambridge Masterplan Design Guidelines and Legal Agreement 
(1999) – Sets out how the West Cambridge site should be developed. 
 
Mitcham’s Corner Area Strategic Planning and Development Brief (2003) 
– Guidance on the development and improvement of Mitcham’s Corner. 

 
Mill Road Development Brief (Robert Sayle Warehouse and Co-Op site) 
(2007) – Development Brief for Proposals Site 7.12 in the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) 

 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE                                     3rd September 2014 

 
Application 
Number 

14/0492/OUT Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 7th April 2014 Officer Mrs Sarah 
Dyer 

Target Date 7th July 2014   
Ward Trumpington   
Site The Edinburgh Building  Shaftesbury Road 

Cambridge CB2 8RU 
Proposal Demolition of Edinburgh Building, warehouse and 

associated buildings and erection of  office 
development  of up to 41,750 sq. m. gross external 
area with development generally being of between 
4 and 5 storeys (with limited areas of screened 
rooftop plant),  a single tower element  with two 
further storeys of accommodation, up to 189 car 
parking spaces (+/- 10%), up to 1325 cycle parking 
spaces (+/- 20%), up to 26 motorcycle spaces, hard 
and soft  landscaping and ancillary facilities 
including staff canteens, meeting rooms, refuse 
enclosures, plant rooms, social break-out spaces 
etc. all to serve as the new office campus 
headquarters for Cambridge Assessment. 

Applicant Mr Andrew Spendlove 1 Hills Road CAMBRIDGE 
CB1 2EU  
 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 
Development Plan for the following reasons: 

The site is a sustainable and accessible 
location where more intensive use is 
supported in principle. 

The development is for a successful 
Cambridge business and allows for 
expansion 

Mitigation measures have been agreed 
which can be secured via a legal 
agreement. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 

Agenda Item 4a

Page 17



1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The application site is part of the Cambridge University Press 

site which is located off Shaftesbury Road.  The application site, 
which is triangular in shape, currently accommodates a four 
storey office building, the Edinburgh Building, two high bay 
warehouse buildings and a single storey boiler house.  The 
remainder of the site is given over to landscaping and surface 
car parking.  To the east/south east of the site is the London to 
Kings Lynn railway line and the Cambridge Guided Bus (CGB) 
route which includes a cycle/footpath.  The cycle/footpath marks 
the eastern boundary.  To the west/south west are the 
Eastbrook Office building and its associated surface car park 
and a building which also accommodates Cambridge University 
Press.  To the north are the Stephen Perse Sixth Form Centre, 
a predominately three storey building and the Kaleidoscope 
residential development. 

 
1.2 The site is substantial in size at 2.67 hectares therefore the 

wider site context  is also an important consideration.  
Beyond the immediate context to the north and west there is 
predominately residential development in the form of the 
Accordia development and the houses which front Clarendon 
Road, Shaftesbury Road, Fitzwilliam Road and Brooklands 
Avenue.  To the north of the Kaleidoscope development there 
are office buildings including Unex House which faces Hills 
Road.  Hills Road Bridge is a strong feature of the wider area 
and Hills Road itself is one of the main arterial routes into the 
City.  To the east beyond the railway line is the Belvedere 
residential development and the Tripos Court and Purbeck 
House student accommodation blocks. To the South East is 
Homerton Business Park which is to be redeveloped to provide 
flats and student accommodation with commercial space and 
the Hills Road Sixth Form College.  This wider area has 
experienced a high degree of change in the last decade. 

 
1.3 The site is not allocated in the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 and 

is not in Conservation Area.  Some of the streets in the local 
area are within the Controlled Parking Zone but this does not 
currently include the Accordia development. 

 
 
 
 

Page 18



2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1  The application seeks Outline Planning Permission for the 

demolition of all buildings on the site and the erection of office 
development of up to 41,750 square metres (gross external 
area). The offices will accommodate Cambridge Assessment 
and allow them to relocate from multiple buildings in the City to 
one purpose built office complex. 

 
2.2 All matters are reserved for consideration at the ‘reserved 

matters’ stage which means that only the principle of 
development is being established at this stage and not matters 
such as access arrangements, detailed building design or 
landscaping.  The description of development includes a 
maximum floorspace of 41,750 square metres and the following 
information about parking: 

 
� up to 189 car parking spaces (+/- 10%), 
� up to 1325 cycle parking spaces (+/- 20%) 
� up to 26 motorcycle spaces, 

 
 If the application is approved this amount of floorspace and 

parking provision will also be approved. 
 
2.3 Four Parameter Plans form part of the application which 

address the following: 
 

� Application Site Plan with Existing Levels 
� Built Form with Proposed Levels 
� Site Access and Circulation Plan 
� Landscape Parameter Plan 

 
 If the application is approved these plans will represent the 

approved plans and will establish the parameters within which 
the detailed development can be brought forward.  A similar 
approach was adopted for the CB1 Station Area 
Redevelopment Project. 

  
2.4 The application is supported by a number of conceptual 

elevations, indicative drawings and perspective views of the 
development but these are for illustrative purposes only and will 
not form part of any planning permission.  The following 
documents have also been submitted: 

 

Page 19



 Design and Access Statement 
 Transport Assessment and Draft Travel Plan 
 Acoustic and Vibration Report 
 Heritage Assessment 
 Contamination Report 
 Daylight Sunlight Report 
 Flood Risk Assessment 
 Landscape Statement 
 Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
 Biodiversity Report 
 Planning Statement 
 Public Art Delivery Plan 
 Renewable Energy Report 
 Site Waste Management Plan 
 Sustainable Design and Construction Statement 
 Utilities Statement 
 Consultation Statement 
 
2.5 The application has been amended as follows in response to 

comments made by consultees/third parties: 
 

� Revised Parameter Plan (Built Form) 
 
2.6  The following additional information has been submitted during 

the course of consideration of the application: 
 

� Tall Building and the Skyline Appraisal 
� Visual Impact Assessment with Verified Photomontage 

Views 
 

� Kaleidoscope Development Block G Daylight Analysis 
Baseline 

� Daylight Impact Assessment on the Kaleidoscope 
Development Update June 2014 

 
� Draft Construction Environmental Management Plan 

(DCEMP)  
 

� Response to comments from County Council 
(Highways/Transport) 

 
� Response to the transportation and highways issues 

raised by local residents/petitioners at the Development 
Control Forum, held on 3rd June 2014 

Page 20



 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 No planning history of relevance to current application.  The 

planning history of the Kaleidoscope site adjacent is as follows: 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
C/03/0611/OP Outline application for residential 

development (3.14 ha), including 
the demolition of No's 18-22 
(evens) Fitzwilliam Road. 

A/C 

06/0584/REM Reserved matters proposal 
comprising 408 residential units 
(115 no.1 bed and 293 no.2 bed 
units to include 122 no. 
affordable units), ancillary 
community building and 
associated infrastructure 
(pursuant to Outline Consent 
C/03/0611/OP). 

Refused 
and 
allowed 
on appeal 

11/0426/FUL Proposed redesign of approved 
Blocks A1, A3, G, H, Marker 1 
and Marker 2 (as shown on 
drawing no P104 approved by 
ref: 06/0584/REM) to increase 
the height of Block G by between 
1 and 2 storeys, Block H by 2 
storeys, Marker 2 by 3 storeys 
and Block A1 by a single storey, 
as set out in outline planning 
permission ref: C/03/0611/OP 
and reserved matters ref: 
06/0584/REM; thereby 
increasing the total number of 
apartments by 35 to 443 
(including 21 private and 14 
affordable housing apartments), 
thus increasing the total number 
of affordable units to 136, 
together with associated 
infrastructure 

Refused 
and 
dismissed 
on appeal 

 
 
 

Page 21



4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes 
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes 
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes 
 Development Control Forum (03/06/2014) Yes 
 Public Exhibition (Pre-App by Applicant)  Yes  

 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 
Plan 2006 

3/4 3/6 3/7 3/9 3/11 3/12 3/13 

4/3 4/4 4/9 4/114/13 4/14 4/15 

7/1 7/2 7/3  

8/1 8/2 8/3 8/4 8/5 8/6 8/8 8/9 8/10 
8/12 8/13 8/16 8/18 

10/1 

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 
Government 
Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 
2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 
Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Guidance 

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Waste 
Partnership (RECAP): Waste Management 
Design Guide Supplementary Planning 
Document (February 2012) 
 

Page 22



Planning Obligation Strategy  (March 2010)  
 
Public Art (January 2010) 
 

 City Wide Guidance 
 
Arboricultural Strategy (2004) 

 
Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(November 2010) 

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2005) 

 
Cambridge and Milton Surface Water 
Management Plan (2011) 

 
Cambridgeshire Quality Charter for Growth 
(2008) 
 
Cambridge City Council - Guidance for the 
application of Policy 3/13 (Tall Buildings and 
the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) (2012) 

 
Cambridge Walking and Cycling Strategy 
(2002) 

 
Protection and Funding of Routes for the 
Future Expansion of the City Cycle Network 
(2004) 
 
Cambridgeshire Design Guide For Streets 
and Public Realm (2007) 

 
Air Quality in Cambridge – Developers 
Guide (2008) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 Area Guidelines 
 
Cambridge City Council (2002)–Southern 
Corridor Area Transport Plan: 

 
Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area 
Appraisal (2013) 
 

 
5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, the following 
policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance: 
 
Policy 40: Development and expansion of business space 
Policy 41: Protection of business space 
 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
Cambridgeshire County Council (Transport Assessment 
Team) 

 
6.1 The following areas of the Transport Assessment and Travel 

Plan require further clarification or justification prior to 
Cambridgeshire County Council being able to comment on the 
assessment in full. 

 
 

Page 24



 Chapter 2: Development Proposals 
 
 Section 2.4: Parking Provision and Service Arrangements 
 
 Clarification is required of monitoring and management of car 

sharing. 
 
 Cycle parking numbers should meet City Standards for Cycle 

Parking. 
  
 Chapter 4: Existing Transport Conditions 
 
 Section 4.1: Mode of Travel for journeys to work and distribution 

of staff 
 
 Travel modes of only those staff that are relocating needs to be 

clarified. 
 
 Proportion of walkers needs to be clarified. 
 
 The number of people who provided post codes for the 

postcode plot needs to be provided. 
 
 The post code plot needs to be made clearer. 
 
 A plan is needed to show how many staff live in the Mode of 

Travel for Cambridge Assessment area. 
 
 Section 4.3: Walking and Cycling Accessibility 
 
 The Bus/Walking and Cycling isochrones and postcodes need 

to show those staff that could be encouraged away from private 
car use. 

 
 Section 4.4: Local Highway Network 
 
 The traffic counts were carried out in December 2013 which is 

not regarded as a neutral month. 
 
 A capacity assessment has not been carried out as part of the 

Transport Assessment on the basis that there will be no 
additional car trips produced by the development, although the 
County Council consider that this has not been demonstrated 
fully by the applicant.  

Page 25



 
 The Transport Assessment should provide a comparison table 

of the existing and future trip generation of the site for all modes 
for AM peak, PM peak and 24 hour periods to demonstrate the 
net difference in trips associated with the development. The 
assessment should also consider those that may travel by car 
to the site and park elsewhere and the impact on the 
surrounding network that may be brought about by these trips.  

 
 The applicant should consider the potential impact of drop offs 

to the site and the potential increase in traffic as a result.  
 
 Section 4.5: On-Street Car Parking in the Vicinity of the Triangle 

Site 
 
 A recent parking study of those who travelled to Addenbrookes 

and the rail station in Cambridge revealed a willingness to walk 
25 minutes from free parking areas to reach their destination. 
The applicant should consider this when assessing the potential 
impact on residential streets in the area and vehicular 
movements on the local network. 

 
 The residential streets off Cherry Hinton Road are considered 

by the applicant as having no capacity for parking from the 
Triangle Site so suggest that there is no need to survey these 
roads. Figure 4 identifies that most of this area and others 
without parking restrictions are within walking distance of the 
site. The County Council is concerned that cars travelling to the 
Triangle site may park on local residential streets before 8am 
causing a displacement of current on-street parking spreading 
the issue further afield. 

 
 County Council officers accept that a contribution may be 

required  towards a proposed Accordia residential parking 
scheme (this would need to be subject to all of the normal 
consultation and scheme development processes) but do not 
accept that this be taken out of the SCATP contribution. 

 
 Section 4.6: Personal Injury Accidents 
 
 The Transport Assessment identifies there to have been 210 

personal injury accidents in the vicinity of the development.  
 

Page 26



 The Brooklands Avenue/ Hills Road junction experienced 7 
slight and 4 serious accidents over this period and identifies that 
those accidents which occurred prior to 2011 took place prior to 
the most recent junction improvements, although does not 
identify how many of these accidents this involves. 

 
 Hills Road north and south of the junction with Brooklands 

Avenue is an accident cluster with a high frequency of accidents 
occurring there. Appendix G identifies that the majority of 
walking and cycling trips in the AM peak will travel along the 
busway, with 40 walking and 80 cycling trips travelling over Hills 
Road Bridge. The applicant suggests that the contribution 
towards the Hills Road Bridge pedestrian/ Cyclist link would 
allow those travelling to the Triangle site to avoid the 
Brooklands Avenue/ Hills Road Junction. A contribution is 
acceptable to Council officers subject to the details on the 
amounts and timings being agreed to ensure this is the case. 

 
 Chapter 5: Baseline Conditions 
 
 Section 5.2: Existing use on site 
 
 The trip rate produced appears is reasonable. 
 
 Section 5.3: Cambridge Assessment Operation 
 
 The current Cambridge Assessment offices will be re-occupied 

by other tenants who themselves would generate trip 
movements similar to that of Cambridge Assessment 
operations. This re-occupation should be considered when 
calculating SCATP contributions for the Triangle site. 

 
 Details are required of the existing parking provision and usage 

at the existing Cambridge Assessment sites and how this 
compares to the levels proposed at the development site. 

 
 Section 5.4: Committed Developments and Transport 

Improvements 
 
 Clarification of funding and further discussions with relevant 

County Council officers is needed in relation to the proposed 
pedestrian/cycle link at Hills Road Bridge.  

 
 

Page 27



 Chapter 6: Development Trip Modelling 
 
 Section 6.1: Trip Generation and Mode Split 
 
 Clarification of proportions of arrivals and departures is needed. 
 
 Further information is needed on mode shares and data on 

walking mode reviewed. 
 
 Justification is needed for the assumed car occupancy level of 

2.5. 
 
 Further information is needed on the large number of additional 

visitors (examiners and moderators) which have not been 
considered in the site trip generation. 

 
 Estimated AM departures of non-Cambridge Assessment 

employees needs to be reviewed. 
 
 Section 6.2: Trip Distribution and Assignment 
 
 Clarification of use of Trumpington Park and Ride Service is 

required. 
 
 Chapter 7: Development Transport Impacts 
 
 Section 7.1: Walking and Cycling 
 
 A properly dimensioned and convenient cycle link to the north 

east of the development that connects the Busway cycle track 
to Shaftesbury Road is required. 

 
 Improvements for the access at the southern corner of the site 

are required to ensure that a convenient access is provided. 
 
 The site should be fully permeable to pedestrians and cyclists 

not gated with access only to card holders as at CUP. 
 
 The extra cycling journeys will put significant pressure on 

Brooklands Avenue and Trumpington Road.  The County would 
expect a contribution towards improvements which should 
include work to both sides of Brooklands Avenue, widening the 
existing shared paths and potentially moving back and 

Page 28



rebuilding the listed wall at on the south side near the junction 
with Trumpington Road. 

 
 Section 7.2: Public Transport - Buses 
 The Transport Assessment identifies that the bus stops on 

Brooklands Avenue have no waiting facilities or real time 
information provision (RTPI). Improvements to the bus stops 
should be provided direct by Cambridge Assessment through 
Highways Act agreement rather than through contribution to the 
County Council. Contributions may, however, be appropriate for 
RTPI measures (approximately £6,000).  

 
 RTPI is to be provided within prominent locations within the 

building to encourage public transport use, which is welcomed 
by the County Council.  

 
 Further information should be provided showing that the 

number of additional passengers expected to use the buses 
and CGB can be accommodated without the need for additional 
bus capacity. 

 
 Section 7.4: SCATP Contribution 
 
 The SCATP contribution is based on 700 additional employees 

to be employed at the development site rather than considering 
all of the 3000 employees to be based at the site.  

 
 Paragraph 5.3.1 refers to the buildings currently occupied by 

Cambridge Assessment being re-occupied by others tenants 
who would generate trip movements. Therefore the SCATP 
Contribution assessment as currently calculated is not 
acceptable to the County Council as it does not consider all of 
the net additional movements on the network associated with 
the development.  

 
 It is not considered acceptable to use SCATP contributions 

towards residents parking schemes. 
 
 The current SCATP calculation applies the SCATP trip rate for 

the existing on-site B1 use but does not apply the same trip rate 
for the future use.  It is recognised in the SCATP policy that 
where a proposed development is expected to display a 
different trip rate [to the SCATP] it may be possible, in 
agreement with the Council, to use a different rate in estimating 

Page 29



the level of contribution.  However the County Council would 
require this to be evidenced and requires the applicant to 
provide data to support the position currently taken in the TA. 

 
 Travel Plan 
 
 The travel plan (TP) has involved consultation on what options 

are available to encourage as much sustainable travel to site as 
possible. The TP sets out to concentrate on working with staff in 
their existing locations prior to the move, to encourage as much 
shift to sustainable modes before the move which the County 
Council considers to be a sensible approach. It is not clear at 
this stage if the measures proposed will result in the challenging 
7.2% drive alone figure that the TP aims for.  

 
 Area Wide Travel Planning 
 The County Council would strongly encourage joining forces in 

travel planning with neighbouring organisations, in particular 
CUP. TA and CUP should also look to join the wider station/ 
CB1 Travel Plan Cluster, and should include this aspect in their 
Action Plan. 

 
 CEO Statement 
 
 The TP needs an opening statement from the CEO committing 

the organisation to the TP and its aims and objectives. This 
gives the document credibility and gives senior managers the 
knowledge that work on the TP is an organisational priority. 

 
 7.2% target  
 
 The car driver target is very ambitious, even for this location 

that is relatively well served by sustainable travel options.  No 
other TfW employer has approached this figure. The nearest 
result in the Station area to this is 15% drive alone.  

 
 There is no discussion in the document of other modal splits 

against which to judge the appropriateness of this target and to 
ensure it is realistic and achievable. It is recommended that the 
applicant contacts TfW to obtain averaged results from 
employers in the station/CB1 area and the travel to work figures 
from the Census should also be used. It would also be 
worthwhile looking into examples of where the measures have 

Page 30



been implemented and the levels of mode shift which have 
been achieved as a result, to support the measures suggested. 

 
 The origin and destination analysis that was carried as part of 

the Transport Assessment identifies that these mode splits can 
be achieved, although the County Council have requested 
further justification for the numbers presented and the Travel 
Plan should refer to these.  

 
 It is not made clear when this target will be achieved. Will it be 

incremental over time or is that 7.2% will be achieved by the 
time of the move into the Triangle site? 

 
 SMART Targets:  
 
 3.2.16 states that the target is time bound although there is no 

+evidence of a target date by which this will be achieved. 
 
 3.1 Aims, Objectives and Targets:  
 
 This iteration of the TP deals to great extent with work that will 

be undertaken with staff at existing locations. However this 
aspect does not appear in the aims and objectives section 
although it should be. 

 
 Personal Travel Planning (PTP) – Paragraph 4.4.6 & 4.4.8  
 
 More clarity in how PTP will be delivered is needed. 
 
 Public Transport 
 
 The TP is set to offer staff 10% discount on fares, although 

there is no indication whether this will be a permanent offer. 
Although the offer goes some way towards encouraging staff to 
use public transport the mode shift requires the applicant to go 
further than the existing on site measures, such as free or 
discounted use of park and ride or local services etc. Those that 
are to transfer from car to bus should be offered free bus travel 
for a set period to enable them to try the journey for free. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 Car Park Management: 4.2.2  
 
 With only 189 spaces envisaged for a workforce of up to 3,000 

it is vital that more information is provided on car park 
management. 

 
 The County Council recommends that the car parking 

management and allocation of spaces be identified at an early 
stage (at least 6 months prior to occupation), and that 
consideration be given to managing current onsite parking 
provision at existing CA prior to the move to encourage early 
behavioural change. 

 
 Car Sharing: 4.3.5 & 4.4.29  
 
 Car sharing will obviously be a key modal choice and the car 

park policy will have to work hard encourage this. 
 
 Management of TP – 5.2 Steering Group:  
 
 This needs establishing well before the envisaged timing of 

“within 3 months of the appointment of TP coordinator”.   
Recommendations are made about the membership of the 
Steering Group. 

 
 Monitoring:  
 
 Recommendations are made about how the TP should be 

monitored and the need for targets and other measures if some 
sustainable measures are not performing as well as expected. 

 
 Action Plan:   
 
 It is vital that an action plan is provided setting out what will 

happen, by when and who is responsible. This also should 
indicate where funding is required to complete an action where 
the funds will come from 

 
 The ACTION plan should clearly lay out the time-line up to the 

development and agreement of the Pre-occupation Travel plan 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 Conclusions 
 
 The County Council have reviewed the Transport Assessment 

and Travel Plan for the Triangle Site and have identified a 
number of areas which require further information prior to the 
assessment being acceptable and being able to comment fully 
on the application. Therefore a holding objection is 
recommended.  This position can be reviewed once this further 
information has been provided and reviewed by County Council 
officers.  

 
 Application as amended 
 
6.2 The County Council have reviewed the further information 

provided by the applicant and require further information as 
follows: 

 
 Additional information on mode of travel 

Comparison table of the existing and future trip generation of 
the site for all modes for AM peak, PM peak and 24 hour 
periods to demonstrate the net difference in trips associated 
with the development 

 Parking survey/contribution east of Hills Road 
 Parking survey/contribution Accordia 

Hills Road/CGB link is limited to steps therefore greater 
emphasis is needed on suitable measures on Brooklands 
Avenue to facilitate cyclists and pedestrians travelling to and 
from the site 
Improvement scheme for the south side of Brooklands Avenue 
to provide improved conditions for pedestrians and cyclists 
Evidence of 2.5 car occupancy figure 
Reassurance on moderator-related trips and how these can be 
managed to minimise the impacts 
Subject to Cambridge Assessment having further discussions 
with Stagecoach, the County Council may require a contribution 
towards pump priming of bus services 
Further iteration of Travel Plan including one month free bus 
travel 
Travel Plan monitoring fee 
SCATP contribution (discussions ongoing) 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



6.3 Final Comments 
 

The County Council are satisfied by the further information 
provided by the applicant in relation to the TA.  Further work will 
be needed in relation to the Travel Plan in due course. 

 
It is agreed that the costs of the following mitigation measure be 
deducted from the SCATP contribution: 

 
o Hills Road Bridge/CGB steps 
o Brooklands Avenue footway/cycleway improvement 

between Aberdeen Avenue and Hills Road 
o Pedestrian/cycle crossing on Brooklands Avenue between 

Aberdeen Avenue and Clarendon Road. 
 

Further information regarding car sharing and moderators is 
accepted and can be monitored. 
 
The County Council accept that no bus subsidies are required. 
 
The County Council agree that a pre-commencement Travel 
Plan should be submitted and that travel and parking surveys 
should be carried out in October 2014.  The commitment to a 
trial free bus travel period is welcomed. 
 
A Travel Plan for workers will be included in the Construction 
Management Plan. 
 
The County Council supports the setting up of a Travel Plan 
Steering Group (TPSG) including CCC officers which will 
discuss further measures in the event that Travel Plan targets 
are not met. 
 
The SCATP contribution is agreed at £1,441,959.70. 

 
Conclusion 

 
Having reviewed the information submitted in support of the 
Triangle Site application, the County Council would be willing to 
remove the holding objection subject to the following: 
 

1. SCATP Contribution £1,441,959.70 (minus the costs associated 
with the Brooklands Avenue works and contribution towards 
Hills Road/ CGB pedestrian link); 

Page 34



 
2. The upgrade of two bus stops on Brooklands Avenue to include 

raise curbs, shelters and Real Time Information, subject to 
detailed design and approvals; 

 
3. Subject to detailed design and other approvals, provision of 

improvement to Brooklands Avenue on Drawing No. 
0722/GA/005 but amended to show the proposed designation of 
the southern footway to footway/ cycleway, and extension of the 
footway/ cycleway by at least 2 vehicle lengths into/ out of 
Shaftesbury Road and Clarendon Road with dropped kerbs or 
similar treatments; 

 
4. £50,000 contribution to be allocated to the Hills Road/ CGB 

pedestrian link; should this not be spent in 10 years this can be 
allocated towards the wider SCATP schemes; 

 
5. A contribution to cover the costs associated with consultation, 

scheme design, and implementation of a managed parking 
scheme should the surveys demonstrate a problem and there is 
support among local residents for this. This should be £50K for 
the Accordia development and £20K for roads east of Hills 
Road although these amounts are subject to review via the 
Section 106 process; 

 
6. Parking surveys should be undertaken during the construction 

period and post-occupation. Should parking be shown to be an 
issue during either of these periods then the managed parking 
scheme contribution should be called upon. This methodology 
should be included in the Travel Plan and Construction 
Management Plan. 

 
7. The Construction Management Plan should be submitted and 

agreed prior to commencement of development and should 
include, inter alia, travel plan measures for construction 
workers. 

 
8. Provision of mode share Travel Plan targets including 0% of 

employees parking within Accordia and roads East of Hills 
Road; 

 
9. Provision of the list of potential additional measures that could 

be implemented or called upon in the event that mode share 
targets are not met; 

Page 35



 
10. Pre-commencement Travel Plan to be provided and 

agreed prior to commencement on site which should include: 
 

o Mode share targets and relevant timescales when these 
will be achieved  

o Action plan and review mechanisms 
o Proposed schedule of surveys commencing October 2014 

and continuing annually thereafter. 
o Surveying of moderators to and from the site 

 
11. The revised Travel Plan to be submitted for approval 6 

months prior to occupation of the Triangle site. 
 
 Cambridgeshire County Council (CGB team) 
 
6.4 A condition is recommended to secure approval of the detailed 

design and  construction methodology in relation to the 
CGB.  Comments are also made in  relation to the 
following: 

 
o Precautions to ensure that nothing falls onto the CGB 
o Reference to CCC advice 
o The integrity and safety of the CGB 
o Protection during construction works 
o Proximity of foundations 
o Potential for collision by vehicles 
o Party Wall Act 
o Consents from Network Rail 

 
Head of Refuse and Environment 

 
6.5 Environmental Quality 
 
 Demolition and Construction Environment Management, Noise 

Insulation, Emergency Generator use, Plant Noise, Odour 
Filtration/Extraction and Lighting Assessment conditions are 
recommended. 

 
 The vibration noise assessment shows that vibration is within 

guidance criteria and a condition is not necessary. 
 
 
 

Page 36



 Contaminated Land 
 
 Following the review of the reports further investigation and 

details are required in order to adequately characterise the 
contamination issues on the site.  However, all these issues can 
be covered be the full contaminated land condition. 

 
 Air Quality 
 
 No objections because no increase in car parking provision on 

site.  Sufficient vehicle electric charging points should be 
included to ensure that commuters have the ability to use a 
vehicle with very low emissions of pollutants harmful to human 
health 

 
 Waste Strategy 
 

Waste circulation/road construction and commercial waste 
conditions recommended. 

  
 Planning Policy team 
 
6.6 Policy 7/2 Selective Management of the Economy 
 

Policy 7/2 in the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 requires new 
employment development proposals to meet one of the four 
criteria. This is to ensure that the limited supply of employment 
land in Cambridge is reserved for businesses have an essential 
need for a Cambridge location. It should be noted that the final 
sentence of policy 7/2 states that 'this policy does not apply to 
development by established bodies for their own occupation 
and use'. An established body is defined as a business that has 
been operating in Cambridge for five years or more. Cambridge 
Assessment meets the definition of an established body and so 
is not required to meet the criteria of policy 7/2. 

 
Policy 7/3 Protection of Industrial and Storage Space 

 
Policy 7/3 in the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 seeks to protect 
industrial and storage space within Cambridge from higher 
value uses in order to maintain a diversity of employment 
opportunities and a full range of services in Cambridge. Within 
protected industrial areas the policy does not allow any 
development which results in the loss of floorspace within use 

Page 37



classes B1(c), B2 and B8. Outside protected employment areas 
development that results in the loss of floorspace within use 
classes B1(c), B2 and B8 is not allowed unless criterion (a) and 
at least one other criteria in the policy are met. 

 
In the Council's assessment of policies in the Local Plan 2006, 
taken to Environment Scrutiny Committee on 26th June 2012, 
the Council notes a potential conflict between policy 7/3 and the 
NPPF, on the basis that policy 7/3 does not allow flexibility for 
loss of industrial floorspace within protected industrial areas. 
The Council's published submission draft plan does not have 
this same inflexibility. 

 
 The site in question is not in a protected industrial area, 

therefore there is no potential conflict between the NPPF and 
that part of the policy that is being applied. In order for the 
proposed development to concur with policy 7/3 criterion (a) 
and one other criterion must be met. 

 
 The material submitted as part of the planning application 

argues that criterion (c) of policy 7/3 (the continuation of 
industrial and storage uses will be harmful to the environment or 
amenity of the area) is met as the residential nature of the 
surrounding area would be disturbed by the site going back to 
industrial / storage use working to the site's full capacity. On the 
face of it this argument is sound, Brooklands Avenue and the 
surrounding area is a green residential area with a Brooklands 
Avenue itself is a busy road, well used during the morning and 
evening peaks. Increased use of the surrounding road network 
by large lorries and other commercial traffic, necessitated by the 
site going back to industrial / storage use, would impact on 
residential amenity and the local environment. Likewise the 
operation of the site for these uses would likely have impacts in 
terms of noise and dust on residential amenity. Criterion (c) of 
policy 7/3 is considered satisfied. 

 
 Criterion (a) states: 'there is sufficient supply of such floorspace 

in the City to meet the demand and/or vacancy rates are high'. 
The Appendix A of the Planning Statement argues that there 
was no demand for large-scale warehousing space in 
Cambridge during the 18 month period since the building was 
vacated. All demand for warehousing required easy access to 
trunk roads and motorways, which this site does not have. The 
report notes the out of date buildings and undesirable location 

Page 38



in relation to access to the road network as further reasons for 
this site's unattractiveness to the market. 

 
 Appendix A of the Planning Statement also argues that there is 

sufficient supply of warehousing in the Cambridge area, with a 
vacancy rate of just under 10% within a ten mile radius of the 
city, and there being a choice of units that are of a similar size 
to those on this site. The level of supply (139,330 sq m) equates 
to roughly 5 years of supply. Appendix B of the Planning 
Statement states that vacancy rates are currently 9% when 
compared with a long term (five year) average of 5-6%. 

 
 Appendix B of the Planning Statement makes clear that the site 

has not been formally offered on the open market, this is a 
shame as it would have allowed for the arguments advanced in 
Appendix A of the Planning Statement to be tested by the 
market. Nevertheless the information submitted as part of the 
application in terms of existing vacancy rates, demand and the 
particular problems likely to occur in marketing this site in 
particular are considered to satisfy criterion (a) of the policy. 

 
 The emerging revised Local Plan as published for consultation 

on 19 July 2013 and submitted to the Secretary of State on 28th 
March 2014 can be taken into account, especially those policies 
where there are no or limited objections to it. However it is 
likely, in the vast majority of instances, that the adopted 
development plan and the NPPF will have considerably more 
weight than emerging policies in the revised Local Plan. 

 
 For this application, the following policies in the emerging Local 

Plan are of relevance: policy 40 and policy 41 in the Local Plan 
2014 proposed submission document, these policies deal with 
new employment development and the loss of employment 
development. Policy 40 concerns itself with new employment 
development; this draft policy is not as restrictive as policy 7/2 
in the current Local Plan and the policy of selective 
management of the economy is not proposed to be continued. 
Policy 41 seeks to protect employment land from being lost to 
other uses, as the proposed development keeps the site in 
employment use the proposal is in line with the draft policy. 

 
 
 
 

Page 39



 General approach to sustainable development and construction 
 
 In accordance with the requirements of Policy 3/1 of the 

Cambridge Local Plan 2006, the applicant has submitted a 
Sustainable Design and Construction Statement, which includes 
a completed Sustainability Checklist. This document sets out 
the ways in which the principles of sustainable design and 
construction have been integrated into the design of the 
proposed new headquarters. This is supported by the Design 
and Access Statement, which sets out the vision for the 
buildings to be highly sustainable in their design, with principles 
such as provision of a shallow plan form with generous floor to 
ceiling heights to maximise opportunities for natural daylight. 
There are many measures being implemented as part of the 
scheme which are fully supported, including the emphasis on 
the role of building form in promoting natural daylight and 
natural ventilation; the water management strategy and site 
waste management strategy. 

 
 This is an outline application and some of the finer points of 

detail are still to be determined in relation to sustainable design 
and construction. Moving forward there are a number of areas 
where additional consideration could be given in order to further 
enhance/define the sustainability credentials of the proposal: 

 
o Water Conservation 
o Car parking strategy e.g. car club spaces and fast electric 

vehicle charging points. 
o Co-location of photovoltaic panels and green roofs  
o Targets for sustainability - the BREEAM methodology 

could provide a useful basis for the setting of targets, 
even if an overall BREEAM rating is not being targeted. 

o Future proofing of M&E systems against higher 
temperatures in a way that reduces/minimises the need 
for mechanical cooling, and enables the installation of the 
most efficient equipment possible where a need for future 
cooling is still identified. 

 
 Renewable Energy Provision 
 
 The preferred approach identified is the use of photovoltaic 

panels, with an array of 1100m2 to 1300m2 calculated as being 
required in order to meet the 10% reduction requirement of 
between 53,200 to 65,300 Kg/CO2/year. The Renewable 

Page 40



Energy Strategy also includes an assessment of other 
renewable technologies that could be utilised, and notes that 
technologies such as ground source heat pumps, solar thermal 
panels or air source heat pumps have not been ruled out as 
having potential, with these technologies being reassessed as 
detailed design progresses. 

 
 The general approach being taken to renewable energy 

provision is supported. Moving forward to the reserved matters 
phase, should air source heat pumps be considered further, 
their use may need to be subject to a noise impact assessment.  

 
Urban Design and Conservation team (Joint comment with 
Head of Streets and Open Spaces – Landscape Team) 

 
 Application as submitted 
 
6.7 Summary of conclusion: 
 
 Overall the demolition of the existing buildings on the site and 

the proposed redevelopment to create the new offices for 
Cambridge Assessment are supported in design terms.  The 
proposed parameter plans will provide an effective mechanism 
for guiding the future ‘Reserved Matters’ application which will 
naturally provide further resolution and details of the proposals.  
However, the applicant needs to provide additional or clarified 
information on a number of points. 

 
1.  The applicant needs to provide a Skyline Assessment using 
the criteria set out in the ‘Guidance for the application of Policy 
3/13 (Tall Buildings and the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006)’. 

 
2.  Proposed Tower – the 39m height is acceptable in principle 
although further testing of the height will need to be made at the 
Reserved Matters stage once further design development of the 
form and proportion has been carried out. 

 
3.  The daylight and sunlight assessment has revealed that the 
proposed form of the building will create a significant negative 
impact on properties within the adjacent Kaleidoscope scheme.  
The applicant needs to clarify whether the assessment 
assumed the worst case (10m) proximity and also resolve the 
potential impacts identified.  It is likely that the massing of the 

Page 41



building will need to be revised on the northern site boundary.  
Further consideration of the location of external dining spaces 
may be needed as part of the Reserved Matters application. 

 
4.  The building line on the eastern boundary needs to be a 
minimum distance of 10m to allow space for the creation of a 
more reasonable landscape buffer.  On the northern boundary 
the identified minimum dimension of 10m would not allow for an 
adequate landscape space, access road and car parking. 

 
6.8 Heritage Asset Assessment 
 

The existing Edinburgh Building was purpose built for the 
Cambridge University Press in 1979-80 and is not recognised 
as being of any heritage significance.  There is no objection to 
its demolition. 

 
 A Heritage Asset Assessment has been submitted as part of the 

application. The potential impact on heritage assets it identifies 
is on archaeology.  There could be a significant impact on any 
prehistoric, Iron Age or Roman archaeology that may be 
present.  This would be managed by the County’s 
archaeological section who is the City Council’s archaeological 
adviser.     

 
 The Botanic Gardens is a Registered Parks and Gardens site 

but is well distanced from the site by Fitzwilliam Road and 
Brooklands Avenue. 

 
 The Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area lies to the west of 

the site but is not contiguous with it and is separated from it by 
modern buildings of some scale outside the conservation area 
boundary. 

 
 It needs to be demonstrated that the proposed tower has no 

adverse impact on the setting or appearance of the Cambridge 
historic core skyline.  The tower should be assessed for impacts 
on such longer distance views and its form and design subject 
to a specific planning condition so that a fuller, detailed 
assessment of any design of same is possible at the reserved 
matters stage. 

 
 
 

Page 42



6.9 Parameter Plans 
 
 These parameter plans have been submitted to provide an 

overall framework within which the proposed development will 
sit.  The range of parameter plans and their content were the 
subject of detailed discussions between the applicant, their 
design team and the local planning authority.  The range of 
plans has been informed through experience from other sites, 
notably CB1 and Clay Farm. The submitted parameter plans 
create an effective means of guiding the future Reserved 
Matters application on the site. 

 
6.10 Skyline Assessment  
 

 Whilst a number of views of the illustrative scheme have been 
submitted and views from Lime Kiln Hill and Magog Down as 
part of the D&A Statement, the applicant has not submitted an 
assessment of the impact of the proposals using the Criteria set 
out in the ‘Guidance for the application of Policy 3/13 (Tall 
Buildings and the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006).  
The guidance at paragraph 1.5.6 states ‘four-storey or above 
buildings (assuming a flat roof with no rooftop plant and a height 
of 13m above ground level) will automatically trigger the need to 
address the criteria set out within the guidance’.  

 
6.11 Scale and Massing 
 
 The overall built form parameters are identified in the submitted 

parameter plan Built Form with Proposed Levels.  This plan 
establishes the overall footprint of the various blocks that 
comprise the development and the maximum heights of these 
blocks.  The general approach to scale and massing of the 
proposals is supported.  The Reserved Matters application will 
allow for further adjustment of the massing within the agreed 
development ‘envelope’.  The scheme creates a series of 
interlinked blocks which allow for the creation of courtyard 
garden/open spaces and a more substantial ground floor 
courtyard between the main ranges of the building. 

 
 The parameter plans allow for the creation of a distinctive 

curved building to the southern end of the site that, in 
combination with the proposed tower, will create a distinctive 
grouping of built form when viewed from the CGB, cycleway and 
railway on the approach to Cambridge. 

Page 43



 
 The applicant should complete a Skyline Assessment as 

detailed above.  In addition, the daylight assessment has 
revealed that the proposed scale and massing will impact on the 
adjacent existing Kaleidoscope development.  Whilst the impact 
is judged to be within acceptable levels against the BRE 
assessment criteria, there are habitable rooms within residential 
properties located to the north of the proposed development 
that will experience impacts beyond acceptable levels.  As such 
the scale and massing of the northern wing located to the east 
of the site should be reduced in height to resolve the impact 
concerns.  

 
6.12 Proposed tower 
 
 The parameter plan allows for the creation of a ‘tower’ to help 

mark the site within the wider city context.  The principle of a 
‘marker’ for the site was discussed at the pre-application stage 
and supported as a way of creating visual interest and to act as 
a more local orientation/way finding device. 

 
 The views incorporated within the D&A Statement highlight the 

views considered to be important and in particular the role of the 
tower along the CGB/railway route into Cambridge.  
Assessment of the views from Shaftesbury Road reveals that 
the tower will not be visible until in close proximity to the site at 
which point it will be no more than a glimpsed view. 

 
 The D&A Statement shows the overall height of the tower at 

36m and 42m.  At pre-application discussions concerns and 
questions were raised about the maximum 42m height and what 
role the tower should have beyond the immediate site.  Whilst 
the D&A Statement shows the illustrative scheme with a 39m 
tower but there is ‘no like for like’ comparison with the other 
options.  Clearly the design of the tower will need to be refined 
and detailed through the Reserved Matters process and 
therefore the Outline fixes the maximum limit of the tower and 
nothing more.  At this stage the UDC team would support the 
39m tower subject to the overall height and form being tested 
further as the reserved matters scheme progresses.   

 
 
 

Page 44



6.13 Daylight and sunlight assessment (solar studies also included in 
the  D&A Statement) 

 
 The applicant has undertaken an assessment of the proposed 

‘illustrative’ development and compared it with the existing 
development on the site. 

 
 Impact on neighbouring development: 
 
 The proposed massing model in the Daylighting and Shadowing 

study was provided by the architect to allow assessment of the 
impact of the scheme on both the proposed open spaces and 
the Kaleidoscope development to the north.   

 
 The parameter plans state that the building line will be 13m (+/- 

3m) or between 10m and 16m.  The applicant needs to clarify 
whether the assessment was carried out assuming the worst 
case scenario of 10m.  From the images supplied it seems to be 
greater than this minimum dimension.  The UDC team’s 
concern is that at 10m the northern wings of Cambridge 
Assessment building could increase the impact on the southern 
elevation of the Kaleidoscope. 

 
 The assessment of the proposed scenario has revealed that 

there is a negative impact on a section of the Kaleidoscope 
development.  These appear to serve habitable rooms and as 
such the assumption made in the assessment is incorrect and 
the development proposals need to respond to the impact 
highlighted. 

 
 Overshadowing of proposed open spaces: 
 
 The spaces have been assessed against BRE criteria.  This 

assessment has shown that although there will be 
overshadowing of the spaces, they are within acceptable 
standards.  However careful choice of planting will be needed to 
avoid poor landscape results in shaded areas.  Also to be 
considered is the external space related to the dining area as 
this will be in shade much of the time and may require moving 
away from the northern elevation of this wing of the 
development. 

 
 
 

Page 45



6.14 Proposed site layout and access 
 

The overall organisation of uses on the scheme is identified in 
the submitted parameter plan Site Access and Circulation Plan 
and is supported in design terms.  Clearly further refinement 
and detail will be resolved through the reserved matters 
process. 

 
 The space between the proposed CA buildings and the existing 

Kaleidoscope development will be configured to create a new 
‘street’ environment to provide access to the car parking and 
pedestrian/cycle link from the CGB.  The detailed design will be 
resolved through the Reserved Matters application but the 
principles of a low speed and well landscaped route is 
supported as a way of reducing the sense of a purely ‘service’ 
function to this area and to improve the outlook from the 
adjacent residential development.  

 
 The main car and cycle parking will be located beneath the two 

podiums with visitor cycle parking located towards the entrance 
to the building.  A vehicle drop-off route is located to serve the 
main entrance into the CA buildings. The overall approach to 
the access and circulation to the building is supported in design 
terms and will be refined through the future Reserved Matters 
application.  

 
 Refuse and other ‘back of house’ servicing are located to the 

eastern side of the site.  The location is supported although care 
will be needed as the RM is worked up to ensure that these 
elements are well integrated and effectively screened from the 
proposed landscape setting and walking routes that will form 
part of the wider proposals.  

 
6.15 Landscape and Open Space 
 
 The overall landscape parameters are identified in the 

submitted parameter plan Landscape Parameter Plan.  The 
landscape setting created for the proposals will be crucial in 
helping to ‘bed’ the scheme into the surrounding and somewhat 
mixed context.   

 
 The Landscape Team have also considered parameter plan 

Parameter Drawing: Built Form with proposed levels in order to 
assess the available space given to the landscaped on the 

Page 46



boundaries of the development.  This drawings shows 
dimensions between the proposed buildings and the boundary 
with a +/- tolerance.  The tolerance will give future flexibility 
when detailed building design is carried out.  The Landscape 
Team is particularly interested in available space for medium to 
large species trees to mature. 

 
 Each boundary is considered as follows: 
 
 West boundary (Shaftesbury Road) 
 
 The dimension on this parameter plan is shown as 10m (+5m/-

0m) at the southern end and 15m (+/-5m) at the northern end.  
The Landscape Team would prefer to see large species trees in 
this location in order to follow the prevailing treed character of 
Shaftesbury Road and to integrate the building into the 
surroundings.  Also to be considered in this location is the 
drainage system and the space required for the rain garden 
proposed along this boundary.  Using the figures above, the 
minimum distance between the carriageway kerb and the 
building would be 10m.  The large species trees would need to 
be planted no less than 8m from the building to avoid the 
branches touching the building in the future.  

 
 Southern boundary 
 
 Dimension shown at 12m (+5m/-3m).  Given that there is a 

substantial treed area to the south of the site a minimum 
distance of 9m should be enough space to accommodate a 
road and a verge. 

 
 Eastern boundary (guided bus and railway) 
 
 Dimension shown at 10m (+/-3m).  If the dimension is reduced 

to 7m this would bring the building close to the noise and 
movement of the transport corridor and produce a very pinched 
landscape space not capable of accommodating a reasonable 
landscape buffer. The Landscape Team would recommend a 
minimum distance of 10m and increased if possible.  It is also 
noted that the buildings to the east of the railway are also very 
close which would create a canyon effect. 

 
 
 

Page 47



 Northern boundary (Kaleidoscope) 
 
 Dimension shown at 13m (+/-3m).  The proposals are for a 

landscape buffer between the Kaleidoscope site and the 
buildings of the Cambridge Assessment site.  If the dimension is 
reduced to 10m and space for the road and parking is retained, 
it will result in the landscaped areas nearest to the CA building 
needing to be removed.  Not only will the buildings be closer 
together, but this removal will considerably lessen the screening 
capacity of the landscape buffer and the softening effect of the 
landscape along the road. 

 
6.16 Illustrative scheme 
 
 An illustrative scheme shown within the submitted D&A 

Statement and provides a clear indication of the likely form and 
architectural style of a future Reserved Matters application.  A 
classical ordering of the forms employing clear definition of 
‘base, middle and top’ is illustrated with an overall approach to 
the scheme is supported in design terms and shows a 
rhythmical elevation treatment and simple materials palette.  
Although illustrative in nature, as an indication of the likely form 
and quality of the scheme and with the understanding that 
further detailed design is required, the proposals are supported 
in design terms. 

 
6.17 Planning Conditions 
 
 Conditions are recommended in relation to the following: 
 

� Materials – Sample Panel 
 
� Hard and Soft Landscape Works 

 
� Podium landscapes 

 
� Landscape works maintenance 

 
� Landscape management plan 

 
� Hard and Soft landscaping implementation 

 
� Details of Sustainable Drainage 

 

Page 48



Application as amended/additional information 
 

Tall Building and the Skyline Appraisal and Visual Impact 
Assessment with Verified Photomontage Views 

 
6.18 The format, content and findings of the appraisal are agreed.  

The appraisal concludes that the taller elements of the building 
in particular the tower element is appropriate when assessed 
against the 5 criteria in the Cambridge Local Plan 2014: 
Proposed Submission as referred to in Policy 60 (Tall Buildings 
and the Skyline in Cambridge) and in Appendix F attached to 
this policy.   

 
6.19 The verified views that accompany the assessment reveal that 

the 39.1m tower element will be visible from more distant 
vantage points.  However, the UDC team accept that this is an 
opportunity where a single, taller element in the scheme is 
appropriate.  The development is located in an area where there 
are other taller buildings and at an “apex” in the rail way and 
guided busway where a building with a more prominent height 
will help orientation and provide a “landmark”.  The UDC team’s 
view is that there are limited opportunities to “push” buildings to 
greater heights in and around the city; however this is one site 
where it can work with its strategic position on the main 
transport route into the city and when viewed from bridges along 
this route north and south of the site.  The photomontages have 
been done to a good standard and provide a realistic portrayal 
of the whole scheme, not just the tower, in its context.   

 
6.20 Crucial to the success of the 39.1m tower will be its detailed 

design and materials.  In this regard, the UDC team consider it 
will be crucial that the tower be “light weight” in terms of its 
materiality and that its lower and upper elevations are 
differentiated.  A lighter, more glazed, approach to design and 
materials will be appropriate for its taller parts; a solid, more 
masonry treatment more appropriate for its lower parts.  At the 
reserved matter stage it will be important to ensure this 
approach is considered in detail and assessed fully. 

 
Kaleidoscope Development Block G Daylight Analysis Baseline 
and Daylight Impact Assessment on the Kaleidoscope 
Development Update June 2014 

 

Page 49



6.21 The UCD team consider that this information is both useful and 
has resulted in a positive change to the design of the north 
easterly part of the building to respond to the shadow impact on 
Kaleidoscope that was noted previously.  More specifically, that 
change includes a recessing of this wing by 3.5 metres in order 
to ensure that four windows in the Kaleidoscope development 
meet the BRE criteria with respect to the Vertical Sky 
Component (VSC). The UDC team agree with the findings as 
well as the amendments to address this problem and the 
amendment addresses the teams earlier concern.   

 
Amended Parameter Drawing: Built Form with Proposed Levels 

 
6.22 The amended parameter plan has addressed the points 

previously made by the UDC team, specifically: 
 

1. The building line on the eastern boundary needs to be a 
minimum distance of 10m to allow space for the creation of a 
more reasonable landscape buffer.  The plan now indicates the 
closest any building could come to this boundary is 10 metres 
(+3/-0m). 
 

2. The building has now been set back at its north easterly 
boundary in order to address the VSC issue in terms of four 
windows to units in Kaleidoscope, and now indicates a set back 
at this location of 16.5 (+3/-0m).  This dimension was previously 
shown at 13.0 metres.  The remainder of the building at its 
northerly boundary is now set back a minimum of 13 metres 
(+3/-0m), with the “-0m” tolerance having been added to replace 
the previous “+-3m” tolerance.  This minimum new tolerance 
enables landscape to be established along this boundary and 
“design in” with a proposed vehicle route and car parking.   

 
6.23 In addition to these changes, the UDC team notes that the 

applicant has amended the zones for plant and services on the 
roof of the building.  These amendments were discussed with 
the UDC team prior to submission and the UDC team agree 
with the changes, which are more specifically about providing 
larger “zones” for plant.  These zones cover a considerable area 
of the roofs of both the north and south parts of the building, but 
are limited in each case to only 600 square metres of coverage 
by plant and services.  The detailed location, and design, of 
these spaces can be dealt with at a subsequent reserved 
matters stage.   

Page 50



 
 Conclusion 
 
6.24 The additional information and amendments to the Built Form 

Parameter Plan has addressed the UDC team’s previous 
questions and concerns and the UDC team now fully support 
this outline application.  With the approval of this application, the 
team consider that there is the potential for a new high quality, 
well designed building to act as the new headquarters for 
Cambridge Assessment. 

 
Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Public Art) 

 
6.25 The Public Art Strategy is welcomed.  The following detailed 

comments are made: 
 

Themes and Approaches 
 

Clarification is needed but in general the principle of a series of 
focal points or commissions throughout the site provides 
appropriate mitigation.  The direct relationship and benefit to the 
residential areas directly around the site should be 
acknowledged. 

 
Public Art Programme 

 
Major commissions 

 
 The number of commissions needs to be clarified and the 

budget increased.  (£400,000).  Consideration should be given 
to a commission involving the site boundary with the residential 
community with an appropriate budget allocation (minimum 
£70,000). 

 
International Connections 

 
The principles of the commissions contained within this section 
are supported by the Public Art Officer and the budget is 
adequate to deliver proposals. 

 
Public Engagement 

 
 The principles of the public art engagement programme are 

supported as are the objective.  However the budget is too low.  

Page 51



This element of the PAS is more important than the 
International Connections section in terms of mitigation.  A 
series of temporary commissions would directly benefit the local 
community and provide mitigation.  This could include an artist 
in residence, hoardings project etc.  An appropriate budget 
would be £60,000. 

 
Budget 

 
The submitted PAS has a budget of £500,000 (which equates to 
0.5% of the capital construction costs) The Public Art officer 
suggests the budget is raised to £625,000 plus revised 
management and delivery costs. 

 
Project Delivery and Schedule 

 
This will need to be revised based on the comments above. 

 
 Conclusion 
 

Clarification is required as to whether the Tower commission 
includes the Eastern Boundary commission and what the 
budget breakdown is for each element.  A commission on 
Shaftsbury Road and additional temporary commissions need to 
be added to the Public Programme.  An overall budget that 
relates to the scale and impact of the development of £625,000 
plus revised management and delivery costs is considered to be 
appropriate. 

 
 The Public Art Officer has also provided an assessment of the 

Public Art Strategy (with suggested amendments) against the 
requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which 
demonstrates that it is CIL compliant.  I have included this in full 
in the section of my assessment relating to Planning 
Obligations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Sustainable Drainage) 
 

6.26 The use of green roofs, porous paving, rills, swales, filter drains 
and rain gardens is fully supported.  Further detail will be 
required at the reserved matters stage. 
 
Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Cycling and Walking 
Officer) 

 
6.27 The access onto the busway is welcomed but, given the 

usefulness of this link it is strongly recommend that it be made 
accessible to all, not just staff at the building.  Details of the 
ramp (width and gradient) are required. 
 
Environment Agency 

 
6.28 The site is considered to be of high sensitivity and could present 

pollutant/contaminant linkages to controlled waters.  Conditions 
are  recommended in relation to Ground Water and 
Contamination (remediation  strategy, surface water disposal, 
piling), Floodrisk and Surface Water  Drainage 
(implementation of Flood Risk Assessment/Drainage philosophy 
 and surface water drainage scheme) and Pollution Control 
(pollution control).   Informatives are recommended.  

 
 Anglian Water 
 
6.29 Capacity is available for foul drainage.  A dialogue is necessary 

between AW  and the developer regarding flood risk.  A 
condition is recommended to  secure a foul water strategy. 

 
Cambridgeshire County Council (Archaeology) 

 
6.30 The site has high archaeological potential and a condition is 

recommended to  secure a programme of archaeological 
investigation. 

 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary (Architectural Liaison 
Officer)  

 
6.31 In terms of crime risk, the site overall has seen 8 x crimes 

recorded in the past 3 x years (6 x theft [mainly personal 
property], 1 burglary [walk-in], 1 x pedal cycle stolen). 
 

Page 53



The site is accessed from Shaftsbury Road; the public highway 
onto the site is separated by a change of road surface, a fence 
and gates defining the space a private (this could be further 
reinforced with signage). Pedestrian and cycle access to the 
site can be gained off The Busway/Cycleway via an access 
controlled gate, this means that only site employees gain 
access from The Busway. The Busway can be accessed from 
the Kaleidoscope development off Fitzwilliam Road so access 
by members of the public through the CUP site is not an issue. 
 
CCTV is to be installed covering the building perimeter, cycle 
and car parking areas plus public circulation areas within the 
main building.  
 
The security strategy has been extensively covered and would 
meet with recommendations 
 
Whilst I have no concerns regarding the security of the building 
and security strategy, I would raise a concern regarding the 
poor access to Shaftesbury Road off Brooklands Avenue and 
the level of congestion in the area.  A change to normal office 
hours would reduce this congestion. 

 
6.32 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 

Adequate provision should be made for fire hydrants either via 
planning condition or s106 Agreement. 

 
Design and Conservation Panel (Meeting of 15 January 
2014) 

 
6.33 The minutes of the meeting are as follows: 
 
 The Panel appreciated the opportunity to view a model of the 

outline scheme. The Panel’s comments are as follows: 
 
� Redevelopment options analysis. An outline of the options for 

the site’s redevelopment, including an assessment of the pros 
and cons of the retention of the Edinburgh Building was not 
presented. Such an assessment would have helped to justify 
the proposed masterplan. 
 

� Response to context. The Panel considered the questions – 1) 
What is the context? and 2) Is what is proposed an appropriate 

Page 54



response? Given the site’s substantial size, triangular shape 
and the varied typology of the surrounding area, the Panel felt 
that the key elements of the scale and massing, layout, access 
and movements and landscape structure should be influenced 
by the outlook and distinct uses immediately adjacent to the 
three principal sides of the substantial triangular site. The Panel 
was not able to assess the impact of the proposals in the wider 
setting, it was felt that the proposed scale and configuration of 
the building on the railway line elevation is most responsive 
whilst the frontage to the private section of Shaftesbury Road 
was unnecessarily formal and monolithic in its longitudinal 
dimension. In principle, the interface with the Kaleidoscope 
development and the Sixth Form Centre appears acceptable.  
 

� Height and massing. The Panel would welcome greater 
variation in building heights on the Shaftesbury Road elevation 
so as to resolve some concerns on scale and massing and 
improve the scheme’s response to its immediate context, and 
the approach to the main entrance. A stronger composition in 
the pattern of solid to openings in the facade would be 
beneficial. Moreover in the Panel’s view, a raised southern side 
to the main courtyard could help to signal the entrance more 
effectively.  
 

� Boundary treatment (northern elevation). Detailed studies of 
the impact of the elevations overlooking the Kaleidoscope 
residential units are needed to assess the impact, particularly at 
ground floor level on the residents’ amenity. 
 

� Landscaping. The Panel generally welcome the landscaped 
structure, particularly the substantial spaces located away from 
the challenging environment of the railway line. Some 
reservations were expressed in relation to the perceived 
corporate and defensive nature of the water elements alongside 
the western elevations, though this was also liked by some 
members of the Panel. 
 

� Double-stacked cycle racks. The Panel would like to urge 
caution in the acceptance of the principle of this style of parking 
provision across the site as it sets the height of the podia. 
These racks are not suitable for all styles of bicycle and in other 
areas of the city are often misused or left unused, leading to 
unwelcome clutter of bikes being secured to street furniture.  
 

Page 55



� Materiality. As the materials palette is yet to be developed, the 
Panel felt there was insufficient information upon which to 
comment. 

 
 Conclusion 
 
 Subject to a re-consideration of the scale and massing of 

buildings on the western side of the triangle site, the masterplan 
appears to have demonstrated that the substantial amount of 
office and ancillary floorspace proposed for a new international 
HQ for Cambridge Assessments can be fitted on the site within 
a substantial landscaping setting in an elegant way. However, 
this is principally a preliminary architectural assessment which 
doesn’t take into account traffic and transport considerations 
which may or may not shape the amount of office floorspace 
that can be located on the site.   

 
 The Panel would welcome the opportunity to comment on 

detailed aspects at the Reserved Matters stage.  
 
 VERDICT – GREEN (8), AMBER (2) 
 

English Heritage 
 

6.34 There are no designated heritage assets within the site but 
Brooklands Conservation Area is close to the north of the site.  
The character and appearance of the Conservation Area is 
predominately residential with 2/3 storey buildings and tree lined 
streets.  The character changes markedly outside the 
Conservation Area with larger scale office buildings, the 
Stephen Perse College and industrial buildings.  Immediately 
adjacent to the site is the Kaleidoscope development that 
comprises of flats of 4/7 storeys. 

 
Whilst the proposal is significantly different to the predominant 
character of the Conservation Area due to the presence of 
similar, large scale commercial and residential buildings in the 
immediate vicinity the scale, form and massing would not result 
in any additional harm to the character or appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

 
There is concern about the taller tower element which may be 
intrusive on the skyline and conditions are recommended to 
ensure the mass and bulk of any taller element is controlled.  

Page 56



The taller element should not set a precedent for a general 
increase in height across the development. 

 
There is also concern about the unrelieved bulk of the two 
blocks facing the west boundary.  This could appear as an un-
relenting, monolithic and potentially overpowering elevation and 
will need detailed work at the reserved matters stage. 

 
The application should be determined in the light of planning 
policy/guidance and CCC specialist advice. 
 

6.35 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 
have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations (objection unless otherwise stated) in relation to 
the application as submitted: 

 
 11 Aberdeen Avenue 
 27 Aberdeen Avenue 
 36 Aberdeen Avenue 
 41 Aberdeen Avenue 
 49 Aberdeen Avenue 
 55 Aberdeen Avenue 
 75 Aberdeen Avenue 
 79 Aberdeen Avenue 
 7 Aberdeen Square 
 8 Aberdeen Square (comments neither object nor support) 
 2, The Belvedere, Homerton Street 
 10 The Light Building, Brooklands Avenue 
 Ravensworth, 21 Brooklands Avenue 
 17 Clarendon Road (3 letters) 
 6 Clarendon Street 
 13 Copse Way 
 15 Copse Way 
 176 Glenalmond Avenue 
 235 Glenalmond Avenue 
 238 Amber Building, Glenalmond Avenue 
 244 Glenalmond Avenue 
 3 Henslow Mews 
 5 Henslow Mews (comments neither object nor support) 

Page 57



 12 Henslow Mews 
 19 Henslow Mews 
 20 Henslow Mews (with photographs of congestion in the local 

area) 
 25 Henslow Mews 
 26 Henslow Mews 
 13 Copper Building, Kingfisher Way 
 8 The Steel Building, Kingfisher Way (comments neither object 

nor support) 
 21 The Steel Building, Kingfisher Way (comments neither object 

nor support) 
 4 Lennox Walk (comments neither object nor support) 
 6 Lennox Walk  
 2 Morland Terrace (comments neither object nor support) 
 6 Morland Terrace 
 7 Morland Terrace (comments neither object nor support) 
 6 Richard Foster Road (comments neither object nor support) 
 7 Richard Foster Road 
 1 Shaftesbury Road 
 3 Shaftesbury Road 
 Clare College, Trinity Lane 
 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Principle of development 
 
 No objection in principle (10) 
 
 Traffic impact 
 
 Additional traffic resulting in congestion, noise, air pollution (27) 

Existing network is not capable of accommodating additional 
traffic 
The Council’s Air Quality Action Plan is due to be update and 
published  2013/4 

 The Shaftesbury Road/Aberdeen Avenue junction is dangerous 
Hills Road/Brooklands Avenue junction is already at maximum 
legal capacity 

 Brooklands Avenue is currently gridlocked with rush hour traffic 
Concerns about demolition/construction traffic (3) 
Transport Assessment does not show severity of impact (3) 
Development at Trumpington, Long Road and Addenbrookes 
have resulted in huge increases in traffic (4) 
Concern about access for emergency vehicles 

Page 58



Consideration has not been given to the fact that CB1 offices 
and Kaleidoscope flats are not fully occupied yet (3) 
Existing junctions are hazardous. 
Photographs have been provided to show traffic congestion, 
cyclists using the footpath and vehicles driving on the wrong 
side of the road 
A traffic survey should be carried out to assess movements on 
Brooklands Avenue and Shaftesbury Road at AM and PM 
peaks 
Pay and display parking spaces on Shaftesbury Road impede 
traffic because they are occupied all day 
Traffic counts should be undertaken in term time 
 

 Impact on Cyclists/Motorcyclists 
 
 Adverse impact on safety of cyclists 

Concerns about the safety of cyclists using Brooklands Avenue 
(4) 

 
 Impact on Parking – demolition/construction stage 
 
 Pressure on on-street parking (4) 
 Adverse impact of contractors parking (14) 

Concern that mitigation measures via planning conditions 
will/may not be adequate/capable of enforcement (2) 
Contractors should be bussed in or parking provided for them 
on site (3) 
Contractors should not be permitted to park in surrounding 
streets and this should be part of their contract. 
City Council’s Considerate contractors scheme not adequate 
Lack of Travel Plan for demolition/construction stage (2) 
More detail is needed of routing of construction traffic 
Restoration of the highway will be needed post-construction 

 
 Impact on Parking – post occupation stage 
  

Parking and congestion pressures on surrounding streets (8) 
Parking pressure has been displaced to Accordia as a result of 
lower parking provision on new developments e.g. Mills and 
Reeve (4) 
Pressure on on-street parking – Accordia is an island of un-
restricted parking in an area of parking control (4) 

Page 59



Lack of credibility in Travel Plan - 31% of staff want to use a car 
but Cambridge Assessment (CA) consider that this can be 
reduced to 7% (22) 
Query whether there are examples of this level of modal shift 
elsewhere 
Too few parking spaces will be provided (4) 
Too many parking spaces will be provided 
Car and cycle parking provision will meet the needs of only 50% 
of staff 
Travel Plan not credible (2) 
Travel Plan needs to be enforceable 
Lack of evidence of modelling to demonstrate changes in travel 
behaviour 
Lack of evidence of need for disabled persons parking spaces 
(2) 
There is a failure to understand how people behave as opposed 
to how we would like them to behave 
The Transport Assessment needs to be reviewed – the 
conclusion that there are no matters of concern is not supported 
The Transport Assessment needs to be independently 
assessed by the County Council and that assessment made 
public 
The current site is under-occupied but CA will be fully occupied 
which will impact on parking provision 
Travel plan surveys and monitoring should be made public 
Comparable situations should be considered for instance the 
arrival of people at the site equates to a double decker bus 
arriving every 2 minutes for a period of 1.5 hours and departure 
equates to more people than leave Cambridge United on match 
days. 
 
Mitigation of transport impacts 

 
Sustainable transport measures should be secured and 
enforced (3) 
Credible plans should include compulsory use of Park and Ride 
secured by planning condition and improvements to local 
infrastructure including upgrading of Brooklands Avenue, better 
cyclist provision at Hills Road/busway junction, better access to 
busway from the site and dedicated shuttle service to Park and 
Ride.  They need to be provided up front. (3) 
Improvements to Brooklands Avenue/Shaftesbury Road 
junction (2) 

Page 60



A residents parking scheme should be implemented at Accordia 
(6) 
Funding for residents parking scheme welcomed (3) 
Bus stops in Brooklands Avenue could be upgraded and a new 
stop provided close to the site (2) 
Improvements are needed for cyclists and pedestrians in 
Brooklands Avenue and at Hills Road/Brooklands Avenue 
junction 
Improvements are needed to Brooklands Avenue 
There should be a CGB bus stop to serve the site (in both 
directions) (14) 
There should be a footbridge over the CGB to access Hills 
Road/Belvedere area (5) 
There should be a pedestrian walkway to the car park at 
Cambridge Leisure (2) 
Cambridge Leisure Car Park should be used by employees 
during the day 
Is access to the CGB route adequate? 
Car sharing should be enforced 
Suggestions are made regarding the commitment to a residents 
parking scheme and improved provision for bus users on 
Brooklands Avenue but it is not clear who will decide whether 
these should be taken forward 
An alternative access should be provided to take vehicles away 
from congested areas 
Pedestrian/cycle access should be via CGB route (2) 
Cycle lanes in the area should be improved/provided on 
Brooklands Avenue (2) 
A free shuttle service to Trumpington Park and Ride should be 
provided (5) 
Free bus passes for CGB should be provided 
Parking controls, patrols and fines need to be enforced 
A pre-construction and post- construction traffic and parking 
plan should be agreed and enforced 
The applicant is not taking sufficiently strong measures to meet 
staff demands 
Experience shows that the police and the authorities are unable 
to deal with current parking problems 
Number plate recognition should be used on site 
Employees contracts should be varied to prevent them bringing 
a car to work 
Planning conditions should secure mitigation measures ‘prior to 
occupation’ 

 

Page 61



 Cycle Parking 
 

Cycle parking spaces should be large enough to accommodate 
panniers 

 Cycle/Motor Cycle parking provision is inadequate (4) 
 
 Scale and Massing 
 
 The height of buildings will be higher than the 5/6 storey blocks 

on Kaleidoscope and the 4 storey blocks on Tripos Court 
because they will be commercial not residential storeys.  The 
massing and height is therefore totally unsuitable for the site. 

 
 The buildings will be too large for the site and are right up the 

edge of the plot 
 
 The design would damage the amenity of the Conservation 

Area and a more sensitive design should be developed.  It is too 
dominant in terms of height. 

 
 The tower which will be the same height as The Marque is 

inappropriate and pushes the massing of high buildings into the 
suburbs. 

 
 The scale and massing will have serious implications for 

occupants of surrounding buildings and users of the outside 
space/CGB corridor. 

 
 The site is highly visible to visitors to the City and the tower is 

too large for the site and will damage the visual amenity of the 
area adjacent the Conservation Area (2) 

 
 Construction impacts 
 
 Noise and air pollution (3) 

Lack of detailed information about noise, congestion, parking 
impacts 
A Construction Environmental Management Plan needs to be 
secured and explained 

 
 Other issues 
 

Development could set a precedent for development of other 
sites 

Page 62



Potential adverse impact on the area from changes to road 
network and additional parking 
A more appropriate site, away from residential development, 
should be considered (3) 
The contractor has been appointed before planning permission 
has been granted 
Lack of constructive response to resident’s concerns 
Lack of Environmental Impact Assessment (4) 
An Air Quality Assessment should be carried out 
Potential for collusion with the applicant – why is the scheme 
being taken to the County Council’s Growth Committee and not 
Planning Committee? 
Supports job creation 
Detailed design should support and maintain diversity of wildlife 
The applicant is taking a commendable approach to community 
relations 
 

7.3 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 
representations (objection unless otherwise stated) in relation to 
the application as revised/in the light of additional information: 

 
 17 Brooklands Avenue 

Ravensworth 21 Brooklands Avenue 
3 Clarendon Road 
17 Clarendon Road (4) 
7 Fitzwilliam Road 
3 Henslow Mews 
4 Shaftesbury Road (German Lutheran Church) 

 
7.4 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Traffic impacts 
 
 The concept of uniting Cambridge Assessment in one place will 

have an adverse impact on residents in terms of traffic and air 
pollution. 

 There has been no reconsideration of traffic and congestion 
 A new survey should be carried out during morning and evening 

peak times because the survey carried out in 2011 cannot be 
relied upon as road works were taking place. 

 
 
 
 

Page 63



 Impact on Parking – post occupation stage 
 
 189 parking spaces is too many – staff should cycle/walk or use 

Park and Ride facilities 
 Employees should not be permitted to rent parking spaces off 

site which would undermine a restriction on parking 
 

Mitigation of transport impacts 
 
 Estimates of car use and impact of cyclists/pedestrians are not 

credible 
 Further consideration needs to be given to limiting impacts e.g. 

by provision of a footbridge to Homerton Street 
 It is unrealistic to expect almost half the staff to use the cycle 

racks provided 
 The layout of Brooklands Avenue is not conducive to high 

volumes of cyclists and would urgently need improvements to 
encourage more people to cycle safely. 

 Vehicular access should be provided from the south (2) and 
construction vehicles should use this route 

 There should be improved pedestrian access 
 There should be traffic calming/20mph speed limit on 

Shaftesbury Road 
 A workplace parking levy should be applied 
 
 Scale and Massing 
 
 Scale and massing are out of keeping with the general area and 

could compound the detrimental impact of Kaleidoscope and 
the Marque. (3) 

 Guarantees are needed regarding the quality of design and 
construction. 

 The buildings are too tall for the area. 
 The proposed development is of poor quality and will be 

massively overbearing 
 Cambridge should be a city of buildings of moderate height 

(Kings College Chapel is 29m high). 
 The building will be clearly evident and intrusive on the skyline 

of Cambridge as the Marque is. (3) 
 Other views should be included in the Visual Impact 

Assessment (VIA) – Grantchester Meadows, views from the 
Belvedere and surrounding residential areas 

 The VIA demonstrates that the development will detract from 
the local visual amenity, the neighbouring Conservation Area 

Page 64



and key vistas.  The existing Edinburgh Building is assimilated 
better within the townscape. 

 The 39.1 metre high tower is not in keeping with the character 
of Cambridge. It will be visible from Gog Magog Down and 
many other areas, and will dominate the Cambridge skyline (2) 

 The tower will damage the visual amenity of the area and 
Conservation Area (3) 

 The immediate and wider impact on the skyline have not been 
adequately addressed and does not accord with the Tall 
Buildings and the Skyline guidance 

 Approval would encourage other developers to build taller 
buildings 

 Council officers are not preventing inappropriate development 
but are ‘conniving’ in ever increasing heights 

 There should be a reduction in height by two storeys 
 A more sensitive design would have a reduced height to reflect 

local distinctiveness. 
 A sign would be an appropriate visual marker 
 The new development should enhance the Conservation Area.  

There is a strong trend towards office uses reverting to 
residential use. 

 
 Construction impacts 
 
 The DCEMP contains good intentions but no real tangible 

measures to minimise disruption to traffic and parking. 
 Delivery times coincide with construction hours with the 

exception of 30 minutes extra on weekday mornings 
 The comment that the timing of large scale deliveries will ‘seek 

to avoid’ sensitive time periods is weak.  Large scale deliveries 
should be limited to specific time bands. 

 Where will site workers park if not on site? 
 Promotion of alternative means of transport is not the same as 

‘offered’ or ‘enforced’  
 There will be no ‘normal’ parking capacity notwithstanding any 

issue of inconsiderate parking by site workers. 
 
 Other issues 
 

The tower would have an adverse impact on the quality of life of 
residents of Kaleidoscope. (2) 
The development will overshadow Kaleidoscope, lead to loss of 
light and result in overlooking/loss of privacy. (2) 
Loss of view of the sky from Kaleidoscope 

Page 65



The changes suggested by officers in respect of the impact on 
the residential amenity of residents of Kaleidoscope should be 
made 
Around 189 additional cars will result in air pollution 
The Planning Committee should give proper consideration to 
the application and it should not be dealt with under delegated 
powers during the holiday period. 

 
7.5 Development Control Forum 
 

A petition (30 signatures) has been submitted which requested 
that a Development Control Forum be held. The grounds of 
objection are as  follows: 

 
 The grounds for asking for a Forum  
 
 The petitioners in principle welcome the proposed development 

but have the following objections and request a development 
control forum to explore these concerns and consider mitigation 
matters. 

 
 There is deep concern among residents at the lack of a plan for 

the management of the demolition and construction phase.  The 
fact that it is proposed to deal with such matters at the detailed 
planning stage does not alleviate residents’ concerns now. 
Primary concerns turn on the current inability of the surrounding 
infrastructure to accommodate the anticipated traffic 
movements with a feeling that this will result in at least: 

 
� Displaced parking caused by contractors’ vehicles 
� Heavy plant/lorries on Brooklands Avenue and Hills Road, 

generally and in  rush hour traffic (which is already largely 
at a standstill) with resultant unacceptably high pollution 
levels (including when children are on their way to and 
from school). 

 
 The post occupation travel plan is considered to be flawed 

because (a) it is based on an over ambitious assumption of the 
likely achievable change in travel habits of employees and (b) 
the surrounding infrastructure is unable currently to 
accommodate the anticipated number of new traffic movements 
implied by the travel plan targets. The main concerns expressed 
so far are in respect of: 

 

Page 66



� Displaced parking issues 
� Existing vehicular traffic flow along Brooklands Avenue 

and at junctions with Hills Road and Trumpington Road 
(which already is largely at standstill at rush hour) 

� Inadequate existing infrastructure to carry the hoped-for 
increased movements by bicycle, bus and on foot. 

 
 The petitioners object to the absence of a full Environmental 

Impact Assessment given the scale of the development and the 
geographical location of the site. 

 
 Changes that could overcome concerns 
 

Mitigation measures for the demolition and construction phase 
need to include at least: 

 
� Use of Park and Ride and dedicated contractors buses. 
� Incentive scheme for the use of buses and CGB for 

contractor staff 
 
 Mitigation measures post occupation need to include at least: 
 

� Parking controls to extend to all surrounding residential 
streets (particularly an issue in Accordia) with a proper 
penalty and enforcement scheme in place. 

� Radical improvements in cycling provision along 
Brooklands Avenue (particularly on the south side) and 
particularly at the junctions with Shaftesbury Road and 
Hills Road 

� Radical improvements to bus stops on Brooklands 
Avenue 

� Much better use of CGB viz. construction of a dedicated 
stop for the new building, lighting provision for the 
associated cycle path 

� Use of Park and Ride and dedicated staff buses 
� Footbridge from Clifton Way NCP car park 

 
7.6 Responses on behalf of a group of local residents who 

petitioned for the Development Control Forum on 3 June 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 Summary 
 

o The development is atypical and will have an adverse 
impact on local infrastructure which is already under 
strain. 

o The aspirations regarding reduction in car use will not be 
realised. 

o Existing infrastructure for non-car modes is inadequate 
o The application should not be approved until there is real 

evidence that infrastructure can cope 
o The new information provides no reassurances and 

demonstrates the fragility of the applicants arguments 
o The approach to off-site parking is unhelpful and delays 

action which is need now 
o The DCEMP is disappointing and minimalistic. 

 
 Conclusions 
 

o There are inadequate guarantees that the impacts of the 
development will be adequately mitigated – potential 
conflict with policies 4/11, 4/13, 8/2, 8/4, 8/5, 8/7 and 8/13 

o It does not take adequate account of paragraph 32 of the 
NPPF 

o The application should only be approved when 
guarantees of adequate infrastructure improvements (ie 
firm commitments, including funding guarantees) are in 
place 

o Effective mitigation requires imaginative collaboration 
between all the authorities involved, particularly between 
the City and County Councils, as is required by policy 
10.1 of the Development Plan and paragraph 31 of the 
NPPF – there is little evidence of this. 

o The project should not be considered by the Planning 
Committee until more progress has been made on these 
issues, and in particular until it can be shown that the 
barriers to the necessary infrastructure improvements 
have been removed. It would be premature to consider 
the proposal at the 6 August Planning Committee meeting 

 
Car use patterns 
 
The existing site is largely unoccupied and has the potential to 
generate substantially more trips.  It is acknowledged that 
surrounding roads are already at capacity therefore if traffic 

Page 68



movements increase to ‘potential’ levels this will imply severe 
transport impacts.  Furthermore the re-occupation of Cambridge 
Assessment’s existing offices which will mean that extra trips 
generated at the new site will be additional to current levels. 

 
 The staff survey only achieved a 54% response rate and new 

information uses only 30% of that number.  This equates to only 
250 staff, therefore no reliable conclusions can be drawn about 
the behaviour of 3000 people in the new office in 10 years time. 

 
The only reliable quantitative evidence is about future staff 
numbers and on-site parking.  CA figures suggest that when the 
new office is occupied 2600 members of staff will be without car 
parking on site compared with 1250 currently.  The proposed 
measures to discourage car use are speculative and if only 10% 
over-optimistic will result in over 50% extra traffic.  CA argue 
that the difficulty in finding a parking space will discourage car 
use but the existence of free parking at Accordia encourages 
car circulation. 

 
There is insufficient assessment of casual staff visiting at 
weekends. 

 
Off-site parking 

 
 The applicants are only willing to contribute towards a 

Residents Parking Scheme at Accordia if surveys demonstrate 
that one is justified.  This could mean that funding is not 
streamed until 2016.  This should not delay the process which 
has already been initiated by Trumpington Councillors. 

 
Officers made it clear at the DCF that off-site parking controls 
are the only way to discourage commuter parking.  This should 
be initiated before construction starts and be co-ordinated 
between the City and County Councils. 

 
 Walking, Cycling and Buses 
 

Without necessary infrastructure improvements, soft measures 
like a Travel Plan Coordinator will be compromised. Key points 
are: 

 
a. Provision of a CGB stop to serve the site 

Page 69



b. The funding of the cycle/pedestrian ramp needs to be 
resolved and the ramp provided prior to first occupation 

c. Clear commitment to improvements on both sides of 
Brooklands Avenue 

  
The City and County Council’s should work together to provide 
a link road from Long Road. 

 
Draft Construction Environmental Management Plan (DCEMP) 

 
This document is very weak.  There should be a planning 
condition to ensure that parking is provided for all construction 
workers either on-site or at a remote location with shuttle buses, 
and should require of its contractors that its workers park 
nowhere else. 

 
7.7 Brooklands Avenue Area Residents Association (BAARA) 

makes the following comments: 
 
� The application is generally supported but BAARA have serious 

concerns about the sustainability of travel arrangements. 
 
� Continued use of the site by a University department is 

preferable to residential development which would place even 
greater pressure on local roads. 

 
� The Travel Plan may not be sustainable and it is questioned 

whether it can be effectively enforced. 
 
� Current car park provision on site (approximately 450 spaces) 

may be under-used at present but traffic forecasts must take 
into account the possibility that parking use may increase within 
the existing use. 

 
� The Accordia and Kaleidoscope developments are vulnerable to 

parking by staff and contractors vehicles although parking in the 
BAARA area is restricted by the existing residents parking 
scheme. 

 
� BAARA is concerned about the height of the proposed 

buildings.  The detailed plans show buildings which appear to 
breach the Council’s policy on tall buildings (generally no more 
than six storeys outside the city centre).  With the Belvedere, 
the Marque and the marker buildings on Kaleidoscope the Hills 

Page 70



Road/Cherry Hinton Road junction is becoming over-populated 
by tall buildings. 

 
7.8 Cambridge Past Present and Future (CPPF) make the following 

comments: 
 

The application is welcomed but CPPF have concerns about 
Access and the Design and Layout  

 
 Access 
 The development has the potential to increase the staff at the 

site from 1600 to 3000.  The Travel Plan hopes to manage this 
change but CPPF are concerned that if alternative forms of 
transport such as the CGB and cycling do not persuade car 
users to change modes congestion and air quality impacts will 
be exacerbated and car parking displaced.  Policy 8/1 of the 
Local Plan has not been met. 

 
 Design and Layout 
 CPPF are concerned about the impact of the height of the 

buildings particularly the proposed tower which will contribute to 
the canyon effect surrounding the railway line.  It is not clear if 
the tower will be visible from the Magog Down and it should not 
‘compete with more ancient spires for skyline space’.  The 
Council’s Tall Buildings guidance is referred to. 

 
 The green courtyards and space for tree planting is welcomed 

by CPPF. 
 
7.9 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.  

 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Context of site, design and external spaces 
3. Impact on Heritage Assets 
4. Public Art 
5. Renewable energy and sustainability 

Page 71



6. Disabled access 
7. Transport Impacts/Highway safety 
8. Car and cycle parking 
9. Refuse arrangements 
10. Residential amenity 
11. Third party representations 
12. Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.2 The application site is not allocated in either the Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 or the Cambridge Local Plan 2014 Proposed 
Submission Draft.  The most relevant policies in the 2006 Plan, 
in terms of the principle of redevelopment are policies 7/2 and 
7/3. The Planning Policy team has carefully considered the 
implications of these policies and those in the emerging plan, 
which currently have less weight. 

 
8.3 The development accords with Policy 7/2 because the offices 

are proposed to be occupied by Cambridge Assessment which 
is an established business in the City.  However a restriction on 
occupation to a ‘local user’ will need to be secured via a 
planning obligation to ensure that if Cambridge Assessment 
decide not to occupy the building or occupation changes in the 
future the development remains compliant with this policy. 

 
Policy 7/3 seeks to protect storage space such as is currently 
on the site.  The site is not within a Protected Industrial Area but 
it is in employment use, therefore the criteria within Policy 7/3 
for such uses are engaged.  These are as follows: 

 
a) There is sufficient supply of such floorspace in the City to 

meet demand and/or vacancy rates are high 
b) The proposed development will generate the same number 

or more unskilled or semi-skilled jobs as could be expected 
from the existing use 

c) The continuation of industrial or storage uses will be harmful 
to the environment or the amenity of the area 

d) The loss of a small proportion of industrial or storage space 
would facilitate the redevelopment and continuation of 
industrial or storage use on a greater part of the site 

e) Redevelopment for mixed use or residential development 
would be more appropriate 

Page 72



Policy 7/3 requires that criterion (a) and at least one other 
criterion is met. 

 
8.4 The application submission includes information to sustain an 

argument that there has been no demand for large scale 
warehousing space in Cambridge in the last 18 months and that 
this site is not unattractive to potential occupiers given the age 
of the buildings and their location in relation to easy access 
trunk roads and motorways.  It is also argued that there is 
sufficient supply of warehouse space to serve the Cambridge 
area and vacancy rates are higher than average.  The site has 
not been offered on the open market however, in the opinion of 
officers, the arguments advanced by the applicant are sufficient 
to demonstrate compliance with Policy 7/3 part (a). 

 
8.5 The applicants also argue that part (c) of the policy is met 

because the continued use of the site for warehousing is not 
compatible with the surrounding residential uses.  I would 
concur with this view.  The advent of the Accordia and 
Kaleidoscope development has increased the density of 
dwellings in the area and the access roads serving the site are 
not capable of accommodating large scale vehicles which are 
needed to serve warehouses.  The continued use of the site or 
a more intensive warehousing use would have an adverse 
impact on the environment and amenity of the area. 

 
8.6 Policies 40 and 41 of the 2014 Local Plan have comparatively 

little weight at  present however the proposed development 
does not conflict with either of these policies.  Policy 40 relates 
to new employment development but is not as restrictive as 
policy 7/2.  In this case officers consider that the development 
accords with the more restrictive policy 7/2.  Policy 41 seeks to 
protect employment land from being lost to other uses and in 
this case continued employment use is proposed. 

 
8.7 The application submission includes a Sustainable Design and 

Construction Checklist which sets out the ways in which the 
principles of sustainable design and construction will be 
integrated into the design of the new development. The 
emphasis on the role of building form in promoting natural 
daylight and ventilation, the water management and waste 
management strategy is supported by officers. The site is in an 
accessible location with easy access to the Station and other 
public transport routes and there is scope for this to be 

Page 73



improved as part of the application.  The development accords 
with Policy 3/1. 

 
8.8 In my opinion, the principle of the development is acceptable 

and in accordance with policies 3/1, 7/2 and 7/3 of the 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006. 

 
Context of site, design and external spaces 

 
8.9 Outline Planning Permission is sought with all matters reserved 

but the Parameter Plans that form part of the application set 
parameters for the detailed design of the building and the 
external spaces.  The Parameter Plans show the following 
information: 

 
Parameter Plan - Application Site Plan with Existing Levels 
 

8.10 This plan establishes the baseline condition for the site levels.  
The site is fairly flat with an increase in elevation of 
approximately 1 metre across the site from south to north. The 
CGB is elevated above the site level by approximately 1 metre. 
 
Parameter Plan - Built Form with Proposed Levels 
 

8.11 This plan defines the minimum distance of the built form from 
the boundary and the maximum/minimum distance between the 
two elements of the proposed building (described as North and 
South Buildings below).  It also shows the maximum heights of 
specified parts of the building and minimum areas for spaces 
that are to be inset above the car parking area at ground level.  
With the exception of the area of open space between the North 
and South Buildings which is adjacent to the CGB, the site 
levels are to be generally maintained.  This space is to be built 
up in the region of 500 mm above the level of the CGB. 
 
As amended the distances from the boundaries and the 
maximum heights are as set out in the following table.  
Tolerances are also shown on the parameter plans which allow 
for a degree of flexibility in the final design. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



Parameter Plan Layout and Height Table 
 

 
 

Distance/Area Tolerance 

Minimum set back 
from Northern 
Boundary (North west 
and central) 

13m +3/-0m 

Minimum set back 
from Northern 
Boundary (North east) 

16.5m +3/-0m 

Minimum set back 
from Southern 
Boundary 

12m +5/-3m 

Minimum set back 
from Eastern Boundary 

10m +3m/- 0m 

Minimum set back 
from Western 
Boundary (part) 

10m +5/-0m 

Minimum set back 
from Western 
Boundary (part) 

15m +/- 5m 

Maximum height of 
North building (part) 

22.1m  

Maximum height of 
North building (part) 

18.1m  

Maximum height of 
South building 

22.1m  

Maximum height of 
plant rooms/kitchen air 
handling unit 

24.6m  

Maximum height of 
tower including plant 

39.1m  

Maximum area of 
tower 

100 sq. m  

Minimum areas of 
inset elements (North 
Building)* 

1000 sq. m and 650 
sq. m 

 

Minimum area of inset 
element (South 
Building)* 

1000 sq. m  

Maximum area of plant 
(North Building) 

600 sq. m  

Page 75



Maximum area of plant 
(South Building) 

600 sq. m  

Maximum area for 
kitchen air handling 
unit (South Building) 

70 sq. m  

Minimum/Maximum 
distance between 
North and South 
Building (East) 

30m/40m  +/- 5m 

Minimum/Maximum 
distance between 
North and South 
Building (West) 

30m/40m  +/- 5m 

Maximum height of link 
building 

13.7m  

 
*Minimum width of insets are also included on this parameter 
plan. 
 
Parameter Plan - Site Access and Circulation Plan 
 

8.12 This plan shows the pedestrian, cycling and vehicular routes 
around the site including for service vehicles. Access to the site 
is to be restricted and these will all be private routes.  There is 
an existing access from the site to the CGB and this is to be 
retained.  This will be a private access.  Off-site routes are also 
shown in the form of the controlled access route to the CGB for 
staff at CUP and the public access routes to the CGB which run 
through the Kaleidoscope development. 
 
Parameter Plan - Landscape Parameter Plan 
 

8.13 This plan defines the areas of landscaped space within the site, 
the tree planted edges to the east and west boundaries and an 
informal planted buffer to the northern edge adjacent to the 
Kaleidoscope development.  Existing trees to the south of the 
site and on the boundary with the Stephen Perse Sixth Form 
College are shown as to be protected and retained. 
 

8.14 The parameter plans allow an assessment of the proposals to 
be made in comparison with the existing height, scale and 
massing of buildings on the site and in the wider area.   

 
 

Page 76



 Building Height/Scale/Massing 
 
 Comparison with existing site coverage/buildings 
 
8.15 All existing buildings on the site are to be demolished.  The 

existing buildings currently cover a large proportion of the site.  
There are two open areas, the surface level car park which is to 
the north east quadrant of the site and a 
service/parking/landscaped area to the south part of the site. 

 
8.16 The Edinburgh Building occupies the northwest corner of the 

site.  It is positioned approximately 10m back from Shaftesbury 
Road.  The warehouse building which extends south along 
Shaftesbury Road is set back between 35m and 8m from the 
road frontage for a distance of over 100m.  The remainder of 
the site adjacent to Shaftesbury Road is occupied by three 
detached buildings on a building line set back 10m from the 
road. 

 
8.17 The Edinburgh building is set off the northern boundary by a 

minimum of 10 m.  The presence of the car park results in the 
attached warehouse building being set away from the northern 
boundary by a minimum of 48m.  To the eastern (railway) 
boundary the warehouse is set back by between 40m and 8m. 

 
8.18 Not only are the existing buildings very extensive in their 

footprint but they are also large scale buildings by virtue of their 
height.  The Edinburgh Building rises in a ziggurat form to a 
maximum height of 23m.  The warehouse buildings on the 
Shaftesbury Road frontage vary in height between 16m and 6m.  
The warehouse buildings facing Kaleidoscope and the railway 
line vary in height between 15.5m and 12m. 

 
8.19 The combination of site coverage and building height result in 

the existing buildings having a strong presence on the site and 
they create a distinctive ‘streetscene’ when viewed from 
Shaftesbury Road and the railway line. 

 
 Proposed site coverage/height 
 
8.20 The footprints of the proposed buildings will be different to the 

existing buildings but there will be a degree of overlap.  The 
applicants have confirmed the site coverage comparison areas 
as follows: 

Page 77



 
� Existing building site coverage (12,175.78m2/24,492.3m2) 

= 49.7% 
 
� Proposed building site coverage including podia 

(11,875.24m2/24,492.3m2 ) = 48.5% 
 
� Proposed building site coverage excluding podia 

(9,673.09m2/24,492.3m2) = 39.5% 
 
8.21 The biggest difference between the two building forms is that 

there will be large areas of green space on first floor podia 
above car parking spaces and east to west through the centre 
of the site. To the north there will be two areas of planting facing 
the northern boundary and the Kaleidoscope development. 
They will be substantial spaces a minimum of 30m and 25m 
wide respectively. To the east the main area of open space in 
the centre of the site will be at least 30 m wide and an open 
planted podium area 40m wide.  In the southern part of the site 
the built form will be rounded to respond to the narrow tip of the 
site.  On the Shaftesbury Road side the building will be set back 
from the road and the 30m wide spaces between the north and 
south buildings will break up what would otherwise be a very 
long elevation. 

 
8.22 It is very difficult to make direct comparisons between the height 

of the existing buildings on the site and the proposed buildings 
because they do not occupy the same footprints and because 
the indented podium areas have a fundamental impact on the 
scale and mass of the built form.  To the northern end of the site 
adjacent to the Kaleidoscope development that part of the 
building which could be built out to the maximum parameter is 
less than the maximum height of the Edinburgh Building at its 
western side and greater than the existing warehouse at the 
eastern side.   The footprint of the building will also be closer to 
the northern boundary.  Effectively the building would present 
two wings towards the boundary with Kaleidoscope up to 18.1m 
and 22.1m in height respectively. Along the Shaftesbury Road 
frontage, either side of the central open space and to the south 
the proposed buildings will exceed the height of the existing 
warehouses. 

 
 
 

Page 78



 Proposed tower 
 
8.23 The proposed tower is a feature which has no precedent on the 

existing site.  The ivy-clad wall of the existing warehouse is a 
very distinctive feature and when read in conjunction with the 
gabled Cambridge University Press building to the south of the 
site is a very clear marker of arrival in the City by train.  In 
proposing a tower in this location the architects are keen to 
maintain this marker.  The tower at 100 sqm in area occupies a 
small part of the overall floorspace but it is its height which will 
make it distinctive. 

 
 External Space 
 
8.24 There is very limited landscaping on the site at present.  The 

surface level car and servicing areas dominate the view from 
the railway line and from Kaleidoscope.  On the Shaftesbury 
Road frontage there is some limited tree planting which 
becomes more extensive at the southern end of the site to the 
rear of the smaller detached buildings.  It is proposed to remove 
all existing vegetation from the site and to protect the existing 
trees to the south and north which are positioned close to the 
site boundaries. 

 
8.25 It is proposed to provide five new landscaped areas; three podia 

and two areas either side of the building which will link the North 
and South buildings.  Tree planting is proposed to the east and 
west boundaries with a more informal visual buffer along the 
boundary with Kaleidoscope. The central landscaped area will 
align with the area of open space on the western side of 
Shaftesbury Road and will of similar width.  Similarly the tree 
planting on the boundary of the Eastbrook site will be replicated 
on the opposite side of the street. 

 
 Skyline Strategy/Visual Impact Assessment 
 
8.26 The applicants have submitted a Tall Building and the Skyline 

Appraisal and Visual Impact Assessment with Verified 
Photomontage Views in support of their application. 

 
Tall Building and the Skyline Appraisal (TBSA) 

 
8.27 The Tall Building and the Skyline Appraisal (TBSA) has been 

submitted to respond to the Council’s adopted Supplementary 

Page 79



Planning Document (SPD), Cambridge City Council - Guidance 
for the application of Policy 3/13 (Tall Buildings and the Skyline) 
of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) (2012).  The appraisal 
considers the development against the following: 

 
� Criterion 1: Location, Setting and Context – Context, 

Topography, Opportunities and Constraints and 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

� Criterion 2: Historical Impact 
� Criterion 3: Scale Massing and Architectural Quality - 

Requirement for Assessment against Appendix F: Tall 
Buildings and the Skyline, 35.1m tall building, 42.1m tall 
building, 39.1m tall building and Elevational and Material 
Treatment of the Tower 

� Criterion 4: Amenity and Microclimate 
� Criterion 5: Public realm 

 
Criterion 1: Location, Setting and Context – Context, 
Topography, Opportunities and Constraints and Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment 

 
8.28 The TBSA acknowledges that the nearest tall building to the site 

which contributes to the site is the Our Lady RC Church on Hills 
Road/Lensfield Road but that there more recently constructed 
and consented tall buildings in the vicinity of the site.  These 
include Botanic House, the Marque, the Belvedere, the 
Kaleidoscope development and the Homerton Business Centre 
site. The site drops 1m below the adjacent railway, and is 
generally level in height with the wider area of developments 
taking place around the Station and Hills Road. 

 
8.29 The TBSA considers that there is an opportunity for a positive 

landmark on the site given its important role in the arrival into 
the city from the south.  The creation of a taller tower within the 
overall composition is considered appropriate to mark the site 
and arrival into Cambridge and to provide a visual link across 
the main garden to the entry court to the west on Shaftesbury 
Road.  In the wider context it is not considered necessary or 
appropriate to mark the site in any significant way and this 
places a constraint on the height of the tower. 

 
8.30 The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment which forms 

part of the TBSA considers the site from distant viewpoints such 
as Limekiln Road and local views such as Hills Road bridge.  

Page 80



The conclusions reached are that the tower will be visible in 
views form the South east but will be absorbed in the general 
urban scene and that due to the relatively built up are around 
the site only glimpsed views of the tower will be possible.  This 
issue is also addressed by the Visual Impact Assessment with 
Verified Photomontage Views which I have addressed below. 

 
Criterion 2: Historical Impact 

 
8.31 The TBSA notes that the site is sited away from the historic core 

and only limited views will be possible of the tower from within 
Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area. 

 
Criterion 3: Scale Massing and Architectural Quality - 
Requirement for Assessment against Appendix F: Tall Buildings 
and the Skyline, 35.1m tall building, 42.1m tall building, 39.1m 
tall building and Elevational and Material Treatment of the 
Tower 

 
8.32 The TBSA notes that the five storey building is equal or lower in 

height compared with surrounding buildings.  The proposed 
tower has been tested at three heights above ground level with 
a consistent footprint comprising the minimum usable 
floorspace and vertical circulation. 

 
8.33 At 35.1m high the proposed tower has been ruled out by the 

TBSA as squat, not providing the desired presence and being 
poorly defined against rest of the development/surrounding 
area.  At 42.1m the TBSA considers the tower to be elegant and 
distinctive.  However in response to officers concerns that at 
this height the tower may be too prominent an intermediate 
height has been considered.  At 39.1m the TBSA considers the 
tower to be satisfactory and providing the necessary 
distinctiveness and definition without being over intrusive or 
dominant.  To date no decisions have been made regarding the 
external materials for the tower. 

 
Criterion 4: Amenity and Microclimate 

 
8.34 The tower is not considered likely to have any impact on 

amenity or the microclimate.   
 
 
 

Page 81



Criterion 5: Public realm 
 
8.35 The site is located at the southern end of a private road within 

part of the University of Cambridge’s University Press site. The 
only impact on Public Realm is along the Cambridge Guided 
Busway and this impact is restricted to very limited 
overshadowing at the end of the day. 

 
Visual Impact Assessment with Verified Photomontage Views 
(VIA) 

 
8.36 The VIA relates to verified views from the following locations: 
 

� Limekiln Road layby, Cherry Hinton 
� Wort’s Causeway 
� Magog Down – Little Tree Hill 
� Long Road railway bridge, looking north 
� Hills Road bridge, looking south 
� From Shaftesbury Road, looking south-east. 

 
The VIA focusses on interpretation of the verified views and the 
photomontage representation of the proposed buildings from 
the agreed viewpoints 

 
 Limekiln Road layby, Cherry Hinton 
 
8.37 The VIA concludes that the tower will be visible on the skyline 

and will provide a ‘notable’ new structure to the west of the 
Marque and Belvedere. In clear conditions it will be visible 
against the backdrop of higher land at Coton and Madingley but 
will not break the horizon.  The lower elements of the building 
will be difficult to discern and will be screened when the 
Homerton Business Centre site is developed.  The significance 
of visual effects is considered to be moderate to slight. 

 
Wort’s Causeway 

 
8.38 The VIA concludes that in common with the view from Lime Kiln 

Hill the tower will be visible but not the lower parts of the 
building.  The significance of visual effects is considered to be 
slight. 

 
 
 

Page 82



 Magog Down – Little Tree Hill 
 
8.39 The VIA considers that from this view the tower will be more 

closely aligned with the historic centre of the City but it will not 
intrude on any features of historic merit such as the spires at 
Kings College.  The lower parts of the building will be barely 
discernable.  The significance of visual effects is considered to 
be moderate to slight. 

 
 Long Road railway bridge, looking north 
 
8.40 The VIA considers that the tower could be a notable new 

landmark in this view where the Belvedere is also partially 
visible.  However the building will not block or intrude upon 
views of Cambridge landmarks and the significance of visual 
effects is considered to be slight. 

 
Hills Road bridge, looking south 

 
8.41 The VIA concludes that the tower will be notable but not 

especially prominent in this view when seen in the context of 
other buildings.  The lower elements of the building will continue 
the line of existing development and generally the site will be 
screened by buildings on Hills Road.  The significance of visual 
effects is considered to be moderate to slight. 

 
From Shaftesbury Road, looking south-east 

 
8.42 The VIA notes that this view will be representative of the views 

from residential streets off Brooklands Avenue but in reality 
views will be limited.  The greatest visual impacts will be 
experienced by users of the site.  The photomontage indicates 
that the tower will not be visible and that the new building may 
be ‘less blocky and austere’ than the existing Edinburgh 
Building.  The significance of visual effects is considered to be 
moderate. 

 
8.43 In conclusion the VIA considers that the tower element of the 

building will be widely visible from known viewpoints around the 
southern edge of Cambridge, although the lower sections of the 
building are only likely to become noteworthy within 1km, based 
on the photomontage evidence. The building is unlikely to 
appear above the horizon line from the more distant viewpoints.  
The VIA highlights consideration of the height of the tower and 

Page 83



the external colour treatment as potential ways in which its the 
appearance of the building from a distance could be mitigated.  
Appropriate space for landscaping is also noted as important to 
its immediate setting. 

 
 UDC team comments 
 
8.44 The UDC team and the Principal Landscape officer have been 

involved in the development of the scheme for the site during 
the pre-application stage.  Joint comments have been provided 
in relation to Urban Design/Conservation and Landscape which 
are helpful as these two aspects of the scheme are highly inter-
related. 

 
8.45 The UDC team and the Principal Landscape officer support the 

scheme (see paragraphs 6.7 to 6.24).  Their initial comments 
indicated the need for additional information which has resulted 
in the submission of the Tall Building and the Skyline Appraisal 
(TBSA), the Visual Impact Assessment with Verified 
Photomontage Views (VIA) and the amendments to the Built 
Form Parameter Plan.  The team accepts the conclusions that 
have been reached in these documents and support the 
revisions to the Built Form Parameter Plan.  Their comments 
regarding daylight and sunlight analysis are dealt with in the 
section of my report which deals with Residential Amenity. 

 
8.46 I have described the proposals for the site in extensive detail 

above.  The UDC team and the Principal Landscape Officer 
consider that the proposals are appropriate for their context and 
that the constraints of the Parameter Plans will allow detailed 
plans for a building of acceptable height, scale and massing and 
associated landscaping to be brought forward.  I agree with their 
views. 

 
 Design and Conservation Panel 
 
8.47 The Design and Conservation Panel considered the scheme 

prior to submission and without the benefit of the TBSA and 
VIA.  The Panel supports the scheme, giving it a verdict of 
Green (8) and Amber (2).  Comments were made about the 
potential for the Shaftesbury Road elevation to appear 
monolithic, the use of water in the landscape and the type of 
cycle parking.  The Panel is keen to see the detailed plans once 
they are submitted at the reserved matters stage.  In my view 

Page 84



the comments made by the Panel are capable of being 
addressed at the reserved matters stage. 

 
 Third Party Representations – Scale and Massing 
 
8.48 In comparison with the volume of objections on the grounds of 

transport impact there has been little comment by local 
residents on the design merits of the scheme.  This could in part 
be because of the outline nature of the application.  In my view 
the information that has been submitted with the application, 
particularly the TBSA and VIA demonstrate that a building of the 
scale proposed can be accommodate on the site.  The 
approved parameter plan does not allow the building to extend 
to the site boundaries and there is adequate space for 
landscaping. 

 
8.49 I do not agree with the views that there are shortcomings with 

the VIA or that the development is contrary to the Tall Buildings 
and the Skyline guidance.  The VIA is comprehensive and 
demonstrates that the development will be visible but not 
harmful to the Cambridge skyline.  The tower will be visible in 
some vistas but that is its purpose and I think it will provide an 
appropriate marker for the site.  I am confident that the detailed 
proposals will be the subject of rigorous scrutiny by the UDC 
team and planning officers and that a high quality building will 
be brought forward. 

 
8.50 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11 3/12 and 3/13, the adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), Cambridge City 
Council - Guidance for the application of Policy 3/13 (Tall 
Buildings and the Skyline) of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
(2012) and guidance provided by the NPPF. 

 
 Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
8.51 The application is supported by a Heritage Asset Assessment.  

This assessment identifies heritage assets and considers the 
impact of the development on them. 

 
8.52 The site is identified as having some archaeological interest 

particularly in respect of prehistoric and Iron Age/Roman 
remains, however even these cases the impact of the 
development is assessed as slight.  The applicant’s view is that 

Page 85



any direct impact on potential buried archaeological remains 
would be mitigated by measures to investigate and record finds.  
This view is supported by the Cambridgeshire County Council 
Archaeological Unit which recommends the standard 
archaeological investigation condition.  I have included this in 
my recommendation (condition 13) The Heritage Asset 
Assessment concludes that the proposed development will have 
no change to the setting of any heritage assets in the 
surrounding area. 

 
8.53 English Heritage note that there are no designated heritage 

assets within the site but that Brooklands Avenue Conservation 
Area is close to the site.  English Heritage conclude that the 
development will not be harmful to the character or appearance 
of the Conservation Area but concerns are raised in relation to 
the height of the tower and the potential for the west elevation to 
appear as un-relenting and monolithic.  The latter point was also 
raised by the Design and Conservation Panel.  In my view this 
is a challenge which is capable of being addressed at the 
reserved matters stage. 

 
8.54 English Heritage (EH) defer to the views of the UDC team in 

taking the application forward and further information has been 
provided at the request of the UDC team since EH gave their 
comments.  This information has addressed the concerns raised 
about the height of the tower in my view. 

 
8.55 The UDC team are also content that the development will not 

have a harmful effect on Brooklands Avenue Conservation Area 
or the Botanic Gardens which is a Registered Parks and 
Gardens site. 

 
8.56 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 4/11 and guidance provided by the NPPF. 
 
 Public Art 
 
8.57 The Applicants vision for the project is to develop ‘a holistic 

Public Art Programme for the site which will include an 
important new public art commission which will make a 
significant contribution to the City’s public realm whilst at the 
same time contributing to the site and reflecting Cambridge 
Assessment’s aims and objectives’. 

 

Page 86



8.58 The delivery of the Strategy will be through three main project 
areas; the Tower Commission, the International Connections 
Project and the Public Engagement Programme.  

 
Tower and Eastern Boundary Commission (Proposed Budget 
£380,000) 

 
In collaboration with the architect, the artist will contribute to the 
design of the Tower creating an exciting and important new 
focus to the development and the surrounding area as well as 
announcing arrival into the city by train and the guided bus 
route. 

 
 International Connections (Proposed Budget £40,000) 
 

 Cambridge Assessment’s international links and resources will 
be celebrated in a commission or series of commissions linked 
to the Public Art Programme. 

 
 This could be through an embodiment of these links in the 

Tower Commission, and internet project, an art competition or 
exhibition at the Cambridge site, or a combination of these 
approaches. 

 
 Public Engagement (Proposed Budget £25,000) 
 
 The aims of the Public Engagement Programme are to: 
 

• Disseminate information about the project to a wide audience  

• Offer the opportunity for Cambridge residents to become 
involved in a cultural project that shapes the public realm  

• Encourage groups of all types to become involved in the 
programme including school children, students, local residents, 
staff groups and others. 

 
 Overall Budget 
 
 A budget of £500,000 has been proposed for the Public Art 

Programme, which is based on 0.5% of the development costs. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 Project Steering Group 
 

The Public Art Programme will be managed by the Project 
Steering Group.  The membership of this group will include 
representatives from:  

• Cambridge Assessment  

• Commission Projects  

•Eric Parry Architects  

• Grant Associates (Landscape Architects) 
 
Nadine Black, Cambridge City Council’s Public Art Officer will 
be invited to attend meetings.  

 
8.59 The Public Art officer has made comments about the proposed 

Public Art Strategy.  She supports the principle of the Strategy 
but advises that some clarification and revision is needed and 
most particularly the budget needs to be reconsidered.  The 
delivery of public art on site is secured via planning obligations 
within the s106 legal agreement.  I have addressed the need for 
the planning obligations to be compliant with the CIL regulations 
in my section dealing with Planning Obligations. 

 
8.60 In my opinion, subject to detailed negotiations regarding the 

budget and PADP the proposal is compliant with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 10/1 and the Public Art SPD 
2010 

 
Renewable energy and sustainability 

 
8.61 A Renewable Energy Statement has been submitted to support 

the application.  At this stage photovoltaic panels have been 
selected as the likely most appropriate form of renewable 
energy delivering the 10% reduction required under the current 
policy. However other technologies such as ground source heat 
pumps have not been ruled out from the detailed design stage. 
The Senior Sustainable Construction Officer is satisfied with this 
approach. 

 
8.62 A Sustainable Design and Construction Statement and 

Sustainability Checklist have also been submitted.  A highly 
sustainable building design is proposed incorporating shallow 
floor plates and a high degree of natural light and ventilation.   
This will need to be taken forward at the reserved matters stage 
when the detailed building design and landscaping is taken 

Page 88



forward.  This is acknowledged by the Senior Sustainable 
Construction Officer and she also identifies a number of areas 
where further work can be done including water conservation 
and co-location of photovoltaic panels and green roofs.  A 
further more detailed Sustainable Design and Construction 
Statement and Sustainability Checklist will be required to be 
submitted as part of the reserved matters submission. 

 
8.63 In my opinion the applicants have suitably addressed the issue 

of sustainability and renewable energy and the proposal is in 
accordance with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policy 8/16 and 
the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2007. 

 
Disabled access 

 
8.64 The Outline status of the application means that there is little 

information regarding access for disabled people.  The 
redevelopment of the site offers opportunities to provide 
excellent facilities for disabled people and I would expect 
consultation with the Disability Consultative Panel to be part of 
the pre-application discussions as proposals are brought 
forward for the submission of reserved matters. I have 
addressed the issue of parking for disabled people below. 

 
8.65 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/12 in so far as it relates to 
Disabled Access. 

 
 Transport Impacts 
 
8.66 The transport impacts of the proposed development are 

complex and have been the subject of the majority of 
objections from local residents.  This section of my report is 
very detailed and addresses the following: 

 
� The Transport Assessment that supports the application 
� The first consultation response from the County Council 
� Third party representations, including the Development 

Control Forum (DCF) 
� The applicants’ response to comments from County 

Council 
� The applicants’ response to third party 

representations/DCF 

Page 89



� Contributions to the Southern Corridor Area Transport 
Plan (SCATP) 

� Further third party representations 
� The final consultation response from the County Council 
� Transport Impacts - Conclusion 

 
The Transport Assessment that supports the application 

 
8.67 The application is supported by a Transport Assessment (TA) 

and Draft Travel Plan. The TA is addresses the following: 
 

� The development and its proposed parking and access 
arrangements 

� The local and national transport policy context  
� Existing conditions on the local transport networks in the 

vicinity of the site 
� Current staff travel patterns based on recent staff travel 

surveys 
� Baseline transport conditions for the full development’s 

assumed completion year of 2018 taking into account 
nearby committed developments and transport 
improvements 

� Development trips, including trip generation, trip 
distribution, mode split and assignment to surrounding 
transport networks.  

� The predicted transport impacts of the development, and 
improvements to mitigate these impacts, compared to the 
baseline situation.  

� Contribution to the Southern Corridor Area Transport Plan 
(SCATP) 

� Construction traffic impact 
� Conclusion of TA  

 
8.68 The TA acknowledges that by 2018, Cambridge Assessment 

anticipates that its workforce will have grown from about 1,600 
employees at current levels to 2,300 employees, through 
ongoing growth in the business. Clearly this will involve a large 
number of people needing regular access to the site. The 
existing site is not operating at full capacity and if it were it 
would generate increased traffic across all modes.  
Notwithstanding this an office use would generate more traffic 
than the current use.  The highway network around the site is 
operating at full capacity and there is congestion on surrounding 
roads at peak times.  This allied to potential displacement of car 

Page 90



parking have resulted in a considerable volume of objection 
from local residents.  The following is a précis of the contents of 
the TA. 

 
The development and its proposed parking and access 
arrangements 

 
8.69 The TA states that there are currently 1600 staff occupying 

Cambridge Assessment offices in Cambridge central locations 
at 1, 7, 9 and 72 Hills Road, Regents Street, Gonville Terrace, 
Drosier House, Harvey Road and Furness Lodge, Park Terrace.  
All of these staff will be relocated to the proposed building. 

 
8.70 There are currently 210 car parking spaces on site and these 

will be replaced by 189 spaces in the new development.   1050 
cycle parking spaces will be provided on first occupation with 
potential for this to increase to1325 as part of the 
implementation of the Travel Plan.  26 motorcycle parking 
spaces will be provided. 

 
8.71 Access is via Shaftesbury Road.  That part of the road which 

fronts the site is a private road but further north Shaftesbury 
Road is part of the public highway.  All vehicular access to the 
site is via Brooklands Avenue and its junctions with Hills Road 
and Trumpington Road. 

 
Existing conditions on the local transport networks in the vicinity 
of the site 

 
8.72 There are no cycle lanes on Shaftesbury Road, Fitzwilliam 

Road or Clarendon Road but these roads are not heavily 
trafficked.  There is an off road cycle way on the north side of 
Brooklands Avenue but no facility on the south side where the 
pavement is narrow.  There are controlled crossings at both 
ends of Brooklands Avenue and direct access to the CGB 
footpath/cycleway from the site. 

 
8.73 The site is well served by bus given the location of the bus 

interchange which is at easy walking distance along the CGB 
footpath.  The Uni4 service is available at the bus stop on 
Brooklands Avenue. 

 
8.74 Traffic counts have been undertaken at the junctions of 

Brooklands Avenue/Shaftesbury Road and Brooklands 

Page 91



Avenue/Clarendon Road.  On the basis of this data and on-site 
observations in the peak hours the TA reports that ‘extensive 
queuing occurs along Brooklands Avenue from the signalised 
junctions with Hills Road to the east and Trumpington Road to 
the west. Often this queuing extends past the Brooklands 
Avenue junctions with Shaftesbury Road and Clarendon Road. 
It is evident from queues observed along Brooklands Avenue in 
the peak hours that both of these signalised junctions are 
already operating at, or close to capacity in the peak hours.’ 

 
8.75 The TA adopts the view that because there will be no addition 

parking space at the site over and above the permitted use, this 
situation will not be exacerbated by the redevelopment of the 
site. 

 
8.76 The TA acknowledges that most streets in the vicinity of the site 

are covered by parking controls.  The exception is the Accordia 
development where there are no such controls and the TA 
accepts that there is scope for parking to be displaced to this 
area.   The cost of regular use of the pay and display bays in 
Shaftesbury Road is considered likely to deter use of these 
spaces.  The view taken by the TA is that parking displacement 
to the streets to the east of Hills Road and south of Cherry 
Hinton Road is unlikely given the lack of availability of space on 
those streets. 

 
 Current staff travel patterns based on recent staff travel surveys 
 
8.77 Surveys have been carried out of Cambridge Assessment staff 

in November 2013 and about 54% of staff responded.  The 
survey shows that at present the majority of workers travel to 
work by car at 29.2%, with 23.5% cycling and 15.0% travelling 
by train. 

 
Baseline transport conditions for the full development’s 
assumed completion year of 2018 taking into account nearby 
committed developments 

 
8.78 The TA assesses that the total number of trips generated by the 

existing site, assuming full occupation, as 1,508 daily all mode 
trips.  Cambridge Assessment expect to expand to 2300 
employees even if they do not relocate and these staff would 
work from the existing central Cambridge offices. 

 

Page 92



8.79 The TA recognises the following committed developments and 
Transport Improvements: 

 
� Provision of cycle link from CB1 to toucan crossing on Hills 

Road 
� Provision footpath/cycleway link through Kaleidoscope to the 

CGB footpath/cycleway 
� Improved facilities at Cambridge Station including the new 

Cycle Park 
� Cycle safety improvements on Cherry Hinton Road 
� SCATP payments from new development 
� Cycle lane improvements along Trumpington Road 
� Steps or a ramp from Hills Road bridge to the southern leg of 

the CGB cycleway 
� Lighting of the southern section of the CGB route, between Hills 

Road and the Trumpington Park and Ride site 
� Improved footways on Long Road 

 
Development trips, including trip generation, trip distribution, 
mode split and assignment to surrounding transport networks 

 
8.80 The TA assumes that by 2018 which is the first year of 

occupation the workforce at Cambridge Assessment will have 
grown to 2300 employees.  Further growth to 3000 employees is 
anticipated by 2025.  Assumptions have been made about the % 
of staff actually on site on any one day taking account of 
sickness, off site meetings etc. and a figure of 2,625 is arrived at 
for occupation on a typical day. 

 
8.81 Data has been used from the staff surveys to establish arrivals 

and departures at peak hours (08.00 to 09.00hrs and 17.00 to 
18.00hrs). 63% of staff currently arrive between 0800 and 0900 
for the start of the working day and 59% depart between 1700 
and 1800 at the end of the working day.  The TA anticipates that 
this pattern will be maintained at the proposed site.  It is also 
anticipated that there will be some departures in morning peak 
and some arrivals in evening peak.  Overall it is expected that 
there will be 1649 arrivals and 204 departures in morning peak 
and 135 arrivals and 1552 departures in evening peak. 

 
8.82 The staff survey also delivered information on the intended 

mode of transport that staff would use to access the new site.  
The largest percentages were by car (29%), by cycle (27%) and 
by train (16%). 

Page 93



 
8.83 Given the availability of proposed car parking on site a modal 

shift from the current level of 29% car parking to 7.2% car 
parking would be required.  The TA proposes that this will be 
achieved predominately by increased use of car sharing but 
also by greater use of the CGB, Park and Ride, cycling and 
walking. 

 
8.84 The following table shows the anticipated modal shift for all 

modes 
  

Mode of transport Current % Predicted 
% 

% change 

Car 29 7.2 -21.8% 

Cycle 27 30 +3% 

Car Share 5 12.8 +7.8% 

CGB 3 7.5 +4.5% 

Motorbike 1 1 0 

Park and ride/cycle 4 8.5 +4.5% 

Walk 6 8 +2% 

Train 16 16 0 

Other 2 2 0 

 
8.85 The Travel Plan sets out ways in which this modal shift will be 

actioned for example by including a target to achieve an 
average car occupancy of 2.5, meaning for example that every 
two cars travelling to and parking at the site will be occupied by 
five people in total, including car drivers and car passengers. A 
key message of the Travel Plan is that there is ample time for 
Cambridge Assessment to prepare its workforce for the 
changes in travel patterns required as a result of the move. 

 
8.86 The TA establishes that at peak times there will be 152 arrivals 

and 19 departures in morning peak and 13 arrivals and 143 
departures in evening peak by car based on the anticipated 
modal shift including members of staff who are being dropped 
off. 

 
8.87 At some times through the year, Cambridge Assessment’s 

operation means that the business will have a large number of 
visitors to the site, primarily examiners and moderators involved 
in marking of exam scripts. The numbers involved and timing 
varies, however, and the visits do not generally occur on a 

Page 94



typical day. The TA assumes that the Travel Plan will be a key 
mechanism to inform such visitors of the travel choices 
available to them at the Triangle site. 

 
8.88 Trip distribution and assignment analyses have been 

undertaken for the main modes of travel predicted for the 
development, i.e. walking, cycling, public transport and private 
vehicles which establishes how staff accessing site will affect 
the network.  This relates primarily to walking, cycling and public 
transport networks since the TA argues there will be no change 
in vehicular trip generation as a result of the development 

 
The predicted transport impacts of the development, and 
improvements to mitigate these impacts, compared to the 
baseline situation 

 
 Walking and Cycling 
 
8.89 Consideration has been given to which routes staff will use to 

access the site on foot and by cycle.  The CGB footpath is likely 
to be the most frequently used route by walkers as a result of 
the link to the bus interchange and Station (618 trips in AM 
peak).  A lower proportion of trips are predicted to use Hills 
Road North/Brooklands Avenue East (40 trips in AM peak), Hills 
Road South/Brooklands Avenue East (20 trips in AM peak) and 
Brooklands Avenue West (7 trips in AM peak). 

 
8.90 Similarly most cyclists will be using the CGB cycleway either 

from the north or south or via the CB1 link off Hills Road bridge 
(402 trips) and lower numbers using Hills Road 
South/Brooklands Avenue East (80 trips in AM peak) and 
Brooklands Avenue West (54 trips in AM peak). 

 
8.91 The TA considers that the additional pedestrian and cycle 

demand on the CGB shared footway/cycleway can be 
accommodated.  The TA highlights that Cambridgeshire County 
Council (CCC) are planning to provide a link between the south 
side of Hills Road Bridge and the CGB footpath/cycleway.  This 
will be beneficial to the Hills Road/Brooklands Avenue junction 
which has a record of accidents.  The TA considers that it would 
be appropriate to use the SCATP contribution from the 
development to fund this.  Otherwise the TA concludes that the 
additional pedestrian and cycle demand can be accommodated 

Page 95



without affecting the performance of local walking and cycling 
routes. 

 
Public Transport – Buses 

 
8.92 About 287 staff would travel to the site in the AM peak by buses 

which call at the new bus interchange in the CB1 development.  
A further 51 staff would travel by buses calling at the bus stops 
on Brooklands Avenue. There are no waiting facilities or real 
time information provision at these stops.  The TA considers 
that it would be appropriate to use the SCATP contribution from 
the development to fund the provision of improved waiting 
facilities at these stops.  Real time passenger information will be 
displayed at prominent locations in the building itself, for 
example the main foyer. 

 
Local Highway Network 
 

8.93 The TA assumes that the development will not generate any 
additional vehicle trips to the site, compared to the operation of 
the existing site at its full capacity because there is no increase 
in the number of car parking spaces provided on the site. 
Therefore, no technical assessments have been undertaken of 
the vehicular impact of the proposals. 

 
8.94 The TA notes the concerns of local residents about the potential 

for displaced car parking in the area but reaches the view that 
there will be limited space available on street.  However the TA 
considers that there is potential for a contribution to be made to 
contribution to enable CCC to implement a residents’ only 
parking scheme for the Accordia development, to mitigate such 
an impact of the development.  The TA considers that it is 
unlikely that the development would generate displaced car 
parking on streets to the east of Hills Road and south of Cherry 
Hinton Road and does not propose any measures relating to 
on-street car parking in this area. 

 
Contribution to the Southern Corridor Area Transport Plan 
(SCATP) 

 
8.95 The TA notes that the purpose of the SCATP is to identify new 

transport infrastructure needed to facilitate development in the 
south of Cambridge, and to identify a fair means of calculating 
how individual development sites should contribute towards that 

Page 96



transport infrastructure.  SCATP allows existing trips generated 
by the site to be off-set against proposed trip generation.  In this 
case existing trips have been estimated at 1,508 daily all mode 
trips. 

 
8.96 The TA takes the view that the relocation to the Triangle site will 

enable Cambridge Assessment to employ an additional 700 
staff, and it is these staff that will be generating potentially new 
trips on the network.  Using the TRICS database, these 
additional staff will generate 2,332 new daily trips. The net 
increase in new trips, taking into account the existing trip 
generation for the CUP uses, is therefore 2,332 – 1,508, which 
is 824 new trips being generated as a result of the development. 
At a SCATP rate of £369 per trip, this would result in a 
proposed contribution of £304,056. 

 
Construction traffic impact 

 
8.97 The construction of the new building is likely to take about 2 

years, and the construction site will operate five days per week. 
It is anticipated that the typical hours of construction will be 
between 8am and 5pm Monday to Friday. 

 
8.98 The anticipated traffic generation during construction at the 

development site is on average 113 one-way vehicle trips per 
day (i.e. 226 total movements per day considering arrivals and 
departures), or 14 one-way vehicle trips per hour.  The precise 
routing of construction traffic associated with the development 
will be specified within a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan. However it is expected that construction 
vehicles will exit the M11 at Junction 11 and route via 
Trumpington Road, Brooklands Avenue and Shaftesbury Road. 

 
8.99 To mitigate the effects of construction traffic, a Demolition and 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (DCEMP) will be 
implemented. This will specify appropriate routing of 
construction vehicles, hours of operation and any driver training 
requirements.  This plan would be included in a construction 
method statement which would be produced when further 
information on the quantity and bulk of materials, construction 
programme and site logistics is available, and would also 
provide for: 

 

Page 97



� The parking of vehicles by operatives (remote from the 
site) 

� Site visitors 
� The loading, unloading and storage of plant materials 
� Wheel-washing facilities 
� The routing of delivery vehicles 
� A programme of works (Including measures for other 

traffic management) 
 
8.100 As noted in previous sections, the developer would be willing to 

explore the potential to provide a contribution to CCC for the 
implementation of a residents’ only parking scheme on nearby 
residential streets that are outside the CPZ (primarily those 
within the Accordia development). Such a scheme would help 
address concerns regarding construction staff parking in these 
streets. 

 
Conclusion of TA  

 
8.101 The conclusion of the TA includes confirmation that there will be 

a Travel Plan for the development and that it would also provide 
or contribute towards the following transport measures to 
mitigate the impact of the development: 

 
� A contribution to Cambridgeshire County Council towards a 

potential new pedestrian link between the CGB cycleway and 
the Hills Road bridge, along which cyclists will be able to push 
their bicycles, so that the need to travel through the Hills Road / 
Brooklands Avenue junction for staff arriving from the south can 
be avoided; 

 
� Explore the potential to provide a contribution to 

Cambridgeshire County Council for the implementation of a 
residents’ parking zone in the nearby Accordia development, to 
mitigate the potential for displaced car parking from the Triangle 
site (if required and deemed appropriate); 

 
� Explore the provision of improved bus waiting facilities at the 

existing bus stops on Brooklands Avenue; 
 
� Showers and lockers within buildings, along with changing 

rooms and rooms where cyclists and pedestrians can leave 
clothes to dry; 

 

Page 98



� Provision of Real Time Passenger Information (RTPI) displays 
at prominent locations within the building, for example reception 
and foyer areas. This would be part of a transport information 
point at which staff and visitors could obtain up-to date travel 
information and walking, cycling and public transport maps. 

 
8.102 The TA proposes that the SCATP payment contributes towards 

the Hills Road /CGB pedestrian link, the Accordia residents’ 
parking zone and improved Brooklands Avenue bus waiting 
facilities identified above. 

 
 The first consultation response from the County Council 
 
8.103 The full response from the County Council is summarised at 

paragraph 6.1.  In essence the response sought clarification 
and further information in relation to all aspects of the TA and 
the Travel Plan.  The County Council raised objection to the 
application until this information is provided. 

 
8.104 The County Council also recognised that the following 

mitigation measures may be appropriate: 
 

1. Contribution towards the Southern Corridor Area 
Transport Plan (SCATP) 

2. Travel Plan for Cambridge Assessment 
3. Contribution towards a proposed Accordia residential 

parking scheme 
4. Contribution towards the Hills Road Bridge 

pedestrian/cyclist link 
5. Fully permeable site not gated with access only to card 

holders as at CUP 
6. Contribution towards improvements which should include 

work to both sides of Brooklands Avenue, widening the 
existing shared paths and potentially moving back and 
rebuilding the listed wall at on the south side near the 
junction with Trumpington Road 

7. Improvements to the bus stops on Brooklands Avenue 
provided direct by Cambridge Assessment through a 
Highways Act agreement 

8. Contributions towards Real Time Passenger Information 
(RTPI) in bus stops on Brooklands Avenue 

 
 

Page 99



Third party representations, including the Development Control 
Forum (DCF) 

 
8.105 The concerns raised in third party representations are 

summarised in paragraphs 7.2, 7.3 (grounds for DCF), 7.4 
(Comments from BAARA) and 7.5 (Comments from CPPF). The 
key concerns of local residents/BAARA/CPPF in relation to 
transport impacts are as follows: 

 
� Additional traffic leading to congestion, noise and air 

pollution 
� Adverse impacts arising from contractors parking 
� Parking and congestion on surrounding streets 
� Lack of credibility in Travel Plan in reducing reliance of 

private cars 
� Inadequate existing infrastructure to carry the hoped-for 

increased movements by bicycle, bus and on foot 
 
8.106 The third party representations highlight the following as 

potential mitigation measures: 
 

1. Implementation of a Resident Parking scheme at Accordia 
2. Compulsory use of Park and Ride services/dedicated 

shuttle bus to Park and Ride by contractors 
3. Better cyclist provision at the Hills Road/busway junction 

and on Brooklands Avenue 
4. Footbridge over the CGB to access Hills Road 
5. Better access to the CGB from the site 
6. CGB bus stop to serve the site 
7. Use of Park and Ride and dedicated staff buses 
8. Upgrading of bus stops on Brooklands Avenue/new stop 

close to the site 
9. Link to Cambridge Leisure car park 
10. Alternative vehicular access 

 
The applicants’ response to comments from County Council 

 
8.107 The applicants’ response to the comments made by County 

Council officer follows a similar format to the original Transport 
Assessment (TA).  It includes the following: 

 
� Development Proposals 
� Existing Transport Conditions 
� Baseline Conditions 

Page 100



� Development Trip Modelling 
� Development Transport Impacts 
� Travel Plan 

 
Development Proposals 

 
8.108 Car sharer parking spaces will be monitored through the Travel 

Plan and adjusted to take account of demand.  There will be a 
large proportion of car sharer parking spaces. 

 
8.109 A total of 1325 cycle spaces (+/- 20%) will be provided on first 

occupation.  The applicants’ view is that this will exceed the 
Local Plan requirement which is for 1307 spaces based on 
39,200 sq. m floorspace. On the basis of trip modelling this 
would provide ample cycle parking to meet future demand and 
can be secured by planning condition. 

 
8.110 The applicants’ have confirmed that all existing premises 

located in Cambridge will be re-located to the site.  The offices 
that will relocate to the Triangle currently have a combined 
workforce of about 1,600 staff and a total of 1,984 workplaces, 
and have a total of 319 car parking spaces. 

 
8.111 There would be 189 spaces (+/- 10%) provided, which, at this 

stage, are indicatively allocated as follows: 
 

� Car sharers = 134 spaces, about 71% of the total; 
� Visitor spaces = 15 spaces, about 8% of the total; 
� For staff travelling to Coventry site = 15 spaces, about 8% 
of the total; 
� Spaces for hire cars used by staff = 10 spaces, about 5% 
of the total; 
� Disabled staff spaces = 15 spaces, about 8% of the total. 
 
It is anticipated that this could be secured via the Travel Plan or 
planning condition. 

 
Existing Transport Conditions 

 
8.112 The mode of travel for staff at Cambridge Assessment who will 

be relocating to the site has been updated and postcode plots 
clarified.  The updated modal share is as follows for staff living 
in Cambridge (administrative area) (30% of staff): 

 

Page 101



� Bicycle 51.0% 
� Car (as car sharer/passenger with other Cambridge 

Assessment staff) 1.9% 
� Car (on your own) 7.1% 
� Guided Busway 0.5% 
� Motorbike 0.5% 
� Other 2.3% 
� Public Bus 5.2% 
� Train 0.5% 
� Walk 31.0% 
� TOTAL 100% 

 
The applicants consider that these figures suggest that walking, 
cycling and public transport networks within Cambridge are of a 
quality that attracts and encourages the vast majority of staff 
living in Cambridge to travel by such non-car modes. 

 
8.113 The walking and cycling isochrones (areas of equal travel time) 

have been updated and now show current mode of travel by 
staff who responded to the travel survey. 

 
8.114 It has been agreed that car parking provision for employment 

sites is inherently linked to car trip generation.  There will be a 
reduction in car parking at the site and there will be no increase 
in car parking at existing Cambridge Assessment sites once 
these have been vacated by Cambridge Assessment.  The 
applicants consider that overall there would be no increase in 
car parking in this area, and therefore no increase in car trip 
generation. 

 
8.115 There is a high demand for on-street parking in the streets off 

Cherry Hinton Road as a result of displaced parking by rail 
commuters and employees at local sites.  The applicants view is 
that Cambridge Assessment staff would either need to walk 
over 25 minute to access street parking or arrive very early, 
which would be disincentives against bringing a car to work and 
reduce demand.  The applicants note that this argument has 
been accepted elsewhere at the ARU New Street development 
where there is no car parking and 200 staff/300 students on 
site. 

 
8.116 Cambridge Assessment are prepared to offer a contribution to 

CCC to pursue a residents’ parking scheme for Accordia, if it 
can be shown that there is a displaced parking problem and that 

Page 102



this is directly caused by Cambridge Assessment, and the 
majority of local residents want such a scheme.  The applicants’ 
view is that Cambridge Assessment should not be expected to 
simply fund a scheme because there is an existing problem 
towards which they have not contributed. 

 
8.117 The applicants propose that the justification for a contribution 

towards a residents parking scheme at Accordia would be 
based on Cambridge Assessment undertaking parking beat 
surveys at Accordia.  These would be carried out annually to 
identify if there is a displaced parking problem and if this can be 
directly attributable to Cambridge Assessment. The initial 
survey would be undertaken in October 2014 to observe 
‘baseline’ conditions prior to demolition / construction on the 
Triangle site (scheduled for Spring / Summer 2015). The 
surveys would coincide with Travel for Work’s (TfW’s) annual 
travel surveys, and would be undertaken every October until 
2020 or until such time as Cambridge Assessment employ a 
workforce of 3,000 staff at the Triangle development. If a 
residents’ parking scheme is introduced in the interim, the 
parking beat monitoring would cease. 

 
8.118 A contribution could be made by the applicants towards the cost 

of a link between Hills Road and the CGB but their view is that 
this should be deducted from the SCATP contribution.  
Reference is also made to the link behind the signal box which 
is also planned.  The applicants also consider that this could be 
funded from SCATP contributions. 

 
Baseline Conditions 

 
8.119 The existing car parking provision for Cambridge Assessment’s 

existing 1,600 staff is 319 spaces. The TA’s assumption for trip 
modelling purposes is that 87.5% of staff travel to Cambridge 
Assessment offices on a typical day, i.e. 1,400 staff.  This 
means 22.8% (319/1,400) of these existing staff can drive a car 
to and park it at Cambridge Assessment’s offices. 

 
8.120 Cambridge Assessment’s existing premises have a total of 

1,984 workplaces, so Cambridge Assessment could increase its 
existing workforce to 1,984 staff without the need for further 
office space. The car parking provision for these 1,984 staff 
would, however, still be 319 spaces.  Assuming 87.5% of staff 
travel to work on a typical day, i.e. 1,736 staff, this means 

Page 103



18.4% of staff would be able to drive a car to and park at 
Cambridge Assessment’s existing premises, assuming these 
offices are fully occupied. 

 
8.121 Surveys of employees’ existing travel habits indicated that 

driving a car was the main mode of travel for about 29% of staff.  
However, the “main mode of travel” relates to the longest 
distance element of the overall journey to work, and not 
necessarily the ‘last leg’ of this overall journey. Therefore, the 
29% above includes staff who, for example, drive to a Park and 
Ride site, then travel the last part of their journey and arrive at 
the site by Park and Ride service or Cambridgeshire Guided 
Bus or cycle.  The survey data and the on-site car parking 
provision suggests that, if only 22.8% of staff can drive to and 
park a car at Cambridge Assessment premises, a further 6% 
are driving most of the way to work then changing modes for the 
last leg of their overall journey. These 6% of staff therefore do 
not generate a vehicular traffic impact in the immediate vicinity 
of Cambridge Assessment’s existing premises. 

 
 Development Trip Modelling 
 
8.122 Predicted AM and PM arrivals have been revised in line with the 

TRICS database.  This results in 183 AM departures by all 
modes instead of the 204 stated in the TA, and 212 PM arrivals 
by all modes instead of the 135 stated in the TA. The applicants’ 
view is that these changes, spread across all modes for each 
hour, are minimal. 

 
8.123 The walking mode share has decreased slightly from existing 

conditions in recognition that the Triangle site is further from the 
city centre than most of the existing sites 

 
8.124 A survey of visitors to Cambridge Assessment’s premises along 

Hills Road and Regent Street was carried out in late November 
and early December 2013. This indicated that visitor levels vary 
from day to day. The average number of visitors was 24 each 
weekday.  Visits by moderators principally occur on weekends 
during the summer months, with up to 600 moderators on a 
weekend and 30 support staff.  Moderators currently tend to 
stay at hotels in Cambridge near to the Cambridge Assessment 
offices, and therefore walk between the offices and their hotels. 

 

Page 104



8.125 It is recognised that, with 33 AM peak hour arrivals by drop off 
by non- Cambridge Assessment car driver, there would be 33 
associated car driver departures in the AM peak. This is not 
shown in the TA because it relates to trips by Cambridge 
Assessment staff only.  With 33 two-way car driver trips for AM 
peak hour drop offs, there would be about 1 additional vehicle 
on the highway network every minute. The applicants consider 
that this would not be noticeable. 

 
8.126 People travelling from the Trumpington Park & Ride site would 

use the CGB instead of the Park & Ride service. The bus stops 
for the Park & Ride service are located on Trumpington Road, 
further away than those for the CGB. 

 
Development Transport Impacts 

 
8.127 The detailed design of the cycle ramp between the northwest 

corner of the site and the CGB cycleway can be secured by 
planning condition.  A reciprocal arrangement may also be 
possible to allow access via the CUP access to the south east. 

 
8.128 Cambridge Assessment is required to have a secure site to 

meet Office of Qualifications and Examinations Regulations, 
therefore public access through the site cannot be provided.   

 
8.129 The TA indicates that arrivals/departures by foot/cycle would not 

put excessive pressure on Brooklands Avenue or Trumpington 
Road.  However the applicant would be willing to make a 
contribution towards improvements to the footway on the south 
side of Brooklands Avenue if this was deducted from the 
SCATP contribution. The wall at the western end of Brooklands 
Avenue is listed and on third party land so is outside the control 
of Cambridge Assessment. It is not considered practical to 
relocate this wall. 

 
8.130 The applicants would be willing to provide a contribution from 

the SCATP payment for Cambridge City Council to implement 
the provision of the bus shelters on Brooklands Avenue 
between Clarendon Road and Shaftesbury Road. 

 
8.131 Additional trips by bus could be accommodated on existing 

services as there are a significant number of services calling 
near the site over which the increased demand would be 
spread.  The applicants note that the increase in bus trips 

Page 105



generated by the development would occur over a number of 
years, and there are already a number of bus trips made by 
existing Cambridge Assessment staff at their offices along Hills 
Road/Regent Street. Additional services would not be 
necessary in order to meet the expected demand in bus travel. 

 
8.132 Additional information has been provided about the likely spread 

of bus trips on the services identified in the TA. 
 

Travel Plan 
 
8.133 Cambridge Assessment plan no increase in car parking 

between now and 2018, the date of the planned move to the 
Triangle site. Therefore, the 700 new staff Cambridge 
Assessment plan to employ between now and 2018 will be 
employed on the basis that they will not be able to drive a car to 
and park at Cambridge Assessment’s premises. 

 
8.134 New employees joining from 2018, facilitated by the Triangle 

development itself, will be advised at interview that car parking 
is not available on-site and that they will need to travel by non-
car modes. Special dispensation will be made for disabled staff. 

 
8.135 A timeline of changes in staff numbers and car parking provision 

is provided as follows: 
 

 Pre-Development (87.5% 
of Staff travelling to and 
from work on a typical 
day) 

With-Development 
(87.5% of Staff travelling 
to and from work on a 
typical day) 

 2014 2018 2018 2025 

Existing 
(2014) 
Staff 

1,600 staff 
with 319 car 
parking 
spaces = 
22.8% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

1,600 staff 
with 319 car 
parking 
spaces = 
22.8% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

1,600 staff 
with 189 car 
parking 
spaces = 
13.5% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

1,600 staff 
with 189 car 
parking 
spaces = 
13.5% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 
 

New 
Staff 

n/a 700 staff 
with no car 

700 staff 
with no car 

1,400 staff 
with no car 

Page 106



from 
2014 
onwards 
 

parking parking parking  

Total 
Staff 

1,600 staff 
with 319 car 
parking 
spaces = 
22.8% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

2,300 staff 
with 319 car 
parking 
spaces = 
15.9% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

2,300 staff 
with 189 car 
parking 
spaces = 
9.4% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

3,000 staff 
with 189 car 
parking 
spaces= 
7.2% able 
to drive a 
car and 
park at 
Cambridge 
Assessment 

 
8.136 This timeline illustrates that the Travel Plan will need to primarily 

target the travel patterns of Cambridge Assessment’s existing 
workforce of 1,600 staff, and in particular those who currently 
drive a car to and park at Cambridge Assessment. 

 
8.137 The applicants consider that when the current 1,600 Cambridge 

Assessment employees move to the Triangle site with its 189 
car parking spaces, these existing staff would have a mode 
share for driving a car to and parking at work of 13.5%, 
compared to an existing 22.8%.  They consider that a shift from 
22.8% to 13.5% for existing staff, over a period of 3-4 years 
from now to 2018, is entirely realistic and achievable.  The 
13.5% modal share is considered, by the applicants to be 
comparable to other existing locations for instance in CB1. 

 
8.138 The applicants also note that the Travel for Work statistic for the 

Station Area is based on an employee’s mode choice for the 
longest part of their journey to work, so driving alone could be 
part of a trip that also involves a Park & Ride or park & cycle 
journey If the car driver modal share of 7.2% at 2025 is added 
to the Park and Ride/cycle modal share the total modal share is 
15.7% which again is consistent with the CB1 data (15%). 

 
8.139 As existing employees who have a parking space leave 

Cambridge Assessment these spaces are being reallocated as 
car sharer spaces 

 

Page 107



8.140 Cambridge Assessment will explore with the local bus operator 
the potential for one month’s free bus travel on relocation to the 
site and will promote the www.camshare.co.uk service. 

 
8.141 Cambridge Assessment would be willing to have a senior 

member of staff on the Steering Group. This is likely to be 
subsumed into an existing Staff Forum meeting which is chaired 
by the Group CEO and which meets not less than quarterly. 

 
The applicants’ response to third party representations/DCF 

 
8.142 The applicants met with local residents both prior to the 

submission of the application and more recently.  Their 
response addresses issues raised in the context of the DCF and 
at the most recent meeting on 20 June 2014.  It is 
recommended that the response to residents is read in 
conjunction with the response to CCC, which I have set out 
above.  The note is structured in the following way: 

 
� Concerns Raised in DCF Petition 
� Other Possible Mitigation Suggested By Residents at DCF 
� Other Points Raised By Residents at Meeting on 20/6/14 

 
Concerns Raised in DCF Petition - Demolition/Construction 
Stage 

 
8.143 The applicants identify two key concerns for residents during 

the demolition/construction stage.  These are displaced parking 
by contractors and heavy plant/lorries on Brooklands 
Avenue/Hills Road in rush hour with high pollution levels. 

 
8.144 To address the potential problem of displaced parking the 

applicants are willing to make a contribution toward the 
establishment of a Residents Parking Scheme at Accordia to be 
justified via car parking surveys. 

 
8.145 An Outline Demolition and Construction Environmental 

Management Plan (DCEMP) has been submitted to address 
concerns about construction traffic impacts.  The Outline 
DCEMP provides the overarching principles for the 
management of potential demolition and construction impacts in 
the vicinity of the site, relating to, amongst others, minimising 
the construction traffic impact on the local highway network. It 
also seeks to minimise the potential for overspill construction 

Page 108



staff car parking in nearby residential streets, particularly the 
Accordia development. This will be followed up by a detailed 
DCEMP which can be secured via planning condition (condition 
4). 

 
8.146 Large scale construction deliveries will seek to avoid as far as 

reasonably practical sensitive time periods such as school 
start/finish times and one of the criteria for awarding the 
contract will be for potential contractors to commit to minimising 
the number of HGVs making deliveries to and taking material 
from the site, particularly in peak periods. 

 
8.147 The Outline DCEMP notes that the demolition / construction will 

be primarily carried out between 0800hrs and 1800hrs on 
Mondays to Fridays. Therefore, the majority of construction staff 
will arrive and depart outside the peak hours of 0800hrs – 
0900hrs and 1700hrs – 1800hrs. 

 
Concerns Raised in DCF Petition - Occupation/Operational 
Stage 

 
8.148 Residents raised concerns at the DCF that the change in staff 

travel habits is over ambitious.  This issue has been dealt with 
in depth in the applicants response to the comments made by 
Cambridgeshire County Council and these comments including 
the car parking timeline are reiterated in the response to 
residents. 

 
8.149 In common with the demolition/construction phase, residents 

are concerned about displaced car parking at the operational 
stage.  The applicants refer to their offer to contribute to the 
establishment of a Residents Parking scheme at Accordia in 
response to this concern. 

 
8.150 The applicants agree with the residents’ view that roads in the 

Brooklands Avenue area are unable to accommodate any 
further increases in traffic flows at peak periods.  They contend 
that there would be no increase in car parking in this area, and 
therefore no increase in car trip generation 

 
8.151 Residents have concerns that the existing walking, cycling and 

public transport networks in the vicinity of the site would be 
unable to accommodate the expected increases in trips.  The 

Page 109



applicants have addressed this concern in their response to 
comments made by Cambridgeshire County Council. 

 
8.152 It is the applicants’ view that the site is well served by the CGB 

footpath/cycleway and the bus interchange at the Station.   
They are also willing to contribute to the following infrastructure: 

 
o A pedestrian / cycle link between Hills Road bridge and 

the CGB cycleway 
o A new pedestrian link with the CGB cycleway behind the 

signal box on the northern side of Hills Road bridge 
o Improvements to the footway along the southern side of 

Brooklands Avenue 
o Upgrading the existing bus stops on Brooklands Avenue 

located between Shaftesbury Road and Clarendon Road 
to bus shelters, with Real Time Passenger Information 
(RTPI). 

 
Other Possible Mitigation Suggested By Residents at DCF 

 
8.153 Residents also suggested at the DCF that during the demolition 

and construction phase consideration should be given to the 
use of Park and Ride services and dedicated contractor buses 
and an incentive scheme to encourage contractors to use buses 
and the CGB.  The applicants have confirmed that the selected 
contractor my pursue such initiatives but if the contribution 
towards the Residents Parking scheme is pursued this may 
obviate the need for such mitigation. 

 
8.154 Residents also raised the following as appropriate forms of 

mitigation at the operational stage: 
 

o Parking controls to extend to Accordia 
o Radical improvements in cycling provision along 

Brooklands Avenue (south side) 
o Radical improvements to bus stops on Brooklands 

Avenue 
o Much better use of the CGB such as introduction of a 

dedicated CGB stop for the building 
o Use of the Park and Ride and dedicated staff buses 
o Footbridge over the railway line linking the Cambridge 

Leisure car park with Hills Road bridge and the CGB 
cycleway. 

 

Page 110



8.155 As noted in response to the comments of Cambridgeshire 
County Council the applicants are willing to make contributions 
towards the establishment of a Residents Parking scheme for 
Accordia, improvements to Brooklands Avenue and 
improvements to bus stops.  The County Council is not 
supportive of a dedicated bus stop on the CGB to serve the site 
because of the adverse effect this would have on journey times 
and the applicants consider that the site is well served by 
buses. 

 
8.156 With regard to the potential use of the Cambridge Leisure car 

park by staff, this has been ruled out by the applicants on two 
grounds. First this would encourage more staff to drive to work 
thereby adding to congestion on Hills Road.  Secondly the all-
day parking charges at the Cambridge Leisure car park are high 
to dissuade commuters from using it and would be prohibitively 
expensive for staff to use regularly. 

 
8.157 Residents also raised the following mitigation measures at the 

DCF: 
 

o The potential to increase car parking at the Trumpington 
Park and Ride site 

o A potential new vehicular access to the site from Long 
Road, running alongside the CGB route. 

 
8.158 The view of the applicants is that any expansion of Park and 

Ride facilities would need to be promoted by the County 
Council.  They note that there are long term plans for a new 
Park and Ride site on the A10 at Hauxton which would 
complement Trumpington Park and Ride and provide increased 
capacity. 

 
8.159 A new vehicular access form Long Road is also not supported 

by the applicants because it would conflict with policies aimed at 
reducing reliance on the private car.  They do not consider that 
it would be beneficial on Brooklands Avenue in the long term 
due to latent demand eventually increasing traffic back to 
existing levels.  It would also increase traffic on Long Road 
which would not be welcomed by residents in that area.  
Notwithstanding these points the delivery of this road would be 
dependent on the agreement of existing land owners which in 
the view of the applicants is unlikely. 

 

Page 111



Other Points Raised By Residents at Meeting on 20/6/14 
 
8.160 Residents raised the following issues at their meeting with the 

applicants on 20 June 2014: 
 

o Flexibility on Future Car Parking Provision (Disabled 
Parking provision) 

o One-Way Arrangement on Clarendon Road – Fitzwilliam 
Road – Shaftesbury Road 

o Demolition and Construction Activities – Advance Warning 
to Residents 

o Use of CGB for Construction Traffic 
o Gates at CGB Cycleway Access may Discourage Cycling 

 
8.161 The applicants accept that parking provision will need to be 

made for disabled members of staff.  They have also confirmed 
that the contractor will appoint a Public Liaison Officer, who will 
undertake liaison with the public on operations that may have 
an effect on them. 

 
8.162 The potential for a one way arrangement on Clarendon 

Road/Fitzwilliam Road/Shaftesbury Road is not supported by 
the applicants.  This is because in their view it would lead to an 
increase in vehicle speeds which would be detrimental to 
cyclists.  Such an arrangement would have to be promoted by 
the County Council in any event. 

 
8.163 It is not possible to use the CGB for construction traffic as it 

would interfere with bus services and may damage the guide 
way.  A gate is required to secure the site and the applicants 
view is that use of the swipe card would not discourage cyclists 
from using this mode of transport. 

 
• Contributions to the Southern Corridor Area Transport 
Plan (SCATP) 

 
8.164 The applicants have submitted detailed calculations upon which 

they have based contributions towards SCATP.  These 
calculations update the Transport Assessment calculations 
towards SCATP.  The calculation is based on the following 
assumptions: 

 

Page 112



1. The offices that Cambridge Assessment will vacate when 
they move to the Triangle in 2018 will be re-occupied by 
other organisations with their own staff 

2. Not all the staff re-occupying the vacated offices will be 
new staff to the SCATP area, i.e. some will be relocating 
from other offices already in the SCATP area 

3. The all mode daily trip rate for offices is higher for 
Cambridge Assessment’s existing central Cambridge 
locations than the proposed Triangle location. 

 
The offices that Cambridge Assessment will vacate when they 
move to the Triangle in 2018 will be re-occupied by other 
organisations with their own staff 

 
8.165 The applicants have assessed that by 2018 5662 trips will be 

associated with Cambridge Assessment on the assumption that 
the workforce will increase from 1600 to 2300 and that 83% of 
staff will be present on any day (updated from previous estimate 
based on CA experience). The current trip generation 
associated with the use of the site by CUP is 1508 trips.  The 
total all mode daily trip generation for both Cambridge 
Assessment and the site at 2018 will be 7170 trips. 

 
8.166 Although there is some spare capacity within Cambridge 

Assessments existing offices they would still need some 
additional floorspace to accommodate additional staff if they did 
not relocate.  This would increase the existing floorspace 
required by Cambridge Assessment from 18,796 sq. m to 
22,240 sq. m.  The applicants use this figure to establish that 
the total office floorspace needs of Cambridge Assessment 
could be occupied by tenants with an overall workforce of 2040 
staff. 

 
Not all the staff re-occupying the vacated offices will be new 
staff to the SCATP area, i.e. some will be relocating from other 
offices already in the SCATP area 

 
8.167 The applicants estimate that one third of people occupying the 

offices vacated by Cambridge Assessment already work in the 
SCATP area.  If the 83% attendance rate is applied to the 
remaining two thirds then 1,129 new people would be travelling 
in the SCATP area.  This would amount to 3,349 new trips in 
the SCATP area. 

 

Page 113



The all mode daily trip rate for offices is higher for Cambridge 
Assessment’s existing central Cambridge locations than the 
proposed Triangle location 

 
8.168 The applicants consider that the daily all-mode trip rate for the 

proposed Triangle location will be lower than that for Cambridge 
Assessment’s existing central Cambridge locations. This is 
because existing inter-office trips will become intra-office at the 
new site and there will be more facilities such as on site 
catering.  Lower trip generation is also associated with out of 
city centre locations which mean that lower ratio can be applied.  
It is anticipated that all mode daily trip generation for Cambridge 
Assessment in 2018 on first occupation of the site will be 4,152 
trips 

 
Future Growth and Predicted Trips 

 
8.169 In terms of future growth to 3000 employees it is estimated that 

they would generate an additional 1,264 trips in the SCATP 
area 

 
8.170 If the predicted trips associated with Cambridge Assessment’s 

first occupation in 2018 (4152 trips) is added to the additional 
trips generated in the SCATP area resulting from their 
relocation (3349 trips), the total predicted trip figure is 7501 new 
trips.  If this is compared with the baseline figure of trips 
associated with Cambridge Assessment plus the existing site 
trips (7170 trips) the applicants argue that trip generation will 
amount to 331new trips in the SCATP area. The resulting 
SCATP contribution on first occupation, at £369/trip, is therefore 
£122,139. 

 
8.171 If the additional trips are added into the calculation to reflect the 

increase to 3000 staff this increases the total SCATP 
contribution by £466,416 to a total of £588,555 

 
Further third party representations 

 
8.172 Both individual residents and a group of residents have raised 

concerns in response to the addition information that has been 
provided in relation to transport impacts.  There are mixed views 
about the amount of car parking and scepticism about the 
degree to which modal shift and infrastructure improvements 

Page 114



will be realised.  There is lack of confidence in the DCEMP to 
control construction phase impacts to a reasonable level. 

 
8.173 With regard to the concerns raised in relation to the DCEMP, I 

can understand resident’s concerns but it is difficult to 
determine the approach that can be secured in detail until the 
contractor is appointed.  This has been the case on many other 
construction sites in the area.  The use of shuttle buses is 
clearly a possibility but in my view it would be very difficult to 
prevent a contractor from bringing a car to work and parking it 
legitimately on the highway.  I do not think that could be 
enforced in practice and cannot think of any sanctions that 
could be imposed.  My view is that parking controls are the way 
to control this impact if it can be demonstrated that it is having a 
harmful effect on amenity. 

 
The final consultation response from the County Council 

 
8.174 The County Council requested further information in their 

second consultation response.  The following additional 
information was provided: 

 
� Extension of the cycling isochrone 
� Comparison table between permitted use and proposed use 

 

Mode Existing site Proposed development 

 AM PM 24hrs AM PM 24hrs 

Bicycle 157 150 448 568 545 1625 

Car Driver 147 141 420 136 131 390 

Car Passenger 
with CA driver 

n/a n/a n/a 205 196 585 

Car passenger 
non-CA driver 

42 40 121 38 36 108 

CGB n/a n/a n/a 142 136 406 

Motorbike 12 12 35 19 18 54 

Park and cycle n/a n/a n/a 47 46 136 

Park and ride n/a n/a n/a 114 109 325 

Bus (all bus 
travel existing) 

49 47 140 133 127 379 

Train 53 51 151 303 291 867 

Walk 65 62 185 152 145 433 

Other 3 3 8 38 36 108 

TOTAL 528 506 1508 1895 1816 5416 

Page 115



 
� Confirmation of contribution towards parking surveys (Accordia 

and East of Hills Road) and Hills Road/CGB link 
� Details of improvements to Brooklands Avenue (south side) and 

toucan crossing 
� Information on car occupancy and moderator trips 
� Lack of need for bus subsidy 
� Discounted bus travel information 
� Detailed response to Travel Plan queries. 

 
8.175 The applicants have provided a separate response to the 

County Council’s comments regarding the SCATP contribution.  
This concludes that the total all mode daily trip generation in 
2018, for first occupation of the Triangle development is 
4,152.075 new trips. If the 1,508 existing trips associated with 
the baseline position are deducted (this figure has been agreed 
with CCC) then the net increase in trips on first occupation 
would be 2,644.075 trips. At £369 per trip this gives a 
contribution of £975,663.67. 

 
8.176 For the future growth of an additional 700 staff after first 

occupation of the Triangle, allowing for 83% (updated from 87% 
figure previously used) attendance on a daily basis, a total of 
1,263.675 new trips would be generated. This would give rise to 
an additional payment of £466,296.07. 

 
8.177 The overall SCATP contribution for the development, at full 

occupation, is therefore£1,441,959.70.  This figure is much 
higher than previously offered because officers have 
successfully argued that there should be no discounted trips on 
the basis that Cambridge Assessment are relocating from 
premises close by. 

 
8.178 The additional information that has been provided has resulted 

the County Council withdrawing their objection subject to the 
provisions set out in paragraph 6.3 as follows: 

 
Via Section 106 

 
� SCATP Contribution £1,441,959.70 (minus the costs associated 

with the Brooklands Avenue works and contribution towards 
Hills Road/ CGB pedestrian link); 

 

Page 116



� The upgrade of two bus stops on Brooklands Avenue to include 
raise curbs, shelters and Real Time Information, subject to 
detailed design and approvals; 

 
� Provision of improvement to Brooklands Avenue; 

 
� £50,000 contribution to be allocated to the Hills Road/ CGB 

pedestrian link; 
 
� A contribution to cover the costs associated with consultation, 

scheme design, and implementation of a managed parking 
scheme (Accordia and East of Hills Road) should the surveys 
demonstrate a problem and there is support among local 
residents. (£50K for the Accordia development and £20K for 
roads east of Hills Road approx); 

 
� Parking surveys should be undertaken during the construction 

period and post-occupation. Should parking be shown to be an 
issue during either of these periods then the managed parking 
scheme contribution should be called upon. This methodology 
should be included in the Travel Plan and Construction 
Management Plan. 

 
� Pre-commencement Travel Plan to be provided and agreed 

prior to commencement on site which should include: 
 

o Mode share targets and relevant timescales when these 
will be achieved  

o Action plan and review mechanisms 
o Proposed schedule of surveys commencing October 2014 

and continuing annually thereafter. 
o Surveying of moderators to and from the site 

 
� The revised Travel Plan to be submitted for approval 6 months 

prior to occupation of the Triangle site. 
 

Via Planning Condition 
 

The Construction Management Plan should be submitted and 
agreed prior to commencement of development and should 
include, inter alia, travel plan measures for construction 
workers. 

 
 

Page 117



Via Travel Plan (secured by s106 Agreement) 
 
� Provision of mode share Travel Plan targets including 0% of 

employees parking within Accordia and roads East of Hills 
Road; 

 
� Provision of the list of potential additional measures that could 

be implemented or called upon in the event that mode share 
targets are not met; 

 
Transport Impacts - Conclusion 

 
8.179 As evidenced above the transport impacts of the development 

have been subject to rigorous assessment by officers.  This is 
very accessible site but also one which is located in a 
constrained location where the opportunity to provide 
improvements to the highway network is limited. 

 
8.180 Officers are confident that the additional traffic generated by all 

modes of transport to the site will not result in highway safety 
concerns.  The limited amount of car parking that is available on 
site itself limits the amount of vehicular traffic that will be 
generated.  I can understand the concern of local residents 
about the potential for overspill parking particularly given their 
current experience in what is rapidly changing part of the city.  
However it would not be reasonable to expect the development 
to address existing problems and such an approach would not 
be CIL compliant. 

 
8.181 The transport impacts of the development have been 

considered in a holistic way and cumulative impacts have been 
addressed.  The applicants methodology has been scrutinised 
and where this has not been accepted changes have been 
made, for instance resulting in a much higher SCATP 
contribution than first offered. 

 
8.182 In my view the mitigation measures that have been agreed go 

as far is possible to control the adverse impacts of the 
development and will encourage the occupiers to use non-car 
modes of travel. 

 
8.183 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/1 and 8/2. 
 

Page 118



 Car and Cycle Parking 
 
8.184 The application is in Outline form with all matters reserved 

however the description does set a maximum and minimum 
level for both car and cycle spaces. 

 
8.185 Between 170 and 208 car parking space are proposed.  If the 

Local Plan parking standards (within CPZ) are applied in full up 
to 418 car parking spaces would be permitted.  I have explained 
in detail above why the applicants consider that it is possible to 
operate with a significantly lower level of parking than is 
permitted by the Local Plan (45%).  Planning policy supports 
modal shift away from the private car and the availability of car 
parking at a destination is recognised as an important part of 
this.  In my view if the arguments set out above are accepted 
then this level of car parking is appropriate to serve the 
development. 

 
8.186 Between 1060 and 1590 cycle parking spaces are proposed.  If 

the Local Plan parking standards are applied in full up to 1392 
cycle parking spaces would be required.  The range of cycle 
parking space that are proposed includes this quantum and in 
my view can be satisfactorily controlled at the reserved matters 
stage at which point the final floorspace will be known. 

 
8.187 The Local Plan does not include any standards for motorcycle 

spaces.  Up to 26 spaces are proposed.  The updated 
information for mode of travel for staff living in Cambridge 
identifies 0.5% using a motorcycle.  If this is extrapolated across 
a workforce of 3000 it would generate a need for 15 motorcycle 
spaces.  The proposed provision is more than adequate in my 
view. 

 
8.188 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 
 Refuse arrangements 
 
8.189 The application is in Outline form and detailed arrangements for 

waste storage and collection are unknown.  The Environmental 
Health Officer has recommended conditions to secure details of 
waste vehicle circulation and road construction.  I have included 
this condition in my recommendation (conditions 11 and 12). 

 

Page 119



8.190 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) policy 3/12 in relation to refuse arrangements. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
8.191 The likely impacts on the amenities enjoyed by existing 

residents fall into three types as follows: 
 

1. Impacts arising from the proximity to the Kaleidoscope 
development to the north of the site 

 
2. Construction phase impact affecting the wider area 

 
3. Operational phase impacts affecting the wider area 

 
Impacts arising from the proximity to the Kaleidoscope 
development to the north of the site 

 
8.192 The closest residential properties to the site are within the 

Kaleidoscope development which is to the north of the site. Two 
blocks are located close to the site boundary. Block F 
incorporates a wing which runs parallel and approximately 2 
metres from the site boundary and Block G3 runs at right angles 
to the boundary and parallel to the railway line presenting a 
gable end to within 4 metres from the site boundary. 

 
8.193 There are flats and student accommodation units to the east but 

these are separated from the site by the railway line, the CGB 
line and the CGB footpath/cycleway.  Although the new 
buildings will be visible from the east I do not consider that they 
will be overbearing or enclosing.  The separation distances are 
such that overlooking/loss of privacy, overshadowing and loss 
of light will not be significant. 

 
Overbearing and Enclosing Impacts – Blocks F and G3 
Kaleidoscope 

 
8.194 The space between the boundary of the site and Block F of the 

Kaleidoscope development is occupied by a full height gantry 
which provides access into the flats at first, second and third 
floor level.  The approved plans show these flats as open plan 
accommodation with windows facing south and north into an 
enclosed courtyard.  At present the ground floor access areas 

Page 120



and gantry balconies face towards the existing car park.  The 
existing CUP warehouse building is 48 metres from Block F. 

 
8.195 The proposed development will be much closer to Block F with 

a minimum distance of 13m from the boundary in the central 
part and 16.5m to the north east.  However, the proposed 
podium areas will have a fundamental impact on the scale and 
mass of this part of the building.  Above first floor level there will 
be substantial open areas with two of the three wings of the 
North Block facing Block F.  These wings are going  to be in the 
order of 20m wide and the north east wing will be aligned 
predominately beyond the east end of Block F.  At ground level 
it is proposed to provide landscaping along the northern 
boundary. 

 
8.196 The balcony areas on the gantry to Block F1 do not appear to 

me to be being used as external amenity space and they have 
been designed principally as access areas.  The gantry itself 
screens views from the doors and windows towards the site and 
the views from the ground floor flats will be softened by 
landscaping. 

 
8.197 The gable end of Block G3 of the Kaleidoscope development 

contains windows which face the site but the approved plans 
show these as secondary windows with primary views being to 
the east and west. 

 
8.198 In my view, although the new development will be more 

dominant in views from the north, given the particular site 
context and the way in which it is designed I do not consider 
that it will have a harmful overbearing or enclosing impact. 

 
 Overlooking/loss of privacy – Blocks F and G3 Kaleidoscope 
 
8.199 The Outline form of the application means that detailed 

arrangement of windows and design of the podium spaces is 
not known at this time. However the existing gantry on Block F 
effectively controls direct overlooking into private spaces within 
the flats. As I have described above, the balconies are not 
currently used as outdoor amenity space therefore overlooking 
of them is not likely to be particularly harmful.  In any case 
Cambridge Assessment requires a secure site by virtue of the 
type of works that is being carried out in the building and for this 
reason the potential for interlooking will be controlled by design. 

Page 121



 
Overshadowing and loss of light – Blocks F and G3 
Kaleidoscope 

 
8.200 A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment was submitted in support 

of the application.  The findings of this report were that 4 
windows in Block F and Block G3 would be adversely affected 
by the development.  In light of concerns raised by the UDC 
team further work has been carried out and this has resulted in 
the north east wing of the North Block being reduced in length 
so that it will be no closer than 16.5m from the boundary.  The 
affected windows now achieve the BRE criteria for daylight. 

 
Construction phase impact affecting the wider area 

 
8.201 The scale of the development is significant and the construction 

phase impacts could have an adverse impact on residential 
amenity albeit for a limited time.  I have dealt with concerns 
about construction traffic above.  The Demolition and 
Construction Environmental Management Plan is a key 
component in mitigating construction phase impacts and I have 
recommended a condition (condition 4) to secure the approval 
and compliance with this Plan.  The DCEMP controls not only 
contractors parking but also matters such as working hours, 
storage of materials and arrangements for liaison with residents 
which will be critical given the proximity of existing residents. 

 
Operational phase impacts affecting the wider area 

 
8.202 The proposed development is of a significant scale and will 

attract large numbers of people to the site both as members of 
staff and visitors.  I have addressed the concerns that have 
been raised regarding potential for displaced parking and the 
need for transport mitigation measures above. 

 
8.203 The site will generate a degree of additional noise and 

disturbance over the existing situation particularly when 
moderators attend meetings at the weekend.  However the 
buildings and the spaces around them are adequate to 
accommodate these uses without detriment to residential 
amenity in my view. 

 
8.204 The EHO has also recommended planning conditions in relation 

to noise insulation, emergency generator use, plant noise, 

Page 122



odour filtration/extraction and lighting which I have 
recommended (conditions 5 to 9) 

 
8.205 In my opinion the proposal adequately respects the residential 

amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4, 3/7 and 4/13. 

 
Third Party Representations 

 
8.206 I have addressed comments made by third parties in the 

following sections of my report: 
 

Principle of development Principle of development 

Traffic impact Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 

Impact on 
Cyclists/Motorcyclists 

Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 

Impact on Parking – 
demolition/construction stage 

Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 

Impact on Parking – post 
occupation stage 

Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 

Mitigation of transport impacts Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 

Cycle Parking Car and cycle parking 

Scale and Massing Context of site, design and 
external spaces 

Construction impacts Transport Impacts/Highway 
safety 
Residential amenity 

 
Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
Planning Obligations 

 
8.207 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have 

introduced the requirement for all local authorities to make an 
assessment of any planning obligation in relation to three tests.  
If the planning obligation does not pass the tests then it is 
unlawful.  The tests are that the planning obligation must be: 

 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms;  

Page 123



(b) directly related to the development; and  

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
In bringing forward my recommendations in relation to the 
Planning Obligation for this development I have considered 
these requirements. The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) 
provides a framework for expenditure of financial contributions 
collected through planning obligations.  The Public Art 
Supplementary Planning Document 2010 addresses 
requirements in relation to public art.  The applicants have 
indicated their willingness to enter into a S106 planning 
obligation in accordance with the requirements of the Strategy 
and relevant Supplementary Planning Documents.  The 
proposed development triggers the requirement for the following 
community infrastructure:  

 
 Public Art 
 
8.208 Officers have considered the proposals for public art against the 

tests set out in the CIL regulations and reached the view that 
the planning obligation meets the tests for the following 
reasons: 

 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms 

 
8.209 Public art provides social, economic, environmental and cultural 

mitigation and in the Cambridge Local Plan is deemed a factor 
in creating successful places, supported by the Public Art 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
8.210 The proposed new development aims to double the amount of 

people accommodated on the site as exists today and hence, 
the scale and massing of the building is much larger and is 
located within a residential area. The Outline application sets 
the parameters of the building, which includes a highly visible 
39m high tower to act as a sentinel to the entry to the more 
urban area of the city. The inclusion of public art mitigates this 
change of scale within the residential area by adding to the 
quality of the design and visually improving the building, in 
particular, one of aims of a commissions is, “In collaboration 
with the architect, the artist will contribute to the design of the 

Page 124



Tower creating an exciting and important new focus to the 
development and the surrounding area as well as announcing 
arrival into the city by train and the guided bus route”. This has 
been identified as an element, which can be improved via public 
art by the applicant and the Council to provide mitigation for the 
scale and improve the design, so that it succeeds in becoming a 
marker for entry to central Cambridge. 

 
8.211The site is situated on a major gateway to Cambridge via rail 

and now also has a direct relationship with the Guided Busway, 
which also provides cyclists and pedestrians with a route 
through to the railway station. The applicants themselves, state 
that, “The view into the site is an important aspect as it is one of 
the first significant buildings to be seen as visitors arrive into 
Cambridge Station”. Public art will visually improve this major 
gateway and provide identity upon arrival in Cambridge, for the 
site and for the local residential community. It will also aid in 
legibility and wayfinding on an important cycling/pedestrian 
route. A commission is proposed to improve this gateway. 

 
8.212 The expansion of Cambridge Assessment and consolidation of 

all its buildings to one site brings with it issues of increased 
traffic, whether vehicular (employees, visitors and servicing 
requirements), cycling or pedestrian and all within a residential 
area. This will have a significant impact on the immediate local 
community. The inclusion of public art will visually improve the 
development site to mitigate the extra pressure of access 
bought about by the enlargement of the site. The public 
engagement programme will provide local residents the 
opportunity to become involved with elements of the 
development, gain an understanding of the site and integrate 
the new community with the existing community, which is a key 
aim of the inclusion of public art; building bridges and creating 
cultural wellbeing. 

 
8.213 The site itself has a great history and the inclusion of public art 

enables this history not to be lost and be celebrated within the 
new development, which is very important. This aids to 
providing identity both citywide and locally; orientation, giving 
information about the place and its meaning; making 
connections that link the various meanings of the place and its 
relationship to its context and animating the place and building 
on its uses and activities. 

 

Page 125



8.214 All of the above satisfies Local Plan policy 3/7 Creating 
Successful Places - Development will be permitted which 
demonstrates that it is designed to provide attractive, high 
quality, accessible, stimulating, socially inclusive and safe living 
and working environments and demonstrates that the provision 
of public art contributes to the achievement of planning policy 
objectives generally. 

 
8.215 The Design and Access Statement and the Public Art Strategy 

demonstrate that public art is required to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms by way of identifying the sensitive 
nature of the site and where in particular visual improvements 
are required. The Public Art Strategy states, “It is intended that 
the Public Art Programme will: 
 
• Enrich the public realm surrounding the development 
• Contribute to the visual and cultural identity of the site 
• Assist in legibility and way-finding 
• Contribute to the understanding of the site in the wider city 
context 
• Contribute to the ‘City Gateway’ for visitors by train” 

 
(b) directly related to the development 

 
8.216 The public art provision is to be made on site which 

demonstrates a clear relationship with the development.  
 

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development 

 
8.217 A reduced public art budget is being negotiated and, which is 

less than the 1% that is normally achieved. Negotiations are 
taking place into consideration of the scale of the development 
and understanding of the costs of public art in relation to the 
practical costs of developing and delivering it to provide 
mitigation.  The offer from the applicants equates to 0.5% of 
construction costs.  As part of the s106 negotiations officers will 
seek to increase the budget and I have requested delegated 
authority to conclude these negotiations. 

 
8.218 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 

Page 126



Local Plan (2006) policy 3/7, the Planning Obligation Strategy 
2010 and the Public Art SPD. 

 
Transport 

 
8.219 Following complex negotiations between the developer and 

officers the following transport mitigation measures are 
proposed: 

 
1. SCATP Contribution £1,441,959.70 

 
2. The upgrade of two bus stops on Brooklands Avenue to include 

raise curbs, shelters and Real Time Information, subject to 
detailed design and approvals; 

 
3. Subject to detailed design and other approvals, provision of 

improvement to Brooklands Avenue; 
 

4. Accordia Parking Scheme - Contribution to cover costs 
associated with consultation, scheme design, and 
implementation of a managed parking scheme should the 
surveys demonstrate a problem and there is support among 
local residents.  (approx. £50k) 

 
5. Hills Road East Parking Scheme - Contribution to cover costs 

associated with consultation, scheme design, and 
implementation of a managed parking scheme should the 
surveys demonstrate a problem and there is support among 
local residents (approx. £20k) 

 
6. Parking surveys to be undertaken during the construction period 

and post-occupation using a methodology to be included in the 
Travel Plan and Construction Management Plan. 

 
7. Construction Management Plan should be submitted and 

agreed prior to commencement of development and should 
include, inter alia, travel plan measures for construction 
workers. 

 
8. A pre-commencement Travel Plan to be provided and agreed 

prior to commencement on site which should include: 
 

� Mode share targets and relevant timescales when these 
will be achieved  

Page 127



� Action plan and review mechanisms 
� Proposed schedule of surveys commencing October 2014 

and continuing annually thereafter. 
� Surveying of moderators to and from the site 

 
9. A revised Travel Plan to be submitted for approval 6 months 

prior to occupation of the Triangle site. 
 

10. Provision of mode share Travel Plan targets including 0% 
of employees parking within Accordia and roads East of Hills 
Road; 

 
11. Provision of the list of potential additional measures that 

could be implemented or called upon in the event that mode 
share targets are not met; 

 
8.220 It is agreed that the costs of the following mitigation measure be 

deducted from the SCATP contribution: 
 

o Hills Road Bridge/CGB steps (£50,000 contribution to be 
allocated to the Hills Road/ CGB pedestrian link; should 
this not be spent in 10 years this can be allocated towards 
the wider SCATP schemes); 

o Brooklands Avenue footway/cycleway improvement 
between Aberdeen Avenue and Hills Road (to be provided 
by applicant) 

o Pedestrian/cycle crossing on Brooklands Avenue between 
Aberdeen Avenue and Clarendon Road (to be provided by 
applicant) 

 
8.221 In my view these provisions pass the CIL tests for the following 

reasons: 
 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms 

 
The development will attract large numbers of people to the site 
which is in a highly accessible yet constrained location. The 
mitigation measures that are secured via the s106 Agreement 
are necessary to encourage the use of non-car modes of 
transport to facilitate the development in this location.  The 
development would not be acceptable otherwise. 

 
 

Page 128



 
(b) directly related to the development 

 
The mitigation measures will directly benefit the users of the 
office building.  Where there are wider benefits these have been 
deducted from the strategic level funding in the form of the 
SCATP contribution. 

 
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
The SCATP contribution is based on the traffic generation by 
the proposed use and includes off-setting to reflect the existing 
use.  The SCATP contribution is necessary to fund strategic 
level projects within the Southern Corridor of which the site is 
part. 

 
8.222 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure this infrastructure provision, I am satisfied that the 
proposal accords with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 8/3 
and 10/1 and the Planning Obligation Strategy 2010. 

 
 Additional s106 Obligation 
 
8.223In addition to the requirements of the Planning Obligation 

Strategy the development accords with Policy 7/2 of the Local 
Plan because the offices are proposed to be occupied by 
Cambridge Assessment which is an established business in the 
City.  However a restriction on occupation to a ‘local user’ will 
need to be secured via a planning obligation to ensure that if 
Cambridge Assessment decide not to occupy the building or 
occupation changes in the future the development remains 
compliant with this policy. 

 
Monitoring 

 
8.224 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

developments contribute to the costs of monitoring the 
implementation of planning obligations.  It was agreed at 
Development Plans Scrutiny Sub- Committee on 25 March 
2014 that from 1 April 2014 monitoring fees for all financial and 
non-financial planning obligations will be 5% of the total value of 
those financial contributions (up to a maximum of £50,000) with 
the exception of large scale developments when monitoring 

Page 129



costs will be agreed by negotiation.  The County Council also 
requires a monitoring charge to be paid for County obligations 
in accordance with current County policy 

 
8.225 For this application a monitoring fee of 5% of the agreed Public 

Art budget is required to cover monitoring of City Council 
obligations plus the County Council monitoring fee. 

 
 Planning Obligations Conclusion 
 
8.226 It is my view that the planning obligation is necessary, directly 

related to the development and fairly and reasonably in scale 
and kind to the development and therefore the Planning 
Obligation passes the tests set by the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010. 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 This is a very large scale development and has attracted a high 

volume of comment from local residents particularly in relation 
to transport impact.  The impacts of the development have been 
robustly scrutinised by officers and where necessary 
assumptions and methodologies have been challenged.  In my 
view the parameter plans provide an appropriate degree of 
control over detailed plans and the mitigation measures that 
have been secured will ensure that future users of the site are 
well catered for and existing residents not unduly prejudiced. 

 
9.2 This site is a good location for Cambridge Assessment and in 

my view the application should be supported. 
 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
1 APPROVE subject to completion of the s106 Agreement 
and the following conditions: 
 

1. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made 
to the local planning authority before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.   
 
Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Page 130



2.  Details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale, (hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority before any development begins and the development 
shall be carried out as approved. 
 
 Reason: To ensure that all necessary details are acceptable 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/12 and 8/2) 
  

3.  Prior to the commencement of any development, full details of 
the design and construction methodology, particularly 
concerning foundations, structures, services, and landscaping 
of the development abutting the Cambridge Guided Bus (CGB) 
route shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority including proposals for work space and any 
operational impact on CGB during construction including 
precautions to prevent items falling on the CGB.  The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 

 Reason: To safeguard the route of the Cambridgeshire Guided 
Bus in the interests of improving accessibility and highway 
safety (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 8/2 and 9/9). 

 
4. Prior to the commencement of development, a site wide 

Demolition and Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(DCEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The DCEMP shall include the 
consideration of the following aspects of demolition and 
construction: 

 a) Demolition, construction and phasing programme. 
 b) Contractors access arrangements for vehicles, plant and 

personnel including the location of construction traffic routes to, 
from and within the site, details of their signing, monitoring and 
enforcement measures. 

 c) Construction/Demolition hours which shall be carried out 
between 0800 hours to 1800 hours, Monday to Friday, and 
0800 hours to 1300 hours on Saturday and at no time on 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless in accordance with 
agreed emergency procedures for deviation. Prior notice and 
agreement procedures for works outside agreed limits and 
hours. 

Page 131



 d) Delivery times for construction/demolition purposes shall be 
carried out between 0730 to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 
0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays, 
bank or public holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority in advance. 

 e) Noise method, monitoring and recording statements in 
accordance with the provisions of BS 5228-1: 2009. 

 f) Maximum noise mitigation levels for construction equipment, 
plant and vehicles. 

 g) Vibration method, monitoring and recording statements in 
accordance with the provisions of BS 5228-2: 2009. 

 h) Maximum vibration levels. 
 i) Dust management and wheel washing measures in 

accordance with the provisions of London Best Practice 
Guidance: The control of dust and emissions from construction 
and demolition. 

 j) Use of concrete crushers. 
 k) Prohibition of the burning of waste on site during 

demolition/construction. 
 l) Site lighting. 
 m) Screening and hoarding details. 
 o) Access and protection arrangements around the site for 

pedestrians, cyclists and other road users. 
 p) Procedures for interference with public highways, including 

permanent and temporary realignment, diversions and road 
closures. 

 q) External safety and information signing and notices. 
 r) Consideration of sensitive receptors. 
 s) Prior notice and agreement procedures for works outside 

agreed limits. 
 t) Complaints procedures, including complaints response 

procedures. 
 u) Membership of the Considerate Contractors Scheme. 
  
 The DCEMP shall include a Travel Plan for all staff involved in 

construction activities which shall include details of the means 
by which staff will access the site, where staff vehicles will be 
parked and what provision is made for bussing staff into the 
site. 

  
 The development shall then be undertaken in accordance with 

the agreed plan 
  

Page 132



 Reason: To ensure the environmental impact of the 
construction of the development is adequately mitigated and in 
the interests of the amenity of nearby residents/occupiers 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13). 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of development/construction, a 

noise insulation scheme detailing the acoustic noise insulation 
performance specification of the external building envelope 
(having regard to the building fabric, glazing and ventilation) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall achieve the internal noise 
levels recommended with the Sharps Redmore Acoustic 
Planning Report dated 25th March 2014 (1313783). 

 The approved scheme shall be fully implemented and a 
completion report submitted prior to the occupation of the noise 
sensitive development. The approved scheme shall remain 
unaltered in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To protect amenity of the occupants of residential and 

other noise sensitive development (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 4/13). 

 
6. Before the development/use hereby permitted is commenced, a 

scheme for the insulation of the building(s) and/or plant in order 
to minimise the level of noise emanating from the said 
building(s) and/or plant shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and the scheme as 
approved shall be fully implemented before the use hereby 
permitted is commenced. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 
7. Before the development/use hereby permitted is occupied, a 

scheme for the insulation of the building(s) and/or plant in order 
to minimise the level of noise emanating from the said 
building(s) and/or plant shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and the scheme as 
approved shall be fully implemented before the use hereby 
permitted is commenced. 

  
 The scheme shall include the following: 
  
 (i) Generator - Emergency Use Only 

Page 133



  
 The generator shall only be used in the event of mains power 

failure or in accordance with (ii) below. It shall not be used as 
an alternative supply in the event of disconnection from the 
mains supply following for example non-payment. 

  
 (ii) Generator - Hours of Running for Maintenance 
  
 Running of the generator as part of routine maintenance and 

repair shall only take place for the length of time specified by 
the manufacturer between the hours of 8am 6pm Monday to 
Friday, 9am 1pm Saturday and no time Sunday or Public 
Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To protect amenity of the occupants of residential and 

other noise sensitive development (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 4/13). 

 
8. Before the development/use hereby permitted is commenced, 

details of equipment for the purpose of extraction and/or 
filtration of fumes and or odours shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
approved extraction/filtration scheme shall be installed before 
the use hereby permitted is commenced. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
  
9. Details of any proposed floodlighting or external lighting shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority before the use hereby permitted commences.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of amenity. (Cambridge Local Plan 

2006 policies 3/11 and 4/15) 
  
 

Page 134



10. No development approved by this permission shall be 
COMMENCED prior to a contaminated land assessment and 
associated remedial strategy, being submitted to the LPA and 
receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA. 
This applies to paragraphs a), b) and c). This is an iterative 
process and the results of each stage will help decide if the 
following stage is necessary. 

  
 (a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk 

study to be submitted to the LPA for approval. The desk study 
shall detail the history of the site uses and propose a site 
investigation strategy based on the relevant information 
discovered by the desk study. The strategy shall be approved 
by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on site. 

  
 (b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, 

surface and groundwater sampling, shall be carried out by a 
suitable qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in 
accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology. 

  
 (c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works 

and sampling on site, together with the results of the analysis, 
risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the LPA. The LPA shall approve 
such remedial works as required prior to any remediation 
commencing on site. The works shall be of such a nature as to 
render harmless the identified contamination given the 
proposed end use of the site and surrounding environment 
including any controlled waters. 

  
 No development approved by this permission shall be 

OCCUPIED prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of 
approval of the document/documents from the LPA. This 
applies to paragraphs d), e) and f). 

  
 (d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on 

site under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate 
compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance. 

  

Page 135



 (e) If, during the works contamination is encountered which has 
not previously been identified then the additional contamination 
shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme 
agreed with the LPA. 

  
 (f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be 

discharged until a closure report has been submitted to and 
approved by the LPA. The closure report shall include details of 
the proposed remediation works and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full 
in accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any 
post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has 
reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from site. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure that any contamination of the site is 

identified and remediation measures are appropriately 
undertaken to secure full mitigation in the interests of 
environmental and public safety. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 4/13). 

 
11. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the 

on-site storage facilities for commercial waste, including waste 
for recycling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the local planning authority. Such details shall identify the 
specific positions of where wheeled bins, or any other means of 
storage will be stationed and the specific arrangements to 
enable collection from within 10m of the kerbside of the adopted 
highway/ refuse collection vehicle access point and the 
arrangements for the disposal of waste shall be provided and 
shall include provision for a minimum of 50% recycling/organic 
capacity. The approved facilities shall be provided prior to the 
commencement of the use hereby permitted and shall be 
retained thereafter unless alternative arrangements are agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory provision is made 

for waste storage and collection (Cambridge Local Plan policy 
3/12) 

 

Page 136



12. No development shall commence until further details of the 
circulation route for refuse collection vehicles have been 
submitted to the local planning authority and approved in 
writing. The required details shall include a full construction 
specification for the route, and a plan defining the extent of the 
area to which that specification will be applied. No dwelling 
forming part of the development shall be occupied until the 
refuse vehicle circulation route has been laid out and 
constructed in accordance with the details thus approved, and 
thereafter the route shall be maintained in accordance with 
those details. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory provision is made 

for waste storage and collection (Cambridge Local Plan policy 
3/12) 

 
13. No development shall take place within the site until the 

applicant, or their agent or successors in title, has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has 
been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that an appropriate archaeological 

investigation of the site has been implemented before 
development commences. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy  
4/9) 

 
14. Prior to the commencement of development, with the exception 

of demolition and below ground works, full details of the 
proposed cycle ramp serving the north east access to the site 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority in writing.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and the ramp shall be 
available for use prior to occupation of the building hereby 
approved. 

 
 Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision for cycle access via 

the CGB route (Cambridge Local Plan policy 8/4) 
 

Page 137



15. Prior to the commencement of development full details of the 
proposed provision for fire hydrants shall be submitted to and 
approved by the local planning authority in writing.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
 Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of fire hydrants 

(Cambridge Local Plan policy 3/7) 
 
16. Development shall not begin until a scheme for surface water 

disposal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Infiltration systems shall only be used 
where it can be demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to 
groundwater quality. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approval details.  

 
 Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled 

waters from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 
and 8/18 and Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable 
Design & Construction' 2007). 

 
17. Piling or any other foundation designs and investigation 

boreholes using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the 
site where it has been demonstrated that there is no resultant 
unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled 

waters from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 
and 8/18 and Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable 
Design & Construction' 2007). 

 
18. Development shall not begin until a scheme for foul water 

disposal has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approval details.  

Page 138



 Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled 
waters from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 
and 8/18 and Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable 
Design & Construction' 2007). 

 
19. The proposed development will only meet the requirements of 

the National Planning Policy Framework if the following 
measure(s) as detailed in the Flood Risk Assessment, Drainage 
Philosophy and Plan ref 32590/YE/502 - General Arrangement: 
Proposed foul and surface water drainage, submitted with this 
application are implemented and secured by way of a planning 
condition on any planning permission.  

 
 Reason: To provide satisfactory methods of drainage and levels 

of floodrisk, and to protect and prevent the pollution of 
controlled waters from potential pollutants associated with 
current and previous land uses (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policies 4/13 and 8/18 and Supplementary Planning Document 
'Sustainable Design & Construction' 2007) 

 
20. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be 

carried out in accordance with the approved Drainage 
Philosophy date 26 March 2014, Ref 61032590 rev C, produced 
by Rambol and the following mitigation measures detailed 
within the FRA: 1. Limiting the surface water run-off generated 
by all events up to the 1 in 100 (plus suitable allowance for 
climate change) so that it will not exceed 102l/s and not 
increases the risk of flooding off-site. 2. Utilisation of a SUDS 
management train to attenuate, convey and discharge the 
surface water at the restricted rate. The mitigation measures 
shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied 
within the scheme, or within any other period as may 
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning 
authority.  

 
 Reasons: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory 

storage of/disposal of surface water from the site. uses 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 and 8/18 and 
Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable Design & 
Construction' 2007) 

 

Page 139



21. No development shall take place until a surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles 
and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological 
context of the development, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The drainage 
strategy should demonstrate the surface water run-off 
generated up to and including the 1 in 100 critical storm will not 
exceed 102 l/s following the corresponding rainfall event. The 
scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with 
the approved details before the development is completed. The 
scheme shall also include:  details of how the scheme shall be 
maintained and managed after completion and demonstration 
that the drainage philosophy documents recommendations are 
followed.  

 
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and 

off site. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 and 8/18 and 
Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable Design & 
Construction' 2007) 

 
22. Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for 

the provision and implementation of pollution control of the 
water environment shall be submitted and agreed in writing with 
the Local Authority. The works/scheme shall be constructed and 
completed in accordance with the approved plans.  

 
 Reason: To protect and prevent the pollution of controlled 

waters from potential pollutants associated with current and 
previous land uses (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 4/13 
and 8/18 and Supplementary Planning Document 'Sustainable 
Design & Construction' 2007) 

 
23. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

Page 140



 INFORMATIVE:  This planning permission should be read in 
conjunction with the associated deed of planning obligation 
prepared under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).  The applicant is reminded that under the 
terms of the s106 Agreement you are required to notify the City 
Council of the date of commencement of development. 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  New development can sometimes cause 

inconvenience, disturbance and disruption to local residents, 
businesses and passers by. As a result the City Council runs a 
Considerate Contractor Scheme aimed at promoting high 
standards of care during construction. The City Council 
encourages the developer of the site, through its building 
contractor, to join the scheme and agree to comply with the 
model Code of Good Practice, in the interests of good 
neighbourliness. Information about the scheme can be obtained 
from The Considerate Contractor Project Officer in the Planning 
Department (Tel: 01223 457121). 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  The applicant is advised that where a 

proposal involves works on an existing wall shared with another 
property, building on the boundary with a neighbouring property 
or excavating near a neighbouring building, the provisions of the 
Party Wall Act 1996 shall apply. The granting of planning 
permission does not override any obligation arising from this or 
other legislation. 

 
 INFORMATIVE: Any development adjacent to CGB shall be 

conducted in accordance with the CGB's document entitled 
'Guidance for Developers' and Operation Policy 
(http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/info/20017/buses/95/guided
_busway/3) and construction methodology statement and risk 
assessments. 

 
INFORMATIVE: To satisfy standard Noise Insulation condition, 
the rating level (in accordance with BS4142:1997) from all plant, 
equipment and vents etc (collectively) associated with this 
application should be less than or equal to the existing 
background level (L90) at the boundary of the premises subject 
to this application and having regard to noise sensitive 
premises. 

Page 141



 Tonal/impulsive noise frequencies should be eliminated or at 
least considered in any assessment and should carry an 
additional 5 dB(A) correction. This is to guard against any 
creeping background noise in the area and prevent 
unreasonable noise disturbance to other premises. This 
requirement applies both during the day (0700 to 2300 hrs over 
any one hour period) and night time (2300 to 0700 hrs over any 
one 5 minute period).  

 It is recommended that the agent/applicant submits a noise 
prediction survey/report in accordance with the principles of 
BS4142: 1997 Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed 
residential and industrial areas or similar, concerning the effects 
on amenity rather than likelihood for complaints. Noise levels 
shall be predicted at the boundary having regard to 
neighbouring premises. 

 Such a survey / report should include: a large scale plan of the 
site in relation to neighbouring premises; noise sources and 
measurement / prediction points marked on plan; a list of noise 
sources; details of proposed noise sources / type of plant such 
as: number, location, sound power levels, noise frequency 
spectrums, noise directionality of plant, noise levels from duct 
intake or discharge points; details of noise mitigation measures 
(attenuation details of any intended enclosures, silencers or 
barriers); description of full noise calculation procedures; noise 
levels at a representative sample of noise sensitive locations 
and hours of operation. 

 Any report shall include raw measurement data so that 
conclusions may be thoroughly evaluated and calculations 
checked. 

 
INFORMATIVE: To satisfy the emergency generator condition 
the noise level from the emergency generator associated with 
this application should not raise the existing background level 
(L90) by more than 5 dB(A) at the boundary of the premises 
subject to this application and having regard to noise sensitive 
premises. 

 

Page 142



 INFORMATIVE: To satisfy standard condition C60 
(Odour/Fume Filtration/Extraction), details should be provided in 
accordance with Annex B and C of the, Guidance on the 
Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust 
Systems, prepared by Netcen on behalf of Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) dated January 
2005 available at: 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130123162956/http
:/www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/noise/research/kitchene
xhaust/documents/kitchenreport.pdf 
 
2 DELEGATED AUTHORITY to officers to complete 
negotiations on the final budget for Public Art (not less than 
0.5% of construction costs) 
 
3 Unless prior agreement has been obtained from the 
Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chair and 
Spokesperson of this Committee to extend the period for 
completion of the Planning Obligation required in 
connection with this development, if the Obligation has not 
been completed by 30 November 2014, or if Committee 
determine that the application be refused against officer 
recommendation of approval, it is recommended that the 
application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
The proposed development does not make appropriate 
provision for transport mitigation measures, public art and 
monitoring in accordance with Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policies 3/7, 8/3 and 10/1, the Public Art Supplementary 
Planning Document 2010 and the Southern Corridor Area 
Transport Plan 2002 

 
4 In the event that the application is refused, and an 
Appeal is lodged against the decision to refuse this 
application, delegated authority is sought to allow officers 
to negotiate and complete the Planning Obligation required 
in connection with this development 

 
 

Page 143



Page 144

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 145



Page 146

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 151



Page 152

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 153



Page 154

This page is intentionally left blank



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
��
 ��������
�
����
����












�


����������	
���	���

����
 �
����
����


 �����

�
�����
��



��������

����� �����
!��	 ��
!�����
"�����#��
�������
$ �% �
&
������� ''�



���������

$���
�'
(���� �)
*��� ����
(�	��
����

(� �� ���
(���� �)
+'' ����
��,�
- �� ���

���� 		��
.���)���
��� ��
���� �� ''�




��
����������

!��� ���	
/�������	�	 ���
��� �
"��#�
0��������1


!��� ���	
/�������	�	 ���
��2�
$ �%�
0-*(
3����1




��
�����������
���
��������� �

4���
(�	 	 �����
/�,��	
4�#���

/�� ���	�
*2�� �
*	���	

/�� ���	�
(���
���#



��!��
��������
��������


��������	
!��������	
.���)���
. %�
*��	��







��
	"�
#�
����	#��
�

	"�
�����#�





$%
 ������������
��
#�������



5���
#���
���������



$$
 #����&'�����
�(
�!�
�!���



�2�
 �2� �
 ��	� ���
 	2�
 ����
 ���
 �������
 �'
 	2�
 ����������	
 ���	���
 
�����

�2���
������	
#���
 �'�����
	2�	
��
��� � ���
#����
,�
	�%��
�	
	2�
���	 �)�





$)
 $*+%*,)+��	�
 	!�
 �&���'�-!
 .'��&��-/
 0!������'�(
 ���&/

��1���&-�/
�.)
2��



���� 		���

 (���� �)
���� 		��


��	��

 
 �
����
����

!��� ��	 ��
5��


�����6��+7�


Public Document Pack

Page 155



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
��
 ��������
�
����
����












�


* 	�
!�������


 �2�
8� �,��)2
"� �� �)�
*2�'	��,���
/����
���,� �)��
�"�

9/7


����� �	 ���
 ����� 	 ��
�'
8� �,��)2
"� �� �)�
#���2����
���
����� �	��

,� �� �)�
���
����	 ��
�'
�'' ��
����������	
�'
��
	�
���:;�

�<�
��
)����
�=	�����
����
# 	2
����������	
)��������
,� �)

�'
 ,�	#���
 �
 ���
 ;
 �	�����
 0# 	2
 � � 	��
 �����
 �'
 ��������

���'	��
����	1�
�
� �)��
	�#��
������	
# 	2
	#�
'��	2��
�	�����

�'
���������	 ���
��
 	�
�96
���
���% �)
������
0>��
��?1�

��
 	�
 ���;
 �����
 ���% �)
 ������
 0>��
 ��?1�
 ��
 	�
 �@

��	�������
 �������
 2���
 ���
 ��'	
 �������� �)
 ���
 ��� �����

'�� � 	 ��
  ����� �)
 �	�''
 ���	�����
 ���	 �)
 ������
 ��'���

�����������
 ����	
 ������
 ��� ��
 ,���%���	
 ������
 �	��
 ���
 	�

�����
��
	2�
��#
�'' ��
������
2���<���	���
'��
���,� �)�

!��������	�


!��� ���	�
 
 �"�

!)��	�
 
 ��� �
"��#��
��������
������	��	
*��������


!�������
 A��%
 $����
 :
 ��%��
 ����	
 ;��@�
 5�#���%�	
 /����

���,� �)�
�";
9�B


4���
(�	 	 �����
 5 �2����
!����


!�������


 
 �9
!,������
!������
���,� �)��
�"�
9�(

 

����
+'' ����


 *���2
�����
� 	�
����������	
.���)��

��=	
�'
(�	 	 ���

 



�2�
 ��	 	 �����
  �
�� �� ���
 #������
 	2�
 ��������
����������	
 ,�	
 2���
 	2�

'����# �)
 �,C��	 ���
 ���
 ��<���	
 �
 ����������	
 ���	���
 
����
 	�
 �=�����

	2���
��������
���
���� ���
� 	 )�	 ��
��		����




�2���
  �
 ����
 �������
 ����)�	
 ��� ���	�
 �	
 	2�
 ���%
 �'
 �
 ����
 '��
 	2�

����)����	�
 �'
 	2�
 ����� 	 ��
 ���
 ����	���	 ��
 �2����
 �2�
 '��	
 	2�	
  	
  �

��������
 	�
 ����
 # 	2
 ���2
 ��		���
 �	
 	2�
 ��	� ���
 ����� �)
 �	�)�
 ����
 ��	

����� �	�
 ��� ���	�D
 ��������
 ��#�
 (� ����
 ��������
 	���
 ��
 	2�
 ������	

 ��, � 	�
 �'
 	2�
 �������� �)
  �'���	���	���
 	�
 ���������	�
 	2�
 ��	 � ��	��

	��'' �
�������	�
# 	2
�
'��� �)
	2�	
	2 �
# ��
�����	
 �
�	
����	



•
 � �������
���% �)
������
,�
���	���	���D
��2 ����


•
 2����
����	�
���� ��
��
"���%�����
!�����
���
$ ���
/����
)��������
���

 �
 ���2
 2���
 	��'' �
 0#2 �2
 �������
  �
 ���)���
 �	
 �	����	 ��1
 # 	2
 �����	��	

�������	�,��
 2 )2
 �����	 ��
 ������
 0 ����� �)
 #2��
 �2 �����
 ���
 ��
 	2� �

#��
	�
���
'���
��2���1�





�2�
���	
������	 ��
������
(���
  �
���� �����
	�
,�
'��#��
,������
0�1
  	
  �

,����
 ��
 ��
 ����
 ��, 	 ���
 ������	 ��
 �'
 	2�
 � %���
 ��2 ���,��
 �2��)�
  �

	�����
 2�, 	�
 �'
 ���������
 ���
 0,1
 	2�
 �������� �)
  �'���	���	���
  �
 ���,��


Page 156



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
��
 ��������
�
����
����












�


������	��
 	�
 ���������	�
 	2�
 ��	 � ��	��
 ���,��
 �'
 ��#
 	��'' �
 �������	�

 ��� ��
,�
	2�
������
(���
	��)�	��
�2�
�� �
��������
�=�������
��
'��
���
 �

������	
�'



•
 � �������
���% �)
 �����


•
 �= �	 �)
��2 �����
 	��'' �
 '��#
����)
"���%�����
!�����
���
�	
 C���	 ���

# 	2
 $ ���
 /���
 ���
 ����� �)	��
 /���
 0#2 �2
 �������
  �
 ���)���
 �	

�	����	 ��
�	
���2
2���1


•
 E����<��	�
 �= �	 �)
  �'���	���	���
 	�
 �����
 	2�
 2�����'��
  ��������

�������	�
,�
, ������
,��
���
��
'��	�





�2�
��	 	 �����
�,C��	
	�
	2�
�,�����
�'
�
'���
8�� ������	
 ����	
!��������	

) ���
	2�
�����
�'
	2�
����������	
���
	2�
)��)���2 ���
����	 ��
�'
	2�
� 	��




��
 (�'
 �!��3
 �!���
 ���
 �!��-��
 �!��
 ��'�&
 ��
 1�&�
 ��
 �4����1�
 (�'�

��������5


6��
+
��



#�
6��/
������
�7������




. 	 )�	 ��
��������
'��
	2�
����� 	 ��
���
����	���	 ��
�2���
����
	�
 ������

�	
����	


•
 ���
�'
(��%
&
/ ��
���
��� ��	��
���	���	��
,����


•
  ����	 ��
 ��2���
 	�
 �������)�
 ���
 �'
 ,����
 ���
 3� ���
 "��#��
 '��

���	���	��
�	�''�




. 	 )�	 ��
��������
���	
������	 ��
����
	�
 ������
�	
����	


•
 ���% �)
 ���	����
 	�
 �=	���
 	�
 ���
 �������� �)
 ��� ���	 ��
 �	���	�

0���	 ������
��
 ����
 �
!����� �1
# 	2
�
������
�����	�
���
��'�������	

��2���
 �
�����


•
 ��� ���
  ����������	�
  �
 ���� �)
 ���� � ��
 ����)
 "���%�����
 !�����

0���	 ������
 ��
 	2�
 ���	2
 � ��1
 ���
 ���	 ������
 �	
 	2�
 C���	 ���
 # 	2

*2�'	��,�	�
/���
���
$ ���
/���


•
 ��� ���
 ���������	�
	�
,��
�	���
��
"���%�����
!�����


•
 ���2
,�		��
���
�'
3� ���
"��#��
� F�
����	���	 ��
�'
�
��� ��	��
�	��

'��
	2�
��#
,� �� �)�
� )2	 �)
���� � ��
'��
	2�
���� ��	��
�����
��	2


•
 ���
�'
(��%
&
/ ��
���
��� ��	��
�	�''
,����


•
 '��	,� )��
'���
�� '	��
-��
5�(
���
���%�



����
�(
�����������


��
 (�	 	 ��
 ���� ���
  �
 �,C��	 ��
 2 )2� )2	�
 	�������	
  �����
 ���

����	���	 ��
 ����	
#2 �2
# ��
,�
���������
 �
	2 �
������	�	 ���



Page 157



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
��
 ��������
�
����
����












�


��
 8=�������
)��	 	���
	�
 	2�
��	 	 �����
#2�
  �
�� �� ���
#�������
	2�

��������
����������	
���
�����	
	2�
��������
���
�'
	2�
� 	�
,�
	2�

���� ���	�
���,� �)�
!��������	�



��
 /���)� ��
 	2�	
 	2���
 # ��
 ,�
 ���)
 	���
 ������ ��	 ��
 ,�	#���
 	2�

���� ���	
���
	2�
�������� �)
�� )2,�����



��
 �2�
 ���� ��	 ��
  �
 '��
 ��	� ��
 ����� �)
 ���� ��	 ��
 # 	2
 ��		���

��������
'��
���������



;�
 �2�
 ��������
 ����������	
  �
 '��
 �
 ��#
 �'' ��
 2���<���	���
 '��

���,� �)�
 !��������	�
 #2 �2
 ������	��
 �����	��
 '���
 	#����

����	 ���
������
	2�
� 	��
#2 �2
 �
 ��'' � ��	
���
���	� ��,���



@�
 �2�
�������
 �
�=��� ��� �)
��� �
)��#	2
���
��<� ���
�
���	��� ���

����	 ��
 '��
 ������ �
 ���
 ��� ��
 ��������
 �2 �
 #����
 ������
 ,�		��

#��% �)
����	 ���2 ��
,�	#���
�����	���	��



:�
 ���,� �)�
7� ���� 	�
(����
# ��
���� �
��
	2�
� 	��


9�
 �2�
� 	�
 �
�''
*2�'	��,���
!�����
#2 �2
����
����)� ��
	�
	2�
-��	�


�����
 	�
 	2�
 3� ���
 "��
 ���
 	2�
 /� �#��
 *	�	 ��
 	�
 	2�
 8��	�

"���%�����
!�����
���� �)
8��	
�
-��	
���
!����� �
����������	
	�

	2�
5��	2�



6�
 �2�
� 	�
#����
���� �	
�'
�
���	2
,���%
���
���	2
,���%
#2 �2
#����

����
 �
2� )2	
'���
	2���
	�
' ��
�	�� ��G
����
�
��������
� �)��
	�#���

	2�
 2� )2	
�'
 #2 �2
 #����
 ,�
 �)����
��
 �
 ��������
 ��		��
 �	
 �
 ��	��

�	�)��



���
�2�
 )�����
 '����
 �'
 	2�
 ��������
 ����������	
 �����
 2����
 �96

��2 ����
 ���
 ���% �)
 '��
 ����
 �������
 �@
 ��	��
 �������
 # 	2
 ��

�����	�� 	�
	�
 �������
��
��������
	2 �
���,���




���
�2�
���% �)
�����
#����
,�
2 ����
�����
����������
��� ��


���
�2���
 �2����
 ,�
 ��
  ����
 # 	2
 ���� �)
 ��
 	2�
 ��� )�
 �'
 	2�


����������	�


���
�2�
����	 ��
�'
	2�
����������	
 �
%��
	�
)�		 �)
	2�
	�������	
����	 ��


� )2	�
 
 �2 �
 ����	 ��
 ����#�
 	2�
 ,�� ����
 	�
 ,�
  �
 �
 ��� 	 ��
 #2���
  	

���
,�
���� ���
,�
�	2��
	�������	
������
�2�
��C�� 	�
�'
���,� �)�

���
����
,�
�������
,�
�����
 �
�
�������,��
	 ��
'���
	2�
� 	��



���
+���
	2�
 ����	 ��
  �
������	
 	2�
 '����
  �
 	2��
��
	2�
����������	
�'

	2�
	�������	
�	��	�)��



�;�
E	
  �
����)� ���
	2���
  �
��
  ����
# 	2
���)��	 ��
  �
 	2�
����
,�	
 	2�

	�������	
�	��	�)�
2��
,���
���������
	�
� � 	
	��'' �
	�
	2�
� 	�
	�
	2�

������	
 �������
 � � � ��
 	��'' �
 )�����	 ��
 ���
 	2�
  ����	
 ��
 	2�

�������� �)
	��'' �
 �'���	���	���


�@�
!�
	2�
,�� ����
)��#�
���
	2�
���,��
�'
������
 ��������
0'���
	2�

������	
 �@��
 ���������
 	�
 ����
 ���������
 ,�
 	2�
 ����
 ���9
 ���

����
 ���������
 ,�
 ���;1
 ��)�������
  '
 	2��
 ����
 	�
 	2�
 ��������


Page 158



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
�;
 ��������
�
����
����












;


����	 ���
 ������
 ����
 	�
 ,�
 �������)��
 	�
 ���
 �	2��
 �����
 �'

	�������	
��	2��
	2��
	2�
���
	2���)2
	2�
������
(���
�����	 ���


�:�
��
�������
	2�
��������	
!��������	�
�
��������	
*	��	�)�
#��
' ��	

�����	�%��
	�
���%
�	
2�#
���,� �)�
!��������	
�	�''
	�����
	�
#��%�

#2���
	2��
	�����
'���
���
2�#
	2��
�=���	
	�
	�����
	�
	2�
��#
� 	�
	�

�������
����
�2 '	�





�9�
����	�
����� �
$ )2#���
+'' ����
#���
��%��
	�
�=�����
	2� �
� �#�

���
	2�
��,� �
	2���)2
	2�
��,� �
������	�	 ��
��������


�6�
���,� �)�
���� �)
����� )��
5�	#��%
/� �
���
	2�
����	�D�
������

	�
-��%
(��	����2 �
����
���� ���
'���,��%�


���
�2�
 ��������	
 *	��	�)�
 2��
 ,���
 ����� ,��
 ��
 ��, 	 ���
 ,�	

��2 ���,���
'��#���
���% �)�
���� �	��	
# 	2
��� ���



���
 4��% �)
 �	
 	2�
 2���
 ����	 ��
 �'
 ��	��	 ��
 ���� �	�
 ���
 	2� �
 ������	

���� �)
 ���	�
 	�
 	2�
 �= �	 �)
 � 	�
  	
 ���
 ���� �	
 #2�	
 ���	��
 � )2	
 ,�

����
� �
$ ���
/����
"���%�����
!�����
���
	2�
3� ���
"��
'���
	2�

5��	2
���
*��	2
	�
	2�
��������
� 	��


•
 
E	
  �
 ��	 ��	��
 	2�	
 6�?
 '���
 	2�
 )� ���
 ,��
 ���	�
 ���
 ��?
 '���

*2�'	��,���
/����



•
 �2�
 	��)�	
 # ��
 ,�
 :?
 �'
 ���
 �����
 ��� � �)
 	�
 � 	��
 	2 �
 # ��
  ������

	2���
��� � �)
,�
(��%
���
/ ��
���
	2�
3� ���
"���



���
�2�
���� ���	
 �
������ �)
�
���	� ,�	 ��
	�
�
� �%
'���
	�
$ ���
/����

/� �#��
"� �)�
���
	�
	2�
3� ���
"��
-���


���
�2�
 ��������	
 !��������	
 #����
 ,�
 ���	 ������
 ��� 	����
 ���

������	��
 ��������
 ,�	2
 ,�
 ���,� �)�
 !��������	
 ���
 	2�
 ����	�

����� ��



���
(��������
	�
� 	 )�	�
	2�
	��'' ��


•
 5�
 ��� 	 ����
 ���% �)
 ��
 � 	�
 0# ��
 ��%�
 �
 ���	� ,�	 ��
 	�
 �
 ��� ���	

��2���
 	�
 � 	 )�	�
 ���
  �������
  �
 �''
 �	���	
 ���% �)
  '
 	2 �
 ������

	2�	
	2�
���,���
 �
������
,�
���,� �)�
!��������	
�	�''


•
 �����
�''��
�
���	� ,�	 ��
	�
	��'' �
��)���	 ��
���% �)


•
 E������
,��
�	���
��
"���%�����
!�����
# 	2
 �������
����
	 ���


•
 E������
'��	#���
��
"���%�����
!�����


•
 ����	�
����� �
# ��
,�
  ����� �)
	2�
3� ���
"��
 � )2	 �)
��2���
 �

����


•
 ���,� �)��2 ��
 ����	�
 ����� �
 # ��
 ��	
 ���� 	
 �
 )� ���
 ,��
 �	��

��	� ��
	2�
� 	�
��
	2 �
 �
��	
���� ,���
$�#����
	2�
������	
�	��
 �
�

' ��
� ��	�
#��%
��
 �
	2�
(��%
&
/ ��
�	���



•
 ���
�2�� �)
��2�����



•
 +''��
�
�������� ���
	�����
�����
'��
 �� � �����



•
 ���� �)
'�� � 	 ��
# ��
,�
���� ����



•
 8=�����
� �����	��
,��
	 �%�	��



Page 159



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
�@
 ��������
�
����
����












@


•
 8=�����
�
���� ,��
�2�		��
,��
���� ��
'���
5�#���%�	
/���
(��%
&

/ ��
� 	�
��
	2 �
����
��	
����
#���
 �	�
	2�
��������
����	 ���



�;�
!#���
 �'
 	2�
����	���	 ��
  ����	
���
 2���
 ���������
 	2���
  �����
  �

	2�
 8�� ������	��
 ����	���	 ��
 (����
 ���	���	���
 #����
 ,�
 ��%��
 	�

��	
'��#���
#���
	�
� � � ��
	2�
����	���	 ��
 ����	
���
2�#
	2��
���

,�
��2����
	��





����
�(
������������


�@�
��
��	
�,C��	
	�
	2�
�� �� ���
�'
	2�
����������	
,�	
 �
���������
	2�	

	2�
 ��������
 '� �
 	�
 �������
 	�
 	2�
  ����	�
 �'
 	2�
 ����������	
 ��
 	2�

�������� �)
 �����
 �2�
 ��������
 �2����
 ,�
 ��C��	��
 ������
 ��C��

 ���������	�
���
,�
�����



�:�
������ ��	 ��
 '���
 ���,� �)�
 !��������	
 2��
 ,���
 )���
 ,�	
 2��

��	
�����	��
���
'�����



�9�
/���
� ���)��
 �
��<� ���
��
���
� ���
� 	�
����� �
0(���� �)
!�	2�� 	�1�

����	�
 ����� ��
 0$ )2#���1
 ���
 ���,� �)�
 7� ���� 	�
 0�#���
 �'

���,� �)�
!��������	1�



�6�
�2�
  ����	��
 ���
 ����������
 ����
 	�
 ,�
 ��������
 	2��)2	
 	2���)2

,�'���
#��%
�	��	��
���
��	
�����
��������
��		����




���
�2�
  ����	
 �'
 	2�
 ����������	
 #����
 ,�
 '��	
 ' ��	
  �
 	2�

����� 	 �������	���	 ��
 �2���
 0�'
 #2 �2
 	2���
  �
 ��
 '�����
 ������
 (���

'��
	2 �
�2���1�
"�	
	2�
�� �
��������
���
�'	��
������	 ��
# 	2
 ����	

'���
��	��
	��'' ��
���)��	 ���
�� ���
� �
�����	 ���
	2�
��'�	�
�'
���� �	�

���
�����	� ����
��������
��
���% �)�
���
����
�'
���� 	��



���
�2�
���C��	
 �
��,��������
!��
	2�
,���' 	
)���
	�
	2�
���� ���	�
!��
	2�

� �%
 ����� �	��
 # 	2
  	�
 �������
  ����	�
 '����
 ��
 	2�
 �� )2,��� �)

������ 	�
���
��
	2�
� 	�
����
)���������



���
- 	2��	
 �
 )�����	��
 	2�	
 	2�
  ����	�
 # ��
 ,�
 � 	 )�	���
 	2�
 � 	�
  �
 ��	

�� 	�,��
'��
	2�
����������	
���������



���
!
 #����	2��)2
 ��	
 ���%�)�
 �'
 � 	 )�	 ��
 �����
 	�
 ,�
 ���������
 ���

 �������	��
'��
,�����
���� �	�
���
�����	� ����

�2�
� 	�
���
����	�

����� ��
2���
 	�
 ����
 	2 �
 �
 � ��
 # 	2
 	2�
 ��� � ��
 ��	
 ��	
  �
 	2�
 4����

(���
���
	2� �
�#�
8�� ������	��
���
��������	
��� � ���


���
�2�
����	�
����� ����
'��
����� �)	���
"��,���
!�2#����
�)����
	2�	

	2�
 	��'' �
  ����	
 �����
 ,�
 ��� ����
 �2�
 ���� ���	H�
 �=���	�	 ��
 	2�	

���������
# ��
����
'���
���
���
 �
��	 � �	 �
���
,�� ����
	2�
����	�

����� �
�2����
,�
 �������
# 	2
	2�
� 	�
����� �
 �
' �� �)
#���
	�
'����

�''��	
	2�
 ����	��





�2�
����	�
����� �
��������	
!��������	
����
2��
�� ���
���,	
��





	2�
���� ���	D�
��	�
���
	2�
������	 ���
�=��������
�2��
2���
�� ���
�


Page 160



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
�:
 ��������
�
����
����












:



���,��
 �'
 �� �	�
 ������� �)
 	2�
 ���� ��	 ���
 �2�
 	��)�	
 '��
 ���
 ���

�����	 ��
  �
����� ,��
��
I����
��, 	 ���GJ
���
�� �����
'���
�
����,�

��2���
��))��	�
	2�	
 	
 �
��� %���
	�
,�
'��' ����


�;�
�2 �
 �
��	
� %���
	�
,�
	2�
���	
����������	
��������
 �
	2 �
�����


�@�
�2�
 ��������
 ����������	
  �
  �
 �
 �� )2,���2���
 '�� �)
 ��� �
 )��#	2�


���
 ��<� ���
 �
 ��� ���
 ���������	
 ���
 ���	2 �% �)
 �'
 	2�
 �����

 �'���	���	����



�:�
5�
8�� ������	��
E����	
!��������	
08E!1
2��
,���
���� ��
��	�

�9�
�2�
 8E!
 *����� �)
 +� � ��
 ����� ,��
 	2�
 ���C��	
 ��
 �
 I	�� ���


������������	
 ���C��	�J
 �2 �
  �
 ��	
 I	�� ���J
  '
 ����
 ��
 	2�
 ,�� �
 �'
  	�

� F��



�6�
�2�
��������
����
 ��� ��
�
��C��
�2��)�
�'
�����
 �
	2�

 ���,���
 �'


������
#��% �)
��
	2�
� 	��
 �
	2�
���,��
�'
� � 	����
���
 �
	2�
��	���
�'


	2�
,�� ����
,� �)
���� ��
��	
	2����



���
!��
 �������
 �
	��'' �
�� � �)
'���
	2�
� 	�
# ��
��%�
	2�
������	
� 	��	 ��

�������	�,��
 #�����
 ������
 ' ��
 ��	 ��
  �
 	�%���
 �2�
 	��'' �
 � 	��	 ��
  �

	2�
����
2��
�������
����2��
�
	 �� �)
�� �	�


���
!
���2
����
��, 	 ���
� 	 )�	 ��
���%�)�
 �
��<� ����
�2 �
#����
 �
	2�

���)
 ���
 ,�
 ���	��''��	 ���
 	�% �)
 ������	
 �'
 	2�
 2�)�
 ��	��	 ��
 ���	
 	�

	2�
 ������ 	��
 	�
 	2�
 ��� ������	�
 ���
 	�
 	2�
 ,�� ����
  	���'
 �'
 ��	

'�� �)
��
	�
	2���
 �����
��#�



���
*��	 ���
9��
K
9�;
���,� �)�
4����
(���
���@
��%�
�����
���� 	���	�

�,��	
 	2�
 �������2
 	�
 	2�
 	�������	
  ����	�
 �'
 ����������	
 ���
 	2 �

���� ��	 ��
2��
��	
����
	2�	�



���

�2���
 �
��
'�����
������
(���
'��
	2�
����� 	 ��
&
����	���	 ��
�2���
	�

� � � ��
 ����	�
�2���
 ����	�
���
#���
%��#�
��
!����� �
# 	2
��''���

�� �����
���% �)
,�
��,����	���	���
#��% �)
��
����,�
,� �� �)
� 	��


���
�2�
���� ���	
2��
��,� 		��
�
������
(���
'��
	2�
���	
���������
��� ��G

	2 �
 # ��
 ��	
 �''��	 ����
 	��%��
 � � 	��
 ���,���
 	�
 	2�
 � 	��
 E	
 ����
 ��	�

	��)�	�
 '��
 �����	 ��
  �
 ���
 ���)�
 ,�
  	�
 ����������
 �2�
 ��2���
 ��

������	��
 ��<� ���
 	2 �
 ������	 ��
 	�
 ������
 	�
 �,��	
 :?
 �'
 	2�
 ����

2�������	�
�2 �
��<� ���
����
@��
����
	�
,�
�������
'���
	2�
������	

	�����
�������	�
�'
 	�
����������



�;�
�2�
 � 	�
 # ��
 ���
 ����
 ������	��
 ����
 '��
 ���% �)�
 �2���
 ��2 ����
 #2 �2

���%
 ��
 � 	�
 # ��
 ,�
 �����
  ������ �)
 	2�
 ��������
 ��
 	2�
 �����

 �'���	���	����



�@�
��
,�
�''��	 ���
�
�2����
���)�����
�����
	�
 �������


•
 
 ��
�,� )�	 ���
��
���,� �)�
!��������	
�	�''
��	
	�
���
�� ��	�
�����



•
 !
��� ��	��
���%
���
� ��
��2���
���
�2�		��
,��
���� ��G




•
 .���
  ���������	�
  �
 �����
  �'���	���	���
 	2��
 ���
 ������	��
 ���������

*��2
 ���������	��
�2����
 ������



Page 161



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
�9
 ��������
�
����
����












9


•
 7�)��� �)
	2�
#2���
�'
"���%�����
!�����
0�����
	���%��
,��
�	���
���

�����	� ��
������1
	�
��%�
 	
��'��
���
����
�		���	 ��
	�
�������
������


•
 "�		��
���� � ��
�	
	2�
$ ���
/����"��
-��
C���	 ��
	2��
� ����
����# �)

���� �	�
	�
���2
	2� �
, %��
��
�
����
��
'� )2	
�'
�	���G




•
 "�		��
 ������
 	�
 	2�
 "��
 -��
 '���
 	2�
 � 	��
  ����� �)
 �
 ��� ��	��
 ,��

�	��G
���


•
 � ���	
#��% �)
������
'���
	2�
���	 ��	���
���
���%
��
�� '	��
-��


•
 8=�����	 ��
�'
	2�
�����
	�
 �	������
�
��#
������
���	�
'��
��	��
	��'' �

	�
	2�
� 	�
'���
4��)
/����
�2 �
����
��	
 �������
	2�
������
�'
	��'' �

��������
��
���)
��
 	
 �
����
 �
�
���	������
#���



�:�
!��
�'
	2�
�,���
����
	�
,�
����)
	2�
' ��	
������	�
�'
	2�
����������	�





����
��������
��11�����


�9�

�2�
 ���� ��	 ��
  �
 '��
 	2�
 ����� 	 ��
 �'
 8� �,��)2
 "� �� �)�



 #���2����
 ���
 ����� �	��
 ,� �� �)�
 ���
 ����	 ��
 �'
 �'' ��


 ����������	
 �'
 ��
 	�
 ���:;�
 �<�
 ��
 )����
 �=	�����
 ����
 # 	2


 ����������	
)��������
,� �)
�'
,�	#���
�
���
;
�	�����

0# 	2
 � � 	��


 �����
 �'
 ��������
 ���'	��
 ����	1�
 �
 � �)��
 	�#��
 ������	
 # 	2
 	#�


 '��	2��
�	�����
�'
���������	 ���
��
	�

�96
 ���
 ���% �)
 ������
 0>��


 ��?1�
 ��
 	�
 ���;
 �����
 ���% �)
 ������
 0>��
 ��?1�
 ��
 	�
 �@
 ��	�������


 �������
2���
���
��'	

 �������� �)
 ���
 ��� �����
 '�� � 	 ��
  ����� �)
 �	�''


 ���	�����

 ���	 �)
������
��'���
�����������
����	
������
��� ��
,���%�

 ��	
 ������
 �	��
 �2�
 ���� ��	 ��
  �
 ��	� ���
 # 	2
 ��		���
 ���������
 '���


 ������	��
�����
#2 �2
���
��,� 		��
#2 �2
����



•
 �2�
���� ��	 ��
� 	�
�����
# 	2
�= �	 �)
������


•
 "� ��
'���
# 	2
��������
������


•
 * 	�
������
����



•
 4��������
������	��
�����

�6�
�2���
 2��
 ,���
 �=	��� ��
 �������� ��	 ��
 � ����� ��
  ����� �)
 	2�



 ���� ����	 ��
�'
������ �)
�� � ��
�����
8E!

 ��)���	 ���
���
���������


 ��
8�� ������	��
*	�	����	
 �
��	
��<� ����


;��
�2 ��
(��	�
/�������	�	 ���
���
��
'����#��


;��
$��
,���
���� ���
'���
������
'��	�
��� ���	�
������
	2�
� 	�

;��
�2 �	�
 ������
 2���
 � )���
 	2�
 ��	 	 ��
 	�
 ��<���	
 	2�
 ����������	



 ���	���
 
����
 ���
 	2�
 ��������
 ��	� ���
  �
 	2�
 	�=	
 �'
 	2�
 ��	 	 ���


  ����� �)
�����
�'
	2�
����������	
���

 ���%
 �'
 8�� ������	��
 
 E����	


 !��������	


;��
������	�	 ��
��������
 �
��
'����#��


•
 ���,� �)��2 ��
����	�
����� ��

��	2��
 �'����	 ��
���
���� ' ��	 ��
2��

,���
���)2	
���
������	��
�,C��	
	�
	2�
���� ��	 ��
��	 �
 �'����	 ��
2��

,���
���� ���


Page 162



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
�6
 ��������
�
����
����












6


•
 ����	�
3� ���
"��
-��
�����
/��������
���� 	 ���



•
 $���
�'
/�'���
&
8�� ������	�
/��������
���� 	 ���


•
 (���� �)
(�� ��
�����
*�����	
	2�
���� ��	 ���
 �
����� ����
# 	2
��� ��

��
 '�	���
 ������	 ��
 ���
 ����
 �'
 �	���)�
 �����
 ���
 	2�
 )������

�������2
	�
���	� ��,��
����������	
���
����	���	 ��


•
 7�,��
��� )�
&
������	�	 ��
����
���
4������� �)
�����
*�����	
	2�

��2���
  �
 ��� )�
 	���
 ,�	
 '��	2��
 #��%
  �
 ������
 	�
 	2�
 �%�� ��

���������	
���
2� )2	
�'
��������
	�#��
���
����������
���� 	 ����


•
 �2�
���� �)
&
-��% �)
+'' ����
!�����
	�
	2�
� 	�
�2����
,�
��� ��,��
	�

���
���
��	
C��	
	2���
	�
�� �)
	2�
� 	��



•
 8�� ������	
!)�����
/��������
���� 	 ���


•
 !�)� �
-�	���
/��������
���� 	 ���



•
 ��� )�
���
������	�	 ��
(�����
*�����	
	2�
��2���


•
 8�)� �2
$�� 	�)��
�2�
����������	
#����
��	
2���
	2�
��������	 ��
,�	

�=�������
�������
�	
	2�
2� )2	
�'
	2�
	�#���




8'�������
��&
��11����
��
�!�
����������

;��
�2�
������	
���% �)
��
� 	�
 �
��	
����
	�
 	�
'���
����� 	��

;;�
-2�
 �
�
)� ���
,��
�	��
��	
���� 		��
��	� ��
	2�
� 	�L


;@�
�����
	2�
����
������
!����� �
,�
����
�
��
���% �)
F���L

;:�
-2�	
 �
	2�
���,��
�'
�= �	 �)
���% �)
������
��
� 	�
���
�����
	2 �
,�



 �=	�����L


;9�
���
���
������	��	�
	2�	
���
���
��	
)� �)
	�
��%�
	2�

 ���% �)
  �
 	2�



 �������� �)
�����
#����
	2��
 	
 �
��
	2�
 �'���	���	���
 �
����
,���% �)

�� �	L



;6�
�2�
����� �	 ��
�'
	�����
�����
��
I��, 	 ���
,�	
��2 ���,��J
,�	
#2�	
 �


 	2�
�� �����
'��
	2 �L



@��
�����
 	2�
 ��	��	 ��
 �2�		��
 ,��
 '���
 5�#���%�	
 /���
 (��%
 &
 / ��
 ,�


 �=	�����L



@��
�����
	2�
(��%
���
/ ���
� 	��
,�
�=	�����L


@��
*�))��	
 �����
 �� )2,���2����
 ���
 ��''��G
 ���
 	2���
 ���� ,��
 ��2����



 #2 �2
�����
� � 	
	2�
�����	
�'
	��'' �
 �	�
	2�
� 	�L

@��
��
	2�
!����� �
��� ���	�
#��	
��� ���	
���% �)L


@��
-2�	
�������
�= �	�
	�
���
 '
	2���
��2����
���
,�
	��	��L




��������
��
8'��������


@;�
!)����
 	2�	
 	2�
 ���% �)
 ��
 � 	�
  �
 ��	
 '����
 �	 � ���
 ,�	
 	2���
 ���


���� 	 ���
 �
	2�
������
(���
	�
������
	2�	
	2�	
	2 �
2������
���
���% �)

# ��
,�
���	�������


@@�
E�
 �
 # ���
 ���	�=	
 	2���
  �
 �
 ���)
 	���
 ����
 '��
 	��'' �
  �'���	���	���
  �

���,� �)��
 �2�
 ����	�
 ����� �
 ���
 *��	2
 ���,� �)��2 ��
 � �	� �	

����� �
���
#��% �)
	�)�	2��
��
2�#
,��	
	�
���������	�
'��	2��
	��'' �


Page 163



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
���
 ��������
�
����
����












��


)��#	2�
 �2�
 � 	�
 ����
 #����
 ,� �)
 ��
 	�
 M;����������
 '���
 ���	���

3��������	
 '��
 	�������	
  �'���	���	���
 #2 �2
 #����
 ����#
 ����

� 	 )�	 ��
��	
C��	
 �
	2�
����
,� �)
� �������
,�	
� 	�
# ���



@:�
�2�
����	�
����� �
(�� ��
 �
��	
	�
�������)�
	��'' �
)��#	2�
���� � �)
�

2 )2��
�����
�'
���% �)
��
� 	�
#����
�=����,�	�
)��#	2�
�2�
%��
 �
2�#

	�
����)�
	2�
�''� 	�
 ����	��



@9�
.��%
 -�,,�
 ����������	
 .���)��
 �	
 ������
 '��
 -��%
 (��	����2 ��

���,� �)��2 ��
 ����	�
 ����� ��
 ����� ,��
 	2�
 	�����
 �����
 ��

I��, 	 ���
,�	
��2 ���,��J�


@6�
�2�
 ����
 ��
 #2 �2
 	2�
 ��������
 ,��
 �	��
 #����
 � 	
  �
 ��
 �
 ��C��

� )� ' ���	
 ���	�
 #2 �2
 �����
  ����	
 	2�
 	��'' �
 ��
 	2�	
 ���	�
 # 	2

��� 	 ����
 �	����
 $�#����
 #����
 ,�
 2����
 	�
 	�%�
 	2 �
 ,��%
 	�
 	2�

�������	
����	�
+'' ����
	�
� �����
	2�
��		��
'��	2���


:��
E	
  �
��	
# 	2 �
	2�
���� ���	D�
) '	
	�
�=����
	2�
(��%
���
/ ��
*��� ���

�2 �
���� ��
 �
��������
,�
����	�
����� �
#2�
��	��� ��
 '
	2�
������

 �
 ���	 �)
 �
 �������
 !
 ���	� ,�	 ��
 �����
 ,�
 ����
 ���	2���
 ���� ���

����
 ����
 #2 �2
 �����
 )�
 	�#����
 '��� �)
 	2�
 ���C��	
 �2����
 ����	�

����� �
��� ��
	2�	
'��� �)
�2����
,�
������	��
	2����



:��
E���������	�
 	�
 	2�
  �'���	���	���
 ���
 ������
 '���
 ���
 ���%�
 #����

�������)�
���
	�����
 �	�
	2�
����
���
 	
#����
,�
��#�
	�
	2�
����	�

����� �
	�
��	��� ��
#2���
���
 '
#��%
�2����
,�
�����	�%���




:��
+���#2��� �)
������	
'���
!����� �
��� ���	�
	�
���	��	
	2�
������
	2�

����������	
 # 	2
 ���	������
 ���% �)
 ���
 ��� ���	
 ���% �)
 ��
 	2�

!����� �
� 	��


:��

!
 	�	��
 �'
 ���
 ���% �)
 ������
 ���
 ��
 � 	�
 	2�	
 #����
 ,�
 ������������

�2�
 ���� ���	
  �
 ������ �)
 �96
 ���% �)
 ������
 ����
 ��
 � ���
 ��?�

�2���
 ���
 ���
 ������
 ��
 	2�
 # ���
 � 	�
 #2 �2
 ,����)
 	�
 ���,� �)�

7� ���� 	�
(�����





0'11��-
'�
�(
�!�
����������

:��
-�������
 	2�
 �����	�� 	�
 	2�	
 	2�
 ����������	
 ���	���
 
����
 �''����


,�	
��%��#���)��
��)� �)
� ���)��
#��
�	
	2�
2���	
�'
	2�
���������


:;�
�2�
 ����	 ��
 2���
 ��	�
 �'
 ��� 	 ���
 ���
  �
 ���	� ��,��
 ,�	
 	2���
 #���


� '' ���	 ��
#2 �2
	2�
���� ���	
#����
���
2���
����������


:@�
�2�
 � 	�
  �
 ���	���
 )���
 ������
 '���
 	2�
 )� ���
 ,��
 #���
 ��������
 	�
 �


�����
��	2
�����
	�
	2�
/� �#��
*	�	 ���
	2�
3� ���
"��
���
	�
	2�
�"�

����������	�



::�
�2�
 ������
 (���
 ��	� ���
  �
 ��, 	 ���
 ,�	
 	2�
 ���� ���	
 ,�� ����
 	2�

	�������	
����
 �
��2 ���,���


:9�
�2�
 ���� ���	
 ����)� ���
 	2�	
 	2���
 ���
 ���	�
 �'
 	2�
 � 	�
 #2 �2

�=��� �����
 ���)��	 ��
 ���	 �������
 �	
 ���%
 	 ���
 ���
  �
 #��% �)


Page 164



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
���
 ��������
�
����
����












��


	�#����
 	�
 )�����	�
 ���
 ��� 	 ����
 	��'' �
 ����
 	2�
 ,���
 ��	�
 ' )���

) ����



:6�
�2�
���� ���	
,�� ����
	2�
	��'' �
����
# ��
� � 	
	2�
	��'' �
 ����	
	2�	
	2�

����������	
# ��
,� �)
	�
�� )2,��� �)
������



9��
/���� �)
 	2�
 � F�
 �'
 	2�
 ����������	
 ���
  ������ �)
 ���% �)
 ��
 � 	�

#����
��	
���	
	2�
���� ���	D�
)��#	2
��<� �����	�
���
#����
 �������

	��'' ��



9��
�2�
 ���� ���	
 2��
 	2�
 ,���' 	
 �'
 	 ��
 	�
 �����	�
 ���������
 	�
 �2��)�

	2�
#��
	2��
	�����
	�
#��%
���
�����	 ���



9��
5�#
 ���������
 # ��
 ,�
  ����	��
 '���
 	2�
 �	��	
 ��
 	2�
 ������
 (���
 ���

2�#
	2��
����
	�
	�����
	�
#��%�



9��
�2���
 # ��
 ,�
 ���@
 �����
 ������	��
 	�
  ������
 ������� �	�
 	��'' �

 �'���	���	����
 
 "�	
 	2 �
 ���	
 ,�
 ����
 ������	 ������
 ,�
 ���% �)
 �	
 	2�

���� ���	D�
 ����	
��
	2�
����
���
2�#
	�
� 	 )�	�
	2�	
 ����	�




9��
�2�
 ���� ���	
 �����	
 ,�
 ������� ,��
 	�
 ' ��
 �
 ������	 ��
 	�
 	2�
 	��'' �

 �����
���
 �'���	���	���
�������
�=��� �����
 �
	2�
�����



9;�
�2�
��������	
!��������	
#����
,�
��� 	����
���
������	��
��������

,�	2
 ,�
 ���,� �)�
 !��������	
 ���
 	2�
 ����	�
 ����� �
 ���
 ���	 ���

	�
#��%
# 	2
	2�
�����
������ 	��





0'11��-
'�
�!�
������������




9@�
�2�
���C��	
 �
��
�=� 	 �)
���
# 	2
����
�����	�)��G
,�	
 	
# ��
,� �)
����


� ������	�)��
	�
	2�
�� )2,���2���
��
������	��
����� ����

9:�
E	
 �����
 ��	��	 ����
 2���
 ����
 ������
  ����	�
 ��
 ��
 �������
 �	������


 �'���	���	���
���
# ��
,� �)
��� 	 ����
	��'' �
	�
	2�
�����


99�
!�%��#���)��
	2�	
	2�
(���� �)
���� 		��
2��
� � 	��
��#���
,�	
C� �	


���� 	���	
 ,�
 	2�
 � 	�
 ���
 ����	�
 ����� ���
 	2�
 ����������
 ���

���,� �)�
7� ���� 	�
 �
��<� ���
	�
������
	2�	
	2�
����������	
���	�

	2�
�����
�'
	2�
# ���
������ 	�
 �
� ��
# 	2
��� � ���



96�
8������)�
	2�
!��� ���	
���
+'' ����
	�
� �	��
	�
	2�
������	�
����
,�

����	�
����� �D�
��������	
!��������	
����
	2�	
	2�
	��)�	
�'
:?
�'
�

 �
����
��, 	 ���
���
���%
�	
� � ���
��2����
����
	�
	2�
� 	�
2�#
	2��

#��%
 �
����	 ���


6��
N � 	��
	�������	
	�
	2�
� 	�
2��
��	
,���
���� �����
���
 	
2��
��	
,���

������	��	��
	2�	
��
��� 	 ����
���
	� ��
# ��
,�
)�����	���



6��
�2�
 �����
�� ���
���
����
	2�	
���
'����
��
�
�� ��
,�� �
,�
��� ���	��

�2�
 ����� 	�
 �'
 ����	���	 ��
 	��'' �
 ��
 �� )2,��� �)
 ����������	�
  �

�������
�
��'�	�
2�F���
'��
��� ���	�
���
	2�
����)����
���� ����



6��
�2�
 �����
�� ���
����
	�
,�
���������
������
��	2��
	2��
��	���



Page 165



����������	
���	���

����
 ��
���
 ��������
�
����
����












��


6��
�2�
 ����������	
  �
 '��
 ����
 ������
 ��
 �
 ����
 ���%��
 � ��
 ��� � �)
 ,�

��� ���
�����
�'
	�������	
���
 	
 �
�,��	
�� �	� � �)
	2�
�2����	��
�'
�

��� ���	 ��
�	���	
��	2��
	2��
�
��C��
	2���)2
���	��






����
��11����
��
�!�
�!����


6��
�2�
 �2� �
 ���' ����
 	2�	
 	2�
 ��	��
 �'
 	2�
 ����������	
 ���	���
 
����


#����
 ,�
 ����
 ��� ��,��
 	�
 �������	
 ���	 ��
 ���
 #����
 ,�
 �����	��
 	�

	2�
(���� �)
���� 		��
#2��
	2�
���� ��	 ��
���
�����	��
	�
	2���





6;�
�2�
�2� �
	2��
�������)��
��)� �)
� ���)��
,�	#���
	2�
���� ���	
���


	2�
# ���
������ 	��





�2�
���	 �)
�����
�	
�����
��




�"�#�




Page 166



 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE                                     3rd September 2014 

 
Application 
Number 

14/0790/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 19th May 2014 Officer Mr Sav Patel 
Target Date 18th August 2014   
Ward West Chesterton   
Site Cambridge City Football Ground Milton Road 

Cambridge Cambridgeshire CB4 1FA  
Proposal Residential development of 106 units comprising a 

mix of townhouses and apartments including up to 
40% affordable housing, open space, hard and soft 
landscaping, car and cycle parking and associated 
infrastructure 

Applicant  
 

SUMMARY The proposal accords with the Development 
Plan for the following reasons: 

-The amount of on-site open space is 
increased from the previous proposal and is 
acceptable. 

-Proposed off-site enhancement and 
provision of recreational facilities is 
improved. 

-It is of a high quality design and layout. 

-Provision for affordable housing and 
mitigation measures are to be secured via a 
Planning Obligation 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
0.0 BACKGROUND 
 
0.1 This revised application follows the grant of planning permission 

12/1211/FUL in December 2013 for 138 dwellings.  
 

0.2 The application before Members is for 106 dwellings. The site 
layout has been reorganised to create a central green space 
and The key differences include:  

 

Agenda Item 4b

Page 167



� Reduction in dwellings from 138 to 106;  
� Increase in family housing from 13% townhouses in the 

consented scheme to 38% in the proposed scheme;  
� The layout and arrangement of the proposed development 

has been revised which sees an overall increase in green 
open space within the site;  

� No underground parking;  
 
0.3 The key issues are debated in assessment section 8 of the 

report.  
 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 

1.1 The site occupies land to the north-west of the Westbrook 
Centre, and south-east of Chesterton Community College. It is 
set away from main street frontages in an area bounded by 
Victoria Road, Milton Road, and Gilbert Road. The site is made 
up of a playing pitch, stands and ancillary buildings and 
facilities, used by Cambridge City Football Club, which lie on 
the west side of the site, and a large tarmac car parking area, 
which lies to the east. The site is reached via the Westbrook 
Centre access road, which turns off Milton Road a short 
distance beyond Mitcham’s Corner. 

1.2 The site is listed as No. 5.05 in the Proposals Schedule of the 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006), which is allocated for residential 
development subject to certain provisos. The site is within the 
area of the Mitcham’s Corner Strategic Development Brief 
(2003).  

 
1.3 The site is not within any conservation area. None of the 

buildings are listed or Buildings of Local Interest.  
 
1.4 There are no protected trees on the site. There is a TPO 

protecting a walnut tree in the rear garden of 45 Green’s Road 
which is close to the western boundary of the site. There are a 
large number of substantial trees just beyond the north-western 
edge of the site in the grounds of Chesterton Community 
College. These trees are not subject to TPOs.  

 
1.5 The site falls outside the controlled parking zone. 
 
 

Page 168



2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The proposal is for the erection of 106 residential units, of which 

42 would be affordable (40%). The flatted accommodation 
would consist of 55 apartments arranged in two blocks; E and I. 
These blocks would be 5 storeys with a recessed top floor. 
Below is a table showing the breakdown of the mix of private 
and affordable units:  

 

Tenure 1bed 2bed 2bed 
(house) 

3bed 
(house) 

4bed 
(house) 

5bed 
(house) 

Total 

Private 4 20 10 16 12 2 64 

Shared 
Ownership 

5 10 1 5 0 0 21 

Social 
Rented 
Mix 

0 16 2 3 0 0 21 

Total 9 46 13 24 12 2 106 

 
2.2 The access into the site has not changed from the consented 

scheme. However, the visual approach has changed with the 
revised layout of the housing development. From the access 
point, a spine road would run south-west through the 
development and provide five secondary streets running off this. 
The residential accommodation and open space would be 
arranged around this street pattern 

 
2.3 The apartment blocks would be located south of the spine road 

adjacent to Westbrook Centre. Block I would face towards the 
Central Square and be located adjacent (west) of the main 
access into the site. Block E would be located 14.5 metres 
south-west of Block I. Both blocks would contain cycle parking 
and bin storage for the apartments. Some external cycle 
parking stands are proposed adjacent to main entrances but the 
majority of cycle spaces would be located on in the undercroft.  
Block I would contain 50 cycle parking spaces in one area and 
Block E 56 spaces in two separate areas.  Communal bins 
would also be provided within the ground floor envelope of each 
block. Block I would also contain 20 undercroft car parking 
spaces (including 2 disabled spaces) and 5 spaces adjacent to 
the access road to the north-east of Block I. Block E does not 
contain any undercroft parking provision. Instead all the car 
parking is located in front and to the side of the block. 18 
spaces would be provided to serve Block E.  

Page 169



 
2.4 Both Blocks would be 5 storeys with car parking on the ground 

floor and a recessed section on the top level. Both blocks have 
been designed in a similar manner with flat roofs and semi-
recessed balconies. However, Block I is the bigger of the two 
blocks. Both blocks would be 15.2 metres in height above 
ground level. Block E is rectangular in shape but has a 
projection on the south-west elevation.  As a result this block 
would be 34.5 metres wide at its widest point, 32.4 at its 
narrowest and 18.8 metres in depth. Block I is a more regular 
rectangular shape and would be 42.8 metres wide and 17.2 
metres in depth.   
 

2.5 The main dwellings have been arranged around the edge of the 
site with a small cluster of houses located in the centre. The 
Central Square, which would be the main green space within 
the development, would be surrounded by houses (rows F, G, 
H) and Block I on all four sides. The dwellings range from two 
and three storey townhouses are arranged in seven separate 
linear rows (A, B, C, D, F, G and H). Rows A, C and F 
accommodate the affordable houses. The bin and cycle storage 
for each dwelling would be provided within an enclosure which 
projects along the common boundary. The bin and cycle 
enclosure would be 1.45 metre in height and contain a flat 
sedum laid roof.  
 

2.6 The dwellings in rows C, D, F, G and H would be three storeys 
high. Row B would contain dwellings that are two storeys high 
and in Row A there would be a combination of 2 and 3 storeys 
high dwellings. All the dwellings would have private gardens 
and, apart from the two storey dwellings, include large external 
terraces either at first or second floor level. The rows with first 
floor terraces are G and H. The rows with second floor terraces 
are A (three storey dwellings), C, D and F.  
 

2.7 One car parking space is provided for each dwelling house, 
apart from the dwellings in rows G and H, which also has 
integral garages.  
 

2.8 The main communal open space would be the ‘Central Square’ 
and a smaller pocket park which is located between rows B and 
C. Both spaces are to be landscaped with hard and soft 
landscaping. On-site open space provision exceeds that 
previously put forward.  

Page 170



 
2.9 The application is accompanied by the following supporting 

information: 
 

1. Application drawings 
2. Design and Access Statement 
3. Planning Statement  
4. Transport Assessment and Framework Travel Plan 
5. Ecological Assessment 
6. Ground Investigation Report 
7. Pre-Development Tree Survey and Arboricultural Method 

Statement  
8. Flood Risk Assessment (Drainage Strategy) 
9. Landscape Scheme (within Design and Access 

Statement) 
10. Sustainability Statement  
11. Shadow Assessment (within Design and Access 

Statement) 
12. Utilities  
13. Air Quality Screening Letter 
14. Noise Assessment 
15. Public Art Scheme 
16. Consultation Statement  
17. Affordable Housing Statement (within Design and Access 

Statement) 
18. Open Space Assessment (see Planning Statement) 
19. Tall Buildings Assessment (see Planning Statement) 
20. Site Waste Management Plan 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 
   
06/0438/FUL Residential development Withdrawn 
11/0008/FUL Proposed residential 

development of 148 dwellings 
incorporating affordable housing, 
open space and landscaping, car 
and cycle parking and access 
work. 

Refused 
10/04/2012 
Appeal 
withdrawn 

12/1211/FUL Proposed residential 
development of 138 dwellings 
incorporating affordable housing, 
open space and landscaping, car 

A/C 

Page 171



and cycle parking and access 
roads and demolition of existing 
buildings and structure 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes 
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes 
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes 
 Public Meeting/Exhibition    Yes 

(meeting of 23 April 2014):  
 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 Central Government Advice 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
Circular 11/95 – The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions 
(Annex A) 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge 
Local Plan 
2006 

3/1, 3/4, 3/6, 3/7, 3/8 3/11, 3/12  
4/2, 4/4, 4/13, 4/15  
5/1, 5/5, 5/9, 5/10, 5/14,  
6/1  
8/1, 8/2, 8/3, 8/4, 8/6, 8/10, 8/16, 8/18  
10/1 

  

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Documents 

Sustainable Design and Construction 

Waste Management Design Guide 

Affordable Housing 

Planning Obligation Strategy 

Page 172



Public Art 

Material 
Considerations 

Central Government: 

Letter from Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government (27 
May 2010) 

Written Ministerial Statement: Planning for 
Growth (23 March 2011) 
 

 City Wide 

Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential 
Developments (2010) 

Cambridge City Council) - Open Space and 
Recreation Strategy (2006) 
 
Cambridge City Council Open Space 
Standards Guidance for Interpretation and 
Implementation (2010)  
 
Cambridgeshire Design Guide For Streets 
and Public Realm (2007) 

 

 Area Guidelines: 

Northern Corridor Area Transport Plan 

Mitcham’s Corner Area Strategic Planning 
and Development Brief 

 
 
6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Engineering) 
 
6.1 The joint use of the Westbrook access road by commuters and 

residents would not be ideal. Lay-bys and service bays on the 
access road would need improvement in order to improve the 
pedestrian environment if they are to be adopted. Features of 
the development layout would prevent adoption of streets as it 
stands. 

 

Page 173



6.2 The junction layout at Milton Road is not ideal due to the 
proximity of the bus stop, but no significant accident history. Not 
possible to demonstrate significant adverse impact from the 
development. 

 
6.3 If Westbrook access road is to be adopted, it would require 

complete rebuilding. If the new roads within the development 
were to be adopted they would have to be subject to 
amendment.   
 

6.4 Our signals engineers will require a sum of money, as agreed 
under the previous scheme to cover work in recalibrating the 
Mitcham's Corner signals to accommodate changes in traffic 
patterns. 
 

6.5 The 'shared space' concept on the square is confusing and a 
hybrid scheme that may put pedestrians at risk. The southern 
face is not shared surface, but almost looks like one, whilst, on 
entering the other arms the scheme become a true shared 
surface yet has no visible delineation between the two to 
reinforce the change. Drivers may, therefore drive through into 
the shared space from what is, in effect, a traditional 
carriageway without altering their driving behaviour. 
 

6.6 The southernmost face of the square provides a route straight 
through the square for motor traffic, without significant 
horizontal deviation. The line of sight perception of motor 
vehicle drivers and cyclists may be one of priority over other 
modes. 
 

6.7 No dimensions are provided of road widths, parking bays, kerb 
radii, etc. These must be provided for comment and to assist in 
future-proofing of the internal highways for adoptability, should 
the opportunity present itself. 
 

6.8 The refuse vehicle tracking shows that a refuse vehicle cannot 
turn within the turning head without overrunning vertical 
obstructions and entering or over-swinging land outside the 
designated carriageway/footway. 

 
Cambridgeshire County Council (Transport) 
 

6.9 No objection. No NCATP contribution required. Contribution of 
£2000 towards Mitcham’s Corner traffic signals required. 

Page 174



Residential Travel Plan required with a target of 10% single 
occupancy vehicles and Travel information pack with free taster 
tickets. Car and cycle parking provision accords with the 
adopted standards 

 
Head of Refuse and Environment 

 
6.10 No objections subject to conditions required with respect to: 

contaminated land, noise assessment, noise insulation, 
construction hours, construction deliveries, construction noise 
and vibration, contractors’ operations, dust suppression, waste 
storage. 

 
Urban Design and Conservation team 

 
6.11 Subject to conditions on elevational treatment and materials, 

the submitted scheme is supported in design terms and has the 
potential to create a well designed and high quality 
development.   

 
Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Landscape Officer) 

 
6.12 No firm proposals for sustainable drainage which is integral to 

landscape design and on this basis the proposal is not 
supported. Concerns also raised with pedestrian links. If minded 
to approve the following conditions should be applied: full hard 
and soft landscaping details; softwork specification; groundwork 
specification; details of the play area/equipment; tree pit and 
planting details; sustainable drainage details; details of retained 
features.  

 
Sustainability Officer 

 
6.13 The proposal includes a series of energy efficient measures and 

the use of solar panels to meet the 10% renewable energy 
provision would comply with policy and is therefore supported.  
 
Strategic Housing Manager 

 
6.14 No comments received to date. Any comments will be reported 

on the amendment sheet or orally at the meeting.  However, the 
proposal is providing 40% affordable housing  

 

Page 175



Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Sustainable Drainage 
Engineer) 

 
6.15 No comments received to date. Any comments will be reported 

on the amendment sheet or orally at the meeting. However, the 
following comments were made on the previous application 
(12/1211/FUL): Revised surface water strategy, allowing for a 
30% climate change factor, should be submitted to demonstrate 
that the development of the site would not increase the risk of 
flooding elsewhere.   
 
Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Trees) 

 
6.16 No arboricultural objections subject to measure in Tree 

Protection Plan being implemented and confirmation that no 
services installations will impact the retained trees.  
 
Anglian Water 

 
6.17 There is capacity to available in the wastewater treatment and 

foul sewerage network to accept these flows. A condition is 
recommended on surface water drainage.  

  
Environment Agency 

 
6.18 No Objection: Conditions required regarding ground 

contamination and surface water strategy. 
 

Sport England 
 
6.19 As planning permission has been granted for the 

redevelopment of the site (12/1211/FUL) to which Sport 
England objected to, Sport England do not wish to object to this 
application but would like to see off site improvement to 
Chesterton Community College and Chesterton Recreation 
Ground which were secured in the previous package of 
mitigation in the S106 agreement to be applied to this 
application if approved.  

 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary (Architectural Liaison 
Officer) 

 
6.20 No objection in principle subject to the following issue; height of 

cycle stores on the 3bed houses would limit surveillance of the 

Page 176



front entrances. Height should be lowered to 1.475 metres. The 
cycle store for Block E could become a meeting place for anti-
social behaviour and feel unsafe for anyone using the store. 
This store area should be well lit.  

 
 Cambridgeshire County Council (Education) 

 
6.21 Contributions required for educational provision at pre-school, 

primary, secondary and life-long learning levels. Contributions 
also required towards Household waste recycling centres.  

 

 Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 

6.22 Provision of fire hydrants required via condition (see condition 
25) or S106 agreement.  
 
Minister of Defence 
 

6.23 No objections to the proposal.  
  
 Cambridge City Council Access Officer 
 
6.24 15% lifetime homes required. Happy with the amendments 

following concerns with  
 

Design and Conservation Panel (Meeting of 12 February 
2014 – pre-application stage).  

 
6.25 The Panel’s comments were as follows: 
 

� Response to context. The presentation included the 
exploration of the various layout options and the Panel 
concluded that the option selected appears to be the most 
viable.  
� Movement and access (linkages). A land-locked site 
presents any design team with limitations. However, there is an 
opportunity to improve permeability providing some issues 
relating to third party ownership can be overcome. A future link 
with Gilbert Road if only for pedestrians and cyclists would be a 
significant breakthrough and thorough exploration of this 
possibility is to be strongly encouraged.  
� Scale and massing.  
� Blocks E and I (overlooking). The Panel expressed   
concerns as to the likelihood of overlooking by the Westbrook 

Page 177



Centre. The distance from this office block may be over 20 
meters but occupants will have direct views into the apartments. 
Further thought is recommended as to the choice of fenestration 
to help resolve this issue.  
� Block E. This block was in the Panel’s view particularly 
dominant. The 5th floor could be set back as one of a number of 
measures that could break up the massing for improved sun 
exposure, and provide an improved relationship with Block C. 
� Block I. The Panel were not supportive of the inclusion of 
a gabion wall at the base, as this invites wildlife. Surveillance at 
ground floor combined with robust landscaping would be the 
Panel’s preferred option.  
� Interior living spaces (Blocks E & I). Some reservations 
were expressed regarding the quality of these living spaces. It 
was felt that single aspect apartments should not be acceptable 
(particularly with the overlooking risk as already described) 
although no consensus was reached regarding the 
appropriateness of the 2.5 meter floor to ceiling heights.  
� Townhouses (elevations). The Panel would recommend 
corner windows without mullions for a more visually pleasing 
result.  
� Affordable housing. The Panel note that the market 
housing is given the benefit of the main area of amenity, while 
the majority of the affordable housing is located around a small 
pocket park. The Panel would prefer to see the affordable 
housing more effectively integrated.  
� Open space and landscaping. Although currently 
described as a work in progress, the Panel would like to stress 
the importance of high quality landscaping in the creation of 
attractive living spaces; providing a sense of place and arrival. 
� Groundfloor thresholds (townhouses). The Panel welcome 
the visual breakage provided by the individual covered bin 
stores. This could be further enhanced however by carefully 
considered landscaping maintained as part of a management 
plan. 
� Central square (parking). The Panel were disappointed to 
see parking located within this central space, as parked cars 
would likely conflict with children’s activities. Every effort should 
be made to relocate the parking to the side road. 
� Typography (central square). The Panel would welcome 
less emphasis being placed on formal lines of trees to allow for 
a more community-focussed space.  
� Materials palette. In general terms, the Panel were 
comfortable with the materials palette as presented but would 

Page 178



urge against choosing a perforated, textured brick that would be 
vulnerable to staining.  
� Code for Sustainable Homes. The Panel understands that 
new affordable homes require Code Level 4 and not Code 3 as 
specified in the presentation.  
� SuDs. The Panel would like to emphasise the importance 
of exploring sustainable drainage options as far as possible.   

 
 Conclusion:  
 
 The Panel appreciated the clear and concise presentation of a 

far superior scheme to the consented scheme by Camal 
Architects. The revised brief with its emphasis on family housing 
and private amenity space for all units is a very welcome step 
forward. The Panel would like to stress the importance of 
linkages however, and would like to see measures taken to 
resolve the intervening land ownership issues that currently 
obstruct the likelihood of improved permeability. 

 
VERDICT – GREEN (unanimous) 

 
6.26 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS  
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
 

- 9 Albert Street  
- 32 Green Road  
- 27 Gilbert Road  
- 36 Gilbert Road  
- 77 Garden Walk  
- 6 Springfield Road  
 
And also from 
 
- Arquiva (in objection) 
- Chesterton Community College 
- Friends of Mitcham’s Corner 

 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 

Page 179



 
- Concerns with additional traffic movement at junction with 

Milton Road; 
- Concerns with the single point of access into the site;   
- Concerns with rogue car parking 
- No details of site boundary fencing;  
- 6 metre lamp posts not appropriate; 
- Better cycle and pedestrian provision should incorporated; 
- Flat roofs are out of character with the area suggest pitched 

roofs; 
- The development is too contained and isolated and could 

become a gated community; 
- Height of Block E and I is inappropriate; 
- Regret loss of allotments;  
- Object to the removal of the existing electronic 

communication base station which would detrimentally affect 
mobile phone coverage in this part of Cambridge and no 
alternative provision has been proposed or agreed.  

 
7.3 Cambridge, Past, Present and Future - The revised proposed 

scheme is supported in general but still have concerns with the 
lack of permeability through the site for cycles and pedestrians.  

 
7.4 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   
 

8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Affordable Housing 
3. Context of site, design and external spaces 
4. Public Art 
5. Renewable energy and sustainability 
6. Disabled access 
7. Residential amenity 
8. Refuse arrangements 
9. Highway safety 
10. Car and cycle parking 
11. Third party representations 

Page 180



12. Planning Obligation Strategy 
 

Principle of Development 
 
8.2 The Proposals Schedule of the Local Plan states that site 5.05 

should be developed in accordance with the provisions of the 
Mitcham’s Corner Development Brief. The Brief identifies the 
preferred future use of the CCFC site as: 
 

Residential with on-site open space to meet the Council’s 
adopted standards. 

 
8.3 It also notes: 
 

In addition to on-site open space, the Council would not 
wish to grant permission for redevelopment involving the 
loss of the existing recreational facility unless an 
equal/improved facility can satisfactorily be provided 
elsewhere in the city. 

 
8.4 The Cambridge Local Plan (2006) makes provision for an 

increase of approximately 6500 new dwellings within the 
existing urban area of the city over the period 1999-2016. In my 
opinion, the principle of residential development is acceptable 
and in accordance with policy 5.1 of the Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) and with the Proposals schedule of that plan and the 
Mitcham’s Corner Development Brief 2003. 

 
8.5 The principle of development and loss of open space on this 

site has been established by the grant of planning permission 
(12/1211/FUL) for 138 dwellings in 2013. Development Plan 
policy has not changed since this permission was granted and 
emerging Local Plan can only be given limited weight. I 
therefore do not consider it necessary to reiterate the 
justification for the loss of open space. The applicant has 
agreed to provide the local enhancement proposals that were 
agreed in the approved scheme.  The 2013 permission remains 
extant notwithstanding that the applicant now seeks to refine 
the design and layout of the scheme.  This is a significant 
material consideration. 

 
8.6 In these terms, therefore the principle of development on this 

site including the loss of protected open space has already 
been established and the proposal would comply with policy 5.1 

Page 181



of the Local Plan. This scheme will also be subject to the same 
mitigation and enhancement measures that the previous 
scheme was tied to in the S106 agreement such as 
contributions towards highway improvements, contributions 
towards local enhancements to mitigate the loss of open space, 
contribution towards upgrading of Chesterton Recreation 
Ground and construction of a pavilion building at Chesterton 
Community College.  

 
Affordable Housing 

 
8.7 It is proposed that 42 of the 106 residential units are affordable. 

This equates to 40% and as such meets the requirements for 
affordable housing provision as set out in the Local Plan. The 
mix of affordable units is set out below:  

 

Tenure 1bed 2bed 2bed 
(house) 

3bed 
(house) 

4bed 
(house) 

5bed 
(house) 

Total 

Private 4 20 10 16 12 2 64 

Shared 
Ownership 

5 10 1 5 0 0 21 

Social 
Rented 
Mix 

0 16 2 3 0 0 21 

Total 9 46 13 24 12 2 106 

 
8.8 The detail of the Affordable housing scheme can be secured 

through a Section 106 Agreement 
 
8.9 The affordable units are clustered in five different locations 

across the site such as in rows A, C and F and Blocks E and I. 
The cluster sizes and distribution are as follows:  

 
- Row A: 3 shared ownership and 1 social rented 
- Row C: 3 shared ownership and 3 social rented 
- Row F: 2 shared ownership  
- Block E: 11 shared ownership and 16 social rented 
- Block I: 4 shared ownership  

 
8.10 The cluster sizes and maximum number of affordable units 

accessed from a single stairwell are above the guideline 
maximum of 12 set in paragraph 23 of the Affordable Housing 
SPD with regards to the units in Block E. 11 shared ownership 
and 16 social rented units are accessed off one main stair-core 

Page 182



in Block E. In my view, whilst this element of the affordable 
housing provision does not comply with the standards in the 
SPD, the benefits from the clustering pattern/distribution and 
increase in number of 3 bed units would outweigh this.  
 

8.11 Annex 2 to the Affordable Housing SPD states that as a guide 
(allowing for variations from site to site as permitted by Local 
Plan policy 5/10), the unit size mix in new affordable housing 
should be: 

 
� 50% 1 and 2 bedroom dwellings, but with no more than 10% 

1-bedroom dwellings 
� 50% 3 bedroom or larger dwellings, but with no less than 

20% 3-bedroom dwellings 
 
8.12 The mix of the 42 affordable units is:  

 
- 5 x 1 bed (12%) 
- 29 x 2 bed (of which 3 are houses) (69%) 
- 8 x 3 bed (19%) 

 
8.13 The mix of the 64 private units is:  
 

- 4 x 1bed (6%) 
- 30 x 2bed (47%) 
- 16 x 3 bed (25%) 
- 12 x 4bed (19%) 
- 2 x 5 bed (3%) 

 
8.14 The overall proportion of one and two-bedroom affordable units 

proposed, at 81%, is higher than that suggested in the 
guidance. Annex 2 suggests that the 50/50 split between one-
and-two bedroom units and larger units should be ‘provided in 
the urban extensions to Cambridge and on other sites as 
appropriate to their location and site area’. In my view, the 
larger proportion of smaller units proposed here is reasonable 
for a site of this size, in this location, and in light of the private 
mix.  

 
8.15 The amount of affordable housing has been redistributed 

compared to the approved scheme with more smaller units for 
which there is a great need. In my opinion the proposal is 
compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 5/5 and 
10/1 and the Affordable Housing SPD (2008) 

Page 183



 
Context of site, design and external spaces 

 
8.16 Aside from the reduction in the amount of housing development, 

a number of other amendments have been made to the site 
layout and scale and arrangement of housing. I set out below a 
summary of the key changes:  

 
- The proposed scheme is predominantly 3 storeys dropping 

to 2 storeys along the south-west boundary adjacent to the 
existing houses in Green’s Road;  

- Two 5 storey blocks are proposed along south-west 
boundary adjacent to the existing Westbrook Centre;  

- A Central Square is proposed which is to be landscaped and 
overlooked by three rows (F, G and H) and Block I; 

- A new Pocket Garden is proposed between Row B and C;   
- The underground parking has been removed in favour of 

undercroft parking under Block I;  
 
Density 
 

8.17 The total site area, minus the access road, is 1.62Ha. Since the 
application proposes 106 residential units, the gross density is 
approximately 65 dwellings per hectare (dph).  

 
8.18 The Mitcham’s Corner Development Brief 2003 provides 

guidance that residential development on the main sites in the 
Brief area should be in the range of 75-100dph. The proposal 
has a density below the level of the range recommended. 
However, the arrangement of the scheme is considered to be 
better balanced in terms of green space and built form and 
would provide more public and private green space within the 
site.    

 
8.19 I am of the opinion that the proposal successfully manages the 

challenges of the proposed density and housing mix. It should 
also be noted that the Mitcham’s Corner Development Brief was 
produced at a time when Central Government were providing 
specific guidance on housing density which is no longer the 
case. 

 
 
 
 

Page 184



Scale and Massing 
 
8.20 The buildings proposed are predominantly of three storeys but 

reduce to two storeys along the south-west boundary of the site. 
Along the north-eastern boundary, adjacent to the rear gardens 
of Gilbert Road properties, the scale of housing has been 
increased by a storey from the previous scheme to three storey 
townhouses with rear gardens. The buildings are set marginally 
further away from Gilbert Road properties than in the previous 
scheme. Along the south-western edge of the site, adjacent to 
Greens’ Road properties, the scheme is reduced to two and 
three storeys (lower than previous), with an open space 
proposed as a break between blocks K and L.  

 
8.21 Blocks E and I are 5 storeys and located adjacent to the 

boundary with the Westbrook Centre which is of a comparable 
size. This clustering of Blocks E and I adjacent to an existing 
buildings would, in my view, reduce the visual impact on the 
other dwellings and particularly those that adjoin the site. The 
applicant has carried out a detailed height and massing 
assessment to demonstrate the height relationship with the 
Westbrook Centre and from the wider area such as Gilbert 
Road and Green’s Road. Blocks E and I are proposed to be 20 
metres away from the Westbrook Centre building and of a 
comparable height. The fifth floors of Block E and I have been 
designed to appear ancillary as it would be set in the edge 
giving the blocks less dominance at rooftop level.  I am satisfied 
with the scale and massing of Blocks E and I.  
 

8.22 Whilst the quantum of development has reduced, the number of 
3 storey dwellings has increased. The dwellings in Rows C, D, 
F, G and H are all 3 storey 9.6 metres high. Row A which 
contains eleven units, would accommodate a mixture of 2 and 3 
storey dwellings. The 3 storey dwellings would be located mid-
terrace with the 2 storey units either side. The centralised 
location of the 3 storey units within the row would result in a 
stepping down from 3 to 2 storey onto the south-west (SW) 
boundary which is adjoined by the rear gardens in Gilbert Road. 
In my view this arrangement not only gives the terrace row 
more architectural interest but also reduces the impact and 
dominance of the 3 storey units on the rear gardens of the 
properties in Green’s Road. The side elevation of the two storey 
dwelling within Row A which faces the SW boundary would be 
10 metres in depth and 3 metres from the SW boundary at a 

Page 185



height of 6.5 metres. The side elevation of the 3 storey unit 
closest to the boundary would be 17.5 metres away. The 
dwellings that face directly towards the side elevation of Row A 
in Green’s Road are set approximately 20 metres away. The 
side elevation of Row A is located closer to the dwellings in 
Green’s Road that the rear elevation of Row B.  
 

8.23 Row B is a terrace of six 2 storey dwellings which are 
approximately 6.5 metres in height. The terrace runs parallel to 
the boundary and is 31 metres wide. The entire rear elevation of 
Row B would be set off the SW boundary by 8.5 metres. At its 
nearest point, Row B would be located 13 metres from the rear 
elevation of the closest property in Green’s Road. The first floor 
rear elevation of the dwellings would contain two bedroom 
windows. Whilst the proposal would result in new dwellings 
being introduced closer to the dwellings in Green’s Road, this 
arrangement has already been established in the 2013 
permission. I note that the occupant of 32 Greens’ Road, which 
is the closest property to the site, has welcomed the revised 
scheme subject to further details on street lighting. In these 
terms, therefore, I am satisfied that the scale and massing of 
the development adjacent to the south-west boundary is 
acceptable. 

 
8.24 Prior to the submission of the revised scheme, the revised 

scheme was presented to the Design and Conservation Panel. 
In respect of scale and massing they made the following 
comments:   

 
- Blocks E and I (overlooking). The Panel expressed concerns 

as to the likelihood of overlooking by the Westbrook Centre. 
The distance from this office block may be over 20 metres 
but occupants will have direct views into the apartments. 
Further thought is recommended as to the choice of 
fenestration to help resolve this issue.  
 

- Block E. This block was in the Panel’s view particularly 
dominant. The 5th floor could be set back as one of a 
number of measures that could break up the massing for 
improved sun exposure, and provide an improved 
relationship with Block C.   

 
- Block I. The Panel were not supportive of the inclusion of a 

gabion wall at the base, as this invites wildlife. Surveillance 

Page 186



at ground floor combined with robust landscaping would be 
the Panel’s preferred option.  

 
8.25 In respect of the first point, the applicant has undertaken an 

assessment of similar building to building relationships which 
have been approved in Cambridge such as in the CB1 Station 
Road development.  I am satisfied with the level of separation 
between the Westbrook Centre (offices) and Block E and also 
because offices are mainly occupied during the day on 
weekdays only which are at times when residential dwellings 
have lowest occupation levels. 

 
8.26 In respect of the second point, the fifth floor of both blocks has 

been set back from the edges of the building as suggested. This 
in my view reduces the dominance of the buildings. The 
applicant has produced a shadow study which demonstrates 
that neither of the blocks would cause an adverse 
overshadowing issues on the other aspects of the development 
and that the existing Westbrook Centre would not adversely 
affect the apartments in the south-east elevation.  

 
8.27 In respect of the third point, the applicant has maintained the 

use of a gabion wall around the base of Block I. This has been 
used at other developments in Cambridge such as Accordia. 
The applicant has considered alternative base materials but 
from the study and images produced, I am the view that the 
gabion wall option is the most acceptable, particularly as the 
variation in tone from the proposed colour of brick helps to 
define the base level.  The Urban Design and Conservation 
Team has not raised any concerns with the use of gabion walls.   

 
8.28 The revised scheme has in my view addressed the mains 

concerns of the Panel and the reasons for deviation from the 
Panel’s views are justified.  I believe this scheme is a well 
considered proposal and is more sensitive to the context of its 
neighbours and that the scale of development provides a better 
and more balanced site arrangement than the previous scheme. 

  
Layout:  

 
8.29 The layout of the proposed development is based on a 

framework of a square and spine road with linked spaces. In my 
view this basic framework is a coherent and legible design.  
This also has resulted in a significant reduction in hard 

Page 187



landscaping compared with the previous scheme.  The way in 
which these streets and spaces would function would provide 
the satisfactory hierarchy of routes, attractive frontages, safe 
and usable spaces, and natural surveillance required by policy 
3/7 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006), and would not inhibit 
future occupiers from using cycles as a key element in travel.  

 
8.30 The Mitcham’s Corner Development Brief identifies the need for 

a satisfactory separation between the proposed development 
and the existing Westbrook Centre. The nearest flat in Blocks E 
and I would have a separation distance of approximately 20m 
between their rear elevation and the nearest part of the 
Westbrook Centre. I am of the view that this is acceptable. 

 
8.31 In terms of permeability through the site to aid movement and 

linkages to wider areas, the site is extensively land-locked and 
therefore any such provision is prohibited due to land ownership 
issues. The Design and Conservation Panel acknowledged this 
issue when the scheme was presented to them in February. 
Whilst they see this as being an opportunity to improve 
permeability, they acknowledge that this can only be achieved if 
third party ownership issues can be overcome.   

  
 Public Realm and Landscape 
 
8.32 Suitable landscape buffers around the ground-floor apartments 

in Block E are provided. The scheme features tree planting 
along all the streets, a Central Square which has clear routes 
through it, but is also suitable for a variety of uses and smaller 
Pocket Garden between Rows B and C.  Considerable use of 
shrubs around Block E and I, within the Central Square and 
Pocket Garden creates a strong sense of greenery to help 
soften buildings and enhance views through the site from one 
side to the other.  

 
8.33 I acknowledge that the height and orientation of the buildings 

will cause some areas to be shaded for proportions of the day, 
but I do not consider this to prevent the implementation of good 
quality landscaping. Nevertheless, the landscape officer has 
recommended a hard and soft landscape condition to the 
applied in order for such details to be agreed. This is 
considered to be acceptable as there is sufficient space within 
the site and around the proposed buildings to accommodate 

Page 188



meaningful landscape which will benefits the appearance of the 
scheme.  

 
8.34 The Panel highlighted the importance of high quality 

landscaping to create attractive spaces and to provide a sense 
of place on arrival. They welcome the visual breakage provided 
by the individual covered bin stores. Aside from this they made 
the following comments on the proposed open space provision:  

 
- Central square (parking). The Panel were disappointed to see 

parking located within this central space, as parked cars would 
likely conflict with children’s activities. Every effort should be 
made to relocate the parking to the side road.  
 

- Typography (central square). The Panel would welcome less 
emphasis being placed on formal lines of trees to allow for a 
more community-focused space. 

 
8.35 In respect of the first point, the scheme no longer includes any 

car parking on the Central Square.  
 
8.36 In respect of the second point, whilst formal lines of trees are 

still being proposed the internal layout of the space has been 
designed to allow flow through the space from difference 
directions with good levels of natural surveillance. I am satisfied 
with the provision and layout of open space within the site, as it 
forms an integrated part of the development.  

 
 Detailed building design and materials 
 
8.37 The Urban Design and Conservation Team support the scheme 

subject to details aspects of the scheme such as materials and 
detailing of elevations being agreed by condition.  The design 
and detailing of the buildings are of high quality and comparable 
to other residential schemes in Cambridge.  

 
8.38 The revised scheme has also responded to the comments 

made by the Design and Conservation Panel before the 
application was submitted. The Panel was comfortable with the 
materials palette that was presented but urged against choosing 
a perforated, textured brick that would be vulnerable to staining. 
I have recommended a materials and a sample condition to 
ensure the suite and palette of materials are agreed.  

 

Page 189



8.39 Aside from the specific detailed aspects of the scheme 
presented to the Panel gave the scheme a unanimous Green 
light.   

 
8.40 In my opinion, the proposal achieves acceptable interrelations 

between buildings, routes and public spaces, creates attractive 
built frontages, and promotes natural surveillance. It would 
provide an attractive, high-quality, accessible, stimulating, 
socially inclusive and safe living environment, and would be 
compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 
3/11, and 3/12.  

 
Open space provision on site 

 
8.41 Private gardens are provided for all proposed townhouses. The 

3 storey townhouses also benefit from external terraces at first 
floor. The apartments in Block E and I have 1.5 metre deep 
balconies. I consider the level of private amenity provision to be 
acceptable.  

 
8.42 The provision of communal open space is provided in two main 

locations on site. They are as follows. 
 

- The Central Space;  
- Pocket Gardens;  

 
8.43 Other small pockets of landscaped public space and ecological 

planting are proposed around the site.  
 
8.44 The combined area of open space amounts to 4725sqm of 

which 3199 comprises informal open space, 283sqm for play 
space and 3182sqm of private open space.  

 
8.45 Open space requirements are calculated on the basis of the 

number of people to be accommodated in a development, each 
unit being assumed to accommodate one person per bedroom, 
except that single-bedroom units are assumed to accommodate 
1.5 people. The total assumed population of the development 
would therefore be 261 people. 

 
8.46 The total informal open space required by the development (at 

a rate of 18sqm per person) is 4698sqm.  On site provision is 
3199 sqm.  On this basis the on-site provision proposed would 

Page 190



be 67% of that total. This is the same as that provided in the 
consented scheme. 

 
8.47 The total space for children and young people required by the 

development (at a rate of 2.9sqm per person) is 757sqm.  On 
site provision is 283 sqm.  The on-site provision proposed 
would be 38% of that total. This is the same as that provided in 
the consented scheme. 

 
8.48 The open space proposed on site forms a substantial part of the 

total requirement for informal open space, and a significant part 
of the requirement for children’s space in policy terms. The 
Planning Obligation Strategy 2010 states that: 

 
‘The City Council will normally expect all appropriate 
development to contribute to meeting the additional demand for 
open space it creates, either on site, or through a commuted 
payment to provide new open space or improve existing open 
space provision in the vicinity of the development’ 

 
8.49 In my view, the level of on-site open space in these two 

categories is acceptable provision and is similar to quantum 
provided in the previously consented scheme. Any shortfall 
should be supplemented by a financial contribution to the 
enhancement of provision elsewhere. 

 
8.50  In my view, subject to appropriate contributions elsewhere 

being secured through a Section 106 agreement, the provision 
of informal open space and space for children and young 
people on site in the scheme is acceptable, and in accordance 
with policy 3/8 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006), the 
Planning Obligation Strategy 2010 and the City Council’s Open 
Space Standards. 

 
8.51 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11, 3/12.  
 
 Public Art 
 
8.52 A public art consultant was engaged at a very early point in the 

design process and a public art strategy for the site, entitled 
Kickstart, was developed and presented to Public Art Panel in 
May 2010. The strategy was supported by the Public Art Co-
ordinator, and approved by Panel. An updated scheme has 

Page 191



been discussed with the Council’s Public Art Officer and the 
delivery plan has been reassessed to ensure that it is relevant 
to the latest submission whilst retaining the key qualities that 
there considered to be successful under the previous scheme. 
Zoe Chamberlain, who was artist appointed for the previous 
scheme is being retained and will focus on commissioning 
artwork that helps document and celebrate memories and 
aspirations for the club whilst they embark on a number of 
potential years of ground share 

 
8.53 In my opinion the continuation and updating of the Kickstart 

strategy provides a sound basis for public art in connection with 
this proposal, and is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/7 and 10/1 and the Public Art SPD 2010 

 
Renewable energy and sustainability 

 
8.54 The proposal seeks to utilise photovoltaic panels on the flat 

roofs of Blocks E and I. The Council’s Sustainability Officer 
supports the energy strategy. The strategy suggests a 10% 
reduction in carbon emissions would comply with the policy 
requirement of 10%.  

 
8.55 In my opinion the applicants have suitably addressed the issue 

of sustainability and renewable energy and the proposal is in 
accordance with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policy 8/16 and 
the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2007. 

 
Disabled access 

 
8.56 15% of the total number of units in the scheme have been 

designed to Lifetime homes standards. Detailed plans for these 
units, demonstrating their compatibility with the standards 
accompany the application. In my opinion, the scheme is in 
accordance with policy 5/9 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006). 

 
8.57 The Access Officer is satisfied with the proposed disabled 

access provision. In my opinion, the proposal shows 
appropriate consideration for the needs of those with 
disabilities, and complies with or exceeds the requirements of 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/12 and 5/9. 

 
8.58 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/12. 

Page 192



 
Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 
Green’s Road 

 
8.59 The rear elevations of the proposed 2-storey houses would be 

at a distance of between 14m and 22m from the rear elevations 
of the houses at 32-46 Green’s Road. The houses along this 
boundary, particularly those adjacent to the houses in Green’s 
Road (Row A and B are mainly two storey and therefore would 
be a comparable height to the existing.  The terraced in Row A 
is located side on to the boundary which reduces the mass and 
scale of the terrace from the adjacent dwellings. The terraces in 
Row A, B and C have better spacing compared to the previous 
scheme, which, in my view, created a defined barrier with less 
spacing.  The rear gardens of 38-46 Greens Road and SW 
boundary of the site are separated by a path that provides 
access to the rear gardens.  The SW boundary of the site would 
be defined by a 1.8 metre close boarded timber fence.  

 
8.60 I do not consider that the proposed two storey houses would 

cause significant overshadowing of the Green’s Road 
properties; they lie to the north and are not of sufficient height. 
Equally, because of their height, I do not consider they would 
create any unacceptable sense of enclosure.  

 
8.61 The proposed houses would not be aligned with the rear 

elevations in Green’s Road, so there would not be direct 
window-to window overlooking. However, the distances 
between these houses would be limited, and even given the 
angle of view it is my view that the first floor bedroom windows 
in Row B could pose a threat to the privacy of the occupiers of 
32-46 Greens Road. This issue can be resolved by condition, 
for example by ensuring projecting visibility screens or canted 
windows are installed.  Row A is laid out side onto the boundary 
and so there would not be any direct overlooking issue from this 
terraced. Row C is located adjacent to the existing allotment 
site and so would not cause any adverse privacy issues. 
However, overall, the revised scheme would result in a better 
relationship with the adjacent housing development in terms of 
residential amenity compared to the previous scheme.  

 

Page 193



Gilbert Road 
 
8.62 The six townhouses in Row H, each with a rear garden, are 

close to the common boundary with the rear gardens of Nos. 
11-27 Gilbert Road. The separation between these houses and 
the nearest proposed units is in all cases at least 52.5 metres 
(measured from the main rear of no.11 Gilbert Road to the rear 
elevation of unit H.6 in Row H). Furthermore, Gilbert Road 
gardens are long and in most cases contain significant planting. 
Any overlooking opportunities would be confined to the 
rearmost parts of these gardens, and any impact of sunlight 
from the southwest would be confined to times when the sun is 
very low in the sky. In neither case would this impact be 
significant enough to warrant refusal of the application.  
However, overall, the revised scheme would result in a better 
relationship with the adjacent housing development in terms of 
residential amenity compared to the previous scheme. 

 
8.63 In my opinion, the proposal adequately respects the residential 

amenity of its neighbours and the constraints of the site and I 
consider that it is compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4 and 3/7. 

 
Amenity for future occupiers of the site 

 
8.64 I am satisfied that all the units proposed would enjoy 

reasonable levels of privacy and light. Private amenity space is 
provided for all the houses, almost all the maisonettes and top 
floor flats. 

 
8.65 In my opinion the proposal provides a high-quality living 

environment and an appropriate standard of residential amenity 
for future occupiers, and I consider that in this respect it is 
compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 
3/12. 

 
Refuse Arrangements 

 
8.66 All townhouses are provided with an individual store for three 

bins located at the front of each dwellinghouse in an enclosed 
storage area. In the apartment blocks (E and I) communal 
stores accommodating larger bins are provided on the ground 
floor. The Refuse Officer requested some additional information 
to be provided to clarify certain points relating to the size and 

Page 194



number of sizes for the 4 and 5 bed units, walking distance to 
and from collection points and tracking details for refuse 
vehicles. The information requested has been provided and in 
my view addresses the issues raised by the Refuse Officer. 
Therefore, the overall refuse strategy and the space provided 
for townhouses and apartment blocks are acceptable.  

 
8.67 I am of the view that all these matters can be resolved by 

conditions 25-26. Subject to this, I am confident that, with 
respect to waste and recycling, the proposal is compliant with 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policy 3/12. 

 
Highway Safety 

 
8.68 The Highway Officer raises a number of concerns relating to the 

access junction and relationship with the Westbrook Centre 
access, mix of traffic movement, and the design of the internal 
road and the shared space concept on the central square, no 
refuse vehicle tracking plan details. The Officer suggests that 
the access road would only require rebuilding if it were to be 
adopted, and does not raise any issues, other than planning 
obligation commitments, with regard to the transport impact of 
the proposal. 

 
8.69 The revised scheme in terms of access to the site from Milton 

Road and its relationship with the Westbrook Centre, has not 
changed from the consented scheme. Therefore it would be 
difficult to argue the proposed relationship would have any 
adverse implications such that it would warrant refusal.  The 
applicant has provided additional information in response to the 
other issues raised and as of yet I have not received the 
Highway Officer’s comments to this. I shall therefore report the 
Officer’s response on the Amendment sheet or verbally at 
Committee.   

 
8.70 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 8/2. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 195



Car and Cycle Parking 
 
8.71 The proposal car parking provision is as follows:  
  

20 Block I (undercroft)  
18 Block E (external) 
51  On-plot (for 2, 3, 4 and 5 beds) 
14  Garage (for 4 and 5 beds) 
5  Visitor    
108 Total 

 
8.72 The application provides on average one space for each one 

and two bedroom unit and two spaces for each of the 4 and 
5bed townhouses, with a small amount of visitor parking close 
to the entrance to the site. This provision does not exceed the 
levels set out in the Councils Car Parking Standards, which 
would equate to a maximum provision of 144 spaces, and but 
given the central location of the site is in accordance with local 
plan policy. 

 
8.73 A number of representations suggest that the car parking 

provision made is insufficient. In my view this concern is not 
well-founded. National statistics show that a significant 
proportion of households in one- and two-bedroom flats in 
urban areas typically do not own a car. In my view it is unlikely 
that any significant demand for car parking space outside the 
site would be generated by the development. 

 
8.74 Representations also raise concerns that since the present car 

park on the site is used during the day as car parking space by 
people coming into the city to work, the cars accommodated will 
be displaced to on-street spaces nearby, increasing the 
pressure for space which already exists in the area. I accept 
that there is the possibility that this may happen. It is City 
Council policy, however, to promote lower levels of private car 
parking in order to promote modal shift, particularly with respect 
to non-residential uses and where good public transport 
accessibility exists. In my view, given the pressure for on-street 
car parking in the vicinity, the elimination of the football ground 
car park is likely to promote the use of other means of transport, 
which is in accordance with the sustainability aims of the Local 
Plan. Increased designation of residents-only parking in the 
future might help to secure these objectives whilst retaining 
space for local occupiers. However, given that the new streets 

Page 196



within the scheme are not to be adopted, there is a risk that if 
unmanaged, occupiers of the Westbrook Centre could continue 
to park on them. I have conditioned the management of parking 
within the site to exclude this possibility (condition 32). 

 
8.75 Cycle storage space for the 4 and 5 townhouses is provided 

within widened garages whereas for the smaller dwellings have 
dedicated external stores which are located adjacent to the 
driveway.  
 

8.76 The proposal car parking provision is as follows:  
 

102 Basement   (for Block E and I) 
98 Enclosures  (for 2 and 3 bed townhouses) 
52  Garage   (for 4 and 5bed townhouses) 
20  Visitor    
272 Total 

 
8.77 The application provides on average 2.4 spaces for each 

residential unit within the scheme excluding visitor parking.  
This provision exceeds the levels set out in the Councils Car 
Parking Standards, which would equate to a maximum 
provision of 134 spaces, and is therefore in accordance with 
local plan policy. 

 
8.78 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 

Third Party Representations 
 
8.79 I have addressed the majority of the issues raised in the above 

section but I set out below my response to the any issues I have 
missed:   
 

Comments Response 

Concerns with additional traffic 
movement at junction with 
Milton Road; 

The proposal would result in 
a reduction in traffic 
movement due to the 
reduction in the number of 
dwellings from 138 to 106.  

Concerns with the single point of 
access into the site;   

There are land ownership 
issues on the surrounding 
land that prohibit access from 
any other point.  

Page 197



Concerns with rogue car parking The internal road is unlikely 
to be adopted and therefore 
no parking restrictions could 
be applied. However, I am of 
the view that the site is laid 
out to minimise any 
opportunity of rogue parking.  

No details of site boundary 
fencing;  

The Design and Access 
Statement contains specific 
details on the boundary 
treatment. However, this 
does not appear to relate to 
the entire site. I have 
therefore recommended a 
boundary treatment 
condition.  

6 metre lamp posts not 
appropriate; 

The lighting strategy has 
been assessed by our 
Environmental Services 
Team who considered the 
type and amount of lighting 
would minimise glaze and 
overspill. The lighting 
scheme is therefore 
acceptable in this context as 
long as the 
recommendations within the 
strategy are followed.  

Better cycle and pedestrian 
provision should incorporated; 

There are land ownership 
issues on the surrounding 
land that prohibit access from 
any other point. 

Flat roofs are out of character 
with the area suggest pitched 
roofs; 

The design of the revised 
scheme has been carefully 
and thoroughly considered. 
The roof forms whilst would 
contrast with the traditional 
housing development close-
by, it would be a successful 
contrast.  

The development is too 
contained and isolated and 
could become a gated 
community; 

No gates are proposed to 
make this scheme a gated 
community. The site is 
landlock and due to land 

Page 198



ownership issues it has been 
difficult to provide 
connections through the site 
to surrounding area.  
 

Height of Block E and I is 
inappropriate; 

The height of Blocks E and I 
have been carefully 
assessed. The Blocks would 
be no taller than the existing 
Westbrook Centre. By 
grouping the Blocks close to 
the Westbrook Centre it 
reduces the impact on these 
buildings on other parts of 
the scheme.  

Object to the removal of the 
existing electronic 
communication base station 
which would detrimentally affect 
mobile phone coverage in this 
part of Cambridge and no 
alternative provision has been 
proposed or agreed. 

The applicant has been in 
dialogue with the telecoms 
operator over relocating from 
the site.  

 
Planning Obligation Strategy 

 
8.80 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 have 

introduced the requirement for all local authorities to make an 
assessment of any planning obligation in relation to three tests.  
If the planning obligation does not pass the tests then it is 
unlawful.  The tests are that the planning obligation must be: 

 
(a)  necessary to make the development acceptable in 

planning terms;  
(b)  directly related to the development; and  
(c)  fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development. 
 
8.81 In bringing forward my recommendations in relation to the 

Planning Obligation for this development, I have considered 
these requirements. The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) 
provides a framework for expenditure of financial contributions 
collected through planning obligations.  The applicants have 
indicated their willingness to enter into a S106 planning 

Page 199



obligation in accordance with the requirements of the Strategy. 
This is set out in brief in the table below:  

 
Heads of Term Value 

New pavilion at Chesterton Community 
College playing fields, including 
Community Access Agreement 

£510,328 

New clubroom, changing facilities or pitch 
improvement at Chesterton Recreation 
Ground 

£173,125 

Indoor sports facilities £70,343 

Informal open space (off-site) £25,313 

Children and teenagers (off-site) £78,368 

Waste and recycling containers £12,075 

Household waste recycling centre £20,140 

Pre-school education £77,570 

Primary education £130,950 

Secondary education £147,440 

Life-long learning £16,960 

Northern corridor transport plan £0 

Mitcham’s corner signal improvements £2,000 

Community chest £2,000 

Monitoring £150/£300  
per clause 

  

Travel plan % modal shift 

Affordable housing scheme (on-site) 40%  

Public art (on-site) 1%  

 
8.82 The proposed development triggers the requirement for the 

following community infrastructure:  
 

Open Space  
 
8.83 The Planning Obligation Strategy requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision or 
improvement of public open space, either through provision on 
site as part of the development or through a financial 
contribution for use across the city. This requirement covers 
outdoor sports facilities, indoor sports facilities, informal open 
space and provision for children and teenagers. 

 

Page 200



8.84 The application proposes the erection of two 5-bedroom 
units,12 four-bedroom units, 24 three-bedroom units, 59 two-
bedroom units and 9 one-bedroom flats. No residential units 
would be removed, so the net total of additional residential units 
is 106. A house or flat is assumed to accommodate one person 
for each bedroom, but one-bedroom flats are assumed to 
accommodate 1.5 people. Contributions towards children’s play 
space are not required from one-bedroom units. The totals 
required for the new buildings are calculated as follows: 

 

Outdoor sports facilities 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 238 238   

1 bed 1.5 238 357 9 3213 

2-bed 2 238 476 59 28,084 

3-bed 3 238 714 24 17,136 

4-bed 4 238 952 12 11,424 

5-bed 5 238 1190 2 2,380 

Total 62,237 

 

Indoor sports facilities 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 269 269   

1 bed 1.5 269 403.50 9 36,31.50 

2-bed 2 269 538 59 31,742 

3-bed 3 269 807 24 19,368 

4-bed 4 269 1076 12 12,912 

5-bed 5 269 1345 2 2,690 

Total 70,343.50 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



Informal open space 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 242 242   

1 bed 1.5 242 363 9 3,267 

2-bed 2 242 484 59 28,556 

3-bed 3 242 726 24 17,424 

4-bed 4 242 968 12 11,616 

5-bed 5 242 1210 2 2,420 

Total 63,283 

 

Provision for children and teenagers 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

£ per 
person 

£per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

studio 1 0 0  0 

1 bed 1.5 0 0 9 0 

2-bed 2 316 632 59 37,288 

3-bed 3 316 948 24 22,752 

4-bed 4 316 1264 12 15,168 

5-bed 5 316 1580 2 3,160 

Total 78,368 

 
8.85 Open space requirements are calculated on the basis of the 

number of people to be accommodated in a development, each 
unit being assumed to accommodate one person per bedroom, 
except that single-bedroom units are assumed to accommodate 
1.5 people. The total assumed population of the development 
would therefore be 261 people. 

 
8.86 The total informal open space required by the development (at 

a rate of 18sqm per person) is 4698sqm.  On site provision is 
3199 sqm.  On this basis the on-site provision proposed would 
be 67% of that total. 

 
8.87 The total space for children and young people required by the 

development (at a rate of 2.9sqm per person) is 757sqm.  On 
site provision is 283 sqm.  The on-site provision proposed 
would be 38% of that total.  

 
8.88 I am of the view that the contributions proposed towards 

Chesterton Community College new pavilion and projects in 

Page 202



East Chesterton would provide for outdoor sports facilities, 
which would be used by the inhabitants of the development. I 
do not consider that seeking an additional contribution for such 
provision would be justified. 

 
8.89 The open space contributions sought therefore, are as follows: 

� Informal open space: £20,883 (33% of £63,283) 

� Indoor sports facilities: £70,343.50 

� Outdoor sports facilities: £0 (assuming £62,237 waived in 
favour of off-site improvements) 

� Facilities for children and young people £48,588 (62% of 
£78,368) 

8.90 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 
secure these requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/8 and 10/1. 

 
Community Development 

 
8.91 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to community development 
facilities, programmes and projects, with contributions 
calculated by formula. This contribution is £1256 for each unit of 
one or two bedrooms and £1882 for each larger unit. The total 
contribution produced by the formula in this case would be as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



Community facilities 

Type of unit £per unit Number of such 
units 

Total £ 

1 bed 1256 9 11,304 

2-bed 1256 59 74,104 

3-bed 1882 24 45,168 

4-bed 1882 12 22,584 

5-bed 1882 2 3,764 

Total 156,924 

 
8.92 The applicants have suggested that since the provision of the 

pavilion at the College playing fields will include space that can 
be used for a variety of community activities, as well as for 
sport, that this contribution provides the additional community 
facilities, which the Planning Obligation Strategy requires. I 
concur with this view. Subject to the completion of a S106 
planning obligation to provide this, I am satisfied that those 
improvements will secure the requirements of the Planning 
Obligation Strategy (2010) with respect to community facilities. I 
am satisfied that an additional contribution of £156,924 is not 
required, and that the proposal accords with Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006) policies 5/14 and 10/1. 

 
Waste 

 
8.93 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

residential developments contribute to the provision of 
household waste and recycling receptacles on a per dwelling 
basis. As the type of waste and recycling containers provided 
by the City Council for houses are different from those for flats, 
this contribution is £75 for each house and £150 for each flat. 
The total contribution sought has been calculated as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 204



Waste and recycling containers 

Type of unit £per unit Number of such 
units 

Total £ 

House 75 51 3,825 

Flat 150 55 8,250 

Total 12,075 

 
8.94 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/12 and 10/1. 

 
Education 

 
8.95 Upon adoption of the Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) the 

Council resolved that the Education section in the 2004 
Planning Obligations Strategy continues to apply until it is 
replaced by a revised section that will form part of the Planning 
Obligations Strategy 2010.  It forms an appendix to the Planning 
Obligations Strategy (2010) and is a formal part of that 
document. Commuted payments are required towards 
education facilities where four or more additional residential 
units are created and where it has been established that there 
is insufficient capacity to meet demands for educational 
facilities.  

 
8.96 In this case, 106 additional residential units are created and the 

County Council has confirmed that there is insufficient capacity 
to meet demand over all four stages of education. Contributions 
are not required for pre-school education, primary education 
and secondary education for one-bedroom units. Contributions 
are therefore required on the following basis. 

 

Pre-school education 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

 £per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

1 bed 1.5  0 9 0 

2+-
beds 

2  810 97 77,570 

Total 77,570 

 
 

Page 205



Primary education 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

 £per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

1 bed 1.5  0 9 0 

2+-
beds 

2  1350 97 130,950 

Total 130,950 

 

Secondary education 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

 £per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

1 bed 1.5  0 9 0 

2+-
beds 

2  1520 97 147,440 

Total 147,440 

 

Life-long learning 

Type 
of unit 

Persons 
per unit 

 £per 
unit 

Number 
of such 
units 

Total £ 

1 bed 1.5  160 9 1,440 

2+-
beds 

2  160 97 15,520 

Total 16,960 

 
 Household Waste Recycling Centre  
 
8.97 A contribution is sought from all dwellings towards up-grading 

existing/providing new Household Waste Recycling Centres to 
mitigate the impact of new development on these facilities. This 
development lies within the catchment site for Milton.  
Contributions are sought on the basis of £190 per house for four 
new sites giving increased capacity as permanent replacements 
for the existing temporary site at Milton (£20140). Subject to the 
completion of a S106 planning obligation to secure the 
requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy (2004), I am 
satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 5/14 and 10/1 and RECAP Waste Management 
Design Guide SPD 2012. 

 
 

Page 206



Affordable Housing 
 
8.98 The development is required to make provision for affordable 

housing (40%). The detail of the Affordable Housing Scheme 
can be secured through a Section 106 Agreement. 

 
8.99 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 5/5 and 10/1 and the Affordable 
Housing SPD (2008).   

 
Transport 

 
8.100 Contributions towards catering for additional trips generated by 

proposed development are sought where 50 or more (all mode) 
trips on a daily basis are likely to be generated. The site lies 
within the Northern Corridor Area Transport Plan where the 
contribution sought per trip is £399.  

 
8.101 The Highway Authority has made an assessment of the 

proposal, and it accepts that the proposed development is likely 
to generate 813 daily trips by all modes. As this total exceeds 
the daily trips generated by the present use (791) by only 22, 
which is less than the threshold of 50 net additional trips which 
triggers contributions, no contribution towards NCATP is 
required. The applicants have agreed, however, to make a 
contribution of £2000 towards improving the Mitcham’s Corner 
traffic signals. 

 
8.102Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 

secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 8/3 and 10/1. 

 
Public Art  

 
8.103 The development is required to make provision for public art. A 

strategy for this provision has previously been approved by the 
Public Art Co-ordinator and the Public Art Panel. The 
development and implementation of a specific scheme of public 
art needs to be secured by the S106 planning obligation. 

 

Page 207



8.104 Subject to the completion of a S106 planning obligation to 
secure the requirements of the Planning Obligation Strategy 
(2010), I am satisfied that the proposal accords with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 10/1 and the Public Art SPD 
2010. 

 
Monitoring 

 
8.105 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) requires that all new 

developments contribute to the costs of monitoring the 
implementation of planning obligations.  It was agreed at 
Development Plans Scrutiny Sub- Committee on 25 March 
2014 that from 1 April 2014 monitoring fees for all financial and 
non-financial planning obligations will be 5% of the total value of 
those financial contributions (up to a maximum of £50,000) with 
the exception of large scale developments when monitoring 
costs will be agreed by negotiation.  The County Council also 
requires a monitoring charge to be paid for County obligations 
in accordance with current County policy 

 
8.106 For this application, the financial contributions (or financial 

equivalents) for City Council elements (open space, community 
facilities and waste storage) total £1,116,563. 5% of this total is 
£55,828, which exceeds the maximum contribution and 
therefore a monitoring fee of £50,000 is required to cover 
monitoring of City Council obligations plus the County Council 
monitoring fee. 

 
Community Chest 

 
8.107 The Planning Obligation Strategy (2010) allows for development 

specific planning obligations to be sought. In light of the 
proposed provision of the allotments, I recommend that a 
nominal sum of £2,000 is secured for use by any new 
Residents’ Association set up by occupants of the new 
development who may wish to use the monies towards 
community based projects within the site. This could include, for 
example, tools or a basic storage facility(s) for the site.  

 
Conclusion 

 
8.108 I have considered carefully the planning obligation proposals 

put forward by the applicants in the light of the legal 
requirement that any planning obligation be necessary, directly 

Page 208



related to the development and related fairly and reasonably in 
scale and kind to the development.   

 
8.109 The proposals put forward do not provide a separate financial 

contribution for community facilities or outdoor sports facilities in 
line with the total produced by the standard formula used by the 
Council for these categories. I have explained above why I 
consider that the proposals for a new pavilion to the College 
playing fields and extensions and enhancements at Chesterton 
Rec. playing fields should be regarded as fulfilling these 
obligations as well as meeting the need for open space to 
replace the CCFC playing pitch.  

 
8.110 I am satisfied that this properly reflects the need generated by 

the development. I am of the view that without this ‘overlapping’ 
of contributions, the Planning Obligation might fail the test of 
fairness and reasonableness set by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010. As it stands, I am 
satisfied that the obligation passes this test and the other two 
tests set by the CIL regulations 

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The extant permission is a significant material consideration.  

The proposed scheme delivers a reduced number of dwellings 
but improves dwelling mix and allows for an improved layout.  
The mitigation measures secured as part of the previous 
application are secured. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
10.1 1 APPROVE subject to the satisfactory completion of 

the s106 agreement by 30 November 2014 and subject to 
the following conditions and reasons for approval: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Page 209



2. No development shall take place until samples of the materials 
to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

     
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the external surfaces 

is appropriate. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/12 
and 3/14) 

 
3. Before starting any external brick or stone work, or any external  

render or timber, a sample panel of the facing materials to be 
used shall be erected on site to establish the detail of bonding, 
coursing and colour and type of jointing and parapet detailing 
shall be agreed in writing with the local planning authority. The 
quality of finish and materials incorporated in any approved 
sample panel(s), which shall not be demolished prior to 
completion of development, shall be maintained throughout the 
development. All window frames shall be recessed at least 50-
75mm back from the face of the wall/facade.  

      
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the 

quality and colour of the detailing of the 
brickwork/stonework/render/timber and jointing and parapet 
detailing is acceptable and maintained throughout the 
development. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 
3/12) 

  
4. No development shall take place until a traffic management 

plan for the demolition phase has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Demolition 
shall proceed only according to the approved plan. 

    
 Reason: To avoid an unacceptable transport impact. 

(Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policy 8/2) 
 
5. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority no construction work or demolition shall be carried out 
or plant operated other than between the following hours: 0800 
hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 hours to 1300 
hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public 
Holidays. 

     

Page 210



 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 

 
6. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details 

of the following matters shall be submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority in writing. 

   
  I) contractors access arrangements for vehicles, plant 

and personnel, 
   
  ii) contractors site storage area/compound, 
   
  iii) the means of moving, storing and stacking all 

building materials, plant and equipment around and adjacent to 
the site, 

   
  iv) the arrangements for parking of contractors vehicles 

and contractors personnel vehicles. 
   
  Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the approved details. 
   
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties 

during the construction period. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 4/13) 

 
7. Except with the prior agreement of the local planning authority 

in writing, there should be no collection or deliveries to the site 
during the demolition and construction stages outside the hours 
of 0700 hrs and 1900 hrs on Monday - Saturday and there 
should be no collections or deliveries on Sundays or Bank and 
public holidays. 

  
 Reason: Due to the proximity of residential properties to this 

premises and that extensive refurbishment will be required, the 
above conditions are recommended to protect the amenity of 
these residential properties throughout the redevelopment in 
accordance with policies 4/13 and 6/10 of the Cambridge Local 
Plan (2006). 

 

Page 211



8. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby 
approved (including any pre-construction, demolition or 
enabling works), the applicant shall submit a report in writing, 
regarding the demolition / construction noise and vibration 
impact associated with this development, for approval by the 
local authority.  The report shall be in accordance with the 
provisions of BS 5228 'Noise and Vibration Control On 
Construction and Open Sites', especially Part I: 1997 'Code Of 
Practice (COP) for basic information and procedures for noise 
and vibration control', Part 2: 'Guide to noise and vibration 
control legislation for construction and demolition including road 
construction and maintenance' and Part 4: 'COP for noise and 
vibration control applicable to piling operations', (if the 
construction process is to involve piling operations).  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

    
 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbours, and 

to avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4 
and 4/13) 

 
9. In the event of the foundations for the proposed development 

requiring piling, and piling is agreed as appropriate for the site, 
prior to the development taking place the applicant shall provide 
the local authority with a report / method statement for approval 
detailing the type of piling and mitigation measures to be taken 
to protect local residents noise and or vibration. Potential noise 
and vibration levels at the nearest noise sensitive locations shall 
be predicted in accordance with the provisions of BS 5228-
1&2:2009 Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on 
construction and open sites.  Development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.   

  
 Due to the proximity of this site to existing residential premises 

and other noise sensitive premises, impact pile driving is not 
recommended.  

    
 Reason: To avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 

policy 4/13) 
 

Page 212



10. No development shall commence until a programme of 
measures to minimise the spread of airborne dust from the site 
during the demolition / construction period has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbours and highway 

users, and to avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 
policies 3/4, 4/13 and 8/2) 

 
11. Confirmation or not that an on site concrete crusher will be used 

during the demolition stage will be required.  If not, confirmation 
of an appropriate alternative procedure that will be used will be 
required to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

    
 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbours, and 

to avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4 
and 4/13) 

 
12. No development shall take place until details of site lighting 

during the construction period have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Lighting shall 
be installed only according to the agreed details. 

    
 Reason: To protect the residential amenity of neighbours, and 

to avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/4 
and 4/13) 

 
13. No development approved by this permission shall be 

COMMENCED prior to a contaminated land assessment and 
associated remedial strategy, being submitted to the LPA and 
receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA.  
This applies to paragraphs a), b) and c).  This is an iterative 
process and the results of each stage will help decide if the 
following stage is necessary. 

  
 (a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk 

study to be submitted to the LPA for approval.  The desk study 
shall detail the history of the site uses and propose a site 
investigation strategy based on the relevant information 
discovered by the desk study.  The strategy shall be approved 
by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on site. 

Page 213



 (b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, 
surface and groundwater sampling, shall be carried out by a 
suitable qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in 
accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology. 

 (c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works 
and sampling on site, together with the results of the analysis, 
risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the LPA.  The LPA shall approve 
such remedial works as required prior to any remediation 
commencing on site.  The works shall be of such a nature as to 
render harmless the identified contamination given the 
proposed end use of the site and surrounding environment 
including any controlled waters. 

 No development approved by this permission shall be 
OCCUPIED prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of 
approval of the document/documents from the LPA.  This 
applies to paragraphs d), e) and f).   

 (d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on 
site under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate 
compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance.   

 (e) If, during the works contamination is encountered which 
has not previously been identified then the additional 
contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme agreed with the LPA. 

 (f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be 
discharged until a closure report has been submitted to and 
approved by the LPA.  The closure report shall include details of 
the proposed remediation works and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full 
in accordance with the approved methodology.  Details of any 
post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has 
reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from site. 

  
 Reason: To avoid adverse effects of pollution. (Cambridge 

Local Plan (2006) policy 4/13) 
 

Page 214



14. No development shall commence until a surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, which shall include maintenance and 
adoption agreements, based on sustainable drainage principles 
and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological 
context of the development, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme 
shall include:  

   
 - Detailed calculations for any proposed storage requirements 

and discharge rates to a public sewer where applicable.  
 - Details of where a reduction in flows is achieved to show 

betterment from the existing system.  
 - Details of any potential on or off-site flow routes for extreme 

rainfall events for any proposed surface water drainage where it 
is outside its design parameters. 

 - Detailed scheme for the future responsibilities for the 
management of the surface water drainage scheme 

  
 The scheme shall subsequently be implemented and 

maintained in accordance with the approved details before the 
development is completed.  

  
 Reason: To avoid pollution. (Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 

policy 4/13) 
 

Page 215



15. No development shall take place until full details of both hard 
and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority and these works shall 
be carried out as approved.  These details shall include 
proposed finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car 
parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and 
circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and 
structures (eg furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage 
units, signs, lighting); full engineering construction details of 
spaces above car parking; and proposed and existing functional 
services above and below ground (eg drainage, power, 
communications cables, pipelines indicating lines, manholes, 
supports);  where relevant. Soft Landscape works shall include 
planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and 
other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes 
and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate and an 
implementation programme. The submission shall provide full 
details of the arrangements to allow for extensive root growth of 
trees within the public highway. 

     
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that 

suitable hard and soft landscape is provided as part of the 
development. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

 
16. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details, and to a reasonable 
standard in accordance with the relevant recommendation of 
the appropriate British Standard or other recognised code of 
good practice.  The works shall be carried out prior to the 
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with 
the programme agreed by the local planning authority in writing. 
The maintenance shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved schedule. Any trees or plants that, within a period of 
five years after planting, are removed, die or become in the 
opinion of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or 
defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably 
practicable with others of species, size and number as originally 
approved, unless the local planning authority gives its written 
consent to any variation. 

     

Page 216



 Reason: To ensure provision, establishment and maintenance 
of a reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the 
approved design. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 
3/11 and 3/12) 

 
17. No development shall take place until a schedule of landscape 

maintenance for a minimum period of five years has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The schedule shall include details of the 
arrangements for its implementation.  

     
 Reason: To ensure that the landscaped areas are maintained in 

a healthy condition in the interests of visual amenity.  
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 and 3/12) 

 
18. A landscape management plan, including long term (20 year) 

design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than 
small privately owned, domestic spaces, shall be submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority in writing prior to 
occupation of the development or any phase of the 
development whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use. The 
landscape plan shall be carried out as approved. 

     
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that 

suitable hard and soft landscape is provided as part of the 
development. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

 
19. Before the development/use hereby permitted is commenced, a 

scheme for the insulation of the building(s) and/or plant in order 
to minimise the level of noise emanating from the said 
building(s) and/or plant shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and the scheme as 
approved shall be fully implemented before the use permitted is 
commenced. 

  
 Reason: to protect the amenity of nearby properties (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 4/13) 
 

Page 217



20. Prior to the commencement of development/construction, a 
noise insulation/mitigation scheme to reduce the level of noise 
experienced in the residential units as a result of the proximity 
of the habitable rooms to the Artificial Turf Pitch at Chesterton 
Community College shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The scheme shall 
ensure that dwellings achieve the internal noise levels 
recommended in British Standard 8233:2014 "Sound Insulation 
and noise reduction for buildings-Code of Practice".   

  
 The approved scheme shall be fully implemented and a 

completion statement submitted prior to the occupation of the 
noise sensitive development.  The approved scheme shall 
remain unaltered in accordance with the approved details.   

  
 Reason: to protect the amenity of nearby properties (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 4/13) 
 
21. Noise Assessments and Mitigation/Insulation; Plant at the 

Westbrook Centre (BS 4142:1997) 
  
 a. Prior to the commencement of refurbishment/ 

development works a noise report prepared in accordance with 
the provisions of British Standard (BS) 4142:1997, "Method for 
rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial 
areas," that considers the impact of industrial noise upon the 
proposed development shall be submitted in writing for 
consideration by the local planning authority. The survey should 
specifically consider noise from plant at the Westbrook Centre. 

 b. Following the submission of a BS 4142:1997 noise report 
and prior to the commencement of refurbishment/ development 
works, a noise insulation scheme detailing the acoustic noise 
insulation performance specification of the external building 
envelope of the residential units (having regard to the building 
fabric, glazing and ventilation) for protecting the residential units 
from noise from the neighbouring industrial use shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The scheme shall achieve the recommended internal 
noise levels in British Standard 8233:2014 "Sound Insulation 
and noise reduction for buildings-Code of Practice". These 
levels shall be achieved with ventilation meeting both the 
background and summer cooling requirements.  

  

Page 218



 The scheme as approved shall be fully implemented before the 
use hereby permitted is commenced and prior to occupation of 
the residential units and shall not be altered without prior 
approval.  

  
 Reason: to protect the amenity of nearby properties (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 4/13) 
 
22. The new streets to be constructed within the development shall 

be constructed and permanently maintained to an adoptable 
standard.   

  
 Reason: To ensure acceptable access for waste collection 

vehicles (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 3/12) 
 
23. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, the lighting strategy (by 

itdoeslighting dated 6 May 2014) shall be complied with and 
fully implemented and shall thereafter be maintained as such.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that the 

development will not result in unacceptable light pollution 
(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/11, 4/13 and 4/15). 

 
24. No occupation shall take place until an agreement on liability for 

damage to the carriageways within the development has been 
reached between the applicants and Cambridge City Council. 

  
 Reason: to ensure satisfactory arrangements for the collection 

of waste and recycling (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 3/12)   
 
25. No occupation shall take place in Block E or I until the 

renewable energy equipment, as specified in the application for 
that each block, has been installed and tested, and a scheme 
for future maintenance has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate means for the generation of 

renewable energy are in place (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 8/16) 

 

Page 219



26. The development shall not be brought into use until a scheme 
for the provision of fire hydrants has been implemented in 
accordance with a scheme that has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  

  
 Reason: In the interests of community safety Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006 policy 3/7 (h). 
 
27. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, details of Parking 

Management Arrangements shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 
include: 

  
 -how parking within the development is to be managed and 

controlled so that it occurs within designated vehicular parking 
bays.   

 -how the proposed measures are to be publicised to potential 
purchasers.  

 -how the subsequent enforcement of parking that occurs 
outside designated vehicular parking bays is to be managed. 

  
 Prior to the use of any highway for access to an occupied 

residential property, the Parking Management Arrangements 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

  
 Reason: To avoid the proliferation of parking across the site that 

is uncontrolled and can limit the proper functioning of the site, to 
ensure that parking management of the site is consistent at an 
early stage in its development, in the interests of sustainable 
travel choice and to ensure that the site does not become a 
parking refuge for commuters (Cambridge Local Plan policies 
3/1, 3/7, 8/2 and 8/11) 

 
28. Prior to the occupation of any dwelling, a scheme for bio-

diversity enhancement shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

  
 Reason: To ensure a sustainable development which enhances 

bio-diversity (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/1 and 3/12). 
 

Page 220



29. Prior to the occupation of the building hereby approved, full 
details of a travel plan detailing the measures taken to promote 
sustainable travel modes shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The travel plan shall be 
implemented in accordance with that agreed. 

    
 Reason:  In the interests of promoting sustainable travel modes 

for future users of the building, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 8/3. 

 
30. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice schedule, except as required or modified by other 
conditions on this permission. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
 INFORMATIVE: The Council’s document ‘Developers guide to 

Contaminated Land in Cambridge’ provides further details on 
the responsibilities of the developers and the information 
required when assessing potentially contaminated sites. An 
electronic copy can be found on the City council’s website.  

  
 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/ccm/content/environment-and-

recycling/pollution-noise-and-nuisance/land-pollution.en 
  
 Hard copies of the guide can also be provided upon request. 
 
 INFORMATIVE:  To satisfy standard condition C62 (Noise 

Insulation), the rating level (in accordance with BS4142:1997) 
from all plant, equipment and vents etc (collectively) associated 
with this application should be less than or equal to the existing 
background level (L90) at the boundary of the premises subject 
to this application and having regard to noise sensitive 
premises.   

  

Page 221



 Tonal/impulsive noise frequencies should be eliminated or at 
least considered in any assessment and should carry an 
additional 5 dB(A) correction.  This is to guard against any 
creeping background noise in the area and prevent 
unreasonable noise disturbance to other premises. This 
requirement applies both during the day (0700 to 2300 hrs over 
any one hour period) and night time (2300 to 0700 hrs over any 
one 5 minute period). 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  New development can sometimes cause 

inconvenience, disturbance and disruption to local residents, 
businesses and passers by. As a result the City Council runs a 
Considerate Contractor Scheme aimed at promoting high 
standards of care during construction. The City Council 
encourages the developer of the site, through its building 
contractor, to join the scheme and agree to comply with the 
model Code of Good Practice, in the interests of good 
neighbourliness. Information about the scheme can be obtained 
from The Considerate Contractor project Officer in the Planning 
Department (Tel: 01223 457121). 

 
 INFORMATIVE: To satisfy the noise insulation condition, the 

noise level from all plant and equipment, vents etc (collectively) 
associated with this application should not raise the existing 
background level (L90) by more than 3 dB(A) (i.e. the rating 
level of the plant needs to match the existing background level). 
This requirement applies both during the day (0700 to 2300 hrs 
over any one hour period) and night time (2300 to 0700 hrs over 
any one 5 minute period), at the boundary of the premises 
subject to this application and having regard to noise sensitive 
premises.  Tonal/impulsive noise frequencies should be 
eliminated or at least considered in any assessment and should 
carry an additional 5 dB(A) correction.  This is to guard against 
any creeping background noise in the area and prevent 
unreasonable noise disturbance to other premises. 

 
 INFORMATIVE: To satisfy condition 15 (surface water 

drainage), I draw the applicant's/developer's attention to the 
Environment Agency's letter dated 10 June 2014. 

 

Page 222



 INFORMATIVE:  If during the works contamination is 
encountered, the LPA should be informed, additional 
contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme agreed with the LPA. The applicant/agent 
to need to satisfy themselves as to the condition of the land / 
area and its proposed use, to ensure a premises prejudicial to 
health situation does not arise in the future 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  The Council's document 'Developers Guide to 

Contaminated Land in Cambridge' provides further details on 
the responsibilities of the developers and the information 
required to assess potentially contaminated sites.  It can be 
found at the City Council's website on  

 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/ccm/content/environment-and-
recycling/pollution-noise-and-nuisance/land-pollution.en.   

  
 Hard copies can also be provided upon request. 
 
 INFORMATIVE:  Asbestos containing materials (cement 

sheeting) may be present at the site. The agent/applicant 
should ensure that these materials are dismantled and disposed 
of in the appropriate manner to a licensed disposal site. Further 
information regarding safety issues can be obtained from the 
H.S.E.  

 
 INFORMATIVE:  To satisfy the condition requiring the 

submission of a program of measures to control airborne dust 
above, the applicant should have regard to:  

 o Council's Supplementary Planning Document - 
"Sustainable Design and Construction 2007":  

 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/docs/sustainable-design-
and-construction-spd.pdf  

  
 o Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and 

construction 
  http://iaqm.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/guidance/iaqm_guidance_report_draft1.4.pdf 
  
 o Control of dust and emissions from construction and 

demolition - Best Practice Guidance produced by the London 
Councils:  

 http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/bpg/bpg_04.jsp 
  
 

Page 223



 INFORMATIVE:  To satisfy the noise insulation condition for the 
building envelope as required above, the Council expects the 
scheme to achieve the recommended internal noise levels of 
British Standard 8233:2014 "Sound Insulation and noise 
reduction for buildings-Code of Practice". Where sound 
insulation requirements preclude the opening of windows for 
rapid ventilation and summer cooling, acoustically treated 
mechanical ventilation may also need to be considered within 
the context of this internal design noise criteria.   

 
 INFORMATIVE:  It is recommended that the agent/applicant 

submits a noise prediction survey/report in accordance with the 
principles of BS4142: 1997 "Method for rating industrial noise 
affecting mixed residential and industrial areas" or similar, 
concerning the effects on amenity rather than likelihood for 
complaints.  Noise levels shall be predicted at the boundary 
having regard to neighbouring premises.   

  
 Such a survey / report should include:  a large scale plan of the 

site in relation to neighbouring premises; noise sources and 
measurement / prediction points marked on plan; a list of noise 
sources; details of proposed noise sources / type of plant such 
as: number, location, sound power levels, noise frequency 
spectrums, noise directionality of plant, noise levels from duct 
intake or discharge points; details of noise mitigation measures 
(attenuation details of any intended enclosures, silencers or 
barriers); description of full noise calculation procedures; noise 
levels at a representative sample of noise sensitive locations 
and hours of operation. 

  
 Any report shall include raw measurement data so that 

conclusions may be thoroughly evaluated and calculations 
checked. 

 
 INFORMATIVE:  This planning permission should be read in 

conjunction with the associated deed of planning obligation 
prepared under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).  The applicant is reminded that under the 
terms of the s106 Agreement you are required to notify the City 
Council of the date of commencement of development. 

 
2 Unless prior agreement has been obtained from the 
Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chair and 
Spokesperson of this Committee to extend the period for 

Page 224



completion of the Planning Obligation required in 
connection with this development, if the Obligation has not 
been completed by 30 November 2014, or if Committee 
determine that the application be refused against officer 
recommendation of approval, it is recommended that the 
application be refused for the following reason(s): 
 
The proposed development does not make appropriate 
provision for open space arising from the development needs of 
occupiers, appropriate provision for the loss of existing pitch, 
community development facilities, education and life-long 
learning facilities, transport mitigation measures, affordable  
housing, public art, waste storage, waste management facilities 
and monitoring in accordance with Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policies 3/7, 3/8, 3/12, 5/5, 5/14, 8/3 and 10/1 and as detailed in 
the Planning Obligation Strategy 2010, the Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document 2008, the Public Art 
Supplementary Planning Document 2010, the RECAP Waste 
Management Design Guide SPD 2012, the Open Space 
Standards Guidance for Interpretation and Implementation 2010 
and the Northern Corridor Area Transport Plan 2003. 

 
3 In the event that the application is refused, and an 
Appeal is lodged against the decision to refuse this 
application, delegated authority is sought to allow officers 
to negotiate and complete the Planning Obligation required 
in connection with this development 

 

Page 225



Page 226

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 227



Page 228

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 229



Page 230

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 231



Page 232

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 233



Page 234

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 235



Page 236

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 237



Page 238

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 239



Page 240

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 241



Page 242

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 243



Page 244

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 245



Page 246

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 247



Page 248

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE                                     3rd September 2014 

 
Application 
Number 

14/0906/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 7th July 2014 Officer Miss Catherine 
Linford 

Target Date 1st September 2014   
Ward Market   
Site Parkers Piece Parkside Cambridge Cambridgeshire  
Proposal The proposal is to install a temporary real-ice ice 

rink with associated skate hire marquee, viewing 
platform and back-of-house/plant area; a family 
entertainment area with children's rides & food 
concessions; and a christmas market with stalls & 
concessions. The event is to run annually from the 
1st November through until the 31st January, for 
three years running from 01/11/14 through until 
31/01/2017 inclusive. 

Applicant Mr Richard Elmer 
Units 35A/36 New Covent Garden Market London 
SW8 5EE  

 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 

Development Plan for the following reasons: 

1. The proposed temporary use would 

not harm the nature, or use of 

Parker’s Piece, and is acceptable in 

principle; and 

2. Subject to conditions the proposed 

use would not have a detrimental 

impact on neighbouring residents. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The proposed Ice Rink, associated attractions and ancillary 

amenities would be located on the southeastern sector of 
Parker’s Piece, close to the centre, adjacent to the Grade II 
listed Lamp Standard, known as ‘reality check point’.  

Agenda Item 4c

Page 249



 
1.2 Parker’s Piece is allocated as protected open space in the 

Cambridge Local Plan (2006) and is surrounded by a mix of 
uses which include hotels, restaurants and residential, as well 
as Parkside Pool, the Fire Station and the Police Station.  The 
site falls within City of Cambridge Conservation Area No.1 
(Central).  Although no trees on Parkers Piece are covered by 
Tree Preservation Orders they are protected by Conservation 
Area legislation 

 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 Full planning is sought for an ice rink with associated skate hire 

marquee, viewing platform and back of house/plant area; a 
family entertainment area with fairground and food concessions; 
and a Christmas market with stalls and concessions. 

 
2.2 Planning permission is sought for a temporary period from 1st 

November to 31st January inclusive, for three years.  The hours 
of operation/opening would be 11am to 9pm on Mondays-
Fridays, and 10am to 9pm on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 

 
2.3 Amended plans have been received altering the location of the 

proposals to the centre of Parkers Piece, where it has been 
located in previous years.  Originally the proposals were to be 
situated in the eastern corner of Parkers Piece, and 
Environmental Health Officers raised concern about noise. 

 
2.4 This application is not for a ‘Major’ development, but is brought 

to Committee as the consultation included property in both the 
East and West Central Areas of the City. 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 

07/0573/FUL Installation and operation of 
'Hiflyer' tethered balloon (to rise 
to 155.75 metres) with viewing 
platform, winch retrieval, ancillary 
cabling and access works 
(temporary period of 5 years 
operating 12 months of the year). 
 

REF 

Page 250



07/1065/ADV Banner advertisements and 
advertising boards. 

A/C  

07/1067/FUL Temporary ice rink from 
November 2007 to January 2008 
and from November 2008 to 
January 2009, to include viewing 
platform, and marquee structures 
for changing facilities and a café 

A/C 

09/0480/FUL 
 
 
 
 
09/0481/ADV 

Erection of temporary ice rink 
including 2 marquees, a box 
office hut, christmas market, 
advertising, decorations and 
associated fairground rides. 
Erection of 5 hanging signs, 3 
hoarding signs and 3 other signs 
(all signs non illuminated) to 
temporary ice rink. 

A/C 
 
 
 
 
A/C 

10/0590/FUL Temporary ice rink including 2 
marquees, box office hut, 
advertising, decorations and 
associated fairground rides. 

A/C 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes  

 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/7 3/11  

4/2 4/11 4/13 4/15  

6/4  

8/2 8/4 8/6 8/10  

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 

Government 

Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 

2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 

Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

Material 

Considerations 

Area Guidelines 

 

Cambridge Historic Core Conservation Area 

Appraisal (2006)  

Parkers Piece Conservation Plan (2001) 

 

 
5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 

Page 252



will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, the following 
policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance: 
 
Policy 73: Community, sports and leisure facilities 
 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
6.1 The site straddles a popular route for cyclists and pedestrians 

and customers have potential to affect the flow of these 
travellers. The safe speed at which cyclists can traverse the 
area would at times be reduced, however, provided all users of 
the route act with due care and attention, no significant hazard 
should result. 

 
Head of Refuse and Environment 

  
 Original application 
 
6.2 Object due to the location and close proximity to noise sensitive 

properties. It is recommended from an environmental health 
perspective that the application site is located centrally within 
Parkers piece and the associated entertainment ride element 
significantly reduced.   

 
 Amended application 
 
6.3 Comments will be reported on the Amendment Sheet. 
 

Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Landscape Team) 
 
Original application 
 

6.4 No concerns with the concept of the development.  The 

proposed attraction is welcomed as it would benefit Cambridge.  

However, there are concerns with where within Parker’s Piece 

the attraction is sited and it is recommended that it is sited, as in 

Page 253



previous years, more centrally, away from busy surrounding 

foot, cycle and vehicle routes, trees, and residential properties. 

 
 Amended application 
 
6.5 Comments will be reported on the Amendment Sheet. 
 

Urban Design and Conservation team 
 
6.6 There are no Conservation policy issues with this application. 
 

Sport England 
  
 Original application 
 
6.7 Parker’s Piece is considered to be a playing field due to the 

siting of a cricket field in the western quadrant. However, this 
proposal will only affect a small percentage of the site in the 
southern end of the park and will have no adverse impact on 
this cricket field. As far as I am aware the site does not contain 
playing pitches during the winter months, and is used primarily 
for informal recreation.  

 
6.8 In addition, the proposed ice rink will allow people to participate 

in sport and recreation at a time of year when other informal 
opportunities are limited. The proposal can therefore be 
considered to comply with exception E5 of our playing fields 
policy, in that it constitutes an indoor/outdoor sports facility 
where the benefit to the development of sport outweighs any 
detriment caused by the (temporary) loss of playing field.   

 
6.9 This being the case, Sport England does not wish to raise an 

objection to this application. 
  
 Amended application 
 
6.10 Comments will be reported on the Amendment Sheet. 
 
6.11 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
 

Page 254



7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Prior to amendment  
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations: 
 11 Parkside Place 
 9 Regent Terrace 
 11 Regent Terrace 

 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 

 Noise 
 Why has it been placed so close to a residential area 
 The grass will be badly damaged 
 We have recently had a rat infestation and the siting of 

temporary food stalls outside with associated waste and 
litter problems is very concerning 

 
Post amendment 

 
7.3 Representations will be reported on the Amendment Sheet. 
 
7.4 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   

 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Visual impact/impact on Conservation Area 
3. Residential/public amenity 
4. Car and cycle parking  
5. Refuse arrangements 
6. Third party representations 

 
Principle of Development 

 
8.2 The proposed development is located in the centre of Parker’s 

Piece, which is protected open space, as designated by the 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/2.  The policy states that 

Page 255



development will not be permitted that would be harmful to or 
result in the loss of open space of environmental and 
recreational importance unless the open space uses can be 
satisfactorily replaced elsewhere and the site is not important 
for environmental reasons. 

 
8.3 Appendix B of the Cambridge Local Plan sets out the Criteria to 

Assess Open Space.  In the most recent assessment Parker’s 
Piece met criteria a, b, d and e. This highlights that Parker’s 
Piece is important in that: it makes a major contribution to the 
setting, character, structure and environmental quality of the 
City and the local area (criteria a and b); and that it meets the 
criteria for major contribution to the recreational resources of the 
City and local area (criteria d and e).  In my opinion, to comply 
with policy 4/2, none of the above should be harmed or 
prejudiced by this development.   

 
8.4 I consider that the Ice Rink and associated attractions will not 

harm the contribution Parker’s Piece makes to the 
environmental quality of the City.  I have assessed it’s visual 
impact in further detail below, but the open space, because of 
its size will still remain a predominantly ‘green space’. In terms 
of recreational use, Parker’s Piece is used for both formal 
playing pitches and informal play.  The siting of the temporary 
ice rink and ancillary development will not impact on the formal 
pitches, but will take up an area used for informal play and 
recreation.  In my opinion the Ice Rink replaces the existing 
informal recreational aspect of a portion of the overall Piece with 
another, and therefore there is no net loss in recreational 
facilities.  In fact the provision of the Ice Rink will enhance the 
recreational potential providing a City wide provision at a time of 
year that the grassed area would see limited use.  This view has 
been supported by Sport England.  I therefore consider that the 
proposal does not lead to the permanent loss of open space of 
environmental or recreational importance, and is therefore 
consistent with policy 4/2 of the Cambridge Local Plan 2006. 

 
8.5 Policy 6/4 of the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 supports 

development that would maintain, strengthen and diversify the 
range of visitor attractions provided that they relate well to the 
cultural heritage of the city.  It should however be noted that the 
Cambridge Local Plan states that the main purpose of any 
tourist development should be to assist in the interpretation of 
the City, not to attract significantly more visitors to Cambridge.  I 

Page 256



consider that this proposal will strengthen and diversify the 
range of visitor attractions for the City, but will not in itself 
generate significantly more visitors to Cambridge, from outside 
the sub-region, during the Christmas period when more visitors 
are already coming into the City given its sub-regional 
importance. 

 
8.6 In conclusion I consider that the use is consistent with Local 

Plan Policies 4/2, 6/4 and does not harm the nature, or use of 
Parker’s Piece, and is acceptable in principle subject to 
evaluation of the main issues below.  

 
 Visual impact/impact on the Conservation Area 
 
8.7 Parker’s Piece derives its character and special quality from its 

simplicity as an unobstructed area of open space, with grass 
maintained to a high standard, enclosed by forest scale trees 
and some high quality buildings. This is a layout that has 
evolved around the grazing and recreational uses that it has 
supported since 1612.  

 
8.8 Parker’s Piece is essentially uncluttered and free of any large-

scale structures, and is mainly used throughout the year as 
parkland.  However, concerts and large events are also 
regularly held on Parker’s Piece.  Its paths are a very important 
part of the foot and cycle network.  

 
8.9 The impact on the Conservation Area in my opinion is limited; 

the temporary nature of the proposal means that any visual 
impact is wholly reversible and will not permanently harm the 
integrity of the Conservation Area in the long term. Parker’s 
Piece is used for events such as this at several times during the 
year, and that is part of its character and wider use.  There will 
be no negative impact on the grade II listed Lamp Standard, 
and therefore I consider that there is no conflict with Local Plan 
policy 4/10 or 4/11. 

 
8.10 In making the above judgment, it is assumed that when the 

temporary period for the use has ended, the area of land will be 
returned to its former state.  In the previous application, the City 
Council’s landscaping team requested that a condition be 
imposed to ensure that the area of Parker’s Piece to be used is 
returned to an acceptable standard along with a method 
statement detailing how the ground will be de-compacted, turfed 

Page 257



and temporarily fenced to ensure the new grass has time to 
properly establish. I consider that it is necessary to impose this 
condition again (3). 

 
8.11 In my opinion, the proposal is compliant with Cambridgeshire 

and Peterborough Structure Plan (2003) policy P1/3 and 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7, 3/11, 4/10 and 4/11.  

 
 Residential/Public Amenity 

 
8.12 Parker’s Piece has a number of residential properties in close 

proximity to its outer boundaries, and therefore the potential 
impact on these properties has to be assessed.  Environmental 
Health Officers have no objection in principle to the application, 
however, they have suggested a number of conditions related to 
noise, lighting and waste that should be imposed to safeguard 
the amenity of local residents during the proposed temporary 
period of consent.   

 
Noise 

 
8.13 The ice rink has operated for a number of years and 

Environmental Health have not received any complaints.  
However, although the proposed ice rink is the same as that 
provided in previous years, the proposals now include a 
substantial fairground.  In principle, a fairground is acceptable 
as long as noise levels are adequately controlled.  It is 
proposed that music for the fairground is controlled centrally, 
and therefore I recommend a condition requiring the noise level 
from amplification to be restricted so that it does not exceed a 
rating level of 3dB above the background noise level.  This is 
the same restriction that has been applied in previous years (4).   

 
8.14 The rides proposed are generally low key, rides for children, 

with the exception of the Dodgems and Avalanche.  Whilst the 
level of noise created by amplified music or voice can be 
controlled by condition, customers shouting and screaming on 
these larger rides cannot be controlled and Environmental 
Health are, therefore, concerned that these rides may have a 
detrimental impact on residential amenity.  Environmental 
Health have taken the view that, considering the length of time 
the rides would be in place (3 months) only rides such as slides, 
carousels and childrens rides should be installed.  I recommend 
that, notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted plan, 

Page 258



details of all rides shall be submitted by condition (5).  This will 
enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the rides are 
appropriate and that they do not have a significant detrimental 
impact on the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 

 
8.15 Given the conditions suggested by Environmental Health, noise 

levels from the actual use of the Ice Rink, fairground, Christmas 
market, and food concessions should remain as they have been 
in previous years.  However this temporary use may create a 
significant amount of activity in this specific area and local 
residents may see increased footfall in the area above the 
additional Christmas shoppers, residents and commuters.  
Given that Parker’s Piece, at this time of year, would not 
normally expect to see activity this late into the evening, I 
consider that the opening hours suggested by the applicant are 
a good balance between extended use into the evening, and 
safeguarding the interests of neighbours and the impact on 
surrounding land uses.  I recommend that the opening hours 
are controlled by condition (6), along with the hours for setting 
up and dismantling (7). 

 
 Lighting 
 
8.16 It is proposed that the lighting for the ice rink, fairground, 

Christmas market and food concessions are controlled 
centrally.  Glare from external lights could impact on amenity 
and cause a nuisance.  To ensure that the level of illumination 
for the use is appropriate to the area and its proximity to 
residential properties, and to minimise light pollution, it is 
recommended that a lighting plan is submitted by condition (8). 

 
8.17 In my opinion, with appropriate conditions, the proposal 

adequately respects the residential amenity of its neighbours 
and constraints of the site and as such consider that it is 
compliant with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 
4/13. 

 
Cycle access 
 

8.18 In previous years that ice rink has obstructed access across 
Parkers Piece for cyclists.  The applicants have confirmed that 
no part of the site would cross the pathways, and this can be 
ensured by a suitably worded condition (9). 

 

Page 259



Refuse Arrangements 
 
8.19 I am of the opinion that subject to a condition requiring details of 

a waste management strategy, and it subsequent 
implementation, then this issue could be tightly controlled to 
mitigate any adverse impacts from litter and waste on Parkers 
Piece (10).  

 
8.20 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 3/7 and 4/13. 
 

Car and Cycle Parking 
 
8.21 The Highway Authority have been consulted as part of the 

formal application process, and have raised no objections to the 
application or car parking provision associated with the 
proposal, given its very close proximity to the Queen Anne 
public car park on the south eastern side of the Piece. 

 
8.22 The applicant has stated that 50 cycle parking spaces would be 

provided as has been the case in previous years.  No details 
have been submitted and I therefore recommend a condition 
requiring details of the cycle stands and their precise position, to 
ensure that they are suitable (11).  In previous years the City 
Council loaned cycle racks to the event, and I would expect the 
same to happen again, 

 
8.23 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 

Third Party Representations 
 

We have recently had a rat infestation and the siting of 
temporary food stalls outside with associated waste and litter 
problems is very concerning 

 
8.24 The food concessions would be regulated by Environmental 

Health. 
 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 In my opinion, the proposed temporary use would not harm the 

nature, or use of Parker’s Piece, and is acceptable in principle; 
and subject to conditions controlling noise and lighting the 

Page 260



proposals would not have a significant detrimental impact on the 
occupiers of neighbouring properties.  The application is 
therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted is for a temporary period 

only, and shall only be erected, installed and operated on site 
between 01 November in one year and 31 January in the 
following year, in the years 2014-2015, 2015-2016 and 2016-
2017 and at no other time.  Before the end of each period, the 
development and all ancillary equipment, materials and services 
shall have been removed from the site.   

    
 Reason:  The ice rink and ancillary development are acceptable 

only for a limited time in each 12 month period because their 
retention for a longer period would erode the wider potential for 
recreational use of the land at other times of the year.  The 
limitation to a 3 year period is to allow the Local Planning 
Authority the ability to gauge fully the potential impact of the use 
on the site and whether the use is sustainable without long term 
harm to what is a very important open space in the City.  
(Cambridge Local Plan policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11, 4/2, 4/11, 4/13 
and 6/4) 

  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 

Page 261



3. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme detailing 
the method of protection and reinstatement of the grassed area 
underneath and around the proposed development shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Details shall include a timetable of works, the precise 
location of all protection measures and their specific type, 
measures to reinstate and repair the turf once the development 
is removed, the grass mix, and a method statement detailing 
how the ground will be decompacted, turfed, and temporarily 
fenced to protect the new turf.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and time 
scales, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority. 

    
 Reason:  To mitigate against excessive permanent damage to 

the grassed areas of Parkers Piece and to ensure that all 
repairs are to an acceptable standard.  (Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Structure Plan policy P1/3 and Cambridge Local 
Plan policies 3/7, 3/11, 4/2 and 4/11) 

 
4. When measured at any boundary of Parkers Piece, the Noise 

from plant (including generators, chillers and motors) and 
amplified music and voices from the amusements, shall not 
exceed a rating level of 3dB above the background noise level, 
in accordance with BS4142:1997. 

    
 Reason: To protect the amenity of any adjoining or nearby 

residential/sensitive properties.  (Cambridge Local Plan policy 
4/13) 

 
5. Notwithstanding that shown on dwg no, C2070/01/01-F, prior to 

the commencement of use full details of the type and position of 
all fairground rides shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the agreed details. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of any adjoining or nearby 

residential/sensitive properties. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006, 
policy 4/13) 

 

Page 262



6. The ice rink shall only be open to members of the public from 
11:00 hours to 21:00 hours on Mondays, Tuesdays, 
Wednesdays, Thursdays, and Fridays and Saturdays; and from 
10:00 hours to 21:00 hours on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank 
Holidays.   

   
 Reason:  In the interests of the residential amenity of nearby 

occupiers and the general amenity of the site.  (Cambridge 
Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 

 
7. There shall be no erection or dismantling of stages or other 

temporary structures, or unloading/loading of equipment, or 
deliveries/collections or other operational servicing in 
connection with the proposed use between 2300 hours and 
0700 hours on any day, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, or outside the period set out in 
condition 1. 

    
 Reason: To protect the amenity of any adjoining or nearby 

residential/sensitive properties. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 
policy 4/13) 

 
8. Details of all proposed floodlighting or external lighting shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before the use hereby permitted commences.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

    
 Reason: In the interests of amenity. (Cambridge Local Plan 

2006 policies 3/11, 4/13 and 4/15) 
 
9. All hoardings and structures associated with this proposal shall 

be not less than 3m from the pathways crossing Parkers Piece. 
   
 Reason:  To ensure that access remains available across 

Parkers Piece for cyclists and pedestrians. (Cambridge Local 
Plan, policy 8/4) 

 

Page 263



10. Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the 
on-site storage facilities for trade waste, including waste for 
recycling shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.  Such details shall identify the specific 
positions of where wheelie bins, paladins or any other means of 
storage will be stationed and the arrangements for the disposal 
of waste.  The approved facilities shall be provided prior to the 
commencement of the use hereby permitted and shall be 
retained thereafter unless alternative arrangements are agreed 
in writing by the local planning authority. 

    
 Reason: To protect the amenities of nearby residents/occupiers 

and in the interests of visual amenity. (East of England Plan 
2008 policy ENV7 and in accordance with policies 4/13 and 
6/10 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006) 

 
11. No development shall commence until details of facilities for the 

secure parking of 50 number bicycles for use in connection with 
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.  Such 
details shall include the precise location of the provision.  The 
approved facilities shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved details before use of the development commences, 
and retained throughout the duration of the development to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

    
 Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision for the secure storage 

of bicycles. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 8/6) 
  
 

Page 264



TI
TL

E
:

N
O

TE
S
 &

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N
S
:

T
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 P

o
le

@
 P

a
rk

e
rs

 P
ie

c
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

D
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 A

re
a

D
R

A
W

N
:

L
S

C

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

N
/A

W
O

R
K

S
 N

O
:

N
/A

C
LI

E
N

T:

P
R

O
J
E
C

T:

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

Ic
e
 B

o
x

2
6
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 B

 -
 A

re
a
 a

n
d

s
c
a
le

 a
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 R
E
F
 -

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N

C
2
0
7
0
/0

1
/0

2
 -

 B

1
:2

5
0
0
@

A
3

1
4
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
4

D
A

TE
:

S
C

A
LE

:

A
re

a
 -

 1
5
.1

3
8
7
 H

e
c

ta
re

Page 265



Page 266

This page is intentionally left blank



S
k
a

te

E
x
c

h
a

n
g

e

Ic
e

 R
in

k

R
id

e
s

8
0
0
0
 S

Q
M

3
0
0
0
0

3
0
0
0

1
0
1
5
4

1
1
6
5

1
8
1
3
0

1
1
6
8
1

C
h

ri
st

m
a

s 
S
tr

e
e

t 
F
o

o
d

 S
ta

lls

2
3

6
7

1
0

5
1
1

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
5

1
6

1
9

2
02

1
2
1

2
2

2
2

2
2

2
2

2
3

2
4

2
5

2
68

9

1
8

1
7

8
0
0
0

B
o

x

O
ff

ic
e

4
0
0
0

2
1
0
0

B
a

c
k
 O

f

H
o

u
se

1

7
0
0
0
0

8
0
0
0
0

2
0
1
5
1

4

TI
TL

E
:

N
O

TE
S
 &

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N
S
:

T
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 P

o
le

@
 P

a
rk

e
rs

 P
ie

c
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

S
it
e
 P

la
n

D
R

A
W

N
:

L
S

C

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

N
/A

W
O

R
K

S
 N

O
:

N
/A

C
LI

E
N

T:

P
R

O
J
E
C

T:

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

Ic
e
 B

o
x

0
1
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 B

 -
 L

e
g
e
n
d

a
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

1
4
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 C

 -
 L

e
g
e
n
d

a
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

2
6
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 D

 -
 L

e
g
e
n
d

u
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

3
0
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 E

 -
 L

a
y
o
u
t

c
h
a
n
g
e
 a

n
d
 L

e
g
e
n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 -

L
S

C

0
3
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 F

 -
 L

a
y
o
u
t

c
h
a
n
g
e
 a

n
d
 L

e
g
e
n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 -

L
S

C

1
3
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 G

 -
 L

a
y
o
u
t

c
h
a
n
g
e
 -

 L
S

C

1
8
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 H

 -
 D

im
e
n
s
io

n

A
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

1
9
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 I

 -
 D

im
e
n
s
io

n

A
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

1
1
.0

8
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 J

 -
 U

p
d
a
te

d

P
la

n
 -

 L
S

C

1
3
.0

8
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 K

 -
 U

p
d
a
te

d

P
la

n
 -

 L
S

C

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 R
E
F
 -

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N

C
2
0
7
0
/0

1
/0

1
 -

 K

1
:5

0
0
@

A
3

0
1
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
1
4

D
A

TE
:

S
C

A
LE

:

Page 267



Page 268

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE                                     3rd September 2014 

 
Application 
Number 

14/0907/ADV Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 7th July 2014 Officer Miss Catherine 
Linford 

Target Date 1st September 2014   
Ward Market   
Site Parkers Piece Parkside Cambridge Cambridgeshire  
Proposal 7x Fascia signs, 5x hoardings and 4 x banners 
Applicant Mr Richard Elmer Units 35A/36 New Covent 

Garden Market London SW8 5EE 
 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 

Development Plan for the following reasons: 

1. The proposed signs would not have a 

detrimental visual impact; and 

2. The proposed signs would not be 

detrimental to highway safety 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The proposed Ice Rink, associated attractions and ancillary 

amenities would be located on the southeastern sector of 
Parker’s Piece, close to the centre, adjacent to the Grade II 
listed Lamp Standard, known as ‘reality check point’.  
 

1.2 Parker’s Piece is allocated as protected open space in the 
Cambridge Local Plan (2006) and is surrounded by a mix of 
uses which include hotels, restaurants and residential, as well 
as Parkside Pool, the Fire Station and the Police Station.  The 
site falls within City of Cambridge Conservation Area No.1 
(Central).  Although no trees on Parkers Piece are covered by 
Tree Preservation Orders they are protected by Conservation 
Area legislation 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4d

Page 269



2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 Advertisement consent is sought for: 

� Two triangular fascia signs on either end of the skate hire 
marquee 

� Fascia sign wrapping around three sides of the box office 
� Four fascia signs on the barriers of the ice rink 
� Banners on each of the four entrances to Parkers Piece 

 
2.2 Amended plans have been received: 
 

� Altering the location of the proposals to the centre of 
Parkers Piece, where it has been located in previous 
years.  Originally the proposals were to be situated in the 
eastern corner of Parkers Piece, and Environmental 
Health Officers raised concern about noise; and 

� Replacing the proposed A boards with banners. 
 
2.3 This application is not for a ‘Major’ development, but is brought 

to Committee as the consultation included property in both the 
East and West Central Areas of the City. 

 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Outcome 

07/0573/FUL Installation and operation of 
'Hiflyer' tethered balloon (to rise 
to 155.75 metres) with viewing 
platform, winch retrieval, ancillary 
cabling and access works 
(temporary period of 5 years 
operating 12 months of the year). 

REF 

07/1065/ADV Banner advertisements and 
advertising boards. 

A/C  

07/1067/FUL Temporary ice rink from 
November 2007 to January 2008 
and from November 2008 to 
January 2009, to include viewing 
platform, and marquee structures 
for changing facilities and a café 

A/C 

09/0480/FUL 
 
 
 

Erection of temporary ice rink 
including 2 marquees, a box 
office hut, christmas market, 
advertising, decorations and 

A/C 
 
 
 

Page 270



 
09/0481/ADV 

associated fairground rides. 
Erection of 5 hanging signs, 3 
hoarding signs and 3 other signs 
(all signs non illuminated) to 
temporary ice rink. 

 
A/C 

10/0590/FUL Temporary ice rink including 2 
marquees, box office hut, 
advertising, decorations and 
associated fairground rides. 

A/C 

 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes  

 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/15 

4/11  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations 

 

Central 

Government 

Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 

2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 

Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

Material 

Considerations 

Area Guidelines 

 

Cambridge Historic Core Conservation Area 

Appraisal (2006)  

Parkers Piece Conservation Plan (2001) 

 

 
5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, the following 
policies in the emerging Local Plan are of relevance: 
 
Policy 73: Community, sports and leisure facilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 272



6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
6.1 The location of the A-boards is unclear.  These must be 

positioned on areas that do not constitute public rights of way. 
 
Urban Design and Conservation team 

 
6.2 There are no Conservation policy issues with this application. 
 
6.3 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 

have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 No representations have been received. 
 
8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 Paragraph 67 of the NPPF states that poorly placed 

advertisements can have a negative impact on the appearance 
of the built and natural environment. Control over outdoor 
advertisements should be efficient, effective and simple in 
concept and operation. Only those advertisements, which will 
clearly have an appreciable impact on a building or on their 
surroundings, should be subject to the local planning authority’s 
detailed assessment. Advertisements should be subject to 
control only in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking 
account of cumulative impacts. 

 
8.2 The NPPG requires that local planning authorities control the 

display of advertisements in the interests of amenity and public 
safety, taking into account the provisions of the development 
plan, in so far as they are material, and any other relevant 
factors.  Unless the nature of the advertisement is in itself 
harmful to amenity or public safety, consent cannot be refused 
because the local planning authority considers the 
advertisement to be misleading (in so far as it makes misleading 
claims for products), unnecessary, or offensive to public morals. 

 
 

Page 273



Amenity – Impact on the character of the building and the street 
scene 

 
8.3 The proposed signs would be associated with the proposed ice 

rink, fairground, Christmas market and food concessions.  In my 
opinion, the proposed signs would not have a detrimental 
impact on the Conservation Area as they are of a temporary 
nature and would be removed once the event closes.    

 
8.4 In my opinion, the proposed signs comply with policies 3/4, 

3/15, and 4/11 of the Cambridge Local Plan (2006, the 
Cambridge City Council Shopfront Design Guide (1997), and 
government guidance in the NPPF. 

 
Public safety – Impact on highway safety 

 
8.5 I am of the opinion that the proposed signs would not pose a 

danger to highway safety. The Highway Authority officer shares 
this view.   

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 As the proposed signs would be temporary and associated with 

an event it is my opinion that they would not have a detrimental 
impact on the character or appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  The application is therefore recommended for approval. 

 
10.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The advertisements hereby permitted are for a temporary 
period and shall only be erected or installed on site between 01 
November in one year and 31 January in the following year, in 
the years 2014-2015, 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 and at no 
other time.  Before the end of each period, the development and 
all ancillary equipment, materials and services shall have been 
removed from the site.  At the end of the respective periods, all 
of the advertisements shall be removed in full from the site 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   

    

Page 274



 Reason:  The ice rink and ancillary development are acceptable 
only for a limited time in each 12 month period because their 
retention for a longer period would erode the wider potential for 
recreational use of the land at other times of the year.  The 
limitation to a 3 year period is to allow the Local Planning 
Authority the ability to gauge fully the potential impact of the use 
on the site and whether the use is sustainable without long term 
harm to what is a very important open space in the City.  
(Cambridge Local Plan policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11, 4/2, 4/11, 4/13 
and 6/4) 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

Page 275



Page 276

This page is intentionally left blank



TI
TL

E
:

N
O

TE
S
 &

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N
S
:

T
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 P

o
le

@
 P

a
rk

e
rs

 P
ie

c
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

D
e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 A

re
a

D
R

A
W

N
:

L
S

C

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

N
/A

W
O

R
K

S
 N

O
:

N
/A

C
LI

E
N

T:

P
R

O
J
E
C

T:

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

Ic
e
 B

o
x

2
6
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 B

 -
 A

re
a
 a

n
d

s
c
a
le

 a
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 R
E
F
 -

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N

C
2
0
7
0
/0

1
/0

2
 -

 B

1
:2

5
0
0
@

A
3

1
4
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
4

D
A

TE
:

S
C

A
LE

:

A
re

a
 -

 1
5
.1

3
8
7
 H

e
c

ta
re

Page 277



Page 278

This page is intentionally left blank



S
k
a

te

E
x
c

h
a

n
g

e

Ic
e

 R
in

k

R
id

e
s

8
0
0
0
 S

Q
M

3
0
0
0
0

3
0
0
0

1
0
1
5
4

1
1
6
5

1
8
1
3
0

1
1
6
8
1

C
h

ri
st

m
a

s 
S
tr

e
e

t 
F
o

o
d

 S
ta

lls

1 2

3

5
5

5 5

8

1
1

1
0

1
2

1
2

6

8
0
0
0

B
o

x

O
ff

ic
e

7

4
0
0
0

2
1
0
0

B
a

c
k
 O

f

H
o

u
se

7
0
0
0
0

8
0
0
0
0

2
0
1
5
1

4

TI
TL

E
:

N
O

TE
S
 &

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N
S
:

T
H

e
 N

o
rt

h
 P

o
le

@
 P

a
rk

e
rs

 P
ie

c
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

A
d
v
e
rt

is
in

g
 S

p
a
c
e
 1

 -
 2

D
R

A
W

N
:

L
S

C

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

N
/A

W
O

R
K

S
 N

O
:

N
/A

C
LI

E
N

T:

P
R

O
J
E
C

T:

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

Ic
e
 B

o
x

3
0
.0

5
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 B

 -
 P

la
n
 a

n
d

L
e
g
e
n
d
 U

p
d
a
te

d

1
3
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 C

 -
 L

a
y
o
u
t

C
h
a
n
g
e
 -

 L
S

C

1
9
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 D

 -
 L

a
y
o
u
t

C
h
a
n
g
e
 -

 L
S

C

2
3
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 E

 -
 A

 B
o
a
rd

s

a
d
d
e
d
 -

 L
S

C

0
7
.0

7
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 F

 -
 L

e
g
e
n
d

U
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

1
4
.0

8
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 G

 -
 L

e
g
e
n
d

U
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 R
E
F
 -

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N

C
2
0
7
0
/0

2
/0

1
 -

 G

1
:5

0
0
@

A
3

1
4
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
4

D
A

TE
:

S
C

A
LE

:

Page 279



Page 280

This page is intentionally left blank



1

2

3

1
4
9
7
7

5

4

S
k
a

te

E
x
c

h
a

n
g

e

Ic
e

 R
in

k

R
id

e
s

8
0
0
0
 S

Q
M

3
0
0
0
0

3
0
0
0

1
0
1
5
4

1
1
6
5

1
8
1
3
0

1
1
6
8
1

C
h

ri
st

m
a

s 
S
tr

e
e

t 
F
o

o
d

 S
ta

lls

8
0
0
0

B
o

x

O
ff

ic
e

4
0
0
0

2
1
0
0

B
a

c
k
 O

f

H
o

u
se

7
0
0
0
0

8
0
0
0
0

2
0
1
5
1

3

1

2

5

4
TI

TL
E
:

N
O

TE
S
 &

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N
S
:

T
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
 P

o
le

@
 P

a
rk

e
rs

 P
ie

c
e
 C

a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

B
a
n
n
e
r 

p
o
s
it
io

n
s

D
R

A
W

N
:

L
S

C

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

:

N
/A

W
O

R
K

S
 N

O
:

N
/A

C
LI

E
N

T:

P
R

O
J
E
C

T:

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g
e

Ic
e
 B

o
x

1
3
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 B

 -
 P

la
n

u
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

1
9
.0

6
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 C

 -
 P

la
n

u
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

0
7
.0

7
.2

0
1
4
 -

 R
e
v
 D

 -
 P

la
n

u
p
d
a
te

d
 -

 L
S

C

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 R
E
F
 -

 R
E
V

IS
IO

N

C
2
0
7
0
/0

2
/0

2
 -

 D

1
:2

1
0
0
@

A
3

1
4
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
4

D
A

TE
:

S
C

A
LE

:

3
 p

o
si

ti
o

n

S
c

a
le

 1
:5

0
0

1
 p

o
si

ti
o

n

S
c

a
le

 1
:5

0
0

2
 a

n
d

 5
 p

o
si

ti
o

n

S
c

a
le

 1
:5

0
0

1
 p

o
si

ti
o

n

S
c

a
le

 1
:5

0
0

Page 281



Page 282

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE                        3rd September 2014 

 
Application 
Number 

14/0591/FUL Agenda 
Item 

 

Date Received 14th May 2014 Officer Mr Toby 
Williams 

Target Date 13th August 2014   
Ward Kings Hedges   
Site North Cambridge Academy  Arbury Road 

Cambridge CB4 2JF 
Proposal Demolition of existing school buildings and erection 

of new 2-storey school and associated parking and 
landscaping 

Applicant  
 

SUMMARY The development accords with the 

Development Plan for the following reasons: 

-The principle of a replacement school is 

acceptable and would provide a valuable 

new educational and community facility. 

-The design is adequate and the scheme 

would replace an existing school building in 

a very poor state of repair. 

RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION/AREA CONTEXT 
 
1.1 The site comprises the school buildings, car parking and 

playing fields associated with the North Cambridge Academy 
(formerly the Manor Community College) located on the north 
eastern side of Arbury Road. It excludes a tower building and 
its immediate surrounds currently occupied by Bellerby’s 
College, a private tutorial college.  

 
1.2 The site is 7.4Ha in size and incorporates a significant extent of 

protected open space (4.9Ha) in the form of playing fields and 
tennis courts.  

 

Agenda Item 4e

Page 283



1.3 The main frontage of the site is onto Arbury Road. The main 
vehicular access is to the west of this. A separate 
pedestrian/cycling access is from the north east of the site over 
the sports pitches. The side and rear boundaries of the site 
abut two storey residential properties and the boundary of the 
Grove School’s playing field. Close to the site is the Colleges’ 
Nursery Family Centre on Campkin Road and opposite the site 
is Arbury Court local centre. 
 

1.4 The existing buildings are flat roofed, in a poor state of repair 
and date from 1959.  
 

1.5 The site is not allocated in the Cambridge Local Plan (2006). It 
is not within a Conservation Area and there are no Listed 
Buildings or Buildings of Local Interest on or adjacent to it. 
Whilst there are trees on site, none are protected. The site falls 
outside the controlled parking zone. 

 
2.0 THE PROPOSAL 
 
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the demolition of 

existing school buildings and erection of a new 2-storey school 
with associated parking and landscaping. The demolition works 
exclude the existing, more modern sports hall and buildings, 
including a tower, occupied by Bellerby’s College.  
 

2.2 The proposal will provide a replacement standalone building 
catering for a total of 750 pupils (the current intake is 450). It 
would be sited to the north east of the main school buildings 
back from the road and would be formed from two main wings 
running perpendicular to Arbury Road, joined by a horizontal 
section which would be the entrance point. The new school 
would be built whilst the main part of the existing school 
buildings are occupied. Once complete, the remaining school 
buildings would be demolished and the area in front 
landscaped.  
 

2.3 The application is submitted as part of the Government’s 
Priority School Building Programme being delivered by the 
Education Funding Agency. In order to be eligible for the 
programme, applicants have to demonstrate a significant 
condition need. The North Cambridge Academy is one of 261 
schools across the Country that was considered to have a 

Page 284



pressing need to be rebuilt. From my site visit, it was clear that 
the buildings are in a very poor state of repair.  

 
2.4 The application is accompanied by the following supporting 

information: 
 

1. Planning Statement 
2. Design and Access Statement 
3. Transport Assessment Report 
4. Arboricultural Survey Report 
5. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
6. Flood Risk Assessment 
7. Acoustic Survey Report 
8. Geo-Environmental Desk Study 

 
2.5 Amended plans have been received which show the following 

revisions: 
 

1. Revised landscaping to the front, rear court and side, 
including larger entrance plaza with seating and visitor 
cycle parking (20spaces) 

2. Additional footpaths 
3. Changes to the treatment of the elevations 
4. Covered staff cycle parking area 
5. Introduction of signage 
6. New front canopy over entrance 
7. Screening for roof top plant 

 
2.6 Re-consultation has been carried out on the amendments. 
 
3.0 SITE HISTORY 
 
3.1 Extensive history but none relevant to this proposal.  
 
4.0 PUBLICITY   
 
4.1 Advertisement:      Yes  
 Adjoining Owners:     Yes  
 Site Notice Displayed:     Yes  
 
4.2 A public consultation event was held at the Academy on the 2 

April 2014. Local residents, pupils, parents and local Councillors 
were invited to view the proposal via a letter drop and via the 
Academy’s web-site.  

Page 285



 
5.0 POLICY 
 
5.1 See Appendix 1 for full details of Central Government 

Guidance, Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies, Supplementary 
Planning Documents and Material Considerations. 

 
5.2 Relevant Development Plan policies 
 

PLAN POLICY NUMBER 

Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006 

3/1 3/4 3/6 3/7 3/11 3/12  

4/2 4/4 4/13 4/15 

5/11 5/12  

8/2 8/4 8/6 8/16 8/18 

 
5.3 Relevant Central Government Guidance, Supplementary 

Planning Documents and Material Considerations 
 

Central 

Government 

Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework March 

2012 

National Planning Policy Framework – 

Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 

Circular 11/95 

Supplementary 

Planning 

Guidance 

Sustainable Design and Construction 2007 

 

Material 

Consideration 

Open Space and Recreation Strategy 2011 

Joint 

Ministerial 

Statement 

‘Policy Statement – planning for schools 

development’ August 2011.  

 
 

Page 286



5.4 Status of Proposed Submission – Cambridge Local Plan 
 

Planning applications should be determined in accordance with 
policies in the adopted Development Plan and advice set out in 
the NPPF. However, after consideration of adopted plans and 
the NPPF, policies in emerging plans can also be given some 
weight when determining applications. For Cambridge, 
therefore, the emerging revised Local Plan as published for 
consultation on 19 July 2013 can be taken into account, 
especially those policies where there are no or limited 
objections to it. However it is likely, in the vast majority of 
instances, that the adopted development plan and the NPPF 
will have considerably more weight than emerging policies in 
the revised Local Plan. 

 
For the application considered in this report, there are no 
policies in the emerging Local Plan of relevance. 
 

6.0 CONSULTATIONS 
 

Cambridgeshire County Council (Highways Development 
Management) 

 
6.1 No Objection: The number of students will remain the same in 

the short/medium term. The development will not have a 
significant impact on the network. The level of car parking will 
remain the same. Cycle parking should be provided in 
accordance with adopted standards. A Travel Plan has been 
submitted that requires revisions that can be secured via 
condition. The layout drawing indicates sufficient manoeuvring 
space for vehicles.  

 
Head of Refuse and Environment 

 
6.2 No objection: Recommends conditions in relation to: 

contaminated land, construction hours, demolition/construction 
noise, collection/delivery times, control of dust, plant/building 
noise insulation, external sports facilities noise impact 
assessment, external sports facilities hours of use, odour/fume 
filtration extraction, external flood-lighting, operational waste 
storage/collection. Informatives are also proposed.  

 
 
 

Page 287



Head of Streets and Open Spaces (Landscape Team) 
 

6.3 Application as submitted 

 

Objection: The Landscape Team, whilst supportive of the 

scheme in principle, do not support the application as currently 

submitted.  More details associated with the comments listed 

above must be provided for a full assessment of the scheme. 

In summary: 

 A detailed planting plan showing all proposals, planting lists, 

hedge types and intended heights, and showing amendments 

recommended within the comments 

 Street furniture, lighting, and hard works plans with some 

detailed areas highlighted, in particular, the courtyard area. 

 Cycle parking strategy drawing showing locations and type of 

provision or shelter 

 

With the submission of the above amendments and further 

information, we may be able to support the proposed 

application. A number of suggested conditions have been 

provided below should the application be approved.  

 

Application as amended 

 

The changes to the courtyard are satisfactory. The proposals 
are not fully explanatory, but the plans appear to be showing 
benches, division of space and more planting. This is suitable 
given the limitations of the scheme. The frontage has been 
improved. Support for the scheme is given subject to conditions.  

 
Urban Design and Conservation team 

 
6.4 Application as submitted 
 
 The arrangement of windows and spandrel panels emphasises 

the horizontal form of the building. Recessing or projecting 
elements of the building would help break up the longer 
elevations. The treatment of the elevations does not respond to 
the intended functions within the building, particularly the main 
entrance and hall.  

Page 288



 
Amendments are needed to the proposed landscape treatment:   

 
-Provide threshold planting to soften the appearance of the 
building. 
-Hedge planting is needed in front of the fence between the 
Bellerby’s Building and proposed school.  

 
The following information needs to be provided:  

 
-Details of the treatment of the Bellerby’s Building, including (if 
necessary) reinstating any walls and windows following 
demolition;  
-Details of the functional requirements of the Bellerby’s Building;  
-Details of the location and arrangement of rainwater goods, 
window and door reveal depths and vents/flue extracts need to 
be provided;  
-Treatment of the external plant building and substation, and;   
-Details of cycle parking numbers.  

 
Application as amended 

 
 The following amendments are supported: 

 
-Frontage landscaping (including grass terracing, birch copse, 
benches and additional tree planting).  

 -Inclusion of coloured panels on the elevations.  
 -Additional cycle parking stands to the front. 
 -Introduction of signage. 
 -Plant screen setback.  

-Introduction of canopy welcomed in principle but seeks lighter 
weight design and lower height via condition.  

 
It is disappointing that further amendments to the elevations to 
include more recesses/projections and variation in roof heights 
have not been undertaken. Overall the amendments are 
generally acceptable.  

 
Environment Agency 

 
6.5 No Objection on the grounds of flood risk. Recommend a 

surface water drainage condition and surface water drainage 
management condition.  

 

Page 289



 Sport England 
 
6.6 No Objection: The rebuilding of the school will largely be 

restricted to land within its existing footprint. The sports hall and 
artificial grass pitch would not be affected. The existing 
changing rooms will be demolished and new ones provided 
within the new building close to the sports hall. A strip of a part 
of a playing field (40m x 5m) will be lost, however, the main 
playing field and sports pitches will be largely unaffected. 
Additional informal green areas will be created to the NW of the 
new building. No objection to the loss of the strip as it affects 
land incapable of forming a playing pitch. The playing fields 
should not be used for construction materials/compounds.   

 
A new fitness studio within the changing room block will be 
provided. The new main hall will be available for use by the 
wider community. The existing gym will be lost, which is a base 
for Cambridge Gymnastics Academy. The school and club are 
in dialogue to agree the details of the multi-purpose hall 
(adjacent to the main hall) being converted for gymnastics. The 
application should be subject to a planning condition to ensure 
the relocation (on or off-site) of the club prior to the loss of the 
existing facility. A new or updated community use agreement for 
the indoor and outdoor sports facilities is recommended.    
 
Anglian Water 
 

6.7 No objection: Recommends surface water condition 
 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary (Architectural Liaison 
Officer) 
 

6.8 There is a lack of surveillance of the cycle storage across the 
site. The racks could be located in a more favourable position, 
such as in front of the school offices. CCTV is not proposed. 
The external lighting strategy is acceptable. Night purging 
should be secure.  
 
Cambridgeshire County Council (Archaeology) 

 
6.9 No Objection: There is evidence of Roman settlement in the 

vicinity of the site. Recommends an archaeological investigation 
to be secured via condition.  

 

Page 290



Design and Conservation Panel (Meeting of 11 December 
2013) 
 

6.10 1. Presentation - North Cambridge Academy, Arbury Road. 
 
The pre-application proposal for a new secondary school 
following the demolition of the existing school buildings. 
Presentation by Phil Houghton of the Education Funding 
Agency, architect David Shaw (CPMG), the Principal of North 
Cambridge Academy Martin Campbell with Alan McLaughlin 
and Colin Watkins of building and construction company Wates.  
 
Jo Morrison was not present for the presentation and therefore 
did not participate in the vote.  
 
The Panel’s comments are as follows: 
 

 The Panel noted that the strategy for the development of the 
school’s site is highly pragmatic being largely shaped by the 
over-riding requirement for the academy to remain operational 
in its existing buildings during the single phase construction 
period and without re-course to the use of temporary on-site 
accommodation. The Panel also noted the attempts by planning 
officers to explore the development of a scheme within the 
context of a master-plan which factored in the potential 
availability of the Bellerby’s site in the longer term. 

 Relationship to the school’s playing fields. The Panel felt the 
new site layout addressed the areas of protected open space 
effectively. It was noted that the access points on the boundary 
of the playing fields would need to be carefully managed for 
security purposes. 

 Landscaping. Currently, this aspect seems to have been given 
only minimal attention. Should funding become available, it is 
hoped that the site’s landscaping could be enhanced. Panel 
would not wish to see future car parking allowed to encroach on 
to the landscaped area between the new school and Arbury 
Road. 

 Materials (render onto block work). The Panel expressed some 
concern regarding the basic level of detailing applied here and 
urged the need for careful design and application, so as to 
ensure that the external rendered finishes do not deteriorate 
within a relatively short timescale. 

 Internal corridors. In the Panel’s view, the potentially hostile 
environment of the long, narrow, artificially lit corridors needs to 

Page 291



be enhanced through the incorporation of natural light via sun 
pipes and/or roof lights. 

 Cycle parking access and provision. Little detail was provided 
on the space provided or on the arrangement and style of cycle 
racks. It is hoped that details of such provision, including the 
surveillance of such areas are included in the planning 
application. 

 Hard play area (community parking). The Panel would welcome 
some consideration given to the provision of an official spill-out 
area for community use, instead of the vehicular turning circle 
as currently proposed.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The Panel were conscious of the tight budgetary 
constraints and quality of education imperatives 
associated with the early delivery of the proposed scheme. 
In such circumstances, the proposed site arrangement 
appears to offer the optimum layout. The Panel were 
however, supportive of the attempts by planning officers to 
explore the development of a scheme within the context of 
a masterplan. The Panel would urge that careful 
consideration is given to enhancing the quality of; the 
internal corridors, the external finishes to the new 
buildings, landscaping and cycle provision. 
 
VERDICT – GREEN (6), AMBER (1) with 1 abstention.  

 
 Cambridge City Council Access Officer 
 
6.11 No objection. Recommends that the reception and classrooms 

should have hearing loops installed. Signage and colour 
contrast in the internal fit-out should be implemented. Changing 
facilities should be in accordance with Sport England Guidance.  

 
 Cambridge City Council Senior Sustainability Officer 
 
6.12 Building Design: The following measures are supported: 
 

-Hybrid ventilation strategy with heat recovery  
-Large opening windows with solar control glazing and internal 
blinds  
-Fabric first approach, exceeding Building Regulations 
-Night purge ventilation 

Page 292



-Flexible building layout 
 
 Renewables: 
 

Policy 8/16 requires developers of major proposals to meet at 
least 10% of their proposals energy requirements through the 
use of on-site renewable energy provision. Further information 
in relation to carbon calculations and the specification of the 
photovoltaic system has been provided in an Energy Statement. 
The planning submission proposes the use of photovoltaic 
panels to meet the requirements of policy.  
 
A 28 KWP photovoltaic array has been specified to deliver the 
carbon reduction. The application is given full support. 

 
Cambridge City Council Sustainable Drainage Officer 
 

6.13 No objection: The surface water strategy (using soakaways and 
an under drained swale) is adequate. Recommends a surface 
water condition based upon infiltration tests.  

 
 Cambridge City Council Cycling and Walking Officer 

 
6.14 Application as submitted 
 

The cycle parking provision is inadequate. The draft Travel Plan 
does not inform the provision. Additional cycle parking for 
pupils, secure/covered cycle parking for employees and visitor 
cycle parking near the entrance should be provided.  
 
Application as amended 

 
 No comments have been provided at the time of writing this 

report. I will report any further comments on the amendment 
sheet or orally at the meeting.  

 
 Cambridge City Council Public Art Officer 
  
6.15 Application as submitted 
 

Objection: The application does not contain any details for the 
provision of public art. The revisions have not addressed this 
issue. 

 

Page 293



6.16 The above responses are a summary of the comments that 
have been received.  Full details of the consultation responses 
can be inspected on the application file.   

 
7.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
 
7.1 The owners/occupiers of the following addresses have made 

representations on the plans as submitted: 
 

-19 Blackthorn Close  
-15 Shelly Garden 
-123 Woodhead Drive 

 
7.2 The representations can be summarised as follows: 
 
 Plans as submitted 
 
 -There is no visitor cycle parking.  
 -Cycle provision for students should be more ambitious.  

-The cycle racks should better positioned so that they are 
overlooked.  
 
-The school grounds include an area behind the newly installed 
metal fence which is the responsibility of the school to maintain.  
-Trees that were felled some years ago should be replanted 
adjacent to the tennis courts.  
 
-The impact of the building on residential amenity is unclear.  
-Clarification regarding construction access is required. 

 
 Plans as amended  
 

-The cycle parking has been reduced in overall quantity albeit 
visitor spaces are now provided at the front of the building. 
Provision should be made in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted standards.  

 
7.3 The above representations are a summary of the comments 

that have been received.  Full details of the representations can 
be inspected on the application file.   

 
 
 
 

Page 294



8.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 From the consultation responses and representations received 

and from my inspection of the site and the surroundings, I 
consider that the main issues are: 

 
1. Principle of development 
2. Context of site, design and external spaces 
3. Public Art 
4. Renewable energy and sustainability 
5. Disabled access 
6. Residential amenity 
7. Refuse arrangements 
8. Highway safety and travel plan 
9. Car and cycle parking 
10. Third party representations 
11. Other issues 

 
Principle of Development 
 

8.2 The North Cambridge Academy (NCA) caters for pupils of 
between 11-16 and stands in a prominent location off Arbury 
Road in the heart of the community. The redevelopment of the 
site has the potential to greatly improve the design and 
presence of the school within the local community and this 
proposal represents a key opportunity. The school buildings are 
evidentially in a poor condition and the fact that they have 
qualified for the Government’s Priority School Building 
Programme is an indication of the need for a replacement.  

 
8.3 In my opinion, the principle of a replacement school is 

acceptable and is in accordance with policies 5/11 and 5/12 of 
the Cambridge Local Plan 2006. The existing school buildings 
clearly suffer from dilapidation and are not of any merit. Whilst 
any part(s) of the existing school could be repaired, there are 
clearly advantages associated with a new build scheme in terms 
of energy efficiency, operational improvements and circulation. 

 
Context of site, design and external spaces 
 
Siting and Landscaping  
 

8.4 The submitted scheme proposes to demolish the existing school 
buildings and build a new school to the rear of the existing 

Page 295



grouping of buildings. This would take the form of a two storey 
building consisting of two wings with a recessed central link 
where the main entrance would be located. Behind this would 
be a 16m wide central courtyard space enclosed on three sides 
and partially hemmed-in by the retained sports hall to the north 
east.  
 

8.5 The north western wing of the building would provide shared 
space: for students during school hours; and for members of the 
public out of school hours. Within this wing the wider community 
would be able to utilise changing facilities, a fitness studio, a 
learning resource centre and a new multi-purpose hall. The 
retained sports hall to the north would continue to be available 
for use by the community. The scheme shows the retention of 
the Bellerby’s building, in County Council ownership, to the 
north west of the site. Existing car parking provision and access 
arrangements and the caretaker’s house on the frontage would 
be retained.  
 

8.6 The siting of the school building is a result of the decision to 
maintain educational continuity by retaining the majority of the 
school buildings during the build. The use of temporary 
accommodation during the construction phase has been ruled 
out because of cost. Whilst this is understandable it has 
compromised the ability to optimise the quality of layout and 
design of the new school. Initially a limited number of buildings 
will be demolished on the edge of the existing open space. This 
will make for a cleared construction site. The new school will be 
built and then the existing school decanted and demolished with 
the frontage area that is then released being landscaped.  
 

8.7 Whilst it is accepted that a new school is urgently needed, and 
the current school does not make a positive contribution to the 
appearance of the area, I do not consider the siting of the new 
school has maximised the constraints and opportunities of the 
site and pragmatic decisions about costs have driven less than 
ideal development solutions. The new school block is set further 
back from the Arbury Road frontage, is cramped in form and 
would have less of a presence than the existing school 
buildings. It also means that a large area of land is left to the 
front with potentially little practical means of use. Students are 
mainly to have access to this space as a means of arrival and 
departure because it is not within the secure area of the school. 
The new school would also be sited adjacent to the retained 

Page 296



Bellerby’s building and the two buildings, to my mind, will 
visually jar for as long as the Bellerby’s building stands. This 
has reduced the opportunity for a new civic building to make an 
improved contribution to the appearance and townscape of this 
part of the city, and to the aspirations of the students studying 
here. 
 

8.8 Given this a high quality landscape scheme is needed for the 
frontage to make it a successful place. The initial proposal failed 
to achieve this, incorporating mainly large grassed areas, with a 
small entrance court, little landscaping variety or visual focus to 
the building entrance.  
 

8.9 The applicants have amended their proposal. The front area 
now includes a science garden and horticultural growing beds 
projecting from the southernmost wing. This would be fenced off 
and landscaped, but would enable glimpse views through. It is a 
practical and interesting use of the frontage.  
 

8.10 Alongside the science garden would be a new shared 3m wide 
pedestrian/cycle path. This has come forward as part of the 
amendments and would be a natural route for pupils arriving 
from the south. Within the centre of the landscaped frontage is 
a grass terraced bund forming an amphitheatre. It would 
measure 34m x 35m and be accessed from the main diagonal 
path cutting through the site leading to the entrance. It would be 
a significant feature. If robustly constructed, it would be utilised 
for supervised outdoor theatre/performances or study and is a 
welcome amendment.  
 

8.11 Around the main entrance, the revised plans have extended the 
hard landscaping space to include a tarmac court with seating 
and visitor cycle parking for 20 bikes. This would sit adjacent to 
a triangular area of ornamental planting.  

 
8.12 The Bellerby’s building is set to the front left of the main 

diagonal approach behind a new hedge and tree planting on top 
of a proposed low level grass bund with Birch copse. This will 
partially soften the visual presence of the Bellerby’s tower. 
These revisions are also welcome.  

 
8.13 To the rear, a 16m wide courtyard space is proposed between 

the two extending wings. The plans for this space as submitted 
showed it as a grassed area whereas the amended plan shows 

Page 297



seating, tree planting and a variety of surfacing materials. 
Officers have encouraged an imaginative design for this 
courtyard space to promote outside learning. The amended 
plans give a ‘nod’ in the right direction albeit that I am 
disappointed that larger scale and more detailed plans have not 
been developed.  
 

8.14 To the west of the rear wing is an outside hard landscaped area 
that will also function for community parking during out of school 
hours. Tarmac is proposed as the main surfacing material and 
will be differently coloured to create visual interest. This space 
shows limited planting or seating. In my opinion, it remains a 
disappointment and could be designed to a higher standard to 
include: more planting; more seating (as it is adjacent to the 
dining hall); and a variety of different surfacing materials (such 
as paving) perhaps with some form of outside shelter.  
 

8.15 In summary, the front landscaping space, that is most visible to 
members of the public, has been improved through the most 
recent revisions. My view is that this area has been enhanced 
and is acceptable. The rear spaces require further detailed 
design work to be acceptable which can be secured through 
condition 16.  
 
Massing and Design 
 

8.16 The proposed two storey height is in keeping with the 
surroundings. In my opinion, more height could be given to the 
entrance point to emphasise its position on the site but this has 
not been offered by the applicants. Instead, a frontage canopy 
has been added to the scheme which would project from the 
roof level by 2.5m. It would provide limited shelter at this height 
and at this projection, but together with the signage adjacent 
would provide a degree of focus and legibility to the entrance. 
The Urban Design officer has welcomed its provision in 
principle but has suggested the detailed design of the canopy 
should be subject to condition 14.  
 

8.17 The scheme incorporates long and flat elevations. This is most 
true of the eastern elevation which is 89m. It contains no form of 
projecting or recessed element(s) and no variation in roof 
height. I would describe this elevation as flat and lacking 
articulation. It is typical of all the building elevations apart from 
the entrance, which are made up from a combination of either 

Page 298



white render or buff brick, with smaller grey rendered panels 
between grey aluminium windows and narrow coloured 
aluminium panels. 
 

8.18 Officers have sought amendments to the elevations to create a 
greater degree of interest but these have not been provided. 
Instead, alterations to the fenestration have been carried out 
which has involved the reduction in grey render and the 
insertion of the coloured panels to break up the horizontal 
planes. The colouring reflects that of the Academy’s signage 
and denotes the school’s house structure. In my opinion, the 
panels add interest to otherwise bland and functional looking 
facades.  
 

8.19 The Design and Conservation Panel and Urban Design 
colleagues have raised concern with the ‘basic level of detailing 
applied’ and have ‘urged the need for careful design and 
application’ particularly of the render. A number of conditions 
(13 and 14) are proposed to capture these elements.  

 
Summary 
 

8.20 The design of the building could be much improved and whilst 
officers recognise the financial constraints here they remain 
concerned that this represents a lost opportunity to do a better 
scheme for the benefit of pupils and residents of this part of the 
City. It reflects the functional use of the spaces inside and the 
limited budget available under the Priority School Building 
Programme. The response to officers’ concerns has been 
disappointing, however, I am mindful of the improvement to the 
landscaped elements of the proposal, particularly the frontage 
together with the introduction of the canopy and the coloured 
paneling. In my opinion, the scheme is adequate to gain officer 
support and I consider it compliant with Cambridge Local Plan 
(2006) policies 3/4, 3/7, 3/11, 3/12.  
 
Co-ordinated Development  
 

8.21 The proposal includes the retention of the building occupied by 
Bellerby’s (a private tutorial college) and the demolition of a 
number of single storey buildings to the front of it. The part 
occupied by Bellerby’s is in the separate ownership of the 
County Council which was transferred to them on the creation 
of the North Cambridge Academy. It is in a very poor state of 

Page 299



repair.  It would make sound planning sense to redevelop this 
part of the site at the same time or at the very least develop a 
masterplan for it.   
 

8.22 Officers have encouraged the development of a scheme within 
the context of a master-plan, which can factor in the potential 
availability of the Bellerby’s site in the longer term. This has not 
been forthcoming but I do not consider that it is a reason to 
resist the proposal under Cambridge Local Plan policy 3/6.  
 
Public Art 
 

8.23 The applicants have provided little information with regard to 
their approach to public art despite officers requesting a public 
art delivery plan at pre-application and application stages. They 
have indicated that they have made contact with Kettle's Yard 
art gallery, who are keen to support and help to deliver a public 
art project. The Academy and EFA have expressed an interest 
in delivering the public art through student experiences and 
learning; as well as the installation of a physical object. 

 
8.24 The frontage of the site would appear to offer ample opportunity 

for a public art project. It is disappointing that nothing has been 
developed. I recommend condition 21 to secure a public art 
delivery plan for the site.  I am mindful of the constrained 
budget for this project and at the applicant’s request I am 
agreeable to a revision to the wording of the condition to secure 
a value of public art up to 1% of the capital construction costs.  
 

8.25 Subject to this condition, in my opinion the proposal is compliant 
with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 10/1 and the 
Public Art SPD 2010 
 
Renewable energy and sustainability 
 

8.26 The applicants propose a hybrid ventilation strategy with heat 
recovery; large opening windows with solar control glazing; 
internal blinds, a fabric first approach, exceeding Building 
Regulations; night purge ventilation; and a flexible building 
layout. The approach is to minimise energy demand. The 
measures are welcomed by the Council’s Senior Sustainability 
Officer. 
 

Page 300



8.27 Policy 8/16 requires developers of major proposals to meet a 
10% renewable energy requirement. The planning submission 
proposes the use of photovoltaic panels. These would be 
located on the rear, inner side of the western wing. The 
Council’s Senior Sustainability Officer, following the submission 
of further information, has given her full support to the 
approach.  
 

8.28 In my opinion, the applicants have suitably addressed the issue 
of sustainability and renewable energy and the proposal is in 
accordance with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policy 8/16 and 
the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 2007. 
 
Disabled access 
 

8.29 Level access would be available from all car parking areas. 
There would be level thresholds at all entrances and a lift 
positioned centrally within the entrance foyer. 4 disabled 
parking bays are designated within the eastern car parking 
area. Out of hours disabled parking would also be available 
adjacent to the western wing. The applicants advise that the 
dedicated 4 spaces are 75 metres from the main entrance. This 
is far from ideal and it is unclear whether this route would be 
available as it would be across the projecting wing between the 
science garden, which is shown to be gated. I recommend 
condition 18 to ensure this aspect of the scheme is considered 
more thoroughly as it may be more convenient for disabled 
parking bays to be located within the drop-off area further up 
Arbury Road. I also recommend that the Access Officer’s 
comments are appended as an informative to any permission.   
 

8.30 Subject to condition, in my opinion the proposal is compliant 
with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 3/7 and 3/12. 
 
Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring occupiers 
 

8.31 The building would be 2 storeys (7.8m to the parapet). Given 
the set-back location of the building it is relatively remote from 
nearby dwellings and I do not consider its physical presence 
would cause any significant issues in terms of dominance of 
built form, over-shadowing or loss of privacy.  
 

Page 301



8.32 The main impact on nearby residents will be the construction 
process. Subject to the various conditions recommended by my 
colleagues in Environmental Health to mitigate the construction 
impact in terms of hours of working, noise and dust etc. I find 
the scheme acceptable (see conditions 5-12) and compliant 
with policies 3/4 and 3/7. 
 
Refuse Arrangements 
 

8.33 Refuse would be collected from the rear adjacent to the 
westernmost wing where a dedicated bin store is provided. The 
location of the bin store is close proximity to the kitchen. 
Adequate space has been provided for refuse vehicles to turn 
and collect bins.  The proposal is compliant with Cambridge 
Local Plan (2006) policy 3/12. 
 
Highway Safety and Travel Plan 
 

8.34 The Highways Officer has raised no objection to the proposal. 
The number of students will remain the same in the 
short/medium term and the existing access arrangements would 
remain unaltered. A draft Travel Plan has been submitted that 
the County Transport Team advise requires revision. I intend to 
secure this via condition 19.  

 
8.35 In my opinion the proposal is compliant with Cambridge Local 

Plan (2006) policy 8/2. 
 
Car and Cycle Parking 
 
Car Parking 
 

8.36 The existing car parking is to remain unaltered and provides 
120 spaces (30 of which are allocated for Bellerby’s). The 
spaces are mainly located along the northwestern edge of the 
site. 16 spaces are provided adjacent to the western wing, 
directly south of the retained sports hall and a further car 
parking area, with disabled provision, is located to the south of 
the easternmost wing.  
 

8.37 The standards require a maximum of 2 spaces for every 3 staff, 
5% of which should be disabled. 80 staff are currently employed 
on site but this could rise to 100 if the school was fully enrolled. 

Page 302



The standards therefore require a maximum of 67 spaces, 4 of 
which should be disabled.  
 

8.38 Technically there is an overprovision of 23 car parking spaces. 
The standards allow for some flexibility in their application 
where there is a redevelopment of a site with an existing 
authorized level of car parking higher than specified in the 
standards. In my view, subject to a robust travel plan secured 
though condition 19, I have no issue with the level of car 
parking proposed as it would be practically difficult to find 
another use for these spaces in the short term.  
 
Cycle Parking 
 

8.39 The school currently provides 180 cycle parking spaces. The 
application, as amended, proposes 200 cycle parking spaces in 
total. The provision is in three areas:  

 
-20 visitor spaces adjacent to the main entrance 
-92 staff spaces, covered and secure, to the west of the western 
wing 
-88 pupil spaces, uncovered to the rear of the site 
 

8.40 The adopted standards require cycle spaces for 75% of all 
pupils. 450 students are currently enrolled at the school 
therefore requiring some 338 spaces, which could rise if the 
school was at full capacity to 563 spaces. Therefore, against 
the standards there is an overall deficit of at least 138 spaces 
which is recognised by the Council’s Walking and Cycling 
Officer and in third party representations.   
 

8.41 The applicants have been encouraged to reconsider the 
location of the cycle parking to make it more visible. Currently 
neither area for staff or pupils is surveyed by windows in the 
building. The applicants do not intend to install CCTV. The 
Architectural Liaison Officer has raised this as an issue and I 
agree with him that the location and nature of provision is poor. 
I have also advised the applicants to consider a phased 
provision for cycle parking and for this to be indicated on the 
revised plans. This has not been provided.  
 

8.42 The applicants have instead put forward amendments altering a 
pupil cycle store to a staff cycle store. This has been covered 
and secured with one entrance point and is located to the west 

Page 303



of the entrance. The level of provision for staff appears 
excessive given that there are more spaces proposed than staff 
currently employed. It is also not reflective of the 2006 Travel 
Survey submitted by the applicants - that is out of date - which 
indicates that only 6% of staff cycled to work. The revisions, if 
accepted, would mean that if students wished to cycle they 
would have to park their bikes at the very rear of the site. The 
route to this from Arbury Road would be circuitous.  
 

8.43 The provision of 20 visitor spaces to the front of the main 
entrance is welcomed, but there is no provision for visitors to 
the rear adjacent to the sports hall or changing facilities. This 
would also appear to be necessary.  

 
8.44 The approach to cycle parking provision as part of this new 

development demonstrates a lack of coordinated thinking 
regarding its location and distribution. It is not easily accessed, 
the quantity is below the adopted standard and security and 
surveillance of cycle spaces is poor. I recommend condition 15 
to deal with this outstanding issue.  
 

8.45 Subject to this condition, in my opinion the proposal is compliant 
with Cambridge Local Plan (2006) policies 8/6 and 8/10.  
 
Third Party Representations 
 

8.46 A number of representations have raised issues regarding cycle 
parking. I agree with these concerns. The issues have been 
addressed in the preceding paragraphs. 
 

8.47 One representation seeks to clarify the Academy’s responsibility 
for maintenance of its grounds and replanting for trees that 
have been felled. The responsibility for maintenance is not a 
planning issue. The issue of the tree loss is not for this 
application albeit that the frontage of the site will be subject to 
new planting.  
 

8.48 The impact of the construction process and access is to be 
secured via conditions 5-12. 
 
Other Issues 
 

8.49 A strip of a part of a playing field (40m x 5m) will be lost to the 
new footprint of the building. This is designated as protected 

Page 304



open space. The main playing field and sports pitches will be 
largely unaffected. An additional informal green area will be 
created to the NW of the new building. Sport England raise no 
objection to the loss of the strip as it affects land incapable of 
forming a playing pitch. 
 

8.50 Sport England state that the existing gym will be lost, which is a 
base for Cambridge Gymnastics Academy who regularly utilise 
the facility. The school and club are in dialogue to agree the 
details of the multi-purpose hall (adjacent to the main hall) being 
converted for gymnastics. Sport England advise that the 
relocation of the club should be subject to a planning condition 
prior to the loss of the existing facility. I agree and recommend 
condition 22.  
 

8.51 As existing outdoor pitch provision and the existing sports hall 
are to be unaffected by the proposal, I do not consider it 
necessary to secure an updated community use agreement as 
recommended by Sport England.  

 
9.0 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The principle of a replacement school is acceptable. The design 

is adequate and subject to conditions appropriate cycle parking 
provision and the detailed design of the building, including its 
canopy can be agreed. A public art proposal has not been 
developed for the site but subject to a planning condition there 
is no reason why this could not be incorporated into the 
frontage of the site.  

 
9.2 This is an important project that will deliver the rebuilding and 

investment in a new school. The scheme’s ability to deliver a 
high quality new school that maximises the constraints and 
opportunities of this site has been partially compromised by a 
number of pragmatic decisions including the site constraints, 
the need for continuing education within the existing building 
and EFA funding levels. Amendments to this scheme have 
addressed some of issues that have arisen. Other issues 
remain and are to be agreed through condition. I recommend 
approval.  

 
 
 
 

Page 305



10.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE subject to completion of the s106 Agreement and 
the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
   
 Reason: In accordance with the requirements of section 51 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans as listed on this decision 
notice. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of good planning, for the avoidance of 

doubt and to facilitate any future application to the Local 
Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
3. The proposed 28 KWP photovoltaic array as set out in the 

Energy Statement of 25 July 2014 by Commercial Services 
Design Ltd shall be installed on the building and be fully 
functional in accordance with the approved details prior to 
occupation of the new school building.  

  
 Reason: In order to ensure compliance with Cambridge Local 

Plan 2006 policy 8/16.   
 
4. Contaminated land 
  
 No development approved by this permission shall be 

COMMENCED prior to a contaminated land assessment and 
associated remedial strategy, being submitted to the LPA and 
receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA.  
This applies to paragraphs a), b) and c).  This is an iterative 
process and the results of each stage will help decide if the 
following stage is necessary. 

 (a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk 
study to be submitted to the LPA for approval.  The desk study 
shall detail the history of the site uses and propose a site 
investigation strategy based on the relevant information 
discovered by the desk study.  The strategy shall be approved 
by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on site. 

Page 306



 (b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, 
surface and groundwater sampling, shall be carried out by a 
suitable qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in 
accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology. 

 (c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works 
and sampling on site, together with the results of the analysis, 
risk assessment to any receptors and a proposed remediation 
strategy shall be submitted to the LPA.  The LPA shall approve 
such remedial works as required prior to any remediation 
commencing on site.  The works shall be of such a nature as to 
render harmless the identified contamination given the 
proposed end use of the site and surrounding environment 
including any controlled waters. 

 No development approved by this permission shall be 
OCCUPIED prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of 
approval of the document/documents from the LPA.  This 
applies to paragraphs d), e) and f).   

 (d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on 
site under a quality assurance scheme to demonstrate 
compliance with the proposed methodology and best practice 
guidance.   

 (e) If, during the works contamination is encountered which 
has not previously been identified then the additional 
contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate 
remediation scheme agreed with the LPA. 

 (f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be 
discharged until a closure report has been submitted to and 
approved by the LPA.  The closure report shall include details of 
the proposed remediation works and quality assurance 
certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full 
in accordance with the approved methodology.  Details of any 
post-remedial sampling and analysis to show the site has 
reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the 
closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from site. 

  
 Due to the proximity of this site to existing residential premises 

and other noise sensitive premises, impact pile driving is not 
recommended.   

  

Page 307



 Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties and future 
occupiers of the building (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 
4/13) 

 
5. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority in writing no construction work or demolition shall be 
carried out or plant operated other than between the following 
hours: 0800 hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800 hours 
to 1300 hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or 
Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties. 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 
6. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby 

approved (including any pre-construction, demolition, enabling 
works or piling), the applicant shall submit a report in writing, 
regarding the demolition/construction noise and vibration impact 
associated with this development, for approval by the local 
authority.  The report shall be in accordance with the provisions 
of BS 5228:2009 Code of Practice for noise and vibration 
control on construction and open sites and include full details of 
any piling and mitigation measures to be taken to protect local 
residents from noise and or vibration. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In order to safeguard residential amenity (Cambridge 

Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 
7. Except with the prior written agreement of the local planning 

authority, there should be no collection or deliveries to the site 
during the demolition and construction stages outside the hours 
of 0700 hrs and 1900 hrs on Monday - Saturday and there 
should be no collections or deliveries on Sundays or Bank and 
public holidays. 

  
 Reason: Due to the proximity of residential properties 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 

Page 308



8. No demolition shall commence until a programme of measures 
to minimise the spread of airborne dust from the site during the 
demolition / construction period has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme.  

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13) 
 
9. Before any plant is installed, a scheme for the insulation of the 

building(s) and/or plant in order to minimise the level of noise 
emanating from the said building(s) and/or plant shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and the scheme as approved shall be fully 
implemented before the use hereby permitted is commenced. 

  
 In order to safeguard residential amenity (Cambridge Local Plan 

2006 policy 4/13) 
  
10. Prior to the installation of any equipment for the purposes of 

extraction and filtration of fumes/odours, details of the 
equipment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority.  The approved extraction/filtration 
scheme shall be installed before the building is occupied. 

  
 Reason: To protect the amenity of nearby properties 

(Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13). 
 
11. Details of any proposed floodlighting or external lighting shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority prior to its installation.  Development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of amenity. (Cambridge Local Plan 

2006 policies 3/11 and 4/15) 
 

Page 309



12. Prior to the commencement of development a Construction 
Method Statement (CMS) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  The CMS shall provide a 
specific construction programme and a plan identifying: the 
contractor site storage area/compound; screening and hoarding 
locations; access arrangements for vehicles, plant and 
personnel; building material, plant and equipment storage 
areas; contractor parking arrangements for construction and 
personnel vehicles; and the location of contractor offices. 
Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance 
with the agreed details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure the environmental impact of the 

construction of the development is adequately mitigated and in 
the interests of the amenity of nearby residents/occupiers and 
the safety of pupils (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 4/13). 

 
13. No development, apart from demolition works and below ground 

infrastructure works, shall take place until samples of the 
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 
of the development hereby permitted have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the external surfaces 

is appropriate (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4 and 
3/12) 

 
14. Apart from demolition works or below ground infrastructure 

works, and notwithstanding the approved plans the following 
details shall be provided:  

  
 -Prior to commencement of development, revised details of the 

proposed canopy, alternative plans for its design, preferably at 
a lower level and with greater projection, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  

  
 -Prior to its installation, plans and details regarding roof access 

and maintenance arrangements. Externally visible balustrading 
will not be acceptable. A mansafe system or similar should be 
installed. 

  

Page 310



 -Prior to its installation, details of signage and way-finding 
placeholders. 

  
 Reason: The proposed canopy would provide little physical 

cover from the rain and is poorly designed. As this is the main 
entrance to the site, a more attractive, light weight canopy 
should be designed which also fulfils its functional purpose 
(Cambridge Local Plan policy 3/12). 

 
15. The new school building shall not be occupied until full details of 

facilities for the partially covered, secure parking of bicycles for 
use in connection with the development hereby permitted have 
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing. The agreed facilities shall provide for both 
visitors, pupils and employees, be easily accessible and be 
provided in accordance with the approved details. The 
approved facilities, which shall include a phasing plan for 
provision in the event that pupil numbers rise, shall be provided 
before use of the development commences. 

  
 Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for the secure storage 

of bicycles (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy 8/6).  
 
16. Within six months of the commencement of development, full 

details of both hard and soft landscape works shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority and these works shall be carried out in accordance 
with an agreed phasing plan.   

  
 Hard landscaping details shall include: proposed finished levels 

or contours; means of enclosure; other vehicle and pedestrian 
access and circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor 
artefacts and structures (e.g. external seating and shelter, 
refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting); proposed and 
existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines indicating 
lines, manholes, supports). 

  
 Soft Landscape works shall include: planting plans; written 

specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate, grading and sections for 
the proposed amphitheatre and an implementation programme. 

Page 311



  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure that 

suitable hard and soft landscape is provided as part of the 
development. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 3/11 
and 3/12) 

 
17. All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details, and to a reasonable 
standard in accordance with the relevant recommendation of 
the appropriate British Standard or other recognised code of 
good practice. Any trees or plants that, within a period of five 
years after planting, are removed, die or become in the opinion 
of the local planning authority, seriously damaged or defective, 
shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with 
others of species, size and number as originally approved, 
unless the local planning authority gives its written consent to 
any variation. 

  
 Reason: To ensure provision, establishment and maintenance 

of a reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the 
approved design. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policies 3/4, 
3/11 and 3/12) 

 
18. Prior to the occupation of the building, plans shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority which 
show the location of at least 4 disabled car parking bays.  

  
 Reason: The current proposed location may be unsuitable for 

disabled access purposes (Cambridge Local Plan policy 3/7). 
 
19. Within 3 months of the occupation of the building, a Travel Plan 

for the Academy shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan shall be 
implemented in accordance with the agreed provisions. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the sustainable travel to and from 

the site (Cambridge Local Plan policies 8/2, 8/4, 8/6). 
 
20. No development shall take place within the site until the 

applicant, or their agent or successors in title, has secured the 
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in 
accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has 
been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. 

Page 312



  
 Reason: To ensure that an appropriate archaeological 

investigation of the site has been implemented before 
development commences. (Cambridge Local Plan 2006 policy  
4/9) 

 
21. Within six months of the commencement of development, a 

Public Art Delivery Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and shall include the 
following: 

  
 -Details of the Public Art and artist commission; 
 -Details of how the Public Art will be delivered, including a 

timetable for delivery; 
 -Details of the location of the proposed Public Art on the 

application site; 
 -A breakdown of costs and how one percent - or an alternative 

cost otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority - 
of the capital construction costs will be spent on the provision of 
Public Art; 

 -The proposed consultation to be undertaken with the local 
community; 

  
 The approved Public Art Delivery Plan shall be fully 

implemented in accordance with the approved details and 
timetable. 

  
 Reason: To accord with the provisions of Cambridge City 

Council Public Art SPD (2010) and policies 3/4 and 3/7 of the 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006. 

  
 Prior to the occupation of the development, a Public Art 

Maintenance Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority and shall include the following: 

  
 -Details of how the Public Art will be maintained;  
 -How the Public Art would be decommissioned if not 

permanent; 
 -How repairs would be carried out; 
 -How the Public Art would be replaced in the event that it is 

destroyed; 
  

Page 313



 The approved Public Art Maintenance Plan shall be fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. Once in 
place, the Public Art shall not be moved or removed otherwise 
than in accordance with the approved Public Art Maintenance 
Plan. 

  
 Reason: To accord with the provisions of Cambridge City 

Council Public Art SPD (2010) and policies 3/4 and 3/7 of the 
Cambridge Local Plan 2006. 

 
22. Prior to the loss of the existing gym or in accordance with an 

alternative timescale agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, a relocation plan for the Cambridge Gymnastics 
Academy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The relocation plan shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

  
 Reason: To ensure the future of this community sports club who 

currently operate from the gym facility that will be lost as a 
result of the redevelopment (Cambridge Local Plan policy 6/1) 

 
23. Prior to the commencement of development a surface water 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall use infiltration as a 
method of surface water disposal and be based upon infiltration 
tests that have been undertaken and which are submitted 
alongside the scheme to form the basis of calculations for the 
design of the proposed soakaways. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of sustainable drainage (Cambridge 

Local Plan policy 3/1) 
  
 Informatives 
  
 Contaminated land  
  
 If during the works contamination is encountered, the LPA 

should be informed, additional contamination shall be fully 
assessed and an appropriate remediation scheme agreed with 
the LPA. The applicant/agent to need to satisfy themselves as 
to the condition of the land / area and its proposed use, to 
ensure a premises prejudicial to health situation does not arise 
in the future Contaminated Land Guide.  

Page 314



 The Council's document 'Developers Guide to Contaminated 
Land in Cambridge' provides further details on the 
responsibilities of the developers and the information required 
to assess potentially contaminated sites.  It can be found at the 
City Council's website on  

 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/ccm/content/environment-and-
recycling/pollution-noise-and-nuisance/land-pollution.en.   

 Hard copies can also be provided upon request. 
  
 Asbestos 
  
 Asbestos containing materials (ACMs) may be present at the 

site. The contaminated land investigation/report should consider 
ACMs within the Conceptual Site Model.  The agent/applicant 
should ensure that these materials are dismantled and disposed 
of in the appropriate manner to a licensed disposal site. Further 
information regarding safety issues can be obtained from the 
H.S.E.  

  
 Demolition/construction noise/vibration report 
  
 The noise and vibration report should include: 
  
 a) An assessment of the significance of the noise impact due 

to the demolition/construction works and suitable methods for 
this are to be found in BS 5228:2009 Part 1 Annex E - 
Significance of noise effects. It is recommended that the ABC 
method detailed in E.3.2 be used unless works are likely to 
continue longer than a month then the 2-5 dB (A) change 
method should be used. 

  
 b) An assessment of the significance of the vibration impact 

due to the demolition/construction works and suitable methods 
for this are to be found in BS 5228:2009 Part 2 Annex B - 
Significance of vibration effects. 

 If piling is to be undertaken then full details of the proposed 
method to be used is required and this should be included in the 
noise and vibration reports detailed above. 

  

Page 315



 Following the production of the above reports a monitoring 
protocol should be proposed for agreement with the Local 
Planning Authority. It will be expected that as a minimum spot 
checks to be undertaken on a regular basis at site boundaries 
nearest noise sensitive premises and longer term monitoring to 
be undertaken when:- 

  
 o Agreed target levels are likely to exceeded 
 o Upon the receipt of substantiated complaints 
 o At the request of the Local Planning Authority / 

Environmental Health following any justified complaints. 
 Guidance on noise monitoring is given in BS 5228:2009 Part 

1Section 8.4 - Noise Control Targets and in Annex G - noise 
monitoring.  

  
 A procedure for seeking approval from the Local Planning 

Authority (LPA) in circumstances when demolition/construction 
works need to be carried out at time outside the permitted 
hours. This should incorporate a minimum notice period of 10 
working days to the Local Planning Authority and 5 working 
days to neighbours to allow the Local Planning Authority to 
consider the application as necessary. For emergencies the 
Local Planning Authority should be notified but where this is not 
possible the Council's Out of Hours Noise service should be 
notified on 01233 457457. 

  
 Contact details for monitoring personnel, site manager including 

out of hours emergency telephone number should be provided.   
  
 Demolition/Construction Dust  
  
 To satisfy the condition requiring the submission of a program 

of measures to control airborne dust above, the applicant 
should have regard to:  

  
 o Council's Supplementary Planning Document - 

"Sustainable Design and Construction 2007":  
 http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/public/docs/sustainable-design-

and-construction-spd.pdf  
  
 o Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and 

construction 
  http://iaqm.co.uk/wp-

content/uploads/guidance/iaqm_guidance_report_draft1.4.pdf 

Page 316



  
 o Control of dust and emissions from construction and 

demolition - Best Practice Guidance produced by the London 
Councils:  

 http://www.london.gov.uk/thelondonplan/guides/bpg/bpg_04.jsp 
  
 Plant noise insulation 
  
 To satisfy standard condition C62 (Noise Insulation), the rating 

level (in accordance with BS4142:1997) from all plant, 
equipment and vents etc (collectively) associated with this 
application should be less than or equal to the existing 
background level (L90) at the boundary of the premises subject 
to this application and having regard to noise sensitive 
premises.   

  
 Tonal/impulsive noise frequencies should be eliminated or at 

least considered in any assessment and should carry an 
additional 5 dB(A) correction.  This is to guard against any 
creeping background noise in the area and prevent 
unreasonable noise disturbance to other premises. This 
requirement applies both during the day (0700 to 2300 hrs over 
any one hour period) and night time (2300 to 0700 hrs over any 
one 5 minute period). 

  
 It is recommended that the agent/applicant submits a noise 

prediction survey/report in accordance with the principles of 
BS4142: 1997 "Method for rating industrial noise affecting 
mixed residential and industrial areas" or similar, concerning the 
effects on amenity rather than likelihood for complaints.  Noise 
levels shall be predicted at the boundary having regard to 
neighbouring premises.   

  
 Such a survey / report should include:  a large scale plan of the 

site in relation to neighbouring premises; noise sources and 
measurement / prediction points marked on plan; a list of noise 
sources; details of proposed noise sources / type of plant such 
as: number, location, sound power levels, noise frequency 
spectrums, noise directionality of plant, noise levels from duct 
intake or discharge points; details of noise mitigation measures 
(attenuation details of any intended enclosures, silencers or 
barriers); description of full noise calculation procedures; noise 
levels at a representative sample of noise sensitive locations 
and hours of operation. 

Page 317



  
 Any report shall include raw measurement data so that 

conclusions may be thoroughly evaluated and calculations 
checked. 

  
 Odour and Fume Cupboards 
  
 To satisfy standard condition C60 (Odour/Fume 

Filtration/Extraction), details should be provided in accordance 
with Annex B and C of the, "Guidance on the Control of Odour 
and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust Systems," 
prepared by Netcen on behalf of Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) dated January 2005 available 
at: 

  
 http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130123162956/http

:/www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/noise/research/kitchene
xhaust/documents/kitchenreport.pdf 

  
 The application should take into account BS EN 14175 (Fume 

Cupboards) and, if relevant, BS 7989:2001 (Specification for 
Recirculatory Filtration Fume Cupboards) which provide the 
necessary guidance on heights required for adequate 
dispersion and technologies to be used. 

  
 Noise from Use of External Sports Pitches 
  
 It is recommend a noise impact assessment is undertaken to 

establish the impact the proposed sports pitch will have on local 
amenity and its location suitability, incorporating an 
amalgamation of guidance from the following standards and 
organisations: 

  
 o BS 4142:1997  
 o BS 8233:2014 

o World health organisation - guidelines on community 
noise 

o Chartered institute of Environmental health: Clay target 
shooting (contains guidance on impact noise that is 
relevant and can be adapted for this proposed 
development). 

  
 
 

Page 318



External Lighting 
 

 To satisfy the lighting condition the artificial lighting scheme for 
the approved use shall include details of any external lighting of 
the site such as street lighting, floodlighting, security lighting 
and an assessment of impact on any sensitive residential 
premises both on and off site. This information shall include 
layout plans / elevations with luminaire location annotated, full 
vertical and horizontal isolux contour maps, hours and 
frequency of use, a schedule of equipment in the design 
(luminaire type / profiles, mounting height, aiming angles / 
orientation, angle of glare, operational controls) and shall 
assess artificial light impact off-site and at proposed residential 
premises and at artificial light sensitive premises in accordance 
with the Institute of Lighting Engineers  'Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011'. Advice from the 
Council's biodiverstiy officer should also be sought. 

  
 Health and Safety 
  
 As the premises is intended to be run as a school/academy, the 

applicant is reminded of their duty under the Construction 
(Design and Management) Regulations 2007 to ensure that the 
that all significant risks related to the design and operation of 
the premises are minimised.  Contact the Food and 
Occupational Safety (FOS) Team of the Refuse and 
Environmental Service at Cambridge City Council on telephone 
number (01223) 457890 for further information. 

  
 Food Safety 
  
 As the premises will be providing food to occupants, the 

applicant is reminded that under the Food Safety Act 1990 (as 
amended) the premises will need to registered with Cambridge 
City Council. In order to avoid additional costs it is 
recommended that the applicant ensure that the kitchen, food 
preparation and foods storage areas comply with food hygiene 
legislation, before construction starts. Contact the Commercial 
Team of the Refuse and Environmental Service at Cambridge 
City Council on telephone number (01223) 457890 for further 
information. 

  
 
 

Page 319



 Licensing 
  
 If the premises is intended to provide alcohol, regulated 

entertainment or food after 11pm or before 5am it may require a 
Premise Licence under the Licensing Act 2003.  The applicant 
is advised to contact The Licensing Team of Environmental 
Health at Cambridge City Council on telephone number (01223) 
457899 for further information. 

  
 Disabled Access 
  
 The applicants attention is drawn to the comments of the 

Council's Access Officer whom recommends that the reception 
and classrooms should have hearing loops installed. Signage 
and colour contrast in the internal fit-out should be 
implemented. Changing facilities should be in accordance with 
Sport England Guidance.  

 
 
 

Page 320



T
H

E
 M

A
N

O
R

 S
C

H
O

O
L

A
R

B
U

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

P
la

n
n
in

g
 S

u
b

m
is

si
o

n
 |
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 S

it
e
 P

la
n

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 B
E

L
L
E

R
B

Y
’S

 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

S

N
O

R
T

H
 C

A
M

B
R

ID
G

E
 A

C
A

D
E

M
Y

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
P

O
R

T
S

 

H
A

L
L

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 C
A

R
 P

A
R

K

P
A

R
K

L
A

N
D

H
A

R
D

 S
O

C
IA

L
 A

R
E

A
 /

  
O

U
T

 O
F

 H
O

U
R

S
 

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 F
O

R
 A

C
C

E
S

S
 T

O
 S

P
O

R
T

S

N
E

W
 S

H
A

R
E

D
 S

U
R

F
A

C
E

 A
C

C
E

S
S

N
E

W
 P

E
D

E
S

T
R

IA
N

 S
IT

E
 E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
S

S
O

C
IA

L
/ 

O
U

T
D

O
O

R
 L

E
A

R
N

IN
G

 C
O

U
R

T
Y

A
R

D
 

- 
W

IT
H

 6
 N

O
 B

E
N

C
H

E
S

S
C

IE
N

C
E

 G
A

R
D

E
N

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
U

R
F
A

C
E

 M
A

D
E

 G
O

O
D

 W
H

E
R

E
 

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D

E
X

T
E

R
N

A
L
 D

IN
IN

G
 S

P
A

C
E

E
N

C
L
O

S
E

D
 B

IN
 S

T
O

R
E

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 V
E

H
IC

L
E

 S
IT

E
 E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
S

C
Y

C
L
E

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 -
 8

8
 S

P
A

C
E

S

M
A

IN
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
 /

 

P
U

P
IL

 &
 V

IS
IT

O
R

 A
R

R
IV

A
L

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 P
E

D
E

S
T

R
IA

N
 L

IN
K

S

N
E

W
 P

E
D

E
S

T
R

IA
N

 /
 C

Y
C

L
E

 P
A

T
H

E
X

T
E

N
S

IO
N

 T
O

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
L
 G

R
A

S
S

 S
O

C
IA

L
 

A
R

E
A

H
O

R
T

IC
U

LT
U

R
E

 G
R

O
W

IN
G

 B
E

D
S

S
T

R
U

C
T

U
R

A
L
 P

L
A

N
T

IN
G

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
U

B
S

T
A

T
IO

N

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 B
E

L
L
E

R
B

Y
’S

 P
L

A
N

T
R

O
O

M

O
R

N
A

M
E

N
T
A

L
 P

L
A

N
T

IN
G

T
A

R
M

A
C

 C
O

U
R

T
 W

IT
H

 4
 N

O
 B

E
N

C
H

E
S

G
R

A
S

S
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

D
 B

U
N

D
 T

O
 F

O
R

M
 

A
M

P
H

IT
H

E
A

T
R

E

G
R

A
S

S
 B

U
N

D
 W

IT
H

 P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 H
E

D
G

E
 A

N
D

 

T
R

E
E

 P
L

A
N

T
IN

G

B
IR

C
H

 C
O

P
S

E
 W

IT
H

IN
 G

R
A

S
S

 B
U

N
D

C
Y

C
L
E

 P
A

T
H

V
IS

IT
O

R
 C

Y
C

L
E

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 -
 2

0
 S

P
A

C
E

S

C
O

V
E

R
E

D
 A

N
D

 S
E

C
U

R
E

 S
T
A

F
F

 C
Y

C
L
E

 

P
A

R
K

IN
G

 -
 9

2
 S

P
A

C
E

S

C
O

L
O

U
R

E
D

 L
IN

E
 M

A
R

K
IN

G
 T

O
 

P
L

A
Y

G
R

O
U

N
D

S
O

F
T

 S
T

R
IP

 T
O

 T
H

E
 P

E
R

IM
E

T
E

R
 O

F
 T

H
E

 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

V
E

H
IC

L
E

 T
R

A
C

K
IN

G

S
C

R
E

E
N

 P
L

A
N

T
IN

G
 (

H
E

D
G

E
S

 A
N

D
 

C
L
IM

B
E

R
S

) 
T

O
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 F

E
N

C
E

D
IS

A
B

L
E

D
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 B

A
Y

S

IN
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 C

A
R

 P
A

R
K

S
IT

E
 B

O
U

N
D

A
R

Y

O
U

T
 O

F
 H

O
U

R
S

 V
IS

IT
O

R
  

/ 
D

IS
A

B
L
E

D
 

P
A

R
K

IN
G

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 A
W

P

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 G
R

A
S

S
 

P
IT

C
H

E
S

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 

H
A

R
D

C
O

U
R

T
S

A
R

B
U

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N

F
O

R
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

1
:5

0
0

P
S

B
P

E
-N

C
A

-P
L

A
-L

-1
0

0
0

20
8

.0
4
.1

4
N

O
R

T
H

 C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

 A
C

A
D

E
M

Y

R
E

V

0
1

0
2

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
S

 T
O

 

L
A

Y
O

U
T

A
M

E
N

D
M

E
N

T
S

 T
O

 

C
O

U
R

T
Y

A
R

D
 A

N
D

 

C
Y

C
L

E
 P

A
R

K
IN

G

D
A

T
E

0
2

.0
7.

1
4

2
1
.0

7.
1
4

D
W

N

P
A

P
A

C
H

K

C
J

C
J

2

4

5

6

1
5

1
7

1

3

7

6

6

1
7

1
9

1
9

1
9

8
88

9

9

9

1
0

1
1

2
9

1
2

1
3

1
4

1
8

2
1

N

0
1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

m

K
E
Y

1 95 1
3

1
83 1
17 1
5

2
02 1
06 1
4

1
94 1
2

1
78 2
1

2
2

2
3

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
8

2
8

2
92
4

2
2

2
3

2
4

2
2

2
5

2
6

2
7

2
2

2
8

2
9

2
2

1
6

1

1
6

1

3
2

3
1

8
3
0

3
0

3
1 3
2

1
3

2
0

2

Page 321



Page 322

This page is intentionally left blank



0
1

2
3

4
5

1
0

6
7

8
9

1
5

2
0

2
5

1 s
c
a

le
m

e
tr

e
s

1
:2

0
0

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

1
2

3
8

9
1
1

1
2

1
4

7
1
3

1
0

6
4

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

1
5

1
2

1
8

3
4

4
9

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

1
2

3
8

9
1
1

1
2

1
4

7
1
3

1
0

6
4

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

2
2

5
4

5
1

4
7

4

��
�
�
��
��
�	
�


�
��
��



	

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�

�

�
�

��
��
�
��
	
��
	
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��

9

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

B
B

.1
C

C
.1

D
D

.1
E

E
.1

F
G

G
.1

H
H

.2
H

.3
H

.4
J

J
.1

K
K

.1
K

.2
L

L
.1

L
.2

M
M

.1
M

.2
N

P
P

.1
Q

R
H

.1
H

.5
H

.6
A

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

3
4

1
3

4
7

3
4

9
4

4
2

7
3

8
1

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

B
B

.1
C

C
.1

D
D

.1
E

E
.1

F
G

G
.1

H
H

.2
H

.3
H

.4
J

J
.1

K
K

.1
K

.2
L

L
.1

L
.2

M
M

.1
M

.2
N

P
P

.1
Q

R
H

.1
H

.5
H

.6
A

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

4
5

1
8

2
4

1
3

7
9

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

H
.4

J
J
.1

K
K

.1
K

.2
L

L
.1

L
.2

M
M

.1
M

.2
N

P
P

.1
Q

R
H

.5
H

.6

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

7
3

2
8

4
7

4
9

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

B
B

.1
C

C
.1

D
D

.1
E

E
.1

F
G

G
.1

H
H

.1
A

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

4
7

4
3

L
0
0

0L
0
1

3
6
0
0

L
e
v
e
l 
G

A
 R

o
o
f 

P
la

n

7
2
0
0

H
.2

H
.3

H
.4

J
J
.1

K
K

.1
K

.2
L

L
.1

L
.2

M
M

.1
M

.2
N

P
H

.5
H

.6

P
la

n
t 

S
c
re

e
n
 H

e
ig

h
t

1
0
3
5
0

5
4

4
2

3
7

E
L
E

V
A

T
IO

N
 M

A
T

E
R

IA
L
S

 K
E

Y

1
. 
E

x
te

rn
a
l 
fa

c
in

g
 b

ri
c
k
 (

b
u
ff
)

2
. 
R

e
n
d
e
r 

(w
h
it
e
)

3
. 
R

e
n
d
e
r 

(g
re

y
)

4
. 
P

P
C

 A
lu

m
in

iu
m

 W
in

d
o
w

s
/ 
C

u
rt

a
in

 W
a
lli

n
g

5
. 
P

P
C

 A
lu

m
in

iu
m

 D
o
o
rs

6
. 
S

p
a
n
d
re

l:
 G

la
z
e
d
 L

o
o
k
-a

-l
ik

e
7
. 
S

p
a
n
d
re

l:
 P

P
C

 C
o
lo

u
re

d
 A

lu
m

in
iu

m
8
. 
P

P
C

 A
lu

m
in

iu
m

 L
o
u
v
re

s
9
. 
P

P
C

 A
lu

m
in

iu
m

 P
la

n
t 
S

c
re

e
n

W E

N
S

©
 C

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 L
im

it
e
d

 2
0
1
2
.

A
ll 

ri
g

h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d
.

N
o
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
 p

u
b

lic
a

tio
n

 m
a
y
 b

e
 r

e
p

ro
d
u

c
e
d
, 
s
to

re
d

in
 a

n
y 

re
tr

ie
v
a
l s

y
s
te

m
 o

r 
tr

a
n
s
m

itt
e
d
 in

 a
n
y

fo
rm

 o
r 

b
y 

a
n
y 

m
e
a
n

s
 w

ith
o
u

t 
p
ri
o
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h
ite

c
ts

L
im

ite
d

.

IS
O

 9
0
0
1
 Q

U
A

L
IT

Y
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1
4
0
0
1
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T

D
o

 n
o

t 
s
c
a
le

 f
ro

m
 d

ra
w

in
g

, 
u

s
e
 f

ig
u

re
d

 d
im

e
n

s
io

n
s
 o

n
ly

. 
A

ll
 d

im
e
n

s
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

h
e
c
k
e
d

 o
n

 s
it

e

�
��



�
�
��

�
��

��
�
��

�
�
��

��
�
��
�
�

��
�

�

�
�

�
��



�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�

�

�
��


�
��
�

�
	
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

��
�
��

�
��

�
��



�
�
��
��
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
	

�
�
�
�

��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
 
�
��
�!
�
��

�
�
	
�
�
�!
 
�
��
!
"

��
��
#
	
�
�
�
$�
�%
�
�
&
�'
&
(
�'
&
%
%
��
�)
�
�
�

�

��
$�
�%
�
�
&
�'
&
(
�'
*
%
%

�
�
�

�$
��
�
�
��

�
�
	
�
�
+
�
#
�
�
,�
��
	

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
�
�

��
$�
�





��
#
�
�
,�
��
	

�
�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�

�
�
��

�
�

�
	
�
�

�
�
��
�

#
�

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�
��
�

3

!
-
.
/0
��
�
1
2
.
34
 
5
��
�
�
4
5
1
6

 
�
�5
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
7
	
�
�
��
8

�
��
!
!
3!
 
�7
"
2
1
37
7
3-
!

!
�

%
�
�%
*
��
8

/.

*
&
�
*

�
%
,%
�
�

�
%
�
�%
*
��
%
�
8

!
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
�7
�
�
�

�
�

�
�

/.

�
�
�
�%
*
��
%
�
8

!
�

.
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
��

�
�
�


�
	
�#
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
�

/.

�
�
�
�%
*
��
%
�
8

!
�

.
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��

�
�
�


�
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
��

/.

 1
 :
 2

0
0

N
o

rt
h

 E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

 (
1
)

1

 1
 :
 2

0
0

S
o

u
th

 E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

 (
1
)

2

 1
 :
 2

0
0

E
a
s
t 

E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

3

 1
 :
 2

0
0

W
e
s
t 

E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

4

 1
 :
 2

0
0

E
a
s
t 

C
o

u
rt

y
a
rd

 E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

 (
1
)

5

 1
 :
 2

0
0

W
e
s
t 

C
o

u
rt

y
a
rd

 E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

 (
1
)

6

 1
 :
 2

0
0

W
e
s
t 

C
o

u
rt

y
a
rd

 E
le

v
a
ti

o
n

 (
2
)

7

 1
 :
 1

0
0
0

K
e
y
 P

la
n

8
 1

 :
 2

0
0

0
0
-Z

-S
c
a
le

 B
a
r_

1
_
2
0
0

Page 323



Page 324

This page is intentionally left blank



U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

0
1

2
3

4
5

1
0

6
7

8
9

1
5

2
0

2
5

1 s
c
a

le
m

e
tr

e
s

1
:2

0
0

-

--
-

-
-

-

-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

2
0
-0

1
0

1

2
0
-0

1
0

4

2
0
-0

1
0

2

7
4
.2

8
 m

²
S

C
IE

N
C

E
 S

T
U

D
IO

7
1
.7

7
 m

²
S

C
IE

N
C

E
 S

T
U

D
IO

8
2
.2

3
 m

²
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 L

A
B

8
1
.9

7
 m

²
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 L

A
B

8
2
.1

0
 m

²
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 L

A
B

2
4
.2

0
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

8
2
.0

8
 m

²
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 L

A
B

8
2
.0

8
 m

²
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 L

A
B

5
9
.7

8
 m

²
S

C
IE

N
C

E
 P

R
E

P

4
.8

2
 m

²
C

H
E

M
 S

T

1
0
.0

0
 m

²
E

L
E

C
 S

W
2
8
.7

0
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 W
O

R
K

5
0
.9

2
 m

²
W

C

1
.8

6
 m

²
C

L
 S

T

3
.7

7
 m

²
D

W
C

6
2
.7

6
 m

²
IC

T
 B

U
S

 C
L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

8
9
.9

8
 m

²
F

O
O

D
 R

O
O

M
8
2
.8

4
 m

²
T

E
X

T
IL

E
S

 R
O

O
M

2
8
.5

3
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

1
1
0
.9

5
 m

²
R

E
S

IS
T

A
N

C
E

 M
A

T
E

R
IA

L
S

3
6
.6

0
 m

²
M

U
L
T

I 
M

A
T

E
R

IA
L
 P

R
E

P

9
.9

9
 m

²
F

O
O

D
 S

T

6
1
.6

4
 m

²
IC

T
 R

IC
H

 C
L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
.7

1
 m

²
T

E
A

C
H

 S
T

3
.3

1
 m

²
D

W
C

3
.6

7
 m

²
L
IF

T

8
.9

8
 m

²
IN

T
 R

O
O

M
9
.9

7
 m

²
D

R
A

M
A

 S
T

8
7
.8

1
 m

²
D

R
A

M
A

 S
T

U
D

IO

1
9
7
.6

9
 m

²
M

A
IN

 H
A

L
L

1
6
.5

4
 m

²
R

E
T

R
A

C
T

A
B

L
E

 S
E

A
T

IN
G

1
.5

3
 m

²
C

L
 S

T 1
2
.9

6
 m

²
C

H
A

IR
 S

T
7
5
.2

3
 m

²
K

IT
C

H
E

N

7
.0

4
 m

²
E

X
T

 S
T

6
.5

8
 m

²
M

A
IN

 S
T

2
6
.7

0
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

6
4
.4

7
 m

²
F

IT
N

E
S

S
 S

T
U

D
IO

1
0
2
.7

1
 m

²
L
R

C

1
5
2
.1

1
 m

²
D

IN
IN

G
 H

A
L
L

8
7
.8

2
 m

²
C

IR
C

1
3
.8

5
 m

²
C

IR
C

8
5
.1

0
 m

²
C

IR
C

7
0
.0

4
 m

²
C

IR
C

5
0
.1

2
 m

²
C

IR
C

1
9
.1

8
 m

²
C

IR
C

1
8
.6

9
 m

²
C

IR
C

3
7
.5

6
 m

²
C

IR
C

2
0
.9

4
 m

²
E

N
T

 /
 R

E
C

2
7
.6

1
 m

²
C

IR
C

7
.6

8
 m

²
P

E
R

S
O

N
A

L
 S

T

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

B
a
s
ic

 T
e
a
c
h
in

g
 A

re
a

L
a
rg

e
 S

p
a
c
e
s

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 A

re
a

N
o
n
 N

e
t

S
ta

ff
 /
 A

d
m

in
 A

re
a

S
to

ra
g
e

2
0
-0

1
0

2
0
-0

1
0

3

75

2
0
-0

1
0

6

3
2
0
-0

2
0

1
2
0
-0

2
0

3
2
0
-0

2
1

1
2
0
-0

2
1

2
2
0
-0

2
1

2
2
0
-0

2
0

4
6
.3

1
 m

²
P

U
P

IL
 S

H
 /

 C
H

4
6
.3

2
 m

²
P

U
P

IL
 S

H
 /

 C
H

1
2
.8

3
 m

²
W

C
1
2
.8

3
 m

²
W

C
7
.3

0
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 C
H

5
.5

5
 m

²
D

W
C

 /
 S

H

1
.0

7
 m

²
C

L
 S

T
5
.9

5
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 C
H

3
.2

2
 m

²
C

IR
C

3
.2

4
 m

²
C

IR
C

5
5
.2

1
 m

²
P

L
A

N
T

 R
O

O
M

RISER

RISER

R
IS

E
R

R
IS

E
R

R
IS

E
R

2
8
.0

5
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

�
�
��
�
�
�
�

��������

��������

©
 C

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 L
im

it
e
d

 2
0
1
2
.

A
ll 

ri
g

h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d
.

N
o
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
 p

u
b

lic
a

tio
n

 m
a
y
 b

e
 r

e
p

ro
d
u

c
e
d
, 
s
to

re
d

in
 a

n
y 

re
tr

ie
v
a
l s

y
s
te

m
 o

r 
tr

a
n
s
m

itt
e
d
 in

 a
n
y

fo
rm

 o
r 

b
y 

a
n
y 

m
e
a
n

s
 w

ith
o
u

t 
p
ri
o
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h
ite

c
ts

L
im

ite
d

.

IS
O

 9
0
0
1
 Q

U
A

L
IT

Y
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1
4
0
0
1
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T

D
o

 n
o

t 
s
c
a
le

 f
ro

m
 d

ra
w

in
g

, 
u

s
e
 f

ig
u

re
d

 d
im

e
n

s
io

n
s
 o

n
ly

. 
A

ll
 d

im
e
n

s
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

h
e
c
k
e
d

 o
n

 s
it

e

�
�	


��


��
��
��

��
	
��

�
	
��

��
�
��
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
�	


��


��
�
�

�
�
�
�	

�
�	


�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

��
�
��
��
��

�
�	


��


��
�	
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
	

�
�
�
�

��
��

��
 
�!

	
��
�
��
"
	
��
��
�
��
��


�
	
�
��
"
�
��
�
#

��
��
$
�
�
�
�
%�
�&
�
�
'
�(
'
)
�(
'
&
&
��
�*
	
�
��
�
���
%�
�&
�
�
'
�(
'
)
�(
+
&
&

�
�
	
��%
��
�
�
��
��


�
	
�
,
�
$
�


-	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
�
��
��
%�
�





��
$
�


-	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�

��
�

�
	
��

�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
��
$
��
�
�

��
�%
��
&
&

2

�
.
�
�/
��
�
0
1
�
23
"
�
��
�
�
3
�
0
4

"
��
�
�
�
�5
��
�
��
6
�	
�

6
7�

�
�
2�
"
�8
#
1
0
28
8
2.
�

��
 
�
-&
 
-�
9

3
8

+
'
�
+

�
&
-&
&
&

"
�
�
�
�	
���

��
	
�


�
�
�
�
�

 1
 :
 2

0
0

G
A

 G
ro

u
n

d
 F

lo
o

r 
P

la
n

1

 1
 :
 2

0
0

0
0
-Z

-S
c
a
le

 B
a
r_

1
_
2
0
0

North

�
�
�
-&
 
-�
&
�
9

��
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
���
��
��
�
�


��
�
�!

	
��
�

��
��
��
�
��
�
�

3
8

�
&
 
-&
9
-�
&
�
9

��
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
��
�


��


��
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
��
��
�



��
�
��
���
�
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
�

3
8

Page 325



Page 326

This page is intentionally left blank



D
N

U
P

D
N

D
N

U
P

0
1

2
3

4
5

1
0

6
7

8
9

1
5

2
0

2
5

1 s
c
a

le
m

e
tr

e
s

1
:2

0
0

-

--
-

-
-

-

-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

2
0
-0

1
0

1

2
0
-0

1
0

4

2
0
-0

1
0

2

5
4
.9

9
 m

²
H

U
M

A
N

IT
IE

S
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
5
.0

0
 m

²
M

A
T

H
S

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
H

U
M

A
N

IT
IE

S
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
H

U
M

A
N

IT
IE

S
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
H

U
M

A
N

IT
IE

S
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
H

U
M

A
N

IT
IE

S
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

4
1
.0

1
 m

²
S

E
M

IN
A

R

5
6
.1

9
 m

²
M

A
T

H
S

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M
5
4
.9

7
 m

²
M

A
T

H
S

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M
5
4
.9

7
 m

²
M

A
T

H
S

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M
5
4
.9

8
 m

²
M

A
T

H
S

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M

4
0
.9

8
 m

²
S

E
M

IN
A

R
2
8
.1

7
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 W
O

R
K

1
5
.9

7
 m

²
L
A

R
G

E
 G

R
P

1
5
.9

7
 m

²
L
A

R
G

E
 G

R
P

1
6
.3

9
 m

²
L
A

R
G

E
 G

R
P

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
E

N
G

L
IS

H
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

8
 m

²
E

N
G

L
IS

H
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

9
 m

²
E

N
G

L
IS

H
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
0
.9

4
 m

²
W

C

3
.7

7
 m

²
D

W
C

1
.8

6
 m

²
C

L
 S

T

8
.3

4
 m

²
T

E
A

C
H

 S
T

2
.9

9
 m

²
S

E
N

 S
T

8
.0

6
 m

²
T

H
E

R
A

P
Y

1
1
.9

9
 m

²
S

E
N

 R
E

S

2
3
.3

5
 m

²
R

E
P

R
O

 /
 C

E
N

T
 S

T
O

C
K

5
4
.9

4
 m

²
L
A

N
G

U
A

G
E

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M
5
4
.9

3
 m

²
E

N
G

L
IS

H
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
4
.9

4
 m

²
E

N
G

L
IS

H
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

2
8
.5

3
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

2
4
.2

0
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

4
9
.2

4
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 R
O

O
M

1
4
.2

7
 m

²
H

E
A

D
 T

E
A

C
H

E
R

6
.9

5
 m

²
P

A
 R

O
O

M

3
4
.5

3
 m

²
G

E
N

E
R

A
L
 O

F
F

IC
E

2
0
.1

4
 m

²
C

O
N

F
E

R
E

N
C

E

8
.3

6
 m

²
E

X
A

M
 S

T

7
.6

2
 m

²
T

E
A

C
H

 S
T

4
9
.5

6
 m

²
W

C

8
.5

8
 m

²
C

O
N

T
R

O
L

3
0
.0

5
 m

²
S

T
A

F
F

 W
O

R
K

1
.8

6
 m

²
C

L
 S

T

7
8
.7

4
 m

²
S

M
A

L
L
 A

R
T

 R
O

O
M

8
.5

3
 m

²
K

IL
N

 R
O

O
M

1
0
.0

0
 m

²
W

A
L
K

 I
N

7
8
.7

4
 m

²
S

M
A

L
L
 A

R
T

 R
O

O
M

2
6
.7

0
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

5
4
.9

4
 m

²
L
A

N
G

U
A

G
E

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M
5
4
.9

4
 m

²
L
A

N
G

U
A

G
E

 C
L

A
S

S
R

O
O

M

9
.6

3
 m

²
M

U
S

IC
 P

R
A

C
9
.6

2
 m

²
M

U
S

IC
 P

R
A

C

6
.5

4
 m

²
M

U
S

IC
 S

T

1
6
.3

8
 m

²
L
A

R
G

E
 M

U
S

IC

6
3
.5

4
 m

²
M

U
S

IC
 C

L
A

S
S

R
O

O
M

5
0
.1

4
 m

²
C

IR
C

1
2
4
.6

9
 m

²
C

IR
C

4
7
.9

8
 m

²
C

IR
C

9
2
.5

5
 m

²
C

IR
C

6
4
.4

5
 m

²
C

IR
C

6
8
.5

1
 m

²
C

IR
C

7
.0

0
 m

²
C

A
T

 5

6
.0

4
 m

²
H

U
B

 R
O

O
M

1
4
.0

0
 m

²
C

IR
C

7
.7

7
 m

²
C

IR
C

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
t

B
a
s
ic

 T
e
a
c
h
in

g
 A

re
a

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 A

re
a

N
o
n
 N

e
t

S
ta

ff
 /
 A

d
m

in
 A

re
a

S
to

ra
g
e

2
0
-0

1
0

2
0
-0

1
0

3

75

2
0
-0

1
0

6

3
2
0
-0

2
0

1
2
0
-0

2
0

3
2
0
-0

2
1

1
2
0
-0

2
1

2
2
0
-0

2
1

2
2
0
-0

2
0

2
8
.0

5
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

9
.0

0
 m

²
S

M
A

L
L
 I

N
T

7
.5

0
 m

²
H

Y
G

IE
N

E

3
.6

8
 m

²
D

W
C

1
3
.2

3
 m

²
C

A
R

E
T

A
K

E
R

 O
F

F

P
E

R
S

O
N

A
L
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E

PERSONAL STORAGE

P
E

R
S

O
N

A
L
 S

T
O

R
A

G
E

R
IS

E
R

R
IS

E
R R

IS
E

R

R
IS

E
R

R
IS

E
R

RISER

1
0
.9

9
 m

²
S

T
A

IR

R
IS

E
R

1
0
.0

4
 m

²
S

E
R

V
E

R

3
.6

7
 m

²
L
IF

T

©
 C

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 L
im

it
e
d

 2
0
1
2
.

A
ll 

ri
g

h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d
.

N
o
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
 p

u
b

lic
a

tio
n

 m
a
y
 b

e
 r

e
p

ro
d
u

c
e
d
, 
s
to

re
d

in
 a

n
y 

re
tr

ie
v
a
l s

y
s
te

m
 o

r 
tr

a
n
s
m

itt
e
d
 in

 a
n
y

fo
rm

 o
r 

b
y 

a
n
y 

m
e
a
n

s
 w

ith
o
u

t 
p
ri
o
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h
ite

c
ts

L
im

ite
d

.

IS
O

 9
0
0
1
 Q

U
A

L
IT

Y
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1
4
0
0
1
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T

D
o

 n
o

t 
s
c
a
le

 f
ro

m
 d

ra
w

in
g

, 
u

s
e
 f

ig
u

re
d

 d
im

e
n

s
io

n
s
 o

n
ly

. 
A

ll
 d

im
e
n

s
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

h
e
c
k
e
d

 o
n

 s
it

e

�
��
�
��
�
�	
�	

�

�

�

�

�
�
	�

��
�
��
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��

�
��
�
�
��
�



�
�


�
�
�
��
�

��
�
�	
�	

�

�
��
�
��
�
��
	�
	�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
	

�
�
�
�

��
��

��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
	�
��
�
		
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

	�

�
 
�
�
�
�
!�
�"
�
�
#
�$
#
%
�$
#
"
"
��
�&
�


��
�
�
�
!�
�"
�
�
#
�$
#
%
�$
'
"
"

�
�
�
�
!
��
�
�
		
��
�
�
�
�
(


 
�
�
)�
�

�
�	
�


	�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
	�
!�
��
�
�
�

 
�
�
)�
�

�
�	
�


	�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�
	�

�
�



�
�
�

�
�
�

��
 
	�
�
�

��
�!
��
"
"

2

�
*
+
,-
�.
�
/
0
+
12
�
3
��
.
�
2
3
/
4

�
�
�5
��
�	
�5

�
�
��
6

�
�

6
7�
�
�
1�
�
�8
�
0
/
18
8
1*
�

,+
�
�
)"
�
)�
9

2
8

'
#
�
'

�
"
)"
"
�

�
�
�
�
��

��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
	

 1
 :
 2

0
0

G
A

 F
ir

s
t 

F
lo

o
r 

P
la

n
1

 1
 :
 2

0
0

0
0
-Z

-S
c
a
le

 B
a
r_

1
_
2
0
0

North

�
�
�
)"
�
)�
"
�
9

,+
.
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
	�
��
��
�
�


�
�
���
�

��
�
��
�	
�
��
�
	�
�

��
�	
��


	�
�
�

2
8

�
"
�
)"
9
)�
"
�
9

,+
.
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
	�
�	
�
��
�
�	
�
��
��
��
�
��
�


��
�
��
�
��
�
�

��
�

�
�	
�
�


��
�
	�
��
�	
��


	�
�
�

2
8

Page 327



Page 328

This page is intentionally left blank



0
1

2
3

4
5

1
0

6
7

8
9

1
5

2
0

2
5

1 s
c
a

le
m

e
tr

e
s

1
:2

0
0

1
2
0
-0

4
2

1
2
0
-0

4
0

3
2
0
-0

4
2

1
2
0
-0

4
3

1
2
0
-0

4
1

R
a
in

w
a
te

r 
d
is

c
a
rg

e
d
 u

s
in

g
s
yp

h
o
n
ic

 d
ra

in
a
g
e

, 
fin

a
l

g
u
lle

y 
p
o

s
iti

o
n
s
 T

B
C

R
id

g
e

 L
in

e

L
o
w

 le
v
e
l p

a
ra

p
e
t 
w

a
ll

S
in

g
le

 p
ly

 m
e

m
b
ra

n
e

 la
id

to
 f
a

lls
 a

s
 in

d
ic

a
te

d
 t
o

g
u
tt
e
r 

(P
C

C
 P

la
n
k
s
)

L
o
w

 le
v
e
l 
p
a
ra

p
e
t

w
a
ll 

w
ith

 1
1
0

0
m

m
g
u
a
rd

 r
a

il 
s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

c
o
n
fir

m
a
tio

n

Rainwater discarged using
syphonic drainage, final
gulley positions TBC

Single ply membrane laid
to falls as indicated to
gutter (PCC Planks)

S
in

g
le

 p
ly

m
e
m

b
ra

n
e
 la

id
to

 f
a
lls

 a
s

in
d
ic

a
te

d
 t
o

g
u
tt
e
r 

(F
la

t
S

la
b
)

R
a
in

w
a
te

r 
d
is

c
a
rg

e
d
 u

s
in

g
s
yp

h
o
n
ic

 d
ra

in
a
g
e

, 
fin

a
l

g
u
lle

y 
p
o

s
iti

o
n
s
 T

B
C

S
in

g
le

 p
ly

 m
e

m
b
ra

n
e

 la
id

to
 f
a

lls
 a

s
 in

d
ic

a
te

d
 t
o

g
u
tt
e
r 

(P
C

C
 P

la
n
k
s
)

R
id

g
e

 L
in

e

Ridge Line

R
id

g
e

 L
in

e

Z
o
n
e
 f
o
r 

P
V

 C
e
lls

 -
 R

e
fe

r 
to

S
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
S

u
b
 C

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
D

W
G

's

2
2
0
-0

4
1

Low level parapet wall

1
:4

0
 R

o
o
f 
F

a
ll

1
:4

0
 R

o
o
f 
F

a
ll

1:40 Roof Fall 1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1
:4

0
 R

o
o
f 
F

a
ll

1
:4

0
 R

o
o
f 
F

a
ll

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

1:40 Roof Fall

2
2
0
-0

4
3

H
o
t 
M

e
lt
 R

o
o

f 
F

in
is

h
 t
o

p
la

n
t 
a
re

a
 o

n
ly

L
o
w

 le
v
e
l p

a
ra

p
e
t 
w

a
ll

w
ith

 3
1
5
0
m

m
c
o
rr

u
g
a
te

d
 P

P
C

a
lu

m
in

iu
m

 p
la

n
t 
s
c
re

e
n

1:40 Roof Fall

R
o
o
f 
T

o
p
 P

la
n
t 
A

re
a
.

R
e
fe

r 
to

 S
p
e
c
ia

lis
t

S
u
b
 C

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r
D

W
G

's

R
id

g
e

 L
in

e
R

id
g

e
 L

in
e

2
0
-0

2
3

4

2
0
-0

2
3

3

2
0
-0

2
3

2
2
0
-0

2
3

1

2
0
-0

2
3

5

2
0
-0

2
3

7

2
0
-0

2
3

6
E

x
te

n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w

 e
n
tr

a
n

c
e
 c

a
n
o
p
y

fr
o
m

 f
lo

o
r 

b
e
lo

w

©
 C

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h

it
e
c
ts

 L
im

it
e
d

 2
0
1
2
.

A
ll 

ri
g

h
ts

 r
e
s
e
rv

e
d
.

N
o
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
 p

u
b

lic
a

tio
n

 m
a
y
 b

e
 r

e
p

ro
d
u

c
e
d
, 
s
to

re
d

in
 a

n
y 

re
tr

ie
v
a
l s

y
s
te

m
 o

r 
tr

a
n
s
m

itt
e
d
 in

 a
n
y

fo
rm

 o
r 

b
y 

a
n
y 

m
e
a
n

s
 w

ith
o
u

t 
p
ri
o
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 
C

P
M

G
 A

rc
h
ite

c
ts

L
im

ite
d

.

IS
O

 9
0
0
1
 Q

U
A

L
IT

Y
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1
4
0
0
1
 E

N
V

IR
O

N
M

E
N

T
A

L
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T

D
o

 n
o

t 
s
c
a
le

 f
ro

m
 d

ra
w

in
g

, 
u

s
e
 f

ig
u

re
d

 d
im

e
n

s
io

n
s
 o

n
ly

. 
A

ll
 d

im
e
n

s
io

n
s
 t

o
 b

e
 c

h
e
c
k
e
d

 o
n

 s
it

e

�
��
�
��
�
�	
�	

�

�

�

�

�
�
	�

��
�
��
�
�

��
�
��
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��

�
��
�
�
��
�



�
�


�
�
�
��
�

��
�
�	
�	

�

�
��
�
��
�
��
	�
	�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
	

�
�
�
�

��
��

��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
	�
��
�
		
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

	�

�
 
�
�
�
�
!�
�"
�
�
#
�$
#
%
�$
#
"
"
��
�&
�


��
�
�
�
!�
�"
�
�
#
�$
#
%
�$
'
"
"

�
�
�
�
!
��
�
�
		
��
�
�
�
�
(


 
�
�
)�
�

�
�	
�


	�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
��
	�
!�
��
�
�
�

 
�
�
)�
�

�
�	
�


	�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�
	�

�
�



�
�
�

�
�
�

��
 
	�
�
�

��
�!
��
"
"

4

�
*
+
,-
�.
�
/
0
+
12
�
3
��
.
�
2
3
/
4

�
�
�+
�
�
&�
5

�
�

5
6�
�
�
1�
�
�7
�
0
/
17
7
1*
�

8
�

�
9
�"
#
��
9

,+

'
#
�
'

�
9
)"
"
"

�
�
�
�
��

��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
	

�
�
�
)"
#
)�
"
�
9

�
.

7
5
/
�1
��
�
�

,+

�
"
�
)"
'
)�
"
�
9

�
.

2
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
���
�

��
�
��
�	
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
� 

�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��

	
�
	�
�
�
��
5

�
�
��
��
�
&�
��
	�

2
��
�
��
�
��
"
)"
�
"
�&
�
��
 
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�

,+

�
"
�
)"
'
)�
"
�
9

�
.

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	
�
��
�
�	
�.

��
�
	�


�
�
�
�
�
	�

,+

9
�
�
�"
'
��
"
�
9

�
.

+
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

��
�
��
�	
�
� 

�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��

	
�
	�
�
�

,+

 1
 :
 2

0
0

G
A

 R
o

o
f 

P
la

n
1

 1
 :
 2

0
0

0
0
-Z

-S
c
a
le

 B
a
r_

1
_
2
0
0

North

Page 329



Page 330

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Agenda Item          

 

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning Services 
   
 TO: Planning Committee 03/09/2014 
   
 WARDS: All 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE TOUR 2014 
 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to enable a discussion of the arrangements for 

the Planning Committee Tour 2014. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the date for the tour be agreed as 8 October 2014 (9.30am to 1pm). 
 
2.2 That members of the Design and Conservation Panel and Public Art Panel be 

invited to attend the tour. 
 
2.3 That members suggest any sites which they would like to see included on the 

tour. 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 One of the key objectives of Planning Services is ‘Looking after Cambridge’.  

As part of this objective we seek to ‘deliver quality outcomes on the ground’.  
Officers are keen to carry out a review of completed development with 
Committee members to facilitate discussion about what went well and where 
lessons can be learned. 

 
3.2 In previous years the Committee Tour has been limited to members of 

Planning Committee but officers would be interested to have views on 
whether this should be widened out to include members of the Design and 
Conservation Panel and the Public Art Panel. 

 
3.3 Officers have begun to identify potential sites for the tour but are keen to know 

from Members if there are sites which they would like to be included. 
 
4 CONSULTATIONS 
 
4.1 None. 
 

Agenda Item 5a

Page 331



 

5 OPTIONS 
 
5.1 Not relevant 
. 
 
6 CONCLUSIONS 
 
6.1 The Planning Committee tour is an opportunity for Members and officers to 

jointly review completed development and can contribute towards achieving 
quality development in the City. 

 
 IMPLICATIONS 
 
(a) Financial Implications - None 
 
(b) Staffing Implications - None 
 
(c) Equalities and Poverty Implications - None 
 
(d) Environmental Implications – None 
 
(e) Community Safety - None 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: The following are the background papers that were used 
in the preparation of this report: 
 
None. 
 
To inspect these documents contact Sarah Dyer on extension 7153 
 
The author and contact officer for queries on the report is Sarah Dyer on extension 
7153. 
 
 
Report file:  
 
Date originated:  21 August 2014 
Date of last revision: 21 August 2014 
 

Page 332



 

Report Page No: 1 Agenda Page No: 

 
Agenda Item          

 

CAMBRIDGE CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
REPORT OF: Head of Planning Services 
   
 TO: Planning Committee 3/9/2014 
   
 WARDS: All 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE INFORMATION ITEM - ADJOURNED 
DECISION PROTOCOL 

 

 
1 INTRODUCTION    
 
1.1 The Council has agreed to introduce a new convention for the 

Planning Committee, known as the Adjourned Decision Protocol 
(ADP). This protocol comes into effect from September’s committee 
meeting and a flowchart and the agreed operating principles are 
attached to this report for information.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the operating principles agreed by Council and the explanatory 

flow-chart for the Adjourned Decision Protocol as set out in Appendix 
A and B are noted. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Members will recall that an agreed action following the Station 

Road/Wilton Terrace appeals case was to introduce a new 
convention for the Planning Committee, for those major cases where 
a decision contrary to officer’s advice was being contemplated. 

 
3.2 The operating principles for the new convention and the flow chart 

showing how it is to work are attached at appendix A and B.   
 
3.3 It was agreed that the convention would be introduced from 

September’s Planning Committee, to be used as appropriate. 
 
4.0 CONSULTATIONS 
  

Agenda Item 5b

Page 333



 

Report Page No: 2 Agenda Page No: 

4.1 These have been undertaken at previous stages in the development 
of this protocol. 

 
5.0 OPTIONS    
 
5.1 Options were considered in the process of developing the protocol. 

Environment Scrutiny Committee recommended that the protocol be 
introduced and that was subsequently agreed by Full Council in July. 

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
(a) Financial Implications - none 
 
 
(b) Staffing Implications   - none 
 
(c) Equalities and poverty Implications - none 

 

 
(d) Environmental Implications – nil climate change impact 
 
(e) Procurement - none 
 
(f) Consultation and communication – this protocol has been fully 

considered by Planning Committee, Environment Scrutiny Committee 
and Council. 

 
(g) Community Safety – there are no Community Safety implications 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS: The following are the background papers that 
were used in the preparation of this report: 
 
 Appendix A: Operating Principles Agreed at Council 
 Appendix B: Adjourned Decision Protocol Flowchart 

 
Reports to Planning Committee 23/4/14, Environment Scrutiny 
Committee 8/7/14, Council 24/7/14 

 
To inspect these documents contact Patsy Dell on extension 7103  
 
The author and contact officer for queries on the report is Patsy Dell on 
extension 7103 
 
Report file: pd/planning committee 
 
Date originated:  21 August 2014 

Page 334



 

Report Page No: 3 Agenda Page No: 

Date of last revision: 21 August 2014 
 
Appendix A: Operating Principles (agreed at Council 24th July 2014) 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 4D 
 

Revised Appendix C: The new Planning Committee Convention principles  
Executive Councillor for Planning Policy and Transport 
 Addendum following Environment Scrutiny Committee 

 

· The new process will only apply to major planning applications considered by the 
council’s planning committee (using the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) definition of major - >10 dwellings or >1,000m2 floorspace), and 

 

· Where there is a majority resolution that is minded to make a decision contrary to 
officer advice 

 

· The procedure will be initiated as appropriate by the Chair/Vice-Chair in consultation 
with the Head of Planning Services/ City Development Manager. 

 

· This convention will operate where the item has been presented by officers, public 
speaking has taken place and members have debated the merits of the proposal. The 
Chair of the Planning Committee will seek a resolution and the specific grounds upon 
which the members of the committee agree by a majority that they are minded to refuse 
planning permission (including the member reasons for that refusal based on relevant 
planning policy, technical and other matters which in the committee’s judgement means 
the application should be refused); or alternatively, minded to approve planning 
permission in which case planning conditions, reasons and s.106 matters may be 
involved 

 

· The item will then be adjourned and officers will prepare a further report providing 
relevant additional advice on the committee resolution. This would normally be brought 
back to the next available meeting but may be delayed to a later meeting if external 
legal or technical advice needs to be sought 

 

· To ensure safe decision making, members of the planning committee absent from the 
previous discussion, should not take part in the resumed debate. 

· The committee will determine if their original minded-to resolution is still appropriate, 
should be amended or whether the original officer recommendation should be followed, 
likewise the means by which a permission can be granted with planning conditions and 
s.106 requirements will be outlined. The decision and reasons for it are to be noted in 
the minutes of the meeting. 

 

· Should the decision result in an appeal, the approach to defending the council’s case 
at the appeal will be managed by officers and reported back to committee if needed. 

 

Page 335



 R
e
p
o
rt

 P
a
g

e
 N

o
: 
4

 
A

g
e
n
d
a
 P

a
g

e
 N

o
: 

 Page 336



A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 B

_
 C

A
M

B
R

ID
G

E
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

 C
O

M
M

IT
T

E
E

 A
D

JO
U

R
N

E
D

 D
E

C
IS

IO
N

 P
R

O
T

O
C

O
L 

(A
D

P
) 

M
o

ti
o

n
 i
s 

m
a

d
e

 b
y

 a
 m

e
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

 t
o

 m
o

v
e

 a
 ‘

m
in

d
e

d
-t

o
’ 

re
so

lu
ti

o
n

 

th
a

t 
w

o
u

ld
 r

u
n

 c
o

u
n

te
r 

to
 t

h
e

 e
xt

a
n

t 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

re
co

m
m

e
n

d
a

ti
o

n
 [

1
] 

 

T
h

e
 C

h
a

ir
 s

e
e

k
s 

sp
e

ci
fi

c 
re

a
so

n
s 

fo
r 

th
e

 ‘
m

in
d

e
d

 –
 t

o
’ 

m
o

ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 M

e
m

b
e

r,
 

a
ss

is
te

d
 b

y
 o

th
e

r 
 M

e
m

b
e

rs
 a

s 
a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 

T
h

e
 H

e
a

d
 o

f 
P

la
n

n
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s/
C

it
y

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
M

a
n

a
g

e
r 

co
n

si
d

e
r 

th
e

se
 r

e
a

so
n

s 

(t
a

k
in

g
 a

d
v

ic
e

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 L
e

g
a

l 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

a
s 

n
e

ce
ss

a
ry

) 
a

n
d

 b
ri

e
fl

y
 o

u
tl

in
e

 a
n

y
 le

g
a

l 

d
e

ci
si

o
n

s,
 a

p
p

e
a

ls
, 

g
u

id
a

n
ce

 o
r 

a
n

y
 o

th
e

r 
re

le
va

n
t 

m
a

tt
e

rs
. 

O
ff

ic
e

rs
 t

o
 a

d
v

is
e

 

w
h

e
th

e
r 

th
e

y
 t

h
in

k
 t

h
e

 A
D

P
 s

h
o

u
ld

 a
p

p
ly

 

C
a

se
s 

w
h

e
re

 O
ff

ic
e

rs
 h

a
ve

 a
d

v
is

e
d

 t
h

a
t 

ri
sk

s 
a

re
 g

re
a

te
r 

th
a

n
 lo

w
 a

n
d

 w
h

e
re

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

in
ve

st
ig

a
ti

o
n

 is
 n

e
ce

ss
a

ry
 

C
h

a
ir

 s
e

e
k
s 

v
o

te
 o

n
 ‘

m
in

d
e

d
-t

o
’ 
re

so
lu

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 u
se

 o
f 

th
e

 

A
D

P
 

It
e

m
 i
s 

a
d

jo
u

rn
e

d
 t

il
l 
n

e
xt

 o
r 

su
b

se
q

u
e

n
t 

m
e

e
ti

n
g

s 

F
o

ll
o

w
 u

p
 r

e
p

o
rt

 c
o

n
si

d
e

re
d

 b
y

 s
a

m
e

 M
e

m
b

e
rs

 w
h

o
 

a
g

re
e

d
  t

h
e

 p
re

v
io

u
s 

re
so

lu
ti

o
n

 [
2

] 

D
e

ci
si

o
n

 c
o

n
fi

rm
e

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 m

a
jo

ri
ty

 v
o

te
 [

3
] 

[4
] 

 

C
a

se
s 

w
h

e
re

 r
is

k
 o

f 
p

ro
ce

e
d

in
g

 is
 

co
n

si
d

e
re

d
 t

o
 b

e
 l
o

w
 

C
h

a
ir

 a
sk

s 
th

e
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

 t
o

 c
o

n
fi

rm
 

th
e

ir
 d

e
ci

si
o

n
 b

y
 a

 m
a

jo
ri

ty
 v

o
te

 

D
e

ci
si

o
n

 i
ss

u
e

d
 

D
e

ci
si

o
n

 i
ss

u
e

d
 

N
o

te
s:

 

[1
] 

A
p

p
li

e
s 

o
n

ly
 t

o
 M

a
jo

r 
D

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

[2
] 

N
o

 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

p
u

b
li

c 
sp

e
a

k
in

g
 

[3
] 

In
cl

u
d

e
s 

a
n

y
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
o

r 
s.

1
0

6
 

m
a

tt
e

rs
 

[4
] 

If
 t

h
e

 d
e

ci
si

o
n

 i
s 

n
o

t 
co

n
fi

rm
e

d
 t

h
e

n
 

a
 n

e
w

 m
o

ti
o

n
 w

il
l 

n
e

e
d

 t
o

 b
e

 m
o

ve
d

 

In
tr

o
d

u
ce

d
 S

e
p

te
m

b
e

r 
2

0
1

4
 t

o
 b

e
 r

e
v

ie
w

e
d

 S
e

p
te

m
b

e
r 

2
0

1
5

 

Page 337



Page 338

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Planning Items
	4a 14/0492/OUT: Edinburgh Building, Shaftesbury Road
	14/0492/OUT - Site Plan
	14/0492/OUT - Access Plan
	14/0492/OUT - Landscape
	14/0492/OUT - Existing
	14/0492/OUT - Parameter Plan built form
	DCF Minutes for Edinburgh Building

	4b 14/0790/FUL: Cambridge City Football Ground, Milton Road
	14/0790/FUL - Site location Plan
	14/0790/FUL - Site Layout
	14/0790/FUL - Overview
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation row A
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation row B and C
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Row D
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Block E
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Row F
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Row G
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Row H
	14/0790/FUL - Elevation Block I

	4c 14/0906/FUL: Ice Rink, Parkers Piece
	14/0906/FUL - Site location Plan
	14/0906/FUL - Site Layout

	4d 14/0907/ADV: Ice Rink, Parkers Piece
	14/0907/ADV - Location Plan
	14/0907/ADV - Signs
	14/0907/ADV - Banners

	4e 14/0591/FUL: North Cambridge Academy, Arbury Road
	14/0591/FUL - Site plan
	14/0591/FUL - Elevations
	14/0591/FUL - Ground Floor
	14/0591/FUL - First Floor
	14/0591/FUL - Roof Plan

	5a Committee Tour 2014
	5b New Adjourned Decision Protocol
	Appendix B, General Item, Adjourned Decision Protocol


